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Highlights
Rural Economic Environment and Policy Issues
Global Economy
1.

area under most of the crops. During 2003-04 the area
covered under rice, wheat, coarse cereals, pulses and

Despite a series of events which affected the

oilseeds increased by 12, 10, 11, 22 and 15 per cent,

economies of Asian, American and European countries,

respectively, as compared to 2002-03. The foodgrain

the global economy has strengthened and broadened

production also increased by 21 per cent touching a high of

as revealed by a rebound in global gross domestic

210.8 million tonnes as against 174.2 million tonnes during

product (GDP) and trade volumes by 1.6 and 3.7

the previous year, while the agricultural production is

percentage points, respectively, during the period 2002-

estimated to have increased by 19.3 per cent as against a

04. Advanced economies showed a better growth in

decline of 15.6 per cent during the same period.

GDP (1.8 percentage points) than others during the
same period.

5.

The share of agriculture and allied sectors in the

Indian Economy

total GDP declined from 24.3 per cent (2001-02) to 22.2

2.

per cent (2003-04), while the share of the services sector

The performance of the Indian economy improved

has risen steadily from 54.6 to 56.1 per cent during the

significantly during 2003-04, posting an estimated growth

same period. The share of industry remained broadly the

of 8.2 per cent in GDP as against 4 per cent during 2002-03.

same between 21 and 22 per cent at 1993-94 prices.

The GDP from agriculture and allied sectors grew at the
rate of 9.1 per cent during 2003-04 as against a negative

6.

growth of 5.2 per cent during the previous year. The

to GDP at factor cost increased to 24.2 during 2002-03

industry and services sectors also maintained the momentum

compared to 23.5 during 2001-02. The rate of gross

with GDP growth from these sectors accelerating from 6.4

domestic capital formation improved marginally from 23.1

and 7.1 per cent, respectively, during 2002-03 to 6.5 and

per cent during 2001-02 to 23.3 per cent during 2002-03.

The rate of gross domestic savings as a percentage

8.0 per cent, respectively, during 2003-04.
7.
3.

So far, only 68 per cent of the countrys irrigation

During the South-West monsoon in 2003 the

potential has been harnessed out of the ultimate irrigation

country received a total rainfall of 92.2 cm as compared

potential assessed at 139.9 million ha. The groundwater

to 67.3 cm in 2002, the rainfall being well balanced,

assessment completed in ten states categorised 774 blocks/

having equitable distribution in terms of time and space

taluks/watersheds/sub-units as dark/critical and over

without any prolonged breaks which accelerated the

exploited. In such areas there is need to support water

performance of the agriculture sector. The rainfall was

conservation activities through bank credit. In accordance

normal/excess in 75 per cent of the districts and 92 per

with the National Agriculture Policys mandate of doubling

cent of Gross Cropped Area (GCA) in 2003, as against

foodgrain production by the next decade, the minor

44 per cent of the districts and 37 per cent of GCA in the

irrigation (MI) sector has become a thrust area for NABARD

country in 2002.

in terms of introducing various developmental initiatives
and financial incentives. Investments in MI structures are

4.

The normal/excess rainfall in most parts of the country

expected to create an additional irrigation potential of

with well-balanced distribution resulted in an increase in the

12 million ha. during the Tenth Plan period (2002-07).
1
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8.

11.

The total quantum of agricultural credit provided by

Fisheries account for 1.1 per cent of the total GDP

co-operative banks, commercial banks and RRBs increased

and 5.4 per cent of the GDP from agriculture sector and

by 12 per cent and reached the level of Rs.69,560 crore during

has been growing at a rate of 14 per cent, faster than the

2002-03. It is estimated that the ground level credit flow to

agriculture sector. Fish production reached a level of 6.2

agriculture and allied sectors would have reached Rs.80,000

million tonnes during 2002-03. The existing volume of

crore during 2003-04, which is 15 per cent more than the

fisheries exports forms only 7.6 per cent of total fish production

previous year. The total credit flow to these sectors during

as compared to the global average of 11 per cent.

the Tenth Plan period is projected at Rs.7,36,570 crore.
12.

During the year 2002-03 the small scale industry

While private sector investments in agriculture

(SSI) sector registered a growth of 10.5, 7.3 and 20.7

increased from Rs.12,979 crore during 2000-01 to Rs.14,119

per cent in terms of production, employment and exports,

crore during 2002-03 (1993-94 prices), public sector

respectively, as compared to the previous year.

9.

investments too registered significant growth from Rs.3,927
crore to Rs.4,538 crore during the same period. The private

13.

The value of agri-exports in total exports of the

sector investments in agriculture and allied sectors increased

country decreased from 18.5 per cent during 1990-91 to

from Rs.14,605 crore during 1995-96 to Rs.26,569 crore

13.1 per cent during 2002-03, while that of agri-imports

during 2000-01 at current prices. The proportion of such

increased from 2.8 per cent to 5.8 per cent during the

capital formation financed by institutional credit increased

same period. The share of agricultural exports in the total

from 59.6 to 81.1 per cent during the same period, reflecting

exports had declined to 11.7 per cent during 2003-04

the important role played by financial institutions in providing

(April-February) from 12.9 per cent during the same

credit support to agriculture and allied sectors.

period of 2002-03. Agricultural imports related to food
and other items, which constituted 4.8 per cent of the

10.

total imports during 2003-04 (April-February), aggregated

India accounts for the largest livestock population and

US $ 3,282.2 million for the year.

it was also the largest producer of milk in the world with a
total production at 86.4 million tonnes during 2002-03.
During 2001-02 the livestock sector accounted for 5.4 per

14.

With the objective of bringing about integrated

cent of the total GDP and 27.7 per cent of the GDP from

development and strengthening the agriculture and allied

agriculture at current prices. Export of milk and dairy

sectors, state governments have undertaken various

products increased to US$ 27.0 million during 2003-04

agricultural reform measures, especially those relating to

(April-January) from US $ 26 million during the same period

agricultural marketing, irrigation and water supply, agro-

of the previous year.

processing, agri-infrastructure, etc.

Development Initiatives
Farm Sector
15.

initiatives, suppor ting research and development
activities and training of rural banking personnel.

NABARD continued to focus on watershed

development, integrated development of backward
areas, supporting the setting-up of Agri-Export Zones

16.

(AEZs), Farmers Service Centres (FSCs), agri-clinics,

grant assistance of Rs.2.72 crore were sanctioned under

developing non-farm activities, improving the outreach

the capacity building phase, raising the cumulative

of the rural credit delivery system through microFinance

number of projects and grant assistance sanctioned to 274

2
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During the year 54 watershed projects involving a
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and Rs.13.12 crore, respectively. So far, an amount of

20.

Rs.11.47 crore has been released to the implementing

Medicinal and Aromatic Crops (MACs) through various

agencies. Also 37 projects have entered the full

measures and dialogues with corporate houses that

implementation phase. To emphasize the positive impact

resulted in cultivation of Bixa and Patchouli in the Wadi

of participatory approach to watershed development, a

project areas in Gujarat under contract farming system.

national level workshop on Monitoring and Evaluation

Preparation of state-wise directories of manufacturers and

of Watershed Projects and Strategies for Post-Watershed

traders and formulation of 45 bankable model schemes

Development was organised in May 2003.

of high demand species were the significant outcomes of

NABARD continued to promote the cultivation of

these initiatives. The Bank also extended refinance facility
17.

The pilot project for integrated development of

to all its client institutions and for all activities under 48

backward blocks through convergence of various credit

notified AEZs covering 20 crops. A special refinance

and development programmes/schemes was launched in

package was also developed by the Bank for contract

10 such blocks in five states. Concerted efforts are being

farming arrangements.

made in these blocks to form SHGs, organize farmers
clubs, promote farm and non-farm activities, etc. The

21.

possibility of providing support for developing critical

communication technology to empower and elevate the

infrastructure under RIDF is also being explored.
18.

economic status of Indian farmers, 2,150 e-choupals
were set up through ITC Ltd., covering 12,000 villages

During the year Rs.41.50 crore was disbursed

in four states. Grant assistance of Rs.9 lakh was

under a scheme for financing purchase of land by small/

sanctioned to ITC Ltd. to conduct a project with the

marginal farmers to enable them to develop and cultivate

objective of developing an IT-based practical handbook

agricultural/fallow/wastelands. The scheme for supporting

and diagnostic tools for production and protection of

the setting-up of agri-clinics and agri-business centres by

major crops.

agriculture/veterinary graduates aimed to supplement the
existing extension network continued during the year.

22.

NABARD conducted a study to examine the arrangements

T he Banks scheme for fi nanci ng FS C s i n

collaboration with Mahindra Shubhlabh Services Limited

available for extending financial support and problems

(MSSL), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mahindra and

faced in the implementation of the scheme. Based on the

Mahindra Ltd., continued and three new FSCs were

feedback the Bank has stepped up efforts to sensitise

opened during the year, increasing the number of FSCs

bankers towards extending credit support to agripreneurs.
19.

In an effort to harness information and

sponsored by MSSL to 44. This has resulted in tie-ups
with banks for financing farmers to the tune of Rs.10 crore.

In consonance with the action plan prepared by

the National Mission on Bamboo Technology and Trade

23.

Development, NABARD has accorded special status to

NABARD along with LIC, NSE, ICICI Bank, PNB

and CRISIL floated the National Commodity and

the bamboo sector and has constituted a Bamboo Cell

Derivatives Exchange Ltd (NCDEX) aiming to cover most

at its HO. The Bank has also prepared a perspective plan

of the commodities under the Open General License

to finance the nursery network under centralised and

(OGL) category. As a stakeholder, NABARD would

decentralised mechanisms to support bamboo plantations

facilitate the integration of agriculture credit, securitisation

with an area of 3 lakh ha. in potential states involving an

of agricultural produce and futures markets and capacity

investment outlay of Rs.1,000 crore during the Tenth Plan

building of state/district level marketing co-operatives.

period.
3
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A number of training-cum-orientation programmes

unemployed rural youths, involving grant assistance of

were organised during the year to sensitise bank officials

Rs.5.63 crore. Since inception of the programme in 1990,

and other concerned agencies towards promoting the

1.51 lakh rural youths have been covered.

24.

cultivation of MACs. Workshops/seminars were also
organised for promoting organic farming and various

28.

NABARD continued the programme of Mother

aspects related to the animal husbandry sector.

Units to support sub-contracting by rural industrial/nonfarm sector units. So far, Rs.3.33 crore was sanctioned

Non-Farm Sector
25.

and Rs.1.88 crore disbursed, covering 30 Mother Units
for the setting-up of 3,400 enterprises and training of

NABARD in consultation with the GoI and the RBI

7,087 rural youths. The intervention helped generate an

formulated the Swarojgar Credit Card (SCC) scheme for

additional employment for 8,500 persons per annum in

the benefit of small borrowers to take care of their

rural areas.

investment and working capital requirements and
circulated the scheme among co-operative banks and

29.

RRBs. During the year an amount of Rs.64.26 crore was

handloom sector through its scheme Skill Upgradation

disbursed under this scheme through 28,925 cards.
26.

and Design Development for Handloom Weavers
(SUDHA), which promotes the development of new

The District Rural Industries Project (DRIP) was

designs to enhance the marketability of handloom

extended to 16 more districts this year, increasing the

products. Four programmes involving grant assistance of

cumulative number to 75 covering 20 states. The

Rs.10.71 lakh were sanctioned during the year.

emphasis under DRIP was on credit plus approach
i n v o l v i n g c l u s t e r d e v e l o p m e n t , c re d i t d e l i v e r y

30.

innovations, promotional programmes, etc., besides

N ABAR D

conti nued

to

suppor t

g e nde r

development programmes  ARWIND and MAHIMA.

which supporting the creation of market infrastructure,

Grant assistance of Rs.2.99 crore and Rs.59.26 lakh

conduct of REDPs and capacity building of partner

covering 128 and 26 projects, respectively, have been

institutions were also encouraged. Grant assistance of

sanctioned so far under these schemes which included

Rs.26.24 lakh was sanctioned during the year to PRIs/

four and seven projects involving grant support of Rs.3.77

PACS for development of rural haats in DRIP districts.

lakh and Rs.11.70 lakh, respectively, during the year. The

So far, 4.29 lakh units (March 2003) have been set-up,

Bank sanctioned Rs.31.98 lakh to three RRBs under

generating employment oppor tunities to 9.18 lakh

Development of Women Through Area (DEWTA)

persons in 43 districts.
27.

The Bank continued its efforts to promote the

Programmes for training, skill upgradation and capacity
building of women. During the year NABARD extended

U n d e r t he Na tio n a l Pro gra m m e for R ur al

grant support of Rs.17.70 lakh to co-operative banks and

Industrialisation (NPRI), the Bank has launched

RRBs for setting-up of Women Development Cells taking

promotional programmes of cluster development in 55

the cumulative disbursements to Rs.2.42 crore. NABARD

clusters involving grant assistance of Rs.1.55 crore so far

Utsav at Dilli Haat, New Delhi, organized by the Bank,

for supporting various interventions. The programme is

was one of the many initiatives taken to showcase and

expected to benefit 16,000 ar tisans and small

market the products of rural ar tisans and women

entrepreneurs. Also, 1,216 REDPs were supported by

entrepreneur s assi sted under N ABAR Ds v ar i ous

NABARD during the year covering 31,319 educated

promotional schemes.

4
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microFinance
31.

a large number of SHG accounts and financing midsegment clients through Joint Liability Groups.

The SHG-bank linkage programme continued to

be a thrust area of NABARD during 2003-04. During the

35.

year 3,61,731 SHGs were credit linked to banks showing

Under the microFinance Development Fund

(mFDF) set up in NABARD an amount of Rs.7.05 crore

growth of 41 per cent over the previous year. Nearly 90

was utilised during the year towards up-scaling of SHG-

per cent of the SHGs formed under the programme are

bank linkage programme. The mFDF was also used for

women SHGs. The year also witnessed the all-round

providing loans of Rs.3.22 crore in the form of the RFA to

growth of the programme in many states. NABARD

microFinance institutions. NABARDs collaboration with

continued its efforts in capacity building with added

external agencies like SDC and GTZ for supporting and

emphasis and also extended promotional grant support,

strengthening the programme continued during the year.

etc., to its partner agencies to help them function as SHPIs.
Under NABARDs capacity building programmes for its

Research & Development Activities

partner institutions, 2.44 lakh participants were trained

36.

during the year.

During the year an amount of Rs.6.70 crore was

disbursed from the R & D Fund as grant assistance which
A g r a n t a ssista n ce o f Rs.662.44 lakh was

includes Rs.5.51 crore for training activities, Rs.0.27 crore

sanctioned for formation of 60,513 SHGs to 28 co-

for research projects/studies, Rs.0.92 crore for other

operative banks, 23 RRBs, 221 NGOs and 60 IRVs during

activities like conduct of seminars, preparation of

the year. Under the Banks VVV programme, 119 farmers

occasional papers, etc. During 2003-04 14 research

clubs were provided grant assistance of Rs.2.43 lakh to

projects/studies involving grant assistance of Rs.52.23 lakh

enable them to promote SHGs. During the year the clubs

were sanctioned and five projects/studies sanctioned

promoted 1,229 groups and credit linked 409 SHGs.

earlier were completed. Also, the Bank decided to

32.

replenish the expenditure from the R & D Fund from its
33.

profits, so as to maintain an opening balance of Rs.50

NABARD provides Revolving Fund Assistance

crore in any given year.

( R FA ) t o s e le ct NGOs fo r u n d e r ta k in g f i nanci al
intermediation. During the year RFA of Rs.8.40 crore was

37.

sanctioned to two NGOs, raising the cumulative sanctions

during the year to various universities and research institutes

to Rs.27.32 crore to 32 agencies, of which Rs.15.20 crore

for conducting 79 conferences, seminars and workshops.

has been released to 29 agencies.
34.

Grant assistance of Rs.47.45 lakh was sanctioned

Four Occasional Papers were published and thirteen topics
for preparation of such papers were also identified and

Continuing with its efforts to innovate and sustain

entrusted to various experts during the year in order to

this programme, the Bank, during the year introduced

generate and disseminate information on policy issues in

six pilot projects, viz., Barefoot Book keepers to establish

the areas of agricultural credit and rural development.

a sound Management Information System (MIS) between
SHGs and banks in association with rural volunteers,

Other Development Initiatives

linking of SHGs to rural post offices in Tamil Nadu, training
of skilled rural youths as Computer Munshis, setting-up

38.

of three grain banks in Kalahandi district of Orissa, use of

programmes through its own training establishments for

information technology (IT) in the form of processor/

the benefit of 11,145 personnel of Primary Lending

memory cards (Smart Cards) for monitoring and servicing

Institutions (PLIs) and Rural Financial Institutions (RFIs)

5
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During the year the Bank conducted 429 training

6 CMYK

and supplemented the efforts of other training institutions

39.

in this area by providing technical and financial support.

year taking the total number to 338. Also, 103 districts

Grant assistance of Rs.23.21 lakh was provided to IIBM,

were tagged with neighbouring DDM offices. Those

Guwahati and MDMI, Shillong to enable them to cater to

districts not covered by DDMs are attended to by the

the training needs of financing institutions in the NER.

Banks District Development Officers at respective ROs.

Eight new DDM offices were opened during the

Business Operations
The Honble Union Finance Minister on 03

crop loans for Seasonal Agricultural Operations. During

February 2004 announced the creation of the Lok Nayak

the year co-operatives, RRBs and commercial banks

Jai Prakash Narayan Fund (LNJPNF) of Rs.50,000 crore

issued 48.78 lakh, 12.74 lakh and 30.73 lakh cards,

to enhance efficiency, productivity and profitability of

respectively. Of the total 413.79 lakh cards issued so far,

Indian agriculture through development of agriculture and

co-operative banks accounted for the largest share of cards

rural infrastructure and the credit delivery mechanism.

issued (59%) followed by commercial banks (32%) and

NABARD has been designated as the nodal agency for

RRBs (9%). Though the scheme has progressed very well

operationalising the Fund. Three major components of

in most states, special efforts were made in Bihar, Jammu

the Fund are financing for infrastructure through state

& Kashmir, Jharkhand, Himachal Pradesh and the north

governments; providing refinance support for investments

eastern states to accelerate the pace of the scheme.

in agriculture, commercial infrastructure and selective co-

Further, to ensure publicity of the scheme, 10 lakh

financing; and certain initiatives aimed at development

Meghdoot Post Cards were issued in rural areas during

and risk management.

the year.

Ground Level Credit

Production Credit

41.

43.

40.

The total ground level credit (GLC) flow for

The short-term (ST) credit limits sanctioned

during 2003-04 (July-March) for SCBs and RRBs

agriculture and allied activities was estimated at Rs.80,000

aggregated Rs.7,314.28 crore and Rs.1,346.62 crore

crore during 2003-04, registering a 15 per cent growth over

and the maximum outstanding level reached was 73 and

the previous year. Over the period (1998-99 to 2002-03)

69 per cent, respectively. A new line of credit for financing

the GLC flow from co-operative banks, RRBs and

short-term agricultural/allied and marketing activities to

commercial banks increased by 11, 25 and 20 per cent,

co-operative banks was introduced for the year 2003-04

respectively. The share of commercial banks increased

to provide liquidity to these banks and enable them to

from 50 to 57 per cent and that of co-operative banks

effectively leverage their high cost funds to boost credit

declined from 43 to 34 per cent. Between 1998-99 and

flow. Credit limits aggregating Rs.484.09 crore were

2002-03, the disbursements for short-term production

sanctioned to seven SCBs, which were utilised to the

credit (crop loans), land development, hi-tech agriculture

extent of Rs.195.48 crore. With the aim of reducing

and plantation & horticulture increased substantially,

the interest rates on crop loans, NABARD in

while for other sectors, viz., minor irrigation and farm
mechanisation it remained stagnant.

consultation with RBI formulated a scheme for

42.

The scheme is to be implemented in concurrence with

providing refinance directly to DCCBs at 6 per cent p.a.

The Kisan Credit Card (KCC) scheme introduced

the state governments.

in August 1998 has helped augment the short-term (ST)

6
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44.

The Bank continued to support RFIs through

creation of a buffer stock of 20 lakh tonnes of sugar,

refinance for production/procurement and marketing

NABARD advised SCBs/DCCBs to sanction additional

activities of weavers co-operatives and working capital

credit limits to sugar mills against the release of margin

requirements of handicraft and handloom corporations.

on existing stocks and also to ensure that the amount in

During the year, ST limits aggregating Rs.520.60 crore

lieu of the margin money was not used for any purpose

were sanctioned to seven SCBs for financing production/

other than the payment for sugarcane purchased by the

procurement and marketing activities of Weavers Co-

sugar factories.

operative Societies, the maximum outstanding reached

Investment Credit

against which was Rs.309.75 crore. The limits sanctioned
to SCBs on behalf of apex/regional weavers societies

48.

for trading in yarn amounted to Rs.11.86 crore. NABARD

RRBs and other eligible financial institutions aggregated

financing the marketing of crops. The aggregate sanction

Rs.7,605.29 crore. The marginal growth (3%) in refinance

of credit limits for ST (OSAO) purposes to RRBs was

support was mainly due to adequate liquidity position of

Rs.86.02 crore.

RRBs and commercial banks. This was compounded by
poor credit purveying capacity of co-operative banks. The

Medium-term conversion credit limits aggregating

eligibility criteria for drawal of refinance from NABARD

Rs.288.02 crore (July-March) were sanctioned to seven

by the co-operative banks and RRBs under schematic

SCBs during the year, on account of crop loss of 50 per

lending was switched over to NPA linked norms instead

cent or more due to natural calamities in unirrigated

of recovery norms. The share of SCARDBs in schematic

areas.
46.

2003-04 refinance disbursements for

investment credit for commercial banks, SCBs, SCARDBs,

also opened a separate line of credit to RRBs for

45.

During

lending declined to 33 per cent (38% during 2002-03)
while that of commercial banks increased to 23 per cent

During 2003-04 long-term (LT) loans amounting

(17% during 2002-03) during the year.

to Rs.39.54 crore were sanctioned to six states for
contribution to the share capital of co-operative credit
institutions. The interest rate on refinance assistance, after

49.

The flow of refinance varied widely across the states.

two downward revisions, ranged between 5.25 and 6.50

Three states, viz., Uttar Pradesh (Rs.1,221.79 crore), Tamil

per cent with effect from 13 February 2004.

Nadu (Rs.733.10 crore) and Punjab (Rs.676.18 crore)
together accounted for 35 per cent of the refinance

Fifteen monitoring studies under the Credit

disbursed during the year. Non-farm sector (including rural

Monitoring Arrangement were taken up during 2003-04

housing) had the highest share (31%), animal husbandry,

and based on the findings, co-operative banks were

far m mechani sati on and mi nor i r r i g at i on/land

advised to improve the quality of appraisal of large

development (11% each), SHGs (9%) and others (27%).

advances and their monitoring mechanism. As a policy

During the year the refinance disbursed for rural housing

initiative, credit limits towards pre-seasonal expenses of

increased by 34 per cent and by 13 per cent for SHGs

sugar mills were curtailed by 33.33 per cent by the

over the previous year. Under the Banks initiatives for

Maharashtra SCB/DCCBs during the year to bring down

extending refinance support in AEZs, the refinance

the level of exposure of these banks to the sugar sector.

disbursed increased from Rs.45 crore during 2002-03 to

In accordance with GoIs announcement regarding the

Rs.343 crore during 2003-04.

47.

7
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During the year, 3,61,731 SHGs were credit-

of Rs.30,000 crore has been allocated towards sanction

linked to banks with loans disbursed aggregating

of l oans to state g ov er nments for i nfr as t r uct ure

Rs.1,855.53 crore, as compared to Rs.1,022.34 crore

development over a period of three years (2004-07).

50.

disbursed during the previous year. NABARDs refinance
a g g re g a t e d R s . 7 0 5 . 4 4 c r o re d u r i n g 2 0 0 3 - 0 4 f o r

56.

During the year 20,178 projects involving a loan

supporting 1,17,409 SHGs.

amount of Rs.5,437.51 crore were sanctioned under
RIDF IX, of which rural roads and bridges accounted for

In all, seven projects involving co-financing with

47 per cent, irrigation projects for 35 per cent and others

11 commercial banks were sanctioned during the year

for the rest. Loans aggregating Rs.43.20 crore were

with a total outlay of Rs.118.90 crore, NABARDs share

sanctioned by the Bank during the year for projects to

being Rs.35.97 crore.

be implemented by PRIs/NGOs. Deposits of Rs.2,158.69

51.

c r o re u n d e r R I D F f r o m c o m m e rc i a l b a n k s a n d
During the year interest rates were revised four

repayments of Rs.2,980.41 crore from state governments

times and the present interest rates range between 5.50

were received. The cumulative disbursement under RIDF

and 6.75 per cent for various activities/regions.

I to IX aggregated Rs.21,067.17 crore.

53.

57.

52.

During the year 31 district oriented monitoring

NABARD continued to monitor the projects being

studies, 27 investment-specific studies, 11 scheme-

implemented under RIDF, both in-house and by engaging

specific studies and 9 ex-post evaluation studies were

external agencies like ORG-MARG and AFC Ltd. During

conducted by the Bank.

the year 8,285 projects were monitored through field
visits. Tranche Completion Reports prepared to assess

In all, nine externally-aided projects were at various

the benefits from projects sanctioned under RIDF II were

st a g e s o f i m p le m e n ta tio n a nd five we re under

received for 7,441 projects (91% of completed projects)

consideration. During the year an amount of Rs.40.96

from the state governments.

54.

crore was disbursed and Rs.32.41 crore received as grant
58.

assistance under these projects.

In order to facilitate and accelerate the flow of

credit to the NER, a pilot scheme on routing credit to
Village Development Boards/Village Development

Rural Infrastructure Development
55.

Councils was introduced in Nagaland during 2003-04

During the year Rural Infrastructure Development

and an MoU was signed among NABARD, Government

Fund received an allocation of Rs.5,500 crore towards

of Nagaland and SBI. Twenty-five VDBs were identified

RIDF IX, which raised the cumulative sanctioned amount

in Nagaland for implementation of the scheme with a

to Rs.34,000 crore. Sixty per cent of the corpus was

corpus of Rs.25 lakh.

earmarked for flood protection, irrigation, agriculture and
allied activities and power sector projects. The LNJPNF/

Consultancy Services

AICF with a corpus of Rs.50,000 crore was set up in
NABARD in February 2004 to efficiently aggregate

59.

resources from various providers of long-term finance in

( N a b c o n s ) w a s r e g i s t e re d w i t h t h e R e g i s t r a r o f

order to channelise resource flow from the market towards

Companies on 17 November 2003 with an authorized

the creation of agriculture/rural infrastructure. An amount

share capital of Rs.25 crore, of which Rs.5 crore has been

8
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fully subscribed by NABARD. So far, Nabcons has

crore), Non-Priority Sector Bonds (Rs.1,750 crore), Tax Free

contracted 67 assignments involving consultancy fees

Bonds (Rs.135.15 crore) and borrowings from banks and

of Rs.1,026.78 lakh, of which 32 assignments were

financial institutions (Rs.2,500 crore). The total working

completed during 2003-04. The Companys clientele

funds increased by 12 per cent to Rs.55,889 crore as on 31

includes various departments of the GoI, state governments,

March 2004 from Rs.50,071 crore as on 31 March 2003.

financial institutions, corporates, NGOs, international bodies
61.

like UNIDO, FAO and individuals. Established firms like

The above funds have been utilized for schematic

lending, ST/MT/MT (Conversion) loan assistance, loans

RABO Bank and Ernst and Young, India have also
expressed interest in collaborating with Nabcons.

to state governments both under RIDF and non-project

Resource Management

working funds registered a significant increase from 11.23

60.

loans.The borrowings of NABARD as a percentage to total
as on 31 March 1999 to 27.38 as on 31 March 2004.

The financial resources of NABARD increased by

Rs.7,416 crore during 2003-04, owing mainly to operating

62.

surplus for the year (Rs.1,121.83 crore), Capital Gains

Rs.4,267.67 crore was higher by 5.5 per cent as compared

Bonds (Rs.1,348.68 crore), Priority Sector Bonds (Rs.1,498

to the previous year.

The total income of the Bank during the year at

Capacity Building of Client Institutions
Institutional Development
63.

65.

The functioning and performance of rural co-

During 2002-03 SCBs and DCCBs as a group

earned positive net margins of 0.04 and 2.34 per cent

operative credit institutions, in general, continued to

to working funds, respectively. The net margins earned

suffer from several weaknesses including poor recovery

by SCARDBs and PCARDBs continued to be negative

and accumulated losses. Consequently, these institutions

at 1.54 and 1.80 per cent, respectively, during the

found it difficult to compete with other credit purveying
agencies in the emerging liberalized environment. In

same period. The negative net margins of LT structure

view of this, NABARD continued its efforts in

w e re o n a c c o u n t o f p o o r re c o v e r i e s , i n c re a s e d

strengthening rural credit institutions, particularly co-

provisioning towards impaired assets and higher

operatives and RRBs.

transaction costs.

64.

66.

The loans issued by PACS, DCCBs, PCARDBs and

As on 31 March 2003, 5 out of 30 SCBs, 102 out

RRBs increased by 20,16, 5 and 20 per cent, respectively,

of 367 DCCBs, 43,511 out of 98,247 PACS, 10 out of

during 2002-03 over the previous year. At the aggregate

20 SCARDBs and 469 out of 768 PCARDBs incurred

level the profits of SCBs improved during 2002-03 as

losses which amounted to Rs,7,734 crore. The high

compared to the previous year, while that of DCCBs,

propor tion of NPAs to total loans and advances

SCARDBs and PCARDBs declined. The improvement in

outstanding of co-operative banks, which increased

the profits of SCBs was on account of turnaround by

further in the case of SCBs and SCARDBs as on 31 March

Chhattisgarh, Madhya Pradesh and Mizoram SCBs and

2003 compared to the previous year, and low level of

increase in profits of Maharashtra SCB. There were,

recovery continued to be the areas of concern. The co-

however, wide variations across the states in the

operatives, however, have made adequate provisions for

performance of co-operative credit institutions.

impaired assets.
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67.

The policy measures undertaken in respect of RRBs

Cells and publicity of KCC scheme. The assistance was made

and revamping exercise with capital infusion had a

available either by way of grants or soft loans or grant-cum-

salutary effect on their financial performance especially

soft loans, depending upon the purpose. The support

in relation to increase in profits, reduction in NPAs and

provided to PACS has had a positive impact on their deposit

improvement in recovery. Although the number of RRBs

mobilization, increase in such accounts, etc.

that had wiped off their accumulated losses and attained
sustainable viability increased from 86 to 97 as at the

71.

end-March 2003, the performance of RRBs varied widely

programme of the Bank has spread to 495 districts,

across the states. The recovery performance of RRBs at

covering more than 30,000 villages through 10,015 clubs.

the aggregate level improved to 73.53 per cent as at the

Select farmers clubs have been encouraged to participate

end-June 2003 from 70.59 per cent as at end-June 2001.

in promoting SHGs. In all, 1,423 clubs have promoted

Over two decades, the Vikas Volunteer Vahini

12,234 SHGs so far.
68.

Based on the recommendations/observations of the

Estimates Committee of Parliament of the Ministry of

Supervision over Banks

Finance and Company Affairs, GoI, RRBs have been

72.

advised to initiate suitable corrective/follow-up action for

inspections of 298 banks (17 SCBs, 191 DCCBs and 90

improving their recovery, loan business, Management

RRBs) and inspection of 10 apex level institutions

Information System, internal checks and controls and staff

i ncl udi ng S CAR DBs. R R Bs al so showed s t e ady

training and to review the actions taken in this regard in

improvement in respect of gross NPAs as a percentage to

their Board Meetings.
69.

During the year NABARD conducted statutory

loans and advances outstanding which declined from
18.84 as on 31 March 2001 to 14.44 as on 31 March

The exercise of preparing Institution specific

Development Action Plans (DAPs) by co-operatives and

2003. In addition, quick inspections of 98 banks (10 SCBs

entering into MoUs continued during the year. The process

and 88 DCCBs) were also completed. The inspections

of Organisation Development Inter vention also

revealed that some of the weaknesses that continued to

continued and so far, 134 co-operative banks have been

plague the functioning of these banks/institutions were

c o v e re d u n d e r the in itia l pha se . Th is has been

i mpr oper appl i cati on/i mpl ementati on of i ncom e

instrumental in bringing about perceptible paradigm shift

recognition and asset classification norms, inadequate risk

and change in the mindset and attitude of staff as well as

management strategies, deficient internal checks and

management towards business and other issues. Under

controls systems, poor credit monitoring arrangements, etc.

the SDC supported ODI programme all the RRBs and 50
73.

DCCBs/SCBs have been covered so far.

The Board of Supervision (for SCBs, DCCBs and

RRBs) (BoS), constituted to provide guidance and direction
With the objective of supporting developmental

to the Bank on matters relating to supervision, reviewed the

initiatives of co-operative credit institutions, NABARD

findings of inspection and monitoring reports during the year.

provides financial support through the CDF. An amount of

The BoS expressed concern over deterioration in the financial

Rs.4.38 crore was disbursed during the year taking the

position of many co-operative banks, particularly with

cumulative disbursement to Rs.50.87 crore. An amount of

respect to banks that have not been able to maintain

Rs.4.86 crore was sanctioned during the year from the CDF

minimum capital of Rs.1 lakh over a long period and the

for supporting the training of co-operative banks personnel,

low CD Ratio of most of the RRBs. The BoS has also

computerisation, establishment of Business Development

suggested examining additional disclosures to be made by

70.
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co-operative banks in their balance sheets for bringing in more

requirement as prescribed under the relevant Act. The

transparency. The BoS recommended the introduction of a

total erosion in the value of assets of these banks

Common Accounting System for SCBs and DCCBs to bring

aggregated Rs.8,841.71 crore as on 31 March 2004.

about symmetry in their financial statements and transparency

During the year four DCCBs ceased to function as banks

through additional disclosures.

as their applications for license to carry on banking
business were rejected.

74.

The issues deliberated by BoS during the year, inter

alia, included the review of insolvent co-operative banks,

76.

During the year the Manual on Internal Checks

prescription of trigger points for taking supervisory and

and Br anch Contr ol for co- oper ati v e banks w as

regulatory actions against certain co-operative banks,

updated. With a view to bringing about Audit Rating

sponsor bank-wise review of RRBs performance, etc.

Scales in consonance with the Supervisory Rating
Norms, the scales were fine-tuned to ensure correct

75.

As on 31 March 2004, 7 SCBs and 143 DCCBs

financial assessment of co-operative banks by the

were not complying with the minimum share capital

statutory auditors and supervisors.

Organisation and Management
77.

During the year, seven meetings of the Board of

Programmes on Agri-business and Agro-processing,

Directors of NABARD were held, while the Executive

Rural Housing, Computer-based Project Appraisal and

Committee, the Sanctioning Committee for loans under

Risk Analysis were also introduced. Besides, 653 officers

RIDF and the Audit Committee met six, seven and five

were deputed for 216 tailor-made and off-the-shelf

times, respectively.

training programmes, exposure visits, workshops, etc.,
in areas like Commodity and Derivatives Exchange,

78.

Shri Y. C. Nanda, Chairman demitted office on 30

Ecological Perspectives in Watershed Development, etc.

June 2003. Smt. Ranjana Kumar was appointed as

In addition, 76 training programmes covering 1,348

Chairperson and Shri Y. S. P. Thorat as Managing Director

employees in Group B and C were held at NBTC,

with effect from 21 November 2003 and 17 March 2004,

Lucknow and ZTC, Hyderabad.

respectively. S/Shri S. S. Acharya, R. Balakrishnan and
Amaresh Kumar, Chief General Managers took charge as

81.

Executive Directors on 1 June, 1 August and 1 October

officials from partner institutions were deputed for

2003, respectively.
79.

During the year 114 officers of the Bank and 15

various overseas training programmes, exposure visits,
semi nar s, etc. A team of 21 offi cer s at t e nde d a

The Reserve Bank of India conducted the sixth

programme on bank supervision at the South African

round of financial inspection of NABARD during October-

Reser ve Bank to equip themselves with the latest

December 2003 with reference to the financial position

developments relating to regulation, supervision and risk

as on 31 March 2003.

management. Similarly, 12 officers were deputed to visit
Bank Rakyat Indonesia (BRI) to familiarize themselves

Training and Skill Enhancement

with various credit innovations and resource mobilization

During the year 88 training programmes covering

practices followed by the BRI in dispensation of rural

1,637 officers were conducted at NBSC, Lucknow on

credit. The Chairperson, NABARD and nine officials from

functional, behavioural and technical subjects.

NABARD, NGOs and other banks participated in the

80.
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Asia-Pacific Regional Micro Credit Summit at Dhaka in

employees a Vigilance Awareness Week was observed

February 2004.

by the Bank in November 2003.

82.

85.

During the year, two delegations, viz., a team of 13

Industrial relations in the Bank continued to be

participants from nine countries attending an international

cordial. As per the Supreme Court directives, a Central

programme on Banking and Development at the NIBM,

Complaints Committee in HO and 19 Regional Complaint

Pune and a high level delegation from Development

Committees (RCCs) were set up at Regional Offices for

Research Centre of State Council of China visited NABARD.

prevention of sexual harassment of women.

The Parliamentary Committee on Official Language visited/
inspected Gujarat RO and also visited HO.

86.

2004 to collaborate with Public Sector Enterprises in order

Recruitment/Promotion
83.

A Corporate Relations Cell was set up in February

to improve and fine-tune their activities with major
emphasis on watershed development, SHG promotion,

The Bank has tried to attract the best talent in

promotion of micro enterprises, etc.

various fields and areas of its interest through improved
strategies in recruitment, career development and
performance management to enable the organization to

87.

fulfil its mission. A total of 121 persons were recruited in

ROs in the NER was undertaken by HO and the Zonal

the officers cadre and 55 were promoted from the clerical

Audit Cell, Kolkata, respectively. Inspection of 15 HO

to the officer grade. Of the 121 persons recruited, 74 have

departments was also completed during the year. The

specialization in various disciplines. NABARD continued

prescribed quar terly reports covering the Banks

to provide for reservations in favour of SCs/STs both in

investment portfolio transactions were regularly sent to

direct recruitments and promotions in all the grades to

the RBI.

During 2003-04 inspection of 14 ROs and three

which the Bank has accepted to provide for reservation
in consonance with the instructions from the GoI.

88.

Hindi in its day-today working. NABARDs in-house

Other Matters
84.

The Bank continued its efforts for promotion of

Hindi journal Srijana bagged six prizes awarded by
various organisations. The Banks web site was also

Preventive Vigilance Inspection of 15 ROs / TEs

designed in Hindi.

w a s u n d e r t a k e n d u r i n g t h e y e a r. To s e n s i t i s e
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Rural Economic Environment and Policy Issues

The year 2003-04 witnessed changes on both the global

was not adversely affected. On the contrary, a good

and domestic economic fronts. While various events

monsoon ensured increased production, consumption

affected the economies of Asian, American and

and investments in the agricultural sector of the country

European countries to some extent, the Indian economy

particularly during 2003-04.

Global and Asian Economies
Despite a series of adverse shocks in the past few

cent in 2004 compared to 4.6 and 6.1 per cent in 2002

years, like terrorist attacks, war in Iraq, Severe Acute

and 2003, respectively. The growth in world trade volume

Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) epidemic in Asia, etc.,

recovered by 3.7 percentage points in 2004 compared

the global economy has strengthened and broadened as

to 2002. The change in consumer prices was also under

revealed by a rebound in global GDP and trade volume.

control in both advanced economies and other emerging

The global GDP recovered by 1.6 percentage points

markets and developing economies (Table 1.1).

1.2

during 2002-04. Though all encompassing, the pace
an d n a t u r e o f glo b a l e co n o m ic re co ve ry v ar i ed

1.3

The growth in GDP swelled in emerging Asian

significantly across regions. The growth of GDP in the

economies in 2003 and 2004 compared to 2002

advanced economies is expected to be higher by 1.8

reflecting both a surge in domestic demand and export

percentage points in 2004 as compared to the previous

growth (Table 1.2). The recovery was significant in

two years. For other emerging markets and developing

terms of rise in consumption, trade prospects and the

economies the growth in GDP was estimated at 6.0 per

tourism sector especially in the SARS affected
economies. However, the GDP growth rate in China
is projected to have slipped marginally by 0.6

Table 1.1: Overview of the Global Economy
Growth Rates
A. GDP (Real)
World
Advanced Economies
Other Emerging Markets
& Developing Economies
i. Asia (Developing Nations)
ii. Africa
iii. Middle East
iv. Western Hemisphere
B. World Trade Volume
(goods & services)
C. Consumer Prices
i. Advanced Economies
ii. Other Emerging Markets &
Developing Economies

(Annual per cent change)
2002
2003 2004*
3.0
1.7
4.6

3.9
2.1
6.1

4.6
3.5
6.0

6.4
3.5
4.2
-0.1
3.1

7.8
4.1
5.4
1.7
4.5

7.4
4.2
4.1
3.9
6.8

1.5
6.0

1.8
6.1

1.7
5.7

percentage point to 8.5 per cent in 2004. The
percentage change in consumer prices in 2004 is
projected to rise in all south East Asian countries
except Indonesia.
Table 1.2: Overview of Asian Economies
Country

Real GDP
2002

China
Indonesia
Malaysia
Pakistan
Philippines
Thailand

8.0
3.7
4.1
4.4
4.4
5.4

(Annual per cent change)
Consumer Prices

2003 2004* 2002 2003 2004*
9.1
4.1
5.2
5.5
4.5
6.7

8.5
4.8
5.7
5.4
4.5
7.0

*Projected.
Source: World Economic Outlook, IMF, May, 2004.

*Projected.
Source: World Economic Outlook, IMF, April, 2004.
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-0.8
11.9
1.8
2.9
3.1
0.6

1.2
6.6
1.1
3.6
3.1
1.8

3.5
5.0
2.2
4.0
3.9
2.2

Table 1.3: World Production of selected Agricultural Commodities
Region

Rice
2002

Asia

Wheat

2003*

2002

Cereals

2003*

2002

Pulses

2003*

2002

(Million tonnes)
Fibre Crops

Oilseeds

2003*

2002

2003*

2002 2003*

516.4

534.8

253.3

243.9

983.0

995.3

27.8

25.9

56.0

59.6

15.3

16.2

Africa

16.9

19.1

16.4

19.6

116.1

127.5

9.3

9.3

7.3

7.4

1.8

2.0

Europe

3.2

3.2

211.8

154.2

436.9

355.3

7.9

7.4

12.9

14.5

0.8

0.8

N.C. America

12.1

11.5

63.5

90.2

369.9

435.5

6.6

7.0

18.9

18.5

3.9

4.1

South America

19.6

20.1

18.1

23.2

103.4

122.7

4.0

4.2

17.8

20.6

1.3

1.3

1.3

0.4

10.1

24.9

18.8

38.0

1.1

2.6

0.5

0.7

0.4

0.3

569.5

589.1

573.5

556.3 2,029.1 2,075.3

56.7

56.5

114.0

122.0

23.5

Australia
World

24.7

*Provisional.
Source: Agricultural Database, FAO, 2004.

1.4

The world cereal production increased by 2.3

crops, in terms of productivity, Indian agriculture suffers

per cent in 2003 largely on account of increased

from lower yields vis-a-vis other countries in the world

production of rice and coarse cereals. While the total

(Table 1.4). The productivity of certain crops is not

cereal production in 2003 increased significantly in

only low but has also remained stagnant over the years.

North Central (N.C.) America (17.7%), Australia (102.1%)

Therefore, all efforts need to be geared to bridge this

and South America (18.7%), its production declined

gap in productivity through an integrated mix of policies

sharply in Europe (-18.7%). Further, while the world

from different segments of the institutional settings.

production of rice increased by 3.4 per cent that of
wheat declined by 2.3 per cent in 2003 compared to

Table 1.4: Indias Global Rank in
Major Agricultural Crops

2002. Though the world level production of oilseeds
Crop

and fibre crops increased by 7.0 and 5.1 per cent,
respectively, that of pulses declined marginally (-0.4%)
in 2003 over the production level achieved in 2002
(Table 1.3).
1.5

In the Indian context, while the country ranks

first and second in terms of area under cultivation and

Area

Production

Rice

1

2

Yield
52

Wheat

1

2

38

Coarse Cereals

3

4

125

Pulses

1

1

138

Oilseeds

2

5

147

Cotton

1

4

77

Sugarcane

2

2

31

Sources : 1. Food & Agriculture Organization.
2. Report on Currency & Finance, RBI, 2001.

production for most of the foodgrain and non-foodgrain

Indian Economy
A.

Economic Scenario

cent (highest since 1988-89), reflecting a rebound in the

1.6

India firmly established itself as one of the fastest

agriculture sector. Apart from agriculture, the industry and

growing economies in the world during 2003-04. The real

services sectors also maintained the momentum with GDP

GDP growth for 2003-04 has been projected by the Central

growth from these sectors accelerating from 6.4 and 7.1

Statistical Organisation at 8.2 per cent, as compared to

per cent, respectively, during 2002-03 to 6.5 and 8.0 per

4 per cent during 2002-03. This has been driven largely

cent, respectively, during 2003-04. The growth of real

by the farm sector which is estimated to grow by 9.1 per

GDP originating in services is expected to have crossed
14

the decennial average (7.5%) during 2003-04. The share
of agriculture and allied activities declined from 31.5 per
cent of GDP during 1992-93 to 24.3 per cent during 2001-

On the basis of the latest estimate of poverty by

declined from 38.9 per cent (1987-88) to 26.1 per cent

1992-93 to 56.1 per cent during 2003-04. The share of

of the total population (1999-2000) mainly due to

industry remained broadly unchanged between 21 and

better economic growth, improvement in real wages

22 per cent. The shifts in sectoral shares reflect the

and the spread of poverty alleviation programmes. The

long-term structural changes that are transforming the

total number of rural poor came down from 232 million

Indian economy.

to 193 million during the same period. Despite a decline
in the incidence of poverty over the years, wide inter-

The rate of gross domestic savings as a

state disparities continue to prevail in the poverty

percentage to GDP at factor cost increased to 24.2

ratios. Bihar, Orissa, Tamil Nadu and West Bengal had

during 2002-03, compared to 23.5 during the previous

more than 50 per cent of their population below the

y e a r. T h e f o re i g n ex c h a n g e re s e r v e s w e re a l s o

poverty line (BPL) in 1983. While Tamil Nadu and West

comfortably placed at US$ 107.4 billion as at end-

Bengal reduced their poverty ratios by nearly half by

March 2004 (Table 1.5). The Indian rupee became

1999-2000, Bihar and Orissa continued to be the

stronger vis-a-vis the US dollar as it appreciated by 5.3

poorest states in the country with 43 and 47 per cent,

per cent during 2003-04 as compared to 1.5 per cent

respectively, of their population BPL. The Tenth Five

during 2002-2003. The average exchange rate stood

Year Plan (2002-07) aims to reduce the poverty ratio

at Rs.45.95 to the dollar during 2003-04 compared to

to 19.3 per cent by end 2007 (Table 1.6).

Rs.48.40 during the previous year.

Table 1.5: Selected Economic Indicators
Indicators

2001-02 2002-03

Growth in
(a) Overall GDP (%)
(b) GDP from Agriculture &
Allied Activities (%)
(c) Agricultural Production (%)
(d) Foodgrain Production (%)
(e) Industrial Production (%)
(f) Exports (%)
Gross Domestic Savings
(as % of GDP)
Gross Domestic Capital
Formation (as % of GDP)
Inflation as measured by WPI (%)
Gross Fiscal Deficit (as % of GDP)
Trade Balance (US $ billion)
Foreign Exchange Reserves
(US $ billion)
External Debt (US $ billion)
: Provisional estimates
NA : Not Available

1.8

NSSO (July 1999-June 2000), incidence of poverty

of services in GDP rose steadily from 47.5 per cent during

P

Incidence of Poverty

the Planning Commission, based on the 55th round of

02 and further to 22.2 per cent during 2003-04. The share

1.7

B.

A
Q

5.8
6.5

2003-04*

4.0 Q
-5.2 Q

8.2A
9.1A

7.6
8.2
2.7
-1.6
23.5 P

-15.6
-18.2
5.7
20.3
24.20 Q

19.3P
21.0P
6.9
17.1
NA

23.1 P

23.3 Q

NA

1.6
6.2
-7.6
51.0

6.5
5.3
-7.5
71. 9

4.6
4.6P
-13.7
107.4

96.0

104.6

112.1@

: Advance Estimates
: Quick Estimates

@

C.

Inflation

1.9

On an annual average basis, the rate of inflation

as measured by increase in the wholesale price index
(WPI) was estimated at 4.6 per cent during 2003-04
as compared to 6.5 per cent during the previous year.
Inflation as measured by the consumer price index (CPI)
for industrial workers slowed down marginally to 3.9
per cent during April-February 2003-04 (4% during the
same period of the previous year) while the CPI for

Table 1.6: Incidence of Poverty in India
Year
1987-88
1993-94
1999-00
2006-07*

: At end Dec. 2003

Rural
39.1
37.3
27.1
21.1

Urban
38.2
32.4
23.6
15.1

(Per cent)
Combined
38.9
36.0
26.1
19.3

* Projected
Source: Tenth Five Year Plan, Vol. I, Planning Commission, GoI.

Sources : 1. Economic Survey, 2003-2004.
2. Monthly Review of Indian Economy, CMIE, February & May 2004.
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agricultural workers increased by 4 per cent during April-

Table 1.7: Composition of Employment
(Per cent)
Sector
1983
1993-94
1999-00
Agriculture
68.45
64.75
59.84
Industry
14.34
15.55
17.43
Services
17.21
19.70
22.73

February 2003-04.

D.

Trade Prospects

1.10 Indias trade performance improved especially

Source: Estimated from the Report of the Task Force on Employment
Opportunities, July, 2001.

with respect to its exports, however its share in world
exports showed an increase of 0.3 percentage point over
the period 1992-02. India has been a better performer

the services sectors, while more than 130 million are

in terms of export growth rates so far due to the fact

either self-employed or in the unorganized sector.

that it has been somewhat insulated from the depression
in the US and other developed countries, the East Asian

F.

crisis of late nineties and also from the recent SARS

1.12 The Small Scale Industry (SSI) sector continues

epidemic that adversely affected the economic prospects

to remain an important sector of the economy in terms

of major East Asian countries. In order to give a push

of its contribution to GDP, industrial production,

to trade liberalization and to eliminate quantitative

employment generation and exports. The third all-India

barriers and tariffs on intra-regional trade, the South

census of SSIs released in January 2004 reported that

Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC)

during 2002-03, the number of SSI units, both

Summit held in January 2004 signed an agreement

registered and unregistered, increased by 4.6 per cent

envisaging the creation of a South Asian Free Trade Area

to 110.1 lakh compared to 105.2 lakh during 2001-

(SAFTA) by 2016. During 2003-04 total exports from

02. The value of production at current prices increased

India recorded a growth of 17.1 per cent as against 20.3

by 10.5 per cent to Rs.3,11,993 crore from

per cent during 2002-03. From a negative growth of 3.6

Rs.2,82,270 crore, emplyoment in SSI sector increased

per cent in April 2003, exports increased by 22.4 per

by 7.3 per cent to 26.71 million persons from 24.9

cent in September 2003 and to a staggering 42.7 per

million persons and exports registered a growth of

cent in December 2003. Growth in imports was also

20.7 per cent to Rs.86,013 crore from Rs.71,244 crore

estimated at 22.8 per cent during 2003-04 as compared

during the same period. Keeping in view the credit

to 19.4 per cent during 2002-03.

E.

Small Scale Industries

n e e d s o f t h e S S I s e c t o r, a Wo r k i n g G r o u p w a s
constituted by the Reserve Bank India (RBI) to assess

Employment

the progress in implementation of Kapur Committee
and Gupta Committee recommendations and suggest

1.11 Nearly 60 per cent of the countrys population

ways to improve credit flow considering, in particular,

continues to depend on agriculture for its livelihood

the backward and forward linkages of this sector with

followed by the services (23%) and the industry (17%)

large corporates.

sectors (Table 1.7). The share of agriculture sector in
total employment has declined while that of industry

G.

and services sectors improved, despite the number of
persons employed in the agriculture sector having

Monetary and Credit Policy 2003-04:
Rural Dimensions

remained almost constant over the decade. Further, of

1.13 Reserve Banks monetary and credit policy

the total workforce of 397 million, only 27.96 million

proposed a host of measures to strengthen credit delivery

workers are considered to be in the organized sector.

in the rural sector. Some of the policy announcements

Around 160 million were employed by the industry and

made were, (i) priority sector lending norms to cover
16

drip/sprinkler irrigation dealers, (ii) interest not to be

Only three sub-divisions, viz., north and south interior

charged on deferred amount of interest in drought-hit

Karnataka and Kerala received deficient rains (26 to 35%)

areas, (iii) raising the ceiling on co-operative banks

in 2003 compared to 21 sub-divisions in the previous

unsecured lendings, introduction of concurrent audit by

year. Fortuitously, rainfall in the sowing months of June

co-operative banks with immediate effect and co-

and July 2003 was 109 and 107 per cent, respectively, of

operatives not to give loans to their directors and

the LPA. The North-East monsoon was normal with the

affiliates. The Credit Policy envisaged the provision of

cumulative rainfall at 9 per cent above the LPA. Normal/

adequate incentives by banks to their branches for

excess rainfall was received in 18 sub-divisions (10 in the

financing of SHGs and simplyfing procedures to suit

corresponding period of 2002-03) while deficient/scanty/

local conditions. As announced in the Credit Policy, the

no rains occurred in the rest of the sub-divisions.

RBI has constituted an Advisory Committee on Flow
of Credit to Agriculture and related Activities from the

1.15 Of the 267 drought affected meteorological

Banking System under the chairmanship of Prof. V.S.

districts during 2002-03, 62 continued to experience

Vyas to suggest short-term and medium-term measures

acute moisture stress during 2003-04. These areas were

to enhance credit flow to the agriculture sector.

spread across Karnataka (16 districts), Tamil Nadu (9

H.

Agriculture and Rural Sector

a.

Rainfall Situation

*

districts), Kerala (7 districts), Punjab (5 districts) and
Maharashtra (4 districts).

b.

1.14 During the South-West monsoon in 2003 (June 

Crop Acreage

September), the cumulative rainfall of 92.2 cm (67.3 cm

1.16 The satisfactory South-West monsoon helped

in 2002) was 2 per cent above the Long Period Average

increase the area under the crops sown in kharif 2003,

(LPA) of 90.3 cm with excess or normal rainfall in 33 (as

and the area sown under rice, coarse cereals, pulses

compared to only 15 meteorological sub-divisions in 2002)

and oilseeds increased by 12, 11, 22 and 15 per cent,

out of 36 meteorological sub-divisions in the country. The

re s p e c t i v e l y, o v e r k h a r i f 2 0 0 2 . T h e f a v o u r a b l e

rainfall was well balanced, having equitable spatial and

prospects for the rabi crops emanated from delayed

temporal distribution, without any prolonged breaks.

w i t h d r a w a l o f t h e S o u t h -We s t m o n s o o n , t h e

Around 75 per cent of the districts and 92 per cent of the

subsequent moderate temperature in the north

gross cropped area (GCA) in the country received normal/

followed by a normal North-East monsoon. These

excess rainfall in 2003 as against 44 per cent of the

conducive conditions led to an improvement in area

districts and 37 per cent of the GCA covered in 2002.

coverage under major crops (Table 1.8).

*

Monetary and Credit Policy announced on 18 May 2004 by the RBI- Steps to increase the flow of credit to the agriculture sector.

•

Loans extended to storage units including cold storage units which are designed to store agricultural produce/products,irrespective of their location, would be treated
as indirect agricultural finance under priority sector.

•

Investment by banks in securitised paper representing loans for agricultural purpose would be treated as lending to agriculture under priority sector, provided the
securitized loans are originated by banks and financial institutions.

•

Banks have been given the freedom to waive margin/security requirements for agricultural loans upto Rs.50,000 and in the case of agri-business for loans upto
Rs.5,00,000.

•

The norms related to NPAs on agricultural loans have been eased. Henceforth, a loan granted for short duration crops will be treated as an NPA if the installment of
the principal or interest thereon remains unpaid for two crop seasons beyond the due date. A loan granted for long duration crops will be treated as an NPA if the
installment of the principal or interest thereon remains unpaid for one crop season beyond the due date.

•

The definition of the term infrastructure sector has been extended to include agricultural infrastructure. The new definition includes (i) construction relating to
projects involving agro-processing and supply of inputs to agriculture; (ii) construction for preservation and storage of processed agro-products, perishable goods
such as fruits, vegetables and flowers including testing facilities for quality.
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Table 1.8: Area under Major Crops during Kharif and Rabi Seasons
(Million ha.)
Crop

Kharif (a)

Rice
Wheat
Coarse Cereals
Pulses
Oilseeds
Cotton
Sugarcane

Rabi (b)

Total Area (a+b)

2002

2003

2002-03

2003-04*

2002-03

2003-04*

% Change

31.5

19.9
9.9
13.6
7.0
4.4

35.5

22.8
12.2
15.4
7.4
4.1

3.6
24.8
6.9
12.4
8.4



3.9
27.3
7.0
15.0
9.9



35.1
24.8
26.8
22.3
22.0
7.0
4.4

39.4
27.3
29.8
27.2
25.3
7.4
4.1

12.3
10.1
11.2
22.0
15.0
5.7
-6.8

* Provisional.
Source: Monthly Review of Indian Economy, CMIE, October 2003 & April 2004.

c.

Crop Production Prospects

a result of drought in the major sugarcane producing
areas of south-central Maharashtra and Karnataka.

1.17 O n a c c o unt o f fa vo u ra b le m o nso on, the
production of foodgrains increased to 210.8 million
tonnes during 2003-04 from 174.2 million tonnes during
2002-03, registering a sharp increase of 21 per cent
(Table 1.9). Of all the foodgrain crops, coarse cereals

d.

Agricultural Inputs

i.

Seeds

registered the highest growth (45.5%) in production

1.18 The Government has initiated several steps to

followed by pulses (34.2%), rice (18.8%) and wheat

strengthen the supply of quality seeds to farmers for

(11.7%). During 2003-04, while the share of rice in the

better productivity. The National Seeds Policy was

total foodgrain production declined, the share of coarse

announced in 2002 with the objective of providing an

cereals, pulses and wheat improved as compared to

appropriate climate for the seed industry to enable

2001-02

(Chart 1.1). There was also a significant

them to utilise available and prospective opportunities

increase in the production of oilseeds (65.8%) and cotton

for safeguarding the interest of farmers, conserving

(55.2%) during 2003-04. However, the production of

the bio-diversity, etc. The Seed Bank Scheme was

sugarcane declined for the second year in succession as

introduced in 2000 in order to make available quality

Chart 1.1

Share of Major Crops in Total Foodgrain Production

Coarse Cereals
15.7%

Pulses
6.3%

Coarse Cereals
17.5%

Rice
43.8%

Wheat
34.2%

Wheat
34.5%
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Pulses
7.0%
Rice
41.0%

the growth of fertilizer consumption has been erratic

Table 1.9: Agricultural Production

since 2000-01, hovering between 16.1 million tonnes

(Million tonnes)
2001-02

2002-03

2003-04*

to 17.5 million tonnes in the last four years. This has

Rice
Wheat
Coarse Cereals

93.3
72.8
33.4

72.7
65.1
25.3

86.4 (18.8)
72.7 (11.7)
36.8 (45.5)

resulted in a fall in per ha. consumption of fertilizers from

Total Cereals

199.5

163.1

195.9 (20.1)

Crop

Pulses
Total Foodgrains
Oilseeds
Sugarcane
Cotton**

13.4

11.1

14.9 (34.2)

212.9

174.2

210.8 (21.0)

20.7

15.1

25.0 (65.8)

297.2
10.0

281.6
8.7

244.8(-13.1)
13.5 (55.2)

90.1 kg. during 2001-02 to 84.8 kg. during 2002-03
(Table 1.10).

iii.

Irrigation

1.20 So far, only 68 per cent of the countrys irrigation
potential has been harnessed out of the ultimate irrigation
potential assessed at 139.9 million ha. The slow progress

* Third Advance Estimate by Ministry of Agriculture, GoI.
** Million bales of 170 kg each.
Source : Economic Survey, 2003-04, Gol.
Figures in parentheses indicate percentage change over 2002-03.

(1.8 to 1.9 million ha. p.a.) in the creation of irrigation
potential during the Ninth Plan period was mainly due
to scarcity of resources with state governments. In

seeds for meeting contingent requirements. During

accordance with the National Agriculture Policys

2003-04 the production of breeder and foundation

mandate of doubling foodgrain production by the next

seeds was estimated at 0.5 and 6.5 lakh quintals,

decade, the minor irrigation (MI) sector has become a

respectively, and the distribution of certified/quality

major thrust area for NABARD in terms of introducing

seeds was estimated to have reached the level of 117.0

various developmental initiatives and financial

lakh quintals.

incentives. The investment in MI structures is expected
to create an additional irrigation potential of 12 million

ii.

Fertilizers

ha. during the Tenth Plan period. NABARD continues
to undertake promotional and sensitization programmes

1.19 The domestic production of fertilizers marginally

for representatives of State Ground Water Departments,

declined during 2003-04 compared to 2002-03. The

State Electricity Boards, District Rural Development

import requirement of total N+P+K was reported at

Agencies, Lead District Managers, participating banks,

2.0 million tonnes during 2003-04. Though the fertilizer

Non-Governmental Organisations as well as farmers and

consumption tripled between 1980-81 and 1999-2000,

other concerned agencies.
1.21 Based on groundwater assessment exercise of
1994 the overall utilization of groundwater was only
Table 1.10: Fertiliser Statistics
Year

(Million tonnes)
Consumption
Imports

Production
N

P2O5 Total

N

P2O5

K2O

2000-01

11.0

3.7 14.7

10.9

4.2

2001-02

10.8

3.9 14.7

11.3

4.4

2002-03

10.6

3.9 14.5

10.5

2003-04* 10.6

3.6 14.2

11.3

* Estimated
Sources : Economic Survey, 2003-04, Gol.

Improved efficiency of water through the adoption of drip irrigation.
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Total

N+P+K

1.6

16.7

2.1

1.7

17.4

2.4

4.0

1.6

16.1

1.8

4.4

1.8

17.5

2.0

v.

45 per cent. However, in 599 blocks/taluks/mandals/
watersheds out of the 7,063 in the countr y, the

Rural Credit

1.23 The total quantum of agricultural credit provided

groundwater is over exploited or its utilization has

by co-operative banks, commercial banks and RRBs

reached a critical stage and further development is

increased from Rs.62,045 crore during 2001-02 to

difficult*. The over-exploited areas lie mostly in Haryana,

Rs.69,560 crore during 2002-03, an increase of 12 per

Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan, where overall utilization

cent. During 2003-04 the total credit flow to agriculture

has reached a level of 120, 86 and 72 per cent,

is estimated to have increased by 15 per cent to

respectively. In certain other states such as Gujarat,

Rs.80,000 crore. The total credit flow to agriculture and

Karnataka, Maharashtra and Uttar Pradesh, where the

allied sectors during the Tenth Plan period is projected

utilization has reached a level ranging between 43 and

at Rs.7,36,570 crore, about three times the credit flow

59 per cent, the warning signals are on. Apart from

of Rs.2,29,956 crore during the Ninth Plan period.

this, there are many over-exploited pockets in almost
all the states. In the 599 dark blocks in the country

e.

where new groundwater structures are not supported

Capital Formation in Agriculture

through bank credit, other water conservation activities

1.24 The gross capital formation in agriculture at

such as underground pipelines, establishment of drip

1993-94 prices fluctuated between Rs.14,895 crore and

and sprinkler systems, replacement of pumpsets, etc.,

Rs.18,657 crore during the period 1995-96 to 2002-03

may have to be encouraged and supported.

(Chart 1.2). While the share of private sector

iv.

investments in the capital formation in agriculture

Farm Power

increased by 6.6 percentage points to 75.7 per cent,

1.22 The sale of tractors which was at 2.58 lakh units

the share of public sector investments declined by the

during 1999-2000, declined to 2.56 lakh and 2.25 lakh

same magnitude during the same period. The public

units during 2000-01 and 2001-02, respectively.

investments, however, increased from Rs.3,927 crore

However, during 2002-03 the sale of tractors increased

during 2000-01 to Rs.4,538 crore during 2002-03,

to 2.38 lakh units. It is expected that the tractor

registering an increase of 15.6 per cent. Private

industry would witness a turnaround, as 33 out of 36

investments also increased from Rs.12,979 crore to

meteorological sub-divisions in the country received

Rs.14,119 crore (increase of 8.8%) during the same

n o r mal or excess rainfall during the South-West

period. Investments in agriculture as a percentage of

monsoon in 2003. NABARD, as part of its farm

GDP declined from 1.6 during 1995-96 to 1.3 during

mechanisation policy, has been insisting upon financing

2002-03. A Committee on Capital For mation in

only those tractors and power tiller models that meet

Agriculture set up by the GoI to enquire into the causes

the Minimum Performance Standards (MPS) introduced

of stagnant public expenditure in agriculture suggested

at its behest so that farmers are supplied with quality

the inclusion of expenditure on schemes such as Drought

agricultural equipments. So far, 45 tractor and 8 power

Prone Area Programme, Accelerated Irrigation Benefits

tiller models were found to qualify under the MPS.

Pr o g r a m m e , N a t i o n a l Wa t e r s h e d D e v e l o p m e n t

Efforts are on to bring all the tractors and power tiller

Programme in Rainfed Areas, etc., in computation of

models being marketed in India under the MPS norm.

capital investments in agriculture.

* Based on assessment completed in ten states (Andhra Pradesh, Chhattisgarh, Kerala, Jammu & Kashmir, Maharashtra, Rajasthan,
Tamil Nadu, Orissa, Uttar Pradesh, Uttaranchal), 774 blocks/taluks/basins/watersheds/sub-units have been categorized as dark/
critical and over exploited as per the groundwater assessment norms of GEC- 1997. The number of over-exploited units would go up
after assessment is completed in all the states as per new norms.
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Chart 1.2

Gross Capital Formation in Agriculture
(At 1993-94 prices)

Rs. crore

Public
Private
Total

1.25 The private sector capital formation in agriculture

I.

Agriculture - Allied Sectors

and allied sectors increased from Rs.14,605 crore during

a.

Animal Husbandry and Dairy

1995-96 to Rs.26,569 crore during 2001-02 at current

1.27 India owns the largest livestock population in

prices. The proportion of such capital formation

the world accounting for nearly 57 per cent of the

supported through institutional credit increased from

worlds buffalo population and 16 per cent of the

59.6 to 81.1 per cent during the same period, reflecting

cattle population. India became the largest producer

the major role played by financial institutions in

of milk in the world during 2002-03 with a total

supporting agriculture and allied activities.

f.

production of 86.4 million tonnes. The per capita milk
availability improved from 176 grams/day during 1990-

Crop Insurance

91 to 226 grams/day during 2002-03. The National

1.26 The GoI introduced the 'National Agricultural

Vision aims to produce 96 million tonnes of milk by

Insurance Scheme' from rabi 1999-2000 for the benefit

2010. During 2002-03 the livestock sector accounted

of all farmers (both loanee and non-loanee) irrespective

for 5.4 per cent of the total GDP and 27.7 per cent of

of their size of land holdings. The scheme is being

the GDP from agriculture sector.

implemented in 23 states and 2 Union Territories. A
total of 328 lakh farmers with an area coverage of
509.9 lakh ha. were covered under the scheme till the
end of kharif 2003. The Department of Agriculture and
Co-operation has formulated a new scheme entitled
'Farm Income Insurance Scheme' (FIIS) to provide
income protection to farmers by integrating the
mechanism of insuring production as well as market
risks. The scheme has been implemented on a pilot
basis during rabi 2003-04 in 18 districts of 12 states
covering two crops, i.e., paddy and wheat.

Inland fisheries for supplementary income.
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1.28 Export of milk and dairy products increased to

support as announced in the Interim Budget 2004-05

US$ 27 million during 2003-04 (April-January) as

(Box 1.1). The highlights of the Union Budget 2004-05

against US$ 26 million for the same period during

announced on 8 July 2004 relating to the agriculture

2 0 0 2 - 0 3 . The world average growth rate of milk

and rural sector are indicated in Box 1.2.

production was 1.48 per cent and its growth in most

b.

other milk producing countries remained static. As
against this, Indias growth rate of 4.5 per cent p.a.

Fisheries

1.29 India is the sixth largest producer of fish in the

augurs well for her potential to emerge as a major

world and second in inland fish production. The fishery

player in the export of milk products like whole milk

sector contributes 1.1 per cent of the total GDP and

powder, skimmed milk powder, butter, cheese, etc.,

5.4 per cent of the GDP from agriculture sector. Further,

in the emerging markets for these products in South

the GDP from fisheries has been growing at a rate of 14

East Asian countries and the Middle East. In order to

per cent, which is higher than the growth rate in the

give a boost to the dairy industry and to encourage

agriculture sector. The ratio of GDP originating from

t h e e n t i re g a m u t o f t h i s e c o n o m i c a c t i v i t y, t h e

the fishery to the agriculture sector improved from 3.9

government is considering the setting-up of a National

per cent during 1993-94 to 5.4 per cent during 2001-

Cattle Development Board with appropriate budgetary

02. Fish production reached a level of 6.2 million tonnes,

Box 1.1
Interim Budget 2004-05 - Agriculture and Rural Sector
Highlights
• The Agriculture Infrastructure and Credit Fund in NABARD

of one year, (ii) for small tea growers, banks to extend fresh

to be operationalised. The Fund to provide credit at 2

working capital limits upto Rs.2 lakh at an interest rate of 9

percentage points below the Prime Lending Rate.

% p.a. and (iii) to explore the feasibility of a debt
amelioration scheme in the sector.

• A committee has been set up under Prof. V.S. Vyas to address

NPAs in relation to crop loan accounts and provisioning of

• Revitalization package for the sugar industry in

credit to farmers where seasonality and uncertainty of farm

consultation with other stakeholders announced. Banks and

income are not fully captured.

other lending agencies to examine restructuring of loans
taken by sugar factories to provide temporary relief in

• The existing Kisan Credit Card to be modified upon individual

consultation with RBI and NABARD.

request for use on ATM machines.
• The Farm Income Insurance Scheme to be extended to 100

• Revitalisation of the co-operative credit structure

districts from the forthcoming kharif season, in addition to

envisaging an outlay of Rs.15,000 crore, to be shared

the districts covered earlier on pilot basis.

between central and state governments.
• Government to consider setting-up of a National Cattle

• NABARD in association with public sector banks to launch a

Development Board to boost animal husbandry activities.

special promotional campaign for SHGs in states where the
SHG promotion programme is yet to gather momentum. In

• Liberalisation of the Laghu Udyami Credit Card scheme for

the first phase intensive programme to be launched in Madhya

easy credit accessibility to small and medium enterprises.

Pradesh, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh.

The credit limit for borrowers with satisfactory track record
to be increased from Rs.2 lakh to Rs.10 lakh from 1 March

• A special revival package for the Tea industry comprising

(i) special term loan repayable in 5 years with a moratorium

2004 by public sector banks.
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Box 1.2
Highlights - Union Budget 2004-05 : Agriculture and Rural Sector
• Credit flow to agriculture to be doubled in three years. Public

• Matured SHGs to graduate from consumption/production

and private sector banks, RRBs and co-operative banks to be

credit to micro-enterprises. NABARD, SIDBI, banks and other

responsible for implementing the Agriculture C re d i t Po l i c y

agencies to credit link 5.85 lakh SHGs by March 31, 2007.

announced on 18 June 2004.

• Additional capital to be provided to Small Farmers'

• A Task Force to be appointed to examine the reforms required

Agri-business Consortium to aggressively promote agri-

in the co-operative banking system including the appropriate

businesses. Measures to improve agricultural product markets

regulatory regime. The report to be submitted by the Task

and promote agri-businesses to be initiated.

Force by October 31, 2004.

• Agricultural research to be expanded to new frontiers such as

• Sponsor banks to be made squarely accountable for the

bio-technology, vaccines and diagnostics with special focus

performance of RRBs under their control. RRBs that adopt a

on farming in drylands and unirrigated areas. The allocation

new governance standard and that abide by the prudential

for 2004-05 is Rs.1,000 crore.

regulations to qualify for funds for their restructuring.

• The pilot scheme insuring farm income launched in 19 districts

• RIDF to be revived and a corpus of Rs.8,000 crore to be

across 12 states during rabi 2003-04, to be extended to kharif

provided during 2004-05.

2004. Weather insurance by Agricultural Insurance Company

• A sum of Rs.2,800 crore provided to the Accelerated

on a trial basis in 20 rain gauge stations to be introduced.

Irrigation Benefit Programme (AIBP) for the year 2004-05
to enable the completion of large and medium irrigation

• Panchayati Raj Institutions (PRIs) to be encouraged to plan,

projects under the scheme latest by March 2006.

implement, own, operate and maintain rural water supply
schemes in consultation with state governments under the

• A pilot scheme in five districts representing five regions of the

Accelerated Rural Water Supply Progamme.

country to be launched, involving an amount of Rs.100 crore
to repair, renovate and restore the water bodies directly linked

• A Fund of Rs.100 crore to be set up for the regeneration of

to agriculture.

traditional industries like coir, handloom, handicrafts,
sericulture, leather, pottery and other cottage industries.

• A nationwide water harvesting scheme of Rs.100 crore to be

launched for SCs/STs to cover one lakh irrigation units at an

• Exemption of excise duty for tractors, dairy machinery and

average cost of Rs.20,000 per unit. NABARD to lend the

hand tools such as spades, shovels, sickles, etc. Excise duty on

money on easy terms. Government to provide a 50% capital

processed meat, poultry and fish products reduced to 1 6 % .

subsidy through NABARD.

Plantation machinery and other items pertaining to tea and

• A programme for flood and erosion control to be launched

coffee plantations to attract concessional customs duty of 5%.

with an allocation of Rs.30 crore in the current year.

• RBI to revise repayment norms for rural housing by banks to

• National Horticulture Mission to be launched with a goal to

coincide with crop cycle.

double horticulture production from the current level to 300

• GoI to launch the National Water Development Project and

million tonnes by the year 2011-12.

complete it over 7-10 years through multilateral funding from

• States to be encouraged to emulate the Anand model and

various agencies.

establish a State Level Co-operative Society for promoting
horticulture.

• Provision of Rs.135.24 crore made for 'Promotion of SSI

• Promotion of superior seed-technology and appropriate

Scheme' including loan ceiling upto Rs.1 crore under Capital

price support policy to facilitate farmers to diversify to

Investment Subsidy Scheme at 15% subsidy - 85 items removed

oilseeds.

from reserved list for SSIs.
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comprising 3.0 million tonnes of marine fisheries and

per cent for raw cotton including waste. The export

3.2 million tonnes of inland fisheries during 2002-03. In

performance as at end-January 2004, revealed that

terms of value, though fish production forms only 3.2

export of cereals, groundnut, other oilseeds, fresh fruits/

per cent of the food production in the country, earnings

vegetables, floriculture, dairy and poultry products

from marine product exports (US$ 1,066 million as at

increased, while the export of some of the agro and

end - January 2004) forms 18.9 per cent of the exports

agro-processed commodities, viz., tea, spices, tobacco,

from the agriculture sector (US$ 5,641 million as at end

basmati rice, processed fruits and juices, etc., declined.

- January 2004). The existing volume of fisheries export

b.

(0.47 MT) forms only 7.6 per cent of total fish production
as compared to the global average of 11 per cent.

J.

Agricultural Trade

a.

Exports

Imports

1.31 The share of imports of food and related products
in total imports stood at 4.8 per cent during April-February
2003-04, compared to 4.6 per cent during the same period
of the previous year. Items that registered a rise in imports
were fruits and nuts, milk and cream, vegetable oils, etc.,

1.30 Indias share in the international trade in

while a fall was seen in imports of pulses, rice, cereal

agriculture has been historically low and stands at about

preparations, spices, etc. Vegetable oils have become the

one per cent. The value of agri-exports to total exports

single largest item accounting for 75.4 per cent of total

of the country came down considerably from 18.5 per

agri-imports during April-February 2003-04. Volume of

cent during 1990-91 to 13.1 per cent during 2002-03,

agricultural imports aggregated US$ 3,282.2 million during

while that of agri-imports increased from 2.8 per cent

April-February 2003-04, compared to US$ 2,529.6 million

to 5.8 per cent during the same period (Table 1.11).

during the same period of the previous year recording an

The share of agricultural exports in total exports came

increase of 29.8 per cent.

down to 11.7 per cent during April-February 2003-04
from 12.9 per cent during the same period of 2002-03,

c.

and growth rate of agri-exports declined to 7.1 per cent
as against an increase of 14.1 during the same period.

World Trade Organisation - Latest
Developments

Commodity-wise, the growth in exports during April-

1.32 India as a founder member of the GATT, is a

January 2003-04, ranged from a minima of (-) 81.3 per

signatory to the Agreement on Agriculture (AoA) signed

cent for cashewnut shell liquid to a maxima of 721.5

under the Uruguay Round negotiations which led to the

Table 1.11: Exports and Imports in Agriculture
(Rs. crore)
Year

Agri. Exports

Total Exports

Agri. Imports

Total Imports

1990-91

6,012.8 (18.5)

32,527.3

1,205.9 (2.8)

43,170.8

1995-96

20,397.7 (19.2)

1,06,353.4

5,890.1 (4.8)

1,22,678.1

1999-00

25,313.7 (15.9)

1,59,095.2

16,066.7 (7.5)

2,15,528.5

2000-01

28,657.4 (14.2)

2,01,356.5

12,086.2 (5.3)

2,28,306.6

2001-02

29,728.6 (14.2)

2,09,018.0

16,256.6 (6.6)

2,45,199.7

2002-03*

33,126.5(13.1)

2,52,790.0

17,100.2(5.8)

2,96,596.9

* Provisional.

Figures in parentheses indicate share of agri-exports/imports in total exports/imports.
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d.

establishment of WTO in 1995. The AoA brought within
its ambit the minimum market access for agricultural

Marketing Facilities

1.34 The GoI assists regulated markets operating in

commodities, removal of non-tariff barriers (NTBs),

rural areas to establish infrastructure and rural

domestic support to farm sector and export subsidies.

warehouses for marketing agricultural products.

Existing NTBs such as quotas, levies, minimum import

NABARD also provides refinance to banks for financing

prices, discretionary licensing were to be abolished or

rural haats and other trading activities if it leads to value

converted into tariffs through the process of

addition. The other Central Government organizations

tariffication. In pursuance to this, India removed

involved in agricultural marketing include the

Quantitative Restrictions (QRs) for 1,429 items (208

Commission for Agricultural Costs and Prices, the Food

items belonging to the agriculture sector) by March 2001.

Corporation of India, the Cotton Corporation of India

The GoI has also taken several other measures to

and the Jute Corporation of India, apart from the

safeguard Indian agriculture in the context of phasing

specialized marketing Boards for rubber, coffee, tea,

out QRs. Import duties on a number of agro-products

tobacco, spices, coconut and horticulture. A network of

like wheat, rice, sugar and skimmed milk powder, poultry

co-operatives at the local, state and national levels also

products, etc., were increased. The imports of 131

assists in agricultural marketing.

products like various food preservatives and additives,
milk powder, infant milk food, etc., were allowed subject

1.35 The GoI, Ministry of Agriculture (MoA) had set

to compliance to the mandatory Indian quality standards

up an Inter-Ministerial Task Force to strengthen and

as applicable to domestic goods.

develop agricultural marketing. The report, outlining
several reform measures was submitted in June 2002.

1.33 The Fourth Ministerial Conference at Doha,

Some of the reform measures suggested by the Task

Qatar in November 2001 came out with the Doha

Force include amendment of State Agriculture Produce

Declaration that called for comprehensive negotiations

and Marketing Committee (APMC) Act for promotion

to substantially improve market access, reduce and

of direct marketing and contract farming, development

ultimately phase out all forms of export subsidies and

of agricultural markets in private and co-operative

make substantial reductions in trade-distorting

sectors, expansion of futures trading to cover all

domestic support. This would help more agri-exports

agricultural commodities, use of information technology

from India, as heavy subsidies by EU at present make

to provide market-led extension services to farmers, etc.

Indian agro-products uncompetitive in the world

Two states, i.e., Kar nataka and Maharashtra have

market. However, the Fifth Ministerial Conference of

already amended the APMC Act.

the WTO members at Cancun, Mexico in September
2003, failed to resolve issues of concern of the

e.

developing countries, particularly those related to
reduction and finally phasing out of agricultural

Procurement and Stock of
Foodgrains

subsidies provided to farmers in developed countries.

1.36 The procurement of foodgrains declined from 38.1

As a result, matters came to an impasse as the

million tonnes during 2002-03 to 36.5 million tonnes

developing nations refused to discuss issues other than

during 2003-04, mainly on account of decline in

the most pressing ones, while the developed nations

procurement of wheat from 19.1 million tonnes to 15.8

wanted to discuss matters, viz., investment,

million tonnes. However, procurement of rice increased

competition, transparency in government procurement

to 20.7 million tonnes (by 8.9 %) from 19 million tonnes

and trade facilitation taken up in the Singapore meet.

during the same period. The stocks of foodgrains with
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the Food Corporation of India and state-level agencies

being implemented in Andhra Pradesh facilitates

were drawn down from the peak level of 64.8 million

farmers to sell their produce directly to the

tonnes on 1 June 2002 to 22.8 million tonnes as on

consumers/pledge their produce with market

1 March 2004. The foodgrain stocks, however, still

commitees to avoid distress sales. The Government

remain above the norm (16.8 million tonnes) to be

of Maharashtra amended its APMC Act in April 2003

maintained as on 1 January as well as on 1 April (15.6

enabling farmers to sell their produce without involving

million tonnes). The steep decline in the stocks was on

intermediaries. It has also introduced negotiable

account of lower procurement of wheat during the

warehouse receipt system and use of IT to provide

rabi marketing season of 2002-03 and 2003-04. The

market led extension services to farmers. Karnataka

off-take of foodgrains during 2003-04 (April-February)

amended its APMC Act to enable setting-up of a

was higher by 13 per cent under the Targeted Production

National Integrated Produce Market to be owned

Distribution System and by 28 per cent under other welfare

and managed as an autonomous entity by the

schemes compared to the previous year.

National Dairy Development Board (NDDB). In

K.

Orissa, Model Krushak Bazaars would be

Agricultural Reform Initiatives

established at five different places under the
jurisdiction of the district administration to provide

1.37 Reforms in agriculture have been guided by the

opportunities to farmers to market their produce.

objective of integrated, efficient and sustainable use of
natural resources, promoting agro-processing and value

b.

addition, improvement in the quality of products, export

Irrigation and Water Supply

orientation, etc. Keeping this in view, various states have

1.40 In order to ensure water conservation and its

come up with reform initiatives so as to strengthen their

management, reforms have been introduced in the

agriculture sector in general and agro-processing,

irrigation sector by many states. Andhra Pradesh had

marketing and developing agri-infrastructure in particular.

enacted the Andhra Pradesh Land, Water and Trees Act,

a.

2002 under which 50 per cent subsidy would be provided,

Agricultural Marketing

subject to a ceiling of Rs.50,000 for all categories of

1.38 In order to enable private participation in

beneficiaries for installation of micro irrigation systems.

agricultural marketing, the GoI circulated a draft model

For optimal water management, formation of more Pani

of the Agricultural Produce Marketing, Development

Panchayats was encouraged by the Government of

and Regulation Act, 2003, to state governments to make

Orissa. Karnataka amended the Karnataka Irrigation

suitable amendments in their respective Agriculture

Act in 2000 enabling the formation of 1,712 WUAs and

Produce Marketing Acts. Karnataka, Madhya Pradesh

authorizing them to raise resources for maintenance of

and Punjab have taken the lead in allowing private

irrigation structures. A State Water Policy was also

participation in agricultural marketing.

formulated to improve efficiency of water use through
adoption of drip and sprinkler irrigation. Cent per cent

1.39 To e n c o u r a g e p r i v a t e p a r t i c i p a t i o n i n t h e

subsidy is provided for such investments. Punjab had

setting-up and management of agricultural markets,

initiated drip/sprinkler irrigation in areas having light soils,

various projects/schemes are being implemented by

undulating topography and for cultivation of horticultural

state governments through their agriculture marketing

crops and crops other than paddy. In Jharkhand, Gram

committees. An innovative project called Rythu

Bhagirathi Yojana is being implemented to provide

Bazaars and Rythu Bandhu Pathakam scheme,

irrigation facilities to farmers. Initiatives are being taken
26

to complete all minor and medium irrigation projects

systems, production of hybrid seeds, promotion of

being implemented in the state with a view to increase

post-harvest facilities) and processing related subsidy

the command area under irrigation.

schemes (interest subsidy, subsidy on stamp duty,

c.

subsidy on mechanized grading and packaging, etc.),

Agro-processing and Value Addition

concessional electricity tariff, exemption from
payment of market cess, etc. In Karnataka, five Food

1.41 With a view to promote processing of agricultural

and Agri-Technology Parks (FATP) with complementary

produce and value addition, Jharkhand announced the

services are being established for the benefit of the

Jharkhand Industrial Policy providing special thrust to

agri-business community. Food Karnataka Ltd., a

agro-processing industries. Under an MoU signed with

special purpose vehicle is being promoted to build

APEDA, Agri-Export Zones (AEZs) have been established

partnerships between farmers and private sector food

in three districts, i.e., Hazaribagh, Lohardaga and

majors to encourage contract farming. The Jammu &

Ranchi to boost vegetable production. In Madhya

Kashmir Government has decided to promote

Pradesh the government has initiated action to create

Controlled Atmospheric technology to preserve and

AEZs in three districts for onion, garlic, potatoes, spices

increase shelf life of fruits and vegetables, initiate

and wheat. The Madhya Pradesh Krishi Upaj Mandi

commercial cultivation of cut flowers and commercial

(Sanshodhan) Abhiniyam 2003 was amended to enable

exploitation of medicinal and aromatic crops. A

contract farming agreements between processors/

market intervention scheme to provide support price

companies interested in buying farm produce from

to fruit growers was also introduced.

farmers for processing/marketing, etc., at predetermined
prices. Government of Uttar Pradesh announced a policy

d.

package to boost the agro-based food processing

Forest and Tribal Development

in d u s t r y. T h e ma in ince ntive s/ p ro po sa ls are tax

1.43 The Government of Andhra Pradesh had issued

exemption on trade, availability of land on easy terms,

comprehensive orders for improvement of degraded

establishment of venture capital fund, development of

forests through the participation of local people by

cold chains, strengthening contract farming, etc. AEZs

i ntr oducti on of Joi nt Fo rest Manag eme nt ( J FM )

are being planned for mango, potato and basmati rice.

Programme. The orders broadly relate to the areas

A Basmati Foundation was formed by the government

of (i) constitution of state, district and Integrated

to boost production of basmati rice to cater to the

Tribal Development Authority level committees for

international demand. Similarly, in Maharashtra, AEZs

ensuring inter-sectoral co-ordination, (ii) sharing of

are being set up for mango (Alphonso and Kesar), onion,

usufructs arising out of forests managed under JFM

orange, pomegranate and banana.

and (iii) granting incentives to Vana Samrakshana
Samithies (VSS) for their role in the collection of forest

1.42 P u n j a b p l a n s t o p r o m o t e a g r o - e x p o r t s b y

produce like tendu leaves, etc. In Kerala, a New Basic

providing subsidized packaging and refrigerated

Needs Package for tribals with three components, viz.,

storage at both the production and consumer ends.

health insurance, quality education and housing and

The State Policy on Food Processing Industries in

sanitation has been announced for poor tribals. The

Andhra Pradesh aims to provide incentives in terms

resettlement of landless tribals has also been

of different production (subsidy on micro irrigation

emphasized.
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II

Development Initiatives

As a part of its development function, NABARD continued

empowerment and environmental protection. Human

to focus on watershed development, integrated

resource development for the rural banking sector and

development of backward areas, promotion of cultivation

supporting research and development activities in areas of

of medicinal crops, Agri-Export Zones, agri-clinics and agri-

agriculture and rural development also continued to receive

business centres, farmers' service centres, developing non-

attention and support. Some of the important initiatives

farm activities to generate employment, improving the

taken by the Bank and support extended to various

outreach of the rural credit delivery system through

developmental programmes of the GoI in pursuance of its

microFinance institutions/Self Help Groups (SHGs), women

mission of ensuring rural prosperity are highlighted below.

Farm Sector
A.

Watershed Development

2.2

The watershed development programme, aimed

2.3

A national level workshop on 'Monitoring and

Evaluation of Watershed Projects and Strategies for Post
Watershed Development ' was organised by the Bank at

at spreading the message of participatory approach for

Ranchi in May 2003 in order to exchange ideas on

watershed development, received a boost after the

approaches adopted in the implementation of projects.

establishment of the Watershed Development Fund

NGOs, government officials and other developmental

(WDF) in NABARD during 1999-2000 with a corpus of

agencies participated in the workshop. The objective was

Rs.200 crore. So far, 103 districts in ten states have been

to convince the other states about the effectiveness and

identified and the programme is being implemented in

positive impact of participatory approach and thereby

77 of them. Projects under the programme are being

encourage them to join the Watershed Development

implemented in two phases, viz., the capacity building

Programme.

phase (CBP) and the full implementation phase (FIP).
During the year, 54 watershed projects involving a grant
assistance of Rs.2.72 crore were sanctioned under the
CBP, taking the number of projects sanctioned to 274,
involving cumulative grant assistance of Rs.13.12 crore.
For preparation of feasibility repor ts (FR), grant
assistance of Rs.68.56 lakh was sanctioned in respect of
70 projects during the year. So far, an amount of
Rs.11.47 crore has been released to the implementing
agencies including Rs.5.06 crore released during the
year. These projects would cover 0.24 lakh ha. during
the CBP and eventually a total area of 2.57 lakh ha. on
entering the FIP. So far, 37 projects have entered FIP.

Drainage line treatment with Gabian structure.
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local area with forestry plantations on the boundary. The
'wadi' experiment has proved to be an effective tool for
tribal development.

C.

Agri-clinics and Agri-business
Centres

2.6

The scheme for setting-up of agri-clinics and

agri-business centres by agriculture/veterinary graduates
introduced during 2001-02 by the GoI, aims at
supplementing the existing extension network to accelerate
the process of technology transfer, supplementing the efforts

Vegetable cultivation by women in Wadi.

of state agencies in providing inputs and other services to

Integrated Development of
Backward Blocks

the farmers and offering self-employment opportunities to

The pilot project for integrated development of

'Direct Agriculture Advances' under the priority sector. So

backward blocks (PPID) through the convergence of

far, 4,168 graduates have been trained in 12 states, of which

various credit and development programmes and schemes

802 'agripreneurs' have started agri-clinics and agri-business

was launched in July 2003 in ten relatively backward

centres in different parts of the country, the maximum

blocks, one each in Andhra Pradesh and Tamil Nadu, two

concentration being in Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Karnataka,

each in Gujarat and Maharashtra and four in Karnataka.

Maharashtra, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh.

2.5

2.7

B.
2.4

agriculture graduates. The Reserve Bank of India has
classified loans to agri-clinics and agri-business centres as

Concerted efforts are being made in these blocks to

A study conducted by NABARD in a few states to

form SHGs, link the existing ones with banks to facilitate

examine the arrangement of finance for establishing

faster credit delivery, organise farmers into Farmers' Clubs

agri-clinics, securities offered for availing bank finance,

under the VVV programme, promote farm and non-farm

problems faced during implementation of the scheme, etc.,

sector activities under various on-going government

revealed the inability of majority of agri-graduates to

programmes and take initiatives for integrated development

arrange collateral security for bank loans, lack of awareness

of the selected blocks. The possibility of providing support

of the scheme among some bank branches and

from RIDF for developing critical infrastructure in these

cumbersome process of obtaining license for sale of

blocks is being explored with the concer ned state

fertilizers, pesticides, etc. NABARD has taken efforts to

governments. A number of interventions through Rural

sensitise bankers through workshops and by using available

Entrepreneurship Development Programmmes (REDPs)

fora like DLCC, SLBC etc., for extending credit support
for establishing agri-clinics and agri-business centres.

were made for entrepreneurship and skill development
among educated unemployed youths to prepare them for

D.

Financing Purchase of Land for
Agricultural Purposes

and replicate the 'wadi project' for development of tribals

2.8

The scheme has been in operation since 2001-02

in Jambughoda block of Panchmahal district in Gujarat

and aims at financing small and marginal farmers to

out of grant component of WDF. A 'wadi' is a small orchard

purchase, develop and cultivate agricultural/fallow/

of one or two acres comprising fruit crops suitable to the

wastelands as also finance the purchase of land for

self-employment. Besides, it was decided to implement one
watershed development project in each of the ten blocks
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marketing by changing 'forestry mindset' into 'farm mindset'.
The Bamboo Mission programme envisages the covering
of two million ha. of land under bamboo plantation during
the Tenth Five Year Plan period. To this end, the Bank
prepared a perspective plan to finance the nursery network
under centralized and decentralized mechanism to support
three lakh ha. bamboo plantations involving an investment
outlay of Rs.1,000 crore during the Tenth Plan period in
potential states. To streamline the operational and policy
issues, the Bank constituted a Bamboo Cell at its HO
and prepared a policy document indicating the promotional

Bamboo  a versatile and renewable resource.

and credit support required for the pre-harvest, plantation
and post-harvest stages of bamboo cultivation.

establishing or diversifying into other allied activities.

F.

During the year, of the total disbursements of Rs.41.50
crore under the scheme, Haryana and Punjab had the

Cultivation of Medicinal and
Aromatic Crops

major share of Rs.20.38 crore and Rs.11.92 crore,

2.11 In accordance with GoI's policy for conservation

respectively, while disbursements in Kerala, Tamil Nadu

and promotion of cultivation of Medicinal and Aromatic

and Madhya Pradesh were Rs.3.19 crore, Rs.2.37 crore

Crops (MACs), NABARD initiated measures to promote

and Rs.1.95 crore, respectively.

the sector. These include the preparation of state-wise
directories of manufacturers and traders and the

2.9

In addition to studies conducted in Karnataka and

formulation of 45 bankable model schemes of high

Haryana during 2002-03, an investment specific study

demand species.

was conducted in Thanjavur and Madurai districts of Tamil
Nadu during 2003-04 to ascertain, inter alia, the reasons

2.12 With a view to sensitize officials of banks and other

behind the slow response to the scheme. The study

concerned

revealed that the actual purchase price of land based on

cultivation of MACs in the country, eight 'Training-cum-

the existing market rate was significantly higher than the

Orientation Programmes' were conducted through

agencies

towards

promoting

average registration value based on records of the
Registrar/Sub-Registrar, due to which higher down
payment was insisted upon. Lack of awareness about the
scheme was also a reason for the slow progress.

E.

Development of Bamboo Farming

2.10

In consonance with the action plan prepared by the

National Mission on Bamboo Technology and Trade
Development for upgrading the bamboo economy,
NABARD has accorded special status to the bamboo
sector. NABARD's policy for bamboo development aims
at mainstreaming bamboo farming, processing and

Herbal wealth of India  Sarpagandha.
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the

reputed institutes dealing with MACs for 191 participants

The Bank also organized sensitization workshops on AEZs

from all over the country. The programmes facilitated

for client banks at NBSC and BIRD, Lucknow.

the preparation of state specific action plans for the

H.

promotion of MACs.

2.16 NABARD has introduced a scheme for financing

2.13 In order to ensure remunerative prices and a stable

Farmers Service Centres (FSCs), also called Mahindra

market for MACs grown by farmers, NABARD initiated a

Krishi Vihars (MKV), set up in collaboration with Mahindra

dialogue with corporate houses such as Reliance Life

Shubhlabh Services Ltd. (MSSL), a wholly owned

Sciences, GUFIC, Kava Biotech, Natural Remedies, Zandu

subsidiary of Mahindra and Mahindra Ltd., The FSCs

Pharmaceuticals, etc., resulting in the cultivation of Bixa

provide farmers with an integrated package of services

and Patchouli in the wadi project area in Gujarat under

that includes extension ser vices using information

the guidance of BAIF, Pune through contract farming

technology and arrangement for marketing of output. So

system. The financing of MACs commenced in many

far, MSSL has opened 44 FSCs in nine selected states,

states with the fixing of scale of finance and unit cost. A

three of which were opened during the current year. This

mechanism for collecting relevant data on these crops was

resulted in tie-up arrangements with banks for financing

also developed.

G.

farmers to the tune of Rs.10 crore.

Agri-Export Zones

2.14 Considering the importance of agri-exports, 48
Agri-Export Zones (AEZs) covering 193 districts were

I.

ICT Initiatives - ITC's e-Choupal

2.17

ITC Ltd., a multi-product agro-business corporate,

has taken a major step in harnessing Information and

notified by APEDA and 20 crops were identified for

Communication Technology (ICT) to empower and elevate

promotion in these zones. The District Development

the economic status of Indian farmers through the setting-

Managers (DDMs) of NABARD in 119 districts continued

up of e-Choupals', which are IT enabled information

coordinating with the nodal officers of APEDA for the

service kiosks. These mainly deal with the delivery of real

promotion of AEZs. NABARD also extended its refinance

time information coupled with farmer/location specific

facility to all its client institutions and for all activities under

knowledge resulting in better decision making and the

notified AEZs. In order to augment the outreach of bank

alignment of forward and backward linkages leading to

finance, NABARD developed a special refinance package

higher productivity, better quality and price realization.

for all the contract farming arrangements (within and
outside AEZs), thus enabling increased production of

2.18 ITC Ltd. has established 2,150 e-Choupals,

commercial crops and creating marketing avenues for

covering 12,000 villages in Andhra Pradesh, Karnataka,

f a r m e r s . Th e pa ck a ge a lso in clud e s co ntr actual

Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra and Uttar Pradesh and

arrangements for organic farming in medicinal and

plans to set up 10,000 more, covering one lakh villages

aromatic crops.
2.15

Financing Farmers' Service Centres

over the next few years.

During the year, besides organizing state level

2.19

meets of different stakeholders of AEZs, district level

NABARD has sanctioned grant assistance of Rs.9 lakh

workshops were organized for facilitating better interface

to ITC Ltd. for a project entitled 'Diagnostics for e-

among entrepreneurs and farmers at the grassroot level.

Choupal', to be implemented in Madhya Pradesh. The

Further, regular meetings with APEDA and EXIM Bank

objective of the project is to develop an IT-based practical

were organized to evolve a policy framework for AEZs.

handbook and diagnostic tools for production and protection
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Box 2.1
NCDEX- Main Features
•

NCDEX, a company registered with the Registrar
of Companies, Mumbai is an exchange without trading
i n t e re s t , w h i c h w i l l f o s t e r p r o f e s s i o n a l i s m a n d
transparency. It will also have nation-wide reach and
consistent offerings.

•

Authorised share capital of the company is Rs.30
crore and issued equity capital as on date is Rs.22 crore.
NABARD has contributed Rs.4.39 crore to the equity.

•
Information technology for better decision-making.

Board of Directors consists of 16 members who are
experts in various commodities.

•

Commodity Futures Traded: NCDEX has commenced

of major crops of the region with the help of experts from

trading in 6 commodities in Phase-I, viz., soya bean and

Agricultural Universities for the benefit of farmers.

soya oil, rape seed/mustard and rape seed/mustard oil,
crude palm oil and RBD Palmolein, cotton, gold and
silver. The other commodities would be taken up for

2.20 It has been decided to provide Revolving Fund

trading in a phased manner as the Exchange stabilizes

A s s i s t a n c e (R FA) to 20 id e n tifie d Sa n chal aks of

and gains experience.

e-Choupals for stocking of inputs to be supplied to

•

farmers, in close coordination with ITC-IBD on a pilot

been made functional from 15 August 2003.

basis. This project will be implemented in Madhya

Benefits of Futures Trading

Pradesh mainly for soya crop. The objective of the project

•

is to convince bankers that the financing of Sanchalaks

Enables producers, consumers and exporters gain
some knowledge of likely future prices of commodities

of e-Choupals is a bankable proposition.

and secure future contracts.
•

J.

Investor Education: A web site NCDEX.COM has

National Commodity and
Derivatives Exchange Limited

Integrates the agriculture price structure nationally,
thus stabilizing commodity prices and reducing violent
price fluctuations.

•

2.21 National Commodity and Derivatives Exchange

Encourages the Agro-processing sector and competition
among all the trade functionaries.

Limited (NCDEX) jointly floated by NABARD, LIC, NSE,
ICICI Bank, PNB and CRISIL with the aim of including a

agricultural produce and futures markets and capacity

large number of commodities under the Open General

building of state/district level marketing co-operatives and

License (OGL) category, commenced trading on 15

other farmers'/producers' organizations.

December 2003 (Box 2.1). NABARD's contribution to the
share capital of the exchange is upto 30 per cent or

K.

Rs.25 crore whichever is less. A non-trading player,
NCDEX provides a platfor m for price discover y,

Agriculture Insurance Company of
India Limited

information regarding price trends, and hedging risk for

2.22 In pursuance of the announcement made in the

various agricultural products thus enabling farmers to plan

Union Budget, 2002-03 of setting-up an Agriculture

their production and appropriately time the marketing of

Insurance Corporation for farmers, a new Company, viz.,

their produce. NABARD's participation would facilitate

Agriculture Insurance Company of India Ltd. (AICI) was

the integration of agriculture credit, securitisation of

established and registered on 20 December 2002 under
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the Companies Act, 1956 with authorised and paid up

organized by NABARD in January 2004 at Guwahati.

capitals of Rs.1,500 crore and Rs.200 crore, respectively.

The seminar was attended by various stakeholders like

NABARD has contributed 30 per cent to the equity while

APEDA, EXIM Bank, NHB, financing institutions,

General Insurance Company (GIC) has contributed 35

C o m m o d i t y B o a r d s , I C A R , C S I R , re l a t e d s t a t e

per cent and four other Insurance Subsidiaries, 8.75 per

departments and NGOs.

cent each. The Company was established with the main
objective of acting as the implementing agency for the
Government's National Agriculture Insurance Scheme.
The Pilot Scheme on Seed Crop Insurance, which was

NABARD for the benefit of dairy industry, research

100 per cent of premium for food crops and oilseed crops

organisations, financial institutions, developmental agencies

and 150 per cent of premium for annual commercial/

and NGOs. The seminar focused on the need to strengthen

horticultural crops. The State and Central Governments

backward and forward linkages and improve the quality of

share the balance claims in equal proportion.

Organic Farming

As a follow-up to the study on dairy farming in states

Bhopal, Bhubaneswar, Jaipur, Patna and Ranchi by

claims from all the participating states is to the extent of

a.

2.24

development through credit were organised at ROs at

The liability of the Company under NAIS in respect of

Workshops

Animal Husbandry

with high potential, state level seminars on dairy

implemented through GIC, will also be transferred to AICI.

L.

b.

milk products for the export market. Similarly, based on the
findings of a special study on sheep farming in states with
high potential, workshops on appraisal and monitoring of
sheep, goat and piggery investment projects focusing on

2.23 In order to systematically develop and tap the vast

innovative areas like semi-intensive system of goat rearing,

potential in organic far ming and create a wider

fattening of ram lambs and piglets, rural meat processing,

awareness among all concerned agencies, a two-day

wool processing and carpet weaving units were organised

National Seminar on Organic Farming in the NER was

at Bangalore and Chennai.

Rural Non - Farm Sector
A.

Swarozgar Credit Card Scheme

had introduced the scheme and issued 28,925 cards
involving credit limit of Rs.64.26 crore.

2.25 The Hon'ble Prime Minister in his Independence
Da y s p e e c h o n 15 Augu st 2003 a n n o u nced the

B.

District Rural Industries Project

sm a ll e n t re p rene urs. A cco rd in gly, NAB AR D i n

2.26

Encouraged by the success in the implementation of

consultation with GoI and RBI formulated the Swarozgar

District Rural Industries Project (DRIP), initially introduced

Credit Card (SCC) scheme for the benefit of a wide range

during 1993-94 in five districts, NABARD extended the project

of small borrowers to take care of their investment and

to 75 more districts covering 20 states including 16 districts

w o r ki n g c a p i t al re qu ire m e n ts, e sp e cia lly i n the

selected during the year. In all, 4.29 lakh units have been set

non-farm and service sectors both in rural and urban areas

up, generating employment opportunities for 9.18 lakh

(Box 2.2). The scheme was circulated among commercial

persons by March 2003 in 43 districts. The impact created in

banks by the RBI and to co-operative banks and RRBs by

the districts covered by the programme under various phases

NABARD in September 2003. As on 31 March 2004, 106

(Table 2.1) revealed that the project helped in increasing credit

RRBs, 20 commercial banks and 21 co-operative banks

flow and employment opportunities significantly.

introduction of a credit card scheme for artisans and other
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Box 2.2
Swarojgar Credit Card Scheme- At a Glance
•

Small artisans, handloom weavers, service providers,
fishermen, self-employed persons, rickshaw owners,
other micro-entrepreneurs, etc., in rural and urban areas
are covered under the scheme.

•

L aminated credit card and passbook provided to
beneficiaries and presented during cash withdrawals.

•

The credit facility under the scheme is in the nature of a
Composite Loan including term loan/ revolving cash
credit. It can be only term loan or cash credit or a
combination of both.

•

REDP Common Service Centre for bamboo craft  building in progress.

The term loan will be for investment requirements to be
repaid within 5 years in suitable instalments.

•

a.

Revolving cash credit limits to be fixed taking into

Consultative Meet of Goal Oriented
Project Planning Facilitators

account the operating cycle/nature of investments.
•

The quantum of limit to be Rs.25,000/- per borrower

2.27 District Rural Industries Project involves a

under Composite Loan. In deserving cases, banks to

participatory approach and envisages a very complex

consider even higher limits.
•

planning process. In order to finalise an action plan for

Selection of clients at bank's discretion. Card valid for

D R I P d i s t r i c t s , f a c i l i t a t o r s f r o m GT Z G e r m a n y

five years subject to satisfactory operation of the account

conducted a 'Goal Oriented Project Planning (GOPP)'

to be renewed on a yearly basis.
•

•

•

workshop for a few Faculty Members (FM) from TEs

SHGs can also have cards in their name and they are
liable jointly and severally for repayment.

a n d o f f i c i a l s f r o m R O s a n d H O, b a s e d o n t h e

Cardholders are automatically covered under the group

methodology developed by them. A follow-up workshop

insurance scheme with the premium to be shared by the

was organised in October 2003 at NBSC, Lucknow,

bank and the borrower equally.

during which a core group comprising five FMs was

Security, margin, rate of interest and prudential norms

identified as Master Trainers to internalise the GOPP

as per RBI/NABARD guidelines.
•

methodology, in NABARD. Further, recognizing the

NABARD refinance is available to eligible banks against

usefulness of this methodology for other multi-

their lendings to borrowers in rural areas as per the norms

stakeholder projects, similar workshops have been

under Composite Loan Scheme.

planned in the coming year.

Table 2.1: Impact of DRIP
(Rs. crore)
Sr. Par ticulars
No.

Phase I (6 districts )

Phase II (9 districts)

Phase III (8 districts)

1993-94 2002-03 Cumulative 1999-00 2002-03 Cumulative

1 GLC

2001-02

2002-03 Cumulative

Phase IV Cumulative
(20 dists) (43 dists)
2002-03
Upto
2002-03

26.52

133.69

963.66

147.21

240.11

863.58

234.13

259.00

493.13

756.38 3,076.75

2 Refinance disbursed

7.93

29.93

268.71

31.22

38.15

179.92

43.15

77.31

120.45

109.17

678.25

3 Units set up (lakh)

0.10

0.24

2.17

0.19

0.26

0.98

0.19

0.22

0.41

0.70

4.29

4 Employment generation 0.19
(lakh persons)

0.68

4.68

0.37

0.64

2.12

0.54

0.47

1.01

1.37

9.18

GLC - Ground Level Credit Flow.
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b.

Training Programme for PLIs

handlooms and handicrafts. This programme is
estimated to benefit 16,000 artisans and small

2.28 Training of officers of Primary Lending Institutions

entrepreneurs. A grant assistance of Rs.1.55 crore has

(PLIs) and other partner agencies has been a thrust area

been sanctioned so far for supporting various

under DRIP. Services of BIRD and NBSC, Lucknow and

interventions in clusters. A field study conducted by

RTCs, Bolpur/ Mangalore were availed for the purpose.

NABARD in ten selected clusters to assess the impact of

In order to supplement the efforts of these TEs and to

the programme revealed that

ensure timely conduct of PLI training programmes, three

facilitator in coordinating with participating agencies and

'Trainers' Training Programmes' of six days' duration

other promotional interventions resulted in social

were conducted for 58 officials from ROs in association

empowerment, skill upgradation, improving market

with NBSC during the year.

c.

access, employment generation and group formation,
thereby leading to enhanced access to credit (Box 2.3).

Strengthening of Rural Haats

2.29 For augmenting rural market infrastructure, grant

Box 2.3

assistance to the extent of 80 per cent of project cost or

Cluster Development - Impact

upto a maximum of Rs.3 lakh is made available to Gram
•

Panchayats under the scheme for strengthening of rural

Attitudinal changes in the beneficiaries who are now
motivated to bring about socio-economic development

haats. The scheme also provides for soft loan assistance

of the cluster.

upto Rs.2 lakh through PRIs/PACS for creation of

•

additional facilities/permanent shops. NABARD has

Awareness about opportunities for furthering activities
in the cluster.

sanctioned grant assistance of Rs.26.24 lakh for
development of 14 rural haats so far.
2.30

NABARD's role as

•

Gender equity and social empowerment.

•

Formation of Artisans' Associations in most of the clusters
and recognition of the power of collective bargaining.

In the districts covered under DRIP during recent

•

years, emphasis would be on credit intensification efforts

Formation of 100 SHGs, majority of which were linked
to the formal banking system.

through credit plus approach, cluster development, credit

•

delivery innovation, development of emergent and high

Disbursement of bank credit to the tune of Rs.2 crore.

•

Promotional efforts resulting in the setting-up of 2,000

growth sub-sectors, credit related promotional programmes,

new units.

etc. Besides suppor ting the creation of marketing

•

infrastructure and conduct of REDPs, continued efforts for

Technology and skill upgradation and improvement in
the quality and range of products.

technology development, upgradation, transfer and capacity

•

Additional employment for 3,400 people created.

building of partner institutions would be encouraged.

•

Revival of handicrafts as a profitable source of

C.

employment.

Development of Rural Clusters

•

Arresting migration from rural clusters to urban areas.

2.31 U n d e r t h e N a t i o n a l Pr o g r a m m e f o r R u r a l

•

Elimination of middlemen, direct marketing and
exposure to the latest trends.

Industrialisation launched by the GoI, NABARD has
proposed to develop 50 rural clusters in a phased manner

•

Increase in income of the cluster members by 50-100%.

over the period 1999 to 2004. NABARD has identified

•

Repayment ethics inculcated among beneficiaries.

65 clusters spread over 18 states and has so far launched

•

Export of cluster products and participation in
international exhibitions.

promotional programmes in 55 clusters. The activities
covered in these clusters include cashew processing,
35

D.

Mother Units

2.32

The concept of Mother Unit was evolved by NABARD

F.

Skill Upgradation of Handloom
Weavers

to support sub-contracting and ancillarisation by decentralized

2.35

The handloom sector is important to our rural

rural industrial/non-farm sector units in the form of proper

economy as a potential means of employment and income

forward and backward linkages in rural areas. During the

generation. Though it faces problems of marketing of

year a project for development of bamboo craft involving

produce because of obsolete technology and conventional

grant assistance of Rs.4.89 lakh was sanctioned to URAVU

weaving designs, the sector enjoys considerable consumer

Indigenous Science and Technology Centre, Wayanad district,

preference and has high potential for capturing both

Kerala and Rs.9.91 lakh was disbursed (including

domestic and global markets. Therefore, NABARD during

commitment of earlier years) taking the cumulative sanctions

2002-03 formulated a scheme, viz., Skill Upgradation and

and disbursements to Rs.3.33 crore and Rs.1.88 crore,

Design Development for Handloom Weavers (SUDHA)

respectively, covering 30 mother units. So far 7,087 rural

for developing new designs in keeping with the changing

youths have been trained and 3,400 units set up. The

fashion trends and improving the quality of handloom

intervention helped generate an estimated additional

products in order to enhance their marketability.

employment for 8,500 persons per year in rural areas.
2.36

E.

Under the scheme, a one time grant assistance

upto Rs.5 lakh per project is envisaged for eligible

Rural Entrepreneurship Development

institutions like Apex Handloom Co-operative Marketing

2.33 Rural Entrepreneurship Development Programme

Federations, Apex Regional Weavers' Co-operative

was introduced in the early nineties as a means to

Societies, Registered Co-operative Societies, VAs, NGOs,

support capacity building of rural unemployed youths

etc. Four programmes involving grant assistance of

to enable them to take up self-employment by setting-

Rs.10.71 lakh were sanctioned under the scheme. This

up their own enterprises. Over the years, REDPs have

includes Rs.5 lakh to the Tamil Nadu Handloom Weavers

enabled the establishment of thousands of enterprises

Co-operative Society Ltd. (Co-optex) for bringing out

in rural areas. In order to ensure better impact, the

250 new designs in select products like cotton saris, bed

programme has been institutionalized and Rural

linen and table linen, with the help of National Institute

Development and Self-Employment type of training

of Design, Bangalore.

institutes as well as select VAs/NGOs and technical
agencies like Industrial Training Institutes (ITIs) have
been associated in conducting training programmes.

G.

Women Empowerment

a.

Assistance to Rural Women

2.34 During the year, 1,216 REDPs were supported,

2.37 U n d e r t h e A s s i s t a n c e t o R u r a l Wo m e n I n

covering 31,319 educated unemployed rural youths,

Non-farm Development (ARWIND) scheme introduced

involving grant assistance of Rs.5.63 crore. The

in 1993 for meeting both promotional and credit needs

cumulative number of REDPs supported since the

of women entrepreneurs suppor ted by VAs/NGOs,

commencement of the programme in 1990 stood at 5,465,

co-operatives and other registered institutions, four

benefiting 1.51 lakh rural youths. Of these, over 3,900

projects involving grant assistance of Rs.3.77 lakh were

programmes were sanctioned during the last five years,

sanctioned during the year. With this, the total number

providing training to more than one lakh rural youths.

of projects sanctioned increased to 128, involving

The cumulative grant assistance provided for these

assistance of Rs.2.99 crore and benefiting 9,813

training programmes amounted to Rs.11.91 crore.

women.
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b.
2.38

Assistance for Marketing of Non-Farm
Products

2.40 To facilitate better and effective functioning of
WDCs in banks, three Orientation Seminars for CEOs/
Senior Officers of these banks were organized at BIRD,

Recognising the importance of marketing in sustaining

Lucknow. In addition 23 Gender Orientation Workshops

women enterprises, Marketing of Non-Farm Products of Rural

were organized for creating awareness among bankers,

Women (MAHIMA), a scheme aimed at supporting agencies

NGOs and state government officials with a view to

engaged in marketing of products produced by rural poor

mainstreaming women in the development process. A

women, was introduced in 1997. During the year seven

training programme on Micro-enterprise Management was

projects involving grant assistance of Rs.11.70 lakh were

also conducted through BIRD for key persons of WDCs

sanctioned, taking the cumulative support under the scheme

in RRBs and co-operative banks.

to Rs.59.26 lakh covering 26 projects.

c.
2.39

d.

Women Development Cells
In order to strengthen the institutional capabilities

Development of Women through
Area Programmes

2.41 Development of Women through Area Programmes

in addressing gender issues in credit and support services,

(DEWTA) is an approach to promote women specific

a scheme providing grant support for setting-up of Women

activities and clusters with the objective of employment

Development Cells (WDCs) in RRBs and co-operative banks

creation by encouraging entrepreneurship and assisting

was introduced in 1995. So far, 66 RRBs, 27 DCCBs, 4

them in setting-up enterprises for sustainable livelihood.

SCBs and 3 SCARDBs were supported for establishment

The programme aims to address various needs of women,

of WDCs. Based on a review of their performance, a

identified by women themselves, through capacity

modified incentive-based scheme was formulated under

building, networking and convergence of services for

which eight banks (7 RRBs and 1 DCCB) were sanctioned

focused implementation and visible impact. Under the

financial assistance. Grant support of Rs.17.70 lakh was

programme, an amount of Rs.31.98 lakh was sanctioned

extended to the banks during the year, taking the cumulative

to three RRBs for addressing training/skill upgradation and

disbursement to Rs.2.42 crore. The credit flow to women

other capacity building needs of 3,271 women over a

by banks with WDCs increased during the year and

period of three years. The partner agencies are Women

constituted 10.3 per cent compared to 8.9 per cent of total

Development Corporations, Lead Banks, NGOs, training

disbursements during the previous year.

institutions and various government departments like
Agriculture, Animal Husbandry, Women and Child
Development, Rural Development, etc.

H.

Marketing/Other Initiatives

2.42 Marketing being a crucial link for sustaining
enterprises, promotion of marketing the products of rural
artisans and women entrepreneurs received special
emphasis during the year (Box 2.4). One of the major
initiatives taken by the Bank was the organization of a
NABARD Utsav at 'Dilli Haat' in New Delhi. The other
initiatives include offering a marketing platform to
members of women SHGs and other women

Jute Hammocks displayed at Dilli Haat.
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Box 2.4
Marketing of Non-Farm Products - Initiatives
•

'NABARD Utsav', organized at Dilli Haat, showcased

held in Malaysia, to facilitate the marketing of SHG

handicrafts of 110 artisans, including 40 women, representing

products.

48 agencies from 15 states, facilitating their outreach to non-

•

rural non-farm products was organised in collaboration with

the exchange of ideas for innovation through promotional

Narsee Monjee Institute of Management Studies, Mumbai.

efforts. The event received extensive media coverage and

•

sales touched Rs.14.91 lakh.
•

supported by NABARD in various marketing events/
festivals and haat bazaars at various locations in different

facilitate the marketing of products of rural women

states.
•

exhibitions-cum-sale of rural non-farm products were

Shilp Shree under guidance of 'Shravani', an NGO from

organised.
•

Year' wishes to various developmental agencies.

•

In DRIP districts nine buyer-seller meets and three

Hand-crafted greeting cards by SHG members of
Orissa, supported by NABARD were used to convey 'New

•

Sponsoring of stalls for par ticipation of artisans

An exhibition-cum-sale was organised at Bangalore to
entrepreneurs assisted by WDCs in Karnataka.

•

A training programme for NGO partners on marketing of

local, urban and global markets and providing an avenue for

As part of the cluster development programme under
NPRI, assistance of the National Institute of Design was

ROs have been advised to promote and facilitate the use of

sought for design development and diversification in

products of artisans/entrepreneurs supported under Bank's

oxidised metal craft and tie and dye textiles. Ten

various promotional programmes by corporates, financial

exhibitions-cum sale were also organised to promote the

institutions and government agencies.

marketing of cluster products.

Assistance was extended to DWCRA groups in Andhra

•

Pradesh for participating in India International Trade Fair

An e-catalogue of products of artisans financed by
NABARD has been displayed on the Banks Website.

entrepreneurs on the occasion of International Women's

of these projects included post watershed development,

D a y b y o r g a n i z i n g ex h i b i t i o n s - c u m - s a l e a t s t a t e

promotion of bio/organic fertilizers and use of solar energy.

headquarters. A booklet titled 'Empowerment of Rural

Twelve environment awareness programmes were

Wo m e n - R o l e o f N A B A R D ' w a s b r o u g h t o u t t o

conducted dur i ng the y ear. A publ i cation t i t le d

disseminate information about the Bank's various women

'Environment Protection-Initiatives of NABARD' was

specific programmes.

brought out for wider dissemination of information on

I.

NABARD's schemes and concerns.

Environment Protection

J.

2.43 NABARD has been extending assistance by way
of promotional grants on a selective basis to NGOs,

Technical, Monitoring and
Evaluation (NFS) Cells

universities, research institutions, etc., since 1998, for

2.44 NABARD continued to provide grant assistance to

natural resource management, waste management and

RRBs and co-operative banks for setting-up of Technical,

other activities related to environment protection and

Monitoring and Evaluation (TME) cells. So far, grant

prevention of pollution. So far, 16 agencies have been

assistance to 57 banks (39 RRBs, 5 SCBs, 10 DCCBs and

provided with financial assistance of Rs.39.90 lakh

3 SCARDBs) has been sanctioned. During the year

including four projects sanctioned during the year with

Rs.15.94 lakh was released taking the cumulative

assistance of Rs.5.20 lakh. The activities that formed part

disbursement to Rs.187.86 lakh.
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K.

Training and Sensitization Programmes

a.

Training programmes in NFS for PLIs

b.

Orientation Meets

2.46

During the year, 120 Orientation Meets were

2.45 Keeping in view the need for diversification of the

organized at district/block level with a view to familiarise

loan portfolio of PLIs (co-operative banks and RRBs),

officials of banks, functional depar tments of state

NABARD has been funding training programmes in RNFS

governments, development and promotional agencies and

for officers of these banks. During the year, 47 such

NGOs on NABARD's RNFS schemes and programmes and

programmes were conducted through various training

to provide them with a forum for sharing of experiences.

establishments covering 1,109 officers.

So far, 1,498 such meets have been organized.

microFinance Initiatives
2.47

The microFinance initiatives of NABARD yielded

to 25,514 from 20,582 in Uttar Pradesh, to 19,038 from

remarkable success and the SHG-bank linkage programme

15,504 in West Bengal and to 12,716 from 6,253 in Kerala,

has emerged as the largest microFinance (mF) programme

as compared to the previous year. To consolidate and

in the world. The pilot project started in 1992 has turned

expand the mF programme, NABARD provided active

into a national movement, linking more than one million

support to partner agencies for their capacity building,

SHGs with bank credit and leading to the socio-economic

initiated efforts to scale-up the programme in states where

empowerment of women.

incidence of poverty was high and innovated new
approaches through pilot projects.

2.48

During the year, 3,61,731 SHGs were credit linked

with banks as against 2,55,882 during 2002-03,

A.

Support to Partner Agencies

increasing the cumulative number of SHGs credit linked with

2.50 NABARD has been instrumental in the formation

banks to 10,79,091. The notable features of the programme

and nurturing of quality SHGs by means of promotional

are the active participation of women (90%) and timely loan

grant support to NGOs, RRBs, DCCBs, Farmers' Clubs

repayment (95%). By March 2004, this programme enabled

and individual volunteers and capacity building of various

an estimated 167 lakh poor households in the country gain

partners, which has brought about excellent results in the

access to mF from the formal banking system.

promotion and credit linkage of SHGs. An increasing
number of partner institutions functioning as Self-Help

2.49

The year witnessed all round growth in the

Promoting Institutions (SHPIs) has over the years resulted

SHG-banks linkage programme in various states. The

in the expansion of the programme throughout the

number of SHGs credit linked with bank increased to

country. The financial support provided by NABARD to

1,04,238 from 79,037 in Andhra Pradesh, to 51,851 from

its par tner institutions and their progress in SHG

35,701 in Tamil Nadu, to 41,688 from 25,146 in Karnataka,

promotion/linkage is indicated in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2: Grant Assistance Extended to various Partners in SHG-Bank Linkage Programme
Agency

Sanctions during the Year

Cumulative Sanctions

(Rs. lakh)
Cumulative Progress

No.

Amount

No. of
SHGs

No.

Amount

No. of
SHGs

Amount
released

SHGs
formed

SHGs
linked

Co-operatives
RRBs
NGOs
Farmers' Clubs
IRVs

28
23
221

60

116.03
64.88
473.88

7.65

14,750
7,895
37,268

600

29
90
785

185

124.03
275.76
1,512.18

24.90

15,550
35,045
1,15,279

1,850

10.53
93.23
696.72
24.95
2.28

3,697
31,042
75,186
6,994
652

946
15,535
38,599
4,281
274

Total

332

662.44

60,513

1,089

1,936.87

1,67,724

827.71

1,17,571

59,635

39

individuals. During the year, RFA of Rs.8.40 crore was

2.51 Co-operative Banks, though comparatively late
starters, have begun making forays into the mF sector

sanctioned to two NGOs, viz., Friends of World Women

on a large scale. The amendments made by many of the

Banking, India (Rs.7.40 crore for on-lending to small NGOs)

states in their respective Co-operative Societies Acts have

and Kalanjiam Development Financial Services (Rs.1 crore

enabled co-operative banks take up the activity of

for on lending to SHGs). Cumulatively, RFA of Rs.27.32 crore

promotion and nurturing of SHGs. Influenced by the

was sanctioned to 32 agencies of which Rs.15.20 crore was

pioneering performance of DCCBs like Bidar (Karnataka),

released to 29 agencies. Grant support was also extended

Mugberia and Hoogly (West Bengal) in the SHG-bank

along with RFA for infrastructure development and training

linkage programme, many DCCBs also evinced keen

needs and for meeting operational deficits during the initial

interest in playing the role of SHPIs. Similarly, the number

years, the cumulative amount being Rs.50.04 lakh

of RRBs functioning as SHPIs has been steadily increasing

(sanctioned) and Rs.42.54 lakh (released).

and NABARD has been providing necessary financial
support to train their staff in this endeavour.

C.

2.52

2.56 NABARD continued to organise/sponsor training

Some of the successful farmers' clubs sponsored by

bank branches under NABARD's Vikas Volunteer Vahini

Capacity Building of Partner
Institutions

programmes and exposure visits for the benefit of officials

programme are now effectively playing the role of SHPIs.

of banks, NGOs, SHGs and government agencies to

During the year, 119 clubs were provided grant assistance

enhance their effectiveness in the field of mF. During the

of Rs.2.43 lakh through the coordinating branches of

y ear the Bank conducted the fol l owi ng t r ai ni ng

sponsor banks for promoting, nurturing and credit linking

programmes covering 2.44 lakh participants.

of quality SHGs. The farmers' clubs have promoted 1,229
SHGs during the year, of which 409 have been credit linked.

•

In all 4,635 awareness creation and capacity building
programmes were organised for SHG members in
association with identified resource NGOs, covering

2.53 Based on positive feedback received in respect of

1,59,082 participants to inculcate skills for managing

a pilot scheme for encouraging socially committed

thrift and credit;

Individual Rural Volunteers (IRVs) in organising the rural
poor into SHGs, it was decided to extend the scheme to

•

13 states which account for the bulk of the rural poor.

Awareness-cum-refresher programmes (206) were
conducted for NGOs, including CEOs in which 7,362

Accordingly, during the year, two proposals from RRBs,

participants were imparted training;

one each in Orissa and Bihar were sanctioned for
promoting and nurturing of SHGs in those states.
2.54

NABARD continued to provide grant assistance

to NGOs on a selective basis of meeting additional costs
of promoting and nur turing new SHGs, for other
infrastructural support and administrative expenses.

B.

Revolving Fund Assistance to SHPIs

2.55

NABARD provides loans in the form of Revolving

Fund Assistance (RFA) on a very selective basis to NGOs,
SHG Federations and Credit Unions which undertake

SHG members displaying handwoven products.

financial intermediation for on-lending to SHGs or poor
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•

Thirteen trainers' training programmes were organised
for 312 faculty members of training institutions of
various commercial banks.

•

•

•

•

E.

Special Scaling-up Efforts

2.59

By March 2004, Andhra Pradesh accounted for 36

per cent, Tamil Nadu - 14 per cent, Karnataka - 10 per cent

Training programmes (925) were conducted for

and Uttar Pradesh - 7 per cent, together accounting for 67

bankers covering 26,273 officials of commercial

per cent of the total SHGs credit linked and 81 per cent of

banks, co-operative banks and RRBs;

the total amount of bank loan disbursed (Chart 2.1). In order

Twenty-three exposure visits to banks and institution

to balance the uneven growth of the mF programme, 13

pioneering in mF initiatives were arranged during

states, where the SHG-bank linkage programme has been

the year in which 386 bank officials/NGOs

progressing slowly and the incidence of poverty is high, have

participated;

been identified as priority states (Table 2.3). The special
strategies adopted in these states are:

To involve more bank officials in the SHG-bank
linkage programme, 641 field visits to nearby SHGs

•

Widening the range of SHG promoting agencies;

for Block Level Bankers' Committee (BLBC) members

•

were conducted covering 10,028 officials;

Enlisting the support of banks at the corporate level;

•

Increasing the participation of co-operative banks;

Programmes on mF (163) were organised at different

•

Associating village communities, people's institutions,

training establishments which covered 5,958

rural volunteers and individuals to participate in the

government officials;
•

programme as SHG promoters;

Thirty-three programmes for elected members of

•

Panchayati Raj Institutions (PRIs) were conducted,

exposure programmes for various stakeholders;

covering 1,303 participants to create awareness
among them about the mF initiatives;
•

Enhancing thrust on the conduct of training and

•

Providing large scale assistance to partners for
promotion and nurturing of SHGs;

Six training-cum-exposure visits covering 122 new
DDMs/ DDOs were organised.

•

Spreading of the concept and approach of SHG
promotion among the rural masses;

2.57

A National Consultation Meet on training strategies

•

was organised at Lucknow in January 2004 involving all the

Increasing the effectiveness of existing SHGs by
propagating self-rating tools.

stakeholders to review existing training strategies/modules,
methodologies adopted, duration of courses and topics to

Chart 2.1

be covered, to enable NABARD refine its existing modules in

Cumulative Number of SHGs Credit Linked
(As on 31 March 2004)

tune with the changing scenario.

D.

Other States
33%

Publications and Publicity

Andhra Pradesh
36%

2.58 During the year, NABARD brought out two
publications viz., Saving Grace and Akshay Patra, that

Uttar Pradesh
7%

assisted different stakeholders through experience sharing,
awareness creation, capacity building and dissemination

Tamil Nadu
14%

of information on best practices among practitioners of
mF. 'Luminous Link', a CD on the concepts of SHGs has
been dubbed into some regional languages.
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Karnataka
10%

2.63 Based on the experiences gained from visits to mFIs

Table 2.3: Cumulative Growth in SHG-Bank Linkage
(As on 31 March)
State
Assam
Bihar
Chhattisgarh
Gujarat
Himachal Pradesh
Jharkhand
Maharashtra
Madhya Pradesh
Orissa
Rajasthan
Uttar Pradesh
Uttaranchal
West Bengal
Total

2.60

2002

2003

2004

1,024
3,957
3,763
9,496
5,069
4,198
19,619
7,981
20,553
12,564
33,114
3,323
17,143

3,477
8,161
6,763
13,875
8,875
7,765
28,065
15,271
42,272
22,742
53,696
5,853
32,647

10,706
16,246
9,796
15,974
13,228
12,647
38,535
27,095
77,588
33,846
79,210
10,908
51,685

1,41,804

2,49,462

3,97,464

in Bolivia to study the Regulatory and Supervisory
Mechanism followed by them, NABARD has initiated the
process of introducing branch automation and smart cards
in rural banking with specific reference to SHGs.
Accordingly, a pilot project for expanding the outreach
and quality of services of the rural banking system using
system IT- enabled services has been launched with Sri
Visakha Grameena Bank (Box 2.5)
2.64 To supplement the efforts of banks in SHG-bank
linkage programme, NABARD has collaborated with
institutions such as post offices for financing SHGs
promoted by NGOs, the success of which would pave
the way for expansion of mF programme in areas where

These efforts, launched over a period, have resulted

bank branch network is poor. A pilot project envisaging

in positive trends in 13 of the most backward states and have

the credit linking of 200 SHGs with rural post offices in

increased the number of SHGs financed from 1,41,804 as

Tamil Nadu was launched in response to the Union

on 31 March 2002 to 3,97,464 as on 31 March 2004.

Finance Ministers announcement in his Budget speech

Significant increase in the number of SHGs was observed in

for the year 2003-04 (Box 2.6)

the states of Assam, Bihar and Orissa.

2.65

2.61 Of these 13 states, 10 account for a bulk of

Widespread illiteracy in the SHGs promoted in

backward regions necessitated the use of local school

rural poor. The scaling-up efforts would emphasize on

children in writing their books of accounts. To fill the

evolving region specific strategies for promoting quality
SHG s t h r o u g h a syn e rgy o f o b je ctive s among

Box 2.5

stakeholders, encouraging proper rating of SHGs by banks

A Pilot Project on Processor Memory Cards

and building proper MIS. Of these 13 states, as was

NABARD has started a Pilot Project by using Information

announced in the interim Union Budget for 2004-05,

Technology in the form of processor/memory cards for tracking,

intensive campaigns would be launched in three states,

monitoring and servicing a large number of SHG accounts to

viz., Madhya Pradesh, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh, which

save time at the bank level in rural areas. With this system,

would involve large scale training of animators for SHG

transaction data of each SHG collected from the field would be

promotion, launching of special advertising campaigns,

consolidated at the branch level to generate MIS reports which

exposure visits of SHG members to neighbouring states,

the branch staff could effectively use to track the functioning of

training of bankers, etc.

SHGs and ensure prompt credit linkages and recovery. The first
pilot project has been launched with Sri Vishakha Grameena

F.

Bank in Andhra Pradesh, which has been one of the front-runners

Innovative Pilot Projects

in financing SHGs. It is expected that with enhaced use of rural

2.62 The microFinance sector has been growing at a

oriented technology, banks would be able to provide value

rapid pace and undergoing many changes. NABARD

addition to services being offered to rural clients and further

initiated several steps for improving the outreach as well

expand their outreach in a sustainable manner.

as sustainability of the programme.
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Box 2.6

Box 2.8

Pilot Project for Linking SHGs with Post Offices

Grain Banks and SHGs

"I will also examine afresh this whole question of franchising

Realising the potential of synergy between Grain Banks and

agricultural credit, including through post offices", said

SHGs, NABARD launched a pilot project to explore the

Hon'ble Union Finance Minister in his budget speech.

possibility of monetising savings in kind in the form of grains
and bringing about participatory management of Grain Banks

As a follow-up, NABARD sanctioned a pilot project to the

in the most disadvantaged areas. A grant assistance of Rs.3.78

Department of Post and Telegraph to examine the feasibility

lakh was sanctioned to Kalahandi Anchalik Gramin Bank for

and the efficacy of utilising their vast network in the

the setting-up of three Grain Banks in Kalahandi district of

disbursement of credit to the rural poor on agency basis.

Orissa covering 17 villages in Thuamul Rampur block to

Revolving Fund Assistance of Rs.34 lakh for providing loans

enable them to establish storage rooms and purchase 100

to 200 SHGs promoted by NGOs (with select post offices in

quintals of foodgrains.

Kancheepuram and Pudukottai districts in Tamil Nadu) and
grant assistance of Rs.50,000/- for meeting initial expenditure

SHG members are to save and draw loans both in cash and

on publicity and awareness creation were provided. The

kind. The RRB in turn, would provide them loans against

project period ends on 31 March 2007.

the stock of Grain Banks and cash savings of the Groups
and the NGO would assist in the promotion and capacity
building of SHGs and the establishment and management
of Grain Banks.

gap, NABARD sanctioned a pilot project for piloting an
alternative mechanism for book keeping and accounting

This project is expected to enable the poor to save in kind,

in SHGs (Box 2.7).

raise resources against such savings and provide access to
self-managed and participative food security systems as also

2.66

NABARD launched a pilot project for the

seeds for sowing and meeting consumption needs in

establishment of three Grain Banks in Kalahandi district,

emergencies.

Orissa (Box 2.8).
2.67 Based on the learnings from the exposure visit to

Box 2.7

the BAAC, Thailand, NABARD has conceptualised a

Setting-up of Computer Munshi

pilot project for financing mid-segment clients through

An innovative and alternative self-sustaining mechanism for

Joint Liability Groups. A consultative workshop was

book keeping and accounting in SHGs (including higher

organised at Mumbai and guidelines were formulated

order accounting), involving the training of skilled rural

for use by participant banks. Flexibility of guidelines

youths as Computer Munshis was supported with a grant

ensures enough freedom to partner banks to implement

assistance of Rs.6.10 lakh, for the establishment of 10

the pilot project, keeping the ground realities and context

Computer Munshi Units in remote areas (8 in 4 districts of
Jharkhand and 2 in 1 district of Orissa). The trained

in perspective. NABARD would provide grant assistance

individuals would be equipped with a

of Rs.3 lakh towards operational costs during project

computer and

implementation.

software to serve 100 to 300 SHGs.
The project would be implemented for a period of two years.

2.68 The spurt in the credit linkage of SHGs during

The identification of suitable persons for the project would

the last four years posed many challenges, and

be provided by an NGO (PRADAN), as also the necessary

strategies are being evolved for ensuring orderly

training and other required support.

growth and sustainability of these groups. Necessary
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steps are initiated for improving the quality of books

special focus on capacity building under the SHG-bank

maintained at the group level and improving

linkage programme. NABARD, has decided to replenish

application of IT in rural branch automation with

the entire expenditure from mFDF during any year from

special focus on SHG banking. To establish a sound

its profits, which enables the opening balance of the Fund

MIS between SHGs and banks, NABARD is in the

to be retained at Rs.100 crore each year. During the year

process of designing a pilot project for 'Barefoot Book

a sum of Rs.7.05 crore was utilised from the Fund for

keepers' by associating rural volunteers. To facilitate

various initiatives taken by NABARD for promotion and

the graduation of mature groups to micro-enterprises,

development of mF in general and up-scaling of SHG-

it is envisaged to undertake a pilot project in select

bank linkage programme in particular. The mFDF was

districts for the promotion of such enterprises among

also used for providing loan of Rs.3.22 crore in form of

members of matured SHGs.

the RFA to MFIs.

G.

b.

Asia Pacific Regional Micro
Credit Summit

Collaboration with External
Agencies

2.69 The Asia Pacific Regional Micro Credit Summit

2.71 During the year a sum of Rs.16.33 lakh was

of Councils, hosted by PKSF, Bangladesh on behalf of

utilized for mF innovations from the Credit and

Micro Credit Summit, Washington DC, was held at

Financial Services Fund (CFSF), set up through the

Dhaka in February 2004 and attended by more than

assistance of the Swiss Agency for Development

1,000 delegates. Chairperson, NABARD, addressed the

Cooperation (SDC). A sum of Rs.46.40 lakh was also

inaugural session of the Summit and NABARD

utilised under the NABARD-GTZ Project for technical

presented its Institution Action Plan, highlighting

collaboration for supporting training and capacity

strategies for improving the outreach, cost effectiveness

building initiatives and undertaking specific studies. The

and sustainability of the mF programme followed by

cumulative reimbursement availed from the GTZ

an associated workshop session on 'why do 12 million

aggregated Rs.5.20 crore. The financial component

poor women in India use the SHG methodology to

under NABARD-GTZ project came to an end on 31

enjoy door-step banking'. NABARD also set up an

December 2003.

exhibition stall at the Summit highlighting the SHG
approach, efforts made so far and the results.

H.

Resources for supporting
microFinance

a.

microFinance Development Fund

2.70 The microFinance Development Fund (mFDF),
which was set up in NABARD with a start-up contribution
of Rs.40 crore each from NABARD and RBI and Rs.20
crore from 11 commercial banks identified by RBI,
became fully operational on 7 March 2003. The Fund is
being utilised for scaling-up various mF initiatives with

Group meeting of Gramodharana SHG organised by FREED, an NGO.
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Research and Development Activities
2.72

The Research and Development (R&D) Fund was

(vi) Evaluation of superior planting stock of Acacia

set up by NABARD to extend financial support to select

m a n g i u m i n ag r o-forestr y sy stems i n di f f e re nt

agencies for conducting in-depth studies, promoting

agro-climatic zones of Kerala and Tamil Nadu.

applied research and technology-based innovations,

b.

commercialisation and transfer of technology to the field
level for raising productivity of natural resources and

Projects/Studies Completed

2.75 During the year, five research projects/studies

training personnel of client institutions.

sanctioned earlier under the R&D Fund were completed.

A.

Utilisation of the Fund

2.73

During the year an amount of Rs.6.70 crore was

using salvadora forage grass-based land use system,

utilised for supporting activities like research projects/studies

conducted by Central Soil Salinity Research Institute, Anand,

(Rs.0.27 crore), training (Rs.5.51 crore), NABARD Chair

revealed that Salvadora persica can be effectively used for

Units (Rs.0.32 crore), conduct of seminars and preparation

re-greening and generating income from saline wastelands,

of occasional papers (Rs.0.38 crore) and supporting

as it is a highly salt-tolerant species and grows well in saline

Technical, Monitoring and Evaluation (TME) cells (FS),

black soils, where arable farming is virtually impossible.

2.76

A study on management of salt affected black soils

Tribal Credit Specialist (TCS) cells set up by RRBs/cooperative banks (Rs.0.12 crore) and others (Rs.0.10 crore).

2.77 Operational research project for ecology restoration

Of the cumulative disbursement of Rs.71.75 crore so far, a

by controlling Neela Phulnu (Ageratum spp.) under

major portion (62%) was utilised for training activities,

different land use systems, entrusted to Himachal Pradesh

followed by projects/studies (17%), strengthening TME/

Krishi Vishwavidyalaya, Palampur observed that the

establishing TCS cells (10%). Keeping in view the need for

presence of Ageratum weed, which induces ecological

supporting research activities related to rural development,

imbalances in the system and reduces the productivity of

NABARD has decided to replenish the expenditure from

pasture and grasslands by almost 90-100 per cent, can

the R&D Fund during any year from its profits so as to

be controlled by the application of Glyphosate, Paraquat

maintain an opening balance Rs.50 crore in any given year.

and Atrazine, and broadcasting seeds of Cassia tora at
the onset of the monsoon.

B.

Research Projects and Studies

a.

Projects/Studies Sanctioned

2.74 During the year 14 research projects/studies
involving a total grant of Rs.52.23 lakh were sanctioned
from the Fund, the major ones being (i) microFinance
and rural employment - an appraisal of potentialities in
Karnataka, (ii) Economics of Bt. cotton cultivation in
Maharashtra, (iii) Study of rural housing finance
in Vi s h a kh a p a tn a m d istrict o f And hra Pr adesh,
(iv) Techno-economics of community based water tanks
in Madurai district of Tamil Nadu, (v) Performance

Continuous Contour Trenches IGWDP  Nagdara Wadi Project, District, Nanded.

analysis of fisher women SHGs in Tamil Nadu and
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2.78 A study entitled 'Flow of funds between rural and

agencies towards the publication of background papers

urban areas in Orissa', entrusted to M/s. Mode Research

and proceedings of 79 Seminars, Conferences and

Private Ltd., Kolkata, revealed, inter alia, that:

Workshops in order to facilitate the dissemination of

(i) commercial banks are the major source of formal credit

recommendations emerging from these deliberations.

f o llo w e d

banks,

The themes of these seminars/workshops ranged from

(ii) Credit Deposit (CD) ratio for rural areas was lower

organic farming, land care movement for food, water

than urban areas, (iii) the performance of RRBs in terms

a n d l i v e l i h o o d s e c u r i t y, t o c h r o n i c p o v e r t y a n d

of achievements of targets and recovery rates (58%) was

development policy and downsizing technology for rural

better when compared to that of commercial and

development.

by

RRB s

and

co -o pe ra tive

co-operative banks (less than 40%).

D.
2.79 A s t u d y o n l a n d f r a g m e n t a t i o n a n d i t s

2.82 During the year NABARD identified 13 subjects

implications on productivity in village Nelpathur in

for preparation of Occasional Papers by eminent experts

Tamil Nadu entrusted to Indira Gandhi Institute of

in order to generate and disseminate information on

D e v e l o p m e n t R e s e a rc h , M u m b a i i n d i c a t e d t h a t

policy issues in the areas of agricultural credit and rural

fragmentation had an adverse impact on technical

development. The important among these were, (i) Risk

efficiency in the production of most of the important

and uncertainties in Indian agriculture and the role of

crop sequences and farm size played a positive role in

credit, (ii) Innovations in agricultural credit - A case study

promoting technical efficiency.
2.80

of KCC scheme, (iii) Organic farming in India: Relevance,
problems and constraints, (iv) Initiatives and prospects

A study on 'Impact assessment of select watersheds

of private-public partnerships in agricultural

in Coimbatore district of Tamil Nadu' entrusted to the Tamil

development, (v) Managerial strategy for agricultural

Nadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore, evidenced that

development in the early 21st Century and (vi) Changing

watershed development activities had significant impact

pattern of rice production system and policy

on groundwater recharge leading to increased access to

perspectives. Four Occasional Papers, viz., (i) A study

groundwater and thus expansion in irrigated area,

on the impact of tenancy system on resource use and

irrigation/cropping intensity and diversification of cropping

productivity in Jorhat district of Assam, (ii) Agriculture -

pattern. The study therefore suggested focussing on

Market Linkages - Evaluating and evolving a conceptual

development of water harvesting structures like percolation

framework in Indian context, (iii) Agriculture Extension

ponds through public and private investments. The study

- Involvement of private sector and (iv) Commodity

also indicated increase in employment opportunities in off-

prices and their effect on investment viability and

farm and non-farm activities, particularly for landless rural

repayment - The case of Indian cardamom, were

households. A computer software, WADIAM was developed

published during the year.

to enable the assessment of the impact of watershed
development programme.

C.

Occasional Papers

E.

Seminars, Conferences and
Workshops

Technical, Monitoring and
Evaluation Cells

2.83 NABARD continued to encourage the setting-up
and strengthening of TME cells (FS) in co-operative

2.81 Grant assistance of Rs.47.45 lakh was sanctioned

banks and RRBs to promote diversification in lending

to various universities, research institutes and other

through new and innovative schemes/projects, organise
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training programmes for dissemination of information

(ix) Inter-sectoral growth linkages in India - implications

among the banks' field staff, facilitate the effective

for policy and liberalized reforms.

formulation, appraisal and implementation of schemes

H.

and launch effective methods for better recycling of
credit. So far 120 RRBs, 9 SCBs and 14 SCARDBs have

2.86 Apart from the above activities, the Fund is also

availed of this facility. TME cells (FS) were also involved

being utilised for training personnel of client institutions,

in the formation and linkage of SHGs and formation

viz., commercial banks, RRBs, co-operative banks and

o f f a r m e r s ' c l u b s u n d e r Vi k a s Vo l u n t e e r Va h i n i

state governments. Such training programmes were

programme.

F.

Training Activities

organised by the CAB (RBI), Pune; IIBM, Guwahati;
NCMDARDB, Bangalore; BIRD, Lucknow and RTCs of

Tribal Credit Specialists

NABARD at Mangalore and Bolpur.

2.84 The scheme introduced in 1996-97 envisaged
providing grant for a period of five years for appointment

I.

of TCS in co-operative banks operating in tribal areas to

2.87 The findings of research studies/projects and

help them identify and finance those activities which

occasional papers supported out of the Fund were

could be taken up by members of tribal communities.

forwarded to various departments in HO, ROs/SO/TEs

The period of eight TCSs sanctioned to co-operative

of the Bank, concer ned depar tments of the state

banks (5 in 4 SCBs and 1 each in 3 SCARDBs) came to

governments, research institutes/universities, financing

an end during the year.

G.

Utilisation of Research Findings

agencies, NGOs, etc., for wider dissemination, followup action and use in policy formulation. The findings

NABARD Chair Unit Scheme

were also used while preparing background papers

2.85 The Bank continued to support five Chair Units

relating to business policies of the Bank.

established under the NABARD Chair Unit Scheme in

Training Personnel of RFIs

Andhra University, Visakhapatnam; Jawaharlal Nehru
Krishi Vishwa Vidyalaya, Jabalpur; Institute of Economic

2.88 As a part of its role in improving the effectiveness

Growth, Delhi; Vaikunth Mehta National Institute of Co-

of Rural Financial Institutions (RFIs), NABARD set up two

operative Management, Pune and Institute of Rural

training institutions, viz., RTCs at Bolpur and Mangalore

Management, Anand. During the year, impor tant

and BIRD, Lucknow for training of personnel of RFIs.

research studies completed by the Chair Units included,

RTCs and BIRD together conducted 429 training

(i) Impact evaluation of roads and bridges sanctioned

programmes covering 11,145 participants during the year,

under RIDF; (ii) Impact assessment of DRIP in Akola and

as compared to 364 programmes and 8,884 participants

Washim districts; (iii) Techno-economic feasibility study

during the previous year. NABARD also supplements the

o n c o n t r a c t f a r m i n g , i n t e re s t r a t e s t r u c t u re a n d

efforts of other training institutions in this area by

determination of viable interest rates for credit co-

providing technical and financial support.

operatives; (iv) Evaluation of KCC scheme; (v) Problems,
prospects and policy reforms of livestock market;

A.

(vi) Financing rural infrastructure in irrigation; (vii) Fiscal

Programme Diversification

recovery issues; (viii) Agriculture market intervention

2.89 BIRD and RTCs have been making constant

policies - trends and implications in a new regime and

endeavours to up-date their programmes to cater to
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B.

the specific and changing needs of their clientele. The

Training Arrangements for the
North Eastern Region

feedback from their clientele alongwith findings of
specific studies undertaken by the institutions are
internalised and incorporated in subsequent

2.92 NABARD provided grants to Indian Institute of

programme designs. The training calendars of BIRD and

Bank Management, Guwahati to cater to the training

RTCs are finalised by syllabus/academic advisory

needs of commercial banks, RRBs and co-operative
banks and to Manpower Development and Management

committees, which comprise members from RFIs and

Institute (MDMI), Shillong for meeting the training needs

other training institutions who also identify new areas

of personnel of co-operatives in the NER. During 2003-04

for training. The new programmes introduced by the

grant assistance of Rs.16.01 lakh and Rs.7.20 lakh was

RTCs and BIRD during the year covered major areas

provided to IIBM and MDMI, respectively.

such as treasury and investment, asset liability and
network management, managing small and micro-

District Development Offices

enterprises, funds and investment management for
Nominee Directors from sponsor banks on the Board

2.93

of RRBs

Managers (DDM) offices were opened in five states,

and conduct of a seminar on Corporate

During the year, eight new District Development

taking the total number of such offices to 338. Further,

Governance for CEOs of DCCBs, etc.

103 districts have been tagged with neighbouring DDM
NABARD also contributed towards the subsidization

offices, resulting in 77 per cent of the districts in the

of participation fees of personnel from client institutions. An

country being served by DDMs. The development work

amount of Rs.20.77 lakh was provided to CAB, Pune and

relating to the remaining districts not covered by DDM

Rs.13.98 lakh to NCMDARDB, Bangalore for training 377

offices is being attended to by District Development

and 393 officials of client banks, respectively.

Officers (DDOs) stationed at the concerned ROs of

2.90

NABARD.

2.91 NABARD has been providing technical and

Important Visits and Discussions

financial support to Junior Level Training Centres (JLTCs)
and Agricultural Co-operative Staff Training Institutes

2.94.

(ACSTIs) set up by SCARDBs and SCBs, respectively,

Six Parliamentary Committees held discussions

with NABARD on various aspects concerning rural credit

under the Scheme of Financial Assistance for Training of

and rural development. These were, (i) Study Groups

C o - o p e r a t i v e B a n k Pe r s o n n e l ( S O F TC O B ) f o r

I and II of the Parliamentary Standing Committee on

improvement of their training system. During the year,

Agriculture, (ii) Study Groups I and II of the Estimates

27 training institutions were covered under the scheme

Committee on Priority Sector Lending (Lok Sabha),

and financial support of Rs.3.16 crore was extended to

(iii) Standing Committee on Finance, (iv) Standing

JLTCs and ACSTIs out of the Co-operative Development

Committee on Urban and Rural Development, (v)

Fund (CDF) for conducting 656 training programmes

Committee on the Welfare of SC/ST and (vi) Standing

covering 12,292 participants.

Committee on HRD-Gender Budget.
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III

Business Operations

NABARD has been providing refinance to co-operative

three components (Box 3.1) would be utilized for enhancing

banks, commercial banks, Regional Rural Banks (RRBs),

the efficiency, productivity and profitability of agriculture

scheduled Primary Urban Co-operative Banks (PUCBs) and

by developing and strengthening infrastructure necessary

Agricultural Development Finance Companies (ADFCs) to

for agriculture and encouraging agri-exports, diversification

supplement their resources for credit flow to the agriculture

and value addition so as to augment the income of rural

and rural sector. NABARD has also provided loans to state

households. NABARD is the nodal agency for

governments for their infrastructural projects under RIDF.

operationalising the Fund. Resources for the Fund will be

The RIDF projects have accelerated the rate of development

mobilized from the banking system at terms similar to those

in the rural areas with downstream effects, attracting further

applicable to RIDF and also through market borrowings.

private investments and leading to a spurt in economic
activities. The mandate of RIDF would henceforth be served

Ground Level Credit Flow

by the newly created Lok Nayak Jai Prakash Narayan Fund
3.5

(LNJPNF)/Agriculture Infrastructure and Credit Fund (AICF).

According to advance estimates, the total ground

level credit (GLC) disbursed by various agencies for
NABARD Consultancy Ser vices (Nabcons),

agriculture and allied activities reached a level of

registered on November 17, 2003 as a separate company,

Rs.80,000 crore (Rs.52,000 crore for production credit

wholly owned by the Bank, leveraged on the core

and Rs.28,000 crore for investment credit) during

competence of the parent organization and its expertise

2003-04 registering a growth of 15 per cent over the

in multi-disciplinary projects for executing consultancy

previous year. Over the period from 1999 to 2003, the

assignments for clients.

GLC from co-operative banks, RRBs and commercial

3.2

banks increased by 11, 25 and 20 per cent p.a.,
3.3

The total financial support extended by NABARD

respectively. While the share of commercial banks

during 2001-02, 2002-03 and 2003-04 was Rs.18,138

increased significantly from 50 to 57 per cent, that of

crore, Rs.18,573 crore and Rs.18,931 crore, respectively.

co-operative banks declined from 43 to 34 per cent and

This section presents a review of the Bank's refinance and

RRBs marginally improved their share in the total credit

loaning operations, their impact at the ground level,

flow (Table 3.1). The comparatively slow growth of credit

m o b i li z a t i o n a nd m a n a ge m e nt o f re so u rces and
consultancy services provided by its subsidiary.

Table 3.1: Agency-wise Ground Level Credit Flow
(Rs. crore)

Lok Nayak Jai Prakash Narayan Fund

Agency

3.4

Co-operative
Banks

While presenting the Interim Budget on 3 February

Regional Rural
Banks

2004, the Hon'ble Union Finance Minister announced the
setting-up of the LNJPNF/AICF of Rs.50,000 crore to

Commercial
Banks

efficiently aggregate resources from various providers of

Other Agencies

long-term financing and channelise it towards the creation

Total

of agriculture/rural infrastructure. The Fund, comprising
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1998-99

1999-00 2000-01 2001-02 2002-03

15,957

18,260

20,718

23,524

23,636

2,460

3,172

4,220

4,854

6,070

18,443

24,733

27,807

33,587

39,774

-

103

82

80

80

36,860

46,268 52,827 62,045 69,560

Box 3.1
LNJPNF- Components
to post harvest management, agricultural marketing and

A. Finance for Infrastructure Development through
State Governments

a c t i v i t i e s re l a t e d t o m i n o r i r r i g a t i o n , w a t e r s h e d

State governments, state owned corporations and

development, forestry, agri-clinics, bio-technology, etc.

undertakings, PRIs and other local bodies are eligible

An amount of Rs.18,000 crore has been allocated for

for availing loans at 6.5% p.a. at present for various

three years (2004-07) at an interest rate on refinance

investments in minor irrigation structures, water saving

ranging between 5.5 and 6.75% p.a. At present,

devices, reclamation of waterlogged areas, watershed/

however, agricultural investments under the scheme

wasteland development, flood control and drainage,

would be made available to the borrowers at 2 per cent

cold storage facilities in public sector, marketing

below prevailing PLRs. Further, NABARD would institute

infrastructure, infrastructure for livestock development,

measures like identification and formulation of projects

plantation and horticulture development, etc. Initial

in consultation with par tner agencies, providing

funding would be arranged from those commercial banks

necessary technical inputs, appraising projects and

having shortfall in agriculture lending at the same rate

conducting feasibility studies, capacity building of

of interest as applicable to loans provided under RIDF

institutions in agricultural lending and formulation and

IX. Subsequent requirements would be met through this

dissemination of model schemes.

source as also through market borrowings by NABARD.

C. Development Measures and Risk Management

A sum of Rs.30,000 crore has been allocated for 3 years

An amount of Rs.2,000 crore has been allocated under

from 2004-05 to 2006-07.

the Fund to initiate certain developmental measures and

B. Re f i n a n c e f o r I n v e s t m e n t s i n A g r i c u l t u r e ,

risk management initiatives, viz., farm technology

Commercial Infrastructure and selective Co-financing

dissemination, integration of IT linkage, expansion of

Projects financed by the banks to be implemented by

farmers clubs, par ticipatory watershed/wasteland

Corporates, NGOs, individuals and other agencies

development, initiatives for value addition and

would entitle banks to avail refinance. The eligible

certification of agricultural produce, livestock

purposes/priority areas are investments in agricultural

upgradation and development, credit risk mitigation,

assets and commercial infrastructure, investments related

tribal development, etc.

flow through co-operatives, led to their decline in

implemented in all states and UTs by commercial banks,

market share.

SCBs/DCCBs and RRBs. The implementation of the
scheme helped in augmenting GLC flow for short-term

The sub-sector wise GLC flow for agriculture and

production credit. During 2003-04 co-operative banks,

allied activities over the period revealed that while the

RRBs and commercial banks issued 48.78 lakh, 12.74

flow of term loans almost stagnated (Table 3.2) in some

lakh and 30.73 lakh cards, respectively. Of the 413.79

sectors like MI, FM and Fisheries, it increased for AH,

lakh cards issued by the banking system since the

P&H, LD and hi-tech agriculture.

inception of the scheme (Table 3.3), co-operative banks

3.6

accounted for the largest share (59%) followed by
The Kisan Credit Card (KCC) scheme introduced

commercial banks (32%) and RRBs (9%). Co-operative

in August 1998 for short-term (ST) loans for Seasonal

banks and RRBs have been routing a major portion of

Agricultural Operations (SAO) has since been

their crop loan disbursements through KCC. This is

3.7
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Table 3.2: Sub sector-wise Ground Level Credit Flow for Agriculture and Allied Activities
(Rs. crore)
Sr.
No.

Sector/
Sub-sector

1998-99

1999-2000

2000-01

2001-02

2002-03

Growth**
Rate (%)

I

Crop Loan (ST- production credit)

23,903

28,965

33,314

40,509

45,586

17.7

II

Term Loans (MT & LT investment credit)

12,957

17,303

19,513

21,536

23,974

15.6

i.

Minor Irrigation

1,790

2,346

1,821

1,845

1,976

1.0

ii.

Land Development

iii.

Farm Mechanisation

iv.

Plantation & Horticulture

v.

Animal Husbandry

217

319

290

307

393

12.2

3,936

3,889

4,125

3,847

3,600

1.0

767

777

754

765

1,195

9.1

1,996

2,119

2,190

2,221

2,637

6.2

vi.

Fisheries

448

405

319

508

539

6.1

vii.

Hi-tech Agriculture*

1,339

1,360

2,088

2,257

2,268

16.9

viii.

Others@

2,464

6,088

7,926

9,786

11,366

42.4

36,860

46,268

52,827

62,045

69,560

16.9

Total (I+II)

* Only commercial banks ** Annual compound growth rate (1998-99 through 2002-03).
@: Includes disbursements under Storage & Market Yards, Bullocks and Bullock Carts, Biogas, etc.

indicative of the scheme emerging as a widely accepted

states of Andhra Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh, Tamil Nadu,

mechanism for delivery of crop loans to farmers in a

Karnataka, Maharashtra, Kerala and Punjab accounted

hassle free manner.

for 69 per cent of the cards issued by commercial banks
across the country. The progress was slower in the states

3.8

A state-wise review of the performance of the

of Jharkhand, Jammu & Kashmir, Himachal Pradesh,

scheme revealed that the states of Uttar Pradesh, Andhra

West Bengal, Bihar and the North Eastern States. Special

Pradesh, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, Madhya Pradesh,

efforts were made to accelerate the progress in these

Orissa, Tamil Nadu, Karnataka and Haryana accounted

states by organising meetings with the bankers during

for 82 per cent of the cards issued by co-operative banks

the year.

across the country whereas the states of Uttar Pradesh,
Andhra Pradesh, Karnataka, Kerala, Orissa, Madhya

3.9

In order to generate greater awareness about the

Pradesh, Rajasthan and Gujarat accounted for 84 per

scheme and to ensure coverage of all eligible farmers,

cent of cards issued by RRBs across the country and the

NABARD has taken certain initiatives such as conduct of
orientation and training programmes for bankers,

Table 3.3: Agency-wise, Year-wise Kisan Credit Cards Issued

publication of a 'Farmer's Guide on KCC' for educating

(lakh)

and guiding farmers on the effective use of the KCC

Year

Co-operative
Banks

RRBs

Commercial
Banks

Total

1998-99

1.56

0.06

6.22

7.84

1999-00

35.95

1.73

13.66

51.34

2000-01

56.14

6.48

23.90

86.52

2001-02

54.36

8.34

30.71

93.41

the banks would now have to lay emphasis on improving

2002-03

45.79

9.64

27.00

82.43

the quality of their KCC operations, explore the possibility

2003-04

48.78

12.74

30.73

92.25

of providing term loans through KCC, introduction of

242.58

38.99

132.22

413.79

Total

facility, using the postal media for publicity through 10
lakh Meghdoot Post Cards in rural areas and extending
financial support to co-operatives and RRBs for various
publicity measures. With the stabilisation of the scheme,

smart card for KCC holders, etc.
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Production Credit
A.

Short-Term Refinance

SAO limits continued to be reckoned on the basis of Non-

a.

State Co-operative Banks

Performing Assets (NPAs) or recovery performance,

i.

Refinance Support for Seasonal gricultural

whichever was complied with. However, in order to curb
the tendency of defaults by some of the DCCBs to the

Operations

SCB under ST (SAO), it was decided that the concerned

3.10 NABARD's refinance policy for 2003-04 continued

SCB would not be allowed drawals on behalf of those

to lay emphasis on accelerating the pace of credit flow to

DCCBs defaulting continuously for a period exceeding 3

farmers. The disbursements of SCBs were to the extent

months.

of around Rs.20,000 crore during 2002-03 as against the
Tenth Plan target of disbursing Rs.30,493 crore during

3.12 During 2003-04 (July-March), ST credit limits for

2003-04. SCBs would therefore be required to augment

SAO aggregating Rs.7,314.28 crore were sanctioned to

credit flow for agriculture.

17 SCBs on behalf of 213 DCCBs. During 2002-03
(July-June) credit limits of Rs.6,746.67 crore were

3.11 Considering the fact that the impact of the kharif

sanctioned to 18 SCBs on behalf of 234 DCCBs. The

2002 drought would still be felt, certain relaxations were

credit limits sanctioned for 2003-04 included Rs.950.98

put in place while deciding the short-term refinance policy

crore for the Oilseeds Production Programme (OPP),

for 2003-04 to mitigate the severity of adverse cash flow

Rs.68.46 crore for the National Pulses Development

and recovery problems faced by the banks. The policy

Programme (NPDP) and Rs.246.98 crore for meeting the

decision taken for kharif 2002 in respect of DCCBs not

production credit requirements of tribals under the

complying with Section 11(1) of the B.R. Act, 1949

Development of Tribal Population (DTP) Programme.

(AACS), regarding the sanction of limits as per the
eligibility of the banks without restricting the same to the

3.13 The SCBs in the southern region (Andhra Pradesh,

m a x i m u m o u t sta nd in g re a ch e d a ga in st t he l i mi t

Karnataka, Kerala and Tamil Nadu) as well as northern

sanctioned by NABARD/SCB during the previous year,

region (Haryana, Punjab and Rajasthan) accounted for

along with Critical Refinance Support continued during

nearly 34 per cent each, while those in the central region

2003-04. Eligibility of co-operative banks for sanction of

(Chhattisgarh, Madhya Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh), the
western region (Gujarat, Maharashtra) and the eastern
region (Bihar, Orissa and West Bengal) constituted nearly
14, 11 and 7 per cent, respectively, of the aggregate credit
limits sanctioned during the year.
3.14 Refinance availment by the co-operative banks in
the NER continued to be low despite certain relaxations
extended by NABARD. Only Meghalaya and Nagaland
SCBs were sanctioned credit limits aggregating Rs.2 crore
and Rs.0.97 crore, respectively, during the year.
3.15 The SCBs had reached a maximum outstanding
level of Rs.5,321.84 crore during the year 2003-04

Bountiful paddy crop.
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(July-March) constituting 73 per cent of the credit limits

in the interest rates charged by banks for agriculture in

sanctioned. The level of utilisation of the credit limits

general and crop loans in particular. Commercial banks

sanctioned was between 70 and 90 per cent in the case

were advised by Indian Banks' Association to issue crop

of 11 SCBs and below 70 per cent in the case of

loans at 9 per cent p.a. In this context, the NABARD Act,

6 SCBs.

1981, was amended to enable the Bank to provide
refinance directly to DCCBs with the willingness of state

ii.

Financing Short-Term Agricultural/Allied

governments. As advised by the GoI, NABARD in

and Marketing Activities

consultation with the RBI, formulated a scheme for
providing refinance directly to DCCBs at 6 per cent p.a.

3.16 A new line of credit was introduced for co-operative

and have sought the state governments' concurrence for

banks for financing short-term agricultural/allied and

its implementation.

marketing activities to be operative initially for the year
2003-04 (April-March). This was expected to provide

iv.

liquidity to co-operative banks and enable them to

Refinance Support to Weavers

3.19 Considering the enor mous potential of the

effectively leverage their high cost funds to boost credit

handloom sector for employment generation, especially

flow to the agricultural sector and provide credit to oral

for the backward and poorer sections of the rural

lessees/tenant farmers.

community as also its potential as an important export

3.17 Purposes eligible for refinance are those covered

earner, NABARD continued to focus on extending

under Section 21(1)(i) and (ii) of the NABARD Act, 1981,

refinance support to rural financial institutions (RFI) for

but are not covered under the existing refinance facilities

production/procurement and marketing activities of
weavers' co-operatives. The policy in respect of sanction

sanctioned by NABARD. Broadly, these include: (i) loans

of working capital credit limits to SCBs/DCCBs for

for agricultural purposes against security of gold and

financing production and marketing activities of Primary

security other than charge on crops, (ii) working capital

Handloom Weavers' Co-operative Societies (PHWCS),

credit for allied agricultural activities, (iii) working capital

procurement and marketing operations of regional/apex

credit for procurement and distribution of agricultural

weavers' co-operative societies continued as hitherto

inputs, marketing of agricultural/allied products, collection

except for some modifications.

and marketing of minor forest produce, etc. and (iv) shortterm credit support provided to cultivators with higher
scales of finance for commercialisation of agriculture,
exports, value addition, etc. During the year credit limits
aggregating Rs.484.09 crore were sanctioned to seven
SCBs (April- March) in the states of Haryana, Kerala,
Maharashtra, Orissa, Punjab, Tamil Nadu and West
Bengal under the new line of credit. The limits were utilized
to the extent of Rs.195.48 crore.

iii.

Direct Short-Term Refinance to DCCBs for
SAO

3.18 The Hon'ble Prime Minister and the Hon'ble Union
Finance Minister had emphasized the need for reduction

Jute craftswoman at work  MAHIMA  Srikakulam district.
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3.20 To safeguard the interests of weavers' societies and

requirements of industrial co-operative societies (other

to ensure that non-defaulting, well-run and eligible

than weavers'), labour contract/forest labour co-operative

PHWCS are not denied financial assistance, it was decided

societies as also artisan members of PACS/FSS/LAMPS

to extend Critical Refinance Support to those DCCBs that

continued with a few refinements like prescribing

did not comply with the recovery/NPA norms.

minimum recovery/NPA norms for SCBs and DCCBs to
enable these banks to finance the production and

3.21 During 2003-04 (April - March), ST credit limits

marketing activities of cottage, village and small scale

ag g re g a t i n g R s.520.60 cro re (Rs.550.94 cr ore

primary industrial co-operative societies. The same policy

during 2002-03) were sanctioned to seven SCBs on behalf

was adopted for extending refinance support to SCBs in

of c o n c e r n e d D CCB s fo r fin a n cing p ro ducti on/

the three-tier structure for financing regional/state level

procurement and marketing activities of Weavers'

federations engaged in procurement and marketing

Co-operative Societies, against which the maximum

activities of cottage, village and tiny industrial co-operative

outstanding reached was Rs.309.75 crore (59% of the

societies. During 2003-04 an amount of Rs.18.64 crore

limits sanctioned). Co-operative banks in five states

was sanctioned against production and marketing

(Andhra Pradesh, Kerala, Orissa, Tamil Nadu and West

activities of industrial co-operatives against which

Bengal), where the co-operative handloom movement is

utilisation was Rs.1.50 crore. Limits sanctioned for

well developed, accounted for 99 per cent of the total

financing individual rural ar tisans through PACS

limits sanctioned by NABARD for the year. The credit

amounted to Rs.9.92 crore against which the utilisation

limits sanctioned during 2003-04 (April - March) to SCBs

was Rs.9.87 crore. For purchase and distribution of

on behalf of apex/regional weavers' societies for trading

fertilisers, an amount of Rs.36.88 crore was sanctioned

in yarn amounted to Rs.11.86 crore against which the

to SCBs against which utilisation was Rs.3.36 crore.

maximum utilisation was Rs.8.50 crore accounting for 72
per cent of the total limits sanctioned.

b.

v.

3.24 The ST credit limits sanctioned for SAO to 123

Financing of State Handicraft/Handloom

RRBs during 2003-04 (July-March) stood at Rs.1,346.62

Development Corporations

crore, including Rs.116.34 crore for OPP and Rs.43.72

3.22 The policy of extending refinance support to

crore for DTP. Among the states, Andhra Pradesh with

scheduled commercial banks and SCBs for financing

Rs.288.17 crore continued to have the largest share of

working capital requirements of State Handicraft

credit limits sanctioned to RRBs followed by Uttar Pradesh

Development Corporations (SHnDCs) and State

with Rs.275.03 crore. The RRBs had reached a maximum

Handloom Development Corporations (SHDCs) by

outstanding level of Rs.924.70 crore during 2003-04 (July-

SCBs continued during the year except for a few

March) constituting 69 per cent of the credit limits

modifications in respect of extending support to SCBs

sanctioned. The aggregate sanction of credit limits for ST

for financing SHDCs.

vi.

Regional Rural Banks

(OSAO) purposes to RRBs during the year stood at
Rs.86.02 crore.

Financing Industrial Co-operatives, Labour
Contract/Forest Labour Co-operative

3.25 In view of NABARD's policy of encouraging banks

Societies and Rural Artisans

to formulate schemes for financing investments in

3.23 The policy in respect of refinance support to SCBs

agriculture, the credit limits sanctioned to SCBs/RRBs for

on behalf of DCCBs/DICBs for financing working capital

supporting their medium-term lending continued to be
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low during the year. Credit limits amounting to Rs.0.68

(SAO) loans of borrowers into MT loans against which

crore were sanctioned to two RRBs, viz., Rajgarh-Sehore

drawals aggregating Rs.229.52 crore were made.

RRB in Madhya Pradesh and Mayurakshi RRB in West

C.

Bengal during the calendar year 2003.

i.

Financing the Marketing of Crops

Long-Term Loans to State
Governments

3.29 NABARD continued to provide long-term (LT)

3.26 Pursuant to approval of the recommendation of

loans to state governments under Section 27 of the

t h e ' E x p e r t C o m m i t t e e o n S t re n g t h e n i n g a n d

NABARD Act, 1981, for contributing to the share capital

Development of Agricultural Marketing in Areas of

of co-operative credit institutions. During the year, the

Pledge Financing and Marketing Credit' by the Inter-

eligibility criteria for different co-operative credit

Ministerial Task Force, NABARD opened a separate line

institutions were rationalized with greater emphasis on

of credit to RRBs for financing marketing of crops with a

recovery management while they were liberalized for

ceiling on individual farmer's eligibility for loans upto

institutions in the NER, considering the problems peculiar

Rs.5 lakh and the maximum period of credit upto one

to the region (Table 3.4). During the year, loans

year.

aggregating Rs.39.54 crore were sanctioned to six state
governments, against which drawals of Rs.85.12 crore

B.

Medium-Term Refinance

(including drawals against previous years' sanctions) were

a.

Medium-Term (Non-Schematic)

made upto 31 March 2004.

3.27 As hitherto, for being considered eligible for

D.

sanction of medium-term (MT) credit limits for financing
approved agricultural investment purposes by NABARD,

Interest Rates on Refinance
Assistance

3.30 Rates of interest on refinance to co-operative banks

t h e o v e r d u e s (u n d e r a ll lo a n s a nd a d va nces) of

and RRBs for various purposes were reviewed and revised

co-operative banks and RRBs were not to exceed 50 per

downward twice during 2003-04. The rates applicable

cent of total demand as on 30 June or their NPAs as on

with effect from 13 February 2004 are as under:

31 March were not to exceed 20 per cent of previous year's
loans and advances outstanding on that date. A credit

a. For SAO, if percentage of SCB's average borrowings

limit of Rs.0.68 crore was sanctioned to one RRB during

from NABARD under SAO to DCCB's average loans

the year 2003.

b.

Table 3.4: Loans to State Governments for Share Capital
Contribution - Eligibility Criteria

Medium-Term (Conversion/Rephasement)
Reschedulement) Refinance

(Rs. lakh)
Institution

3.28 NABARD continued the policy of providing
refinance to co-operative banks and RRBs to enable them

Overdues (%)

SCBs (three tier)
DCCBs/SCBs (two tier)
PACS
FSS
LAMPS
SCARDBs
PCARDBs

to extend credit related relief to farmers affected by natural
calamities resulting in crop loss of 50 per cent or more in
unirrigated areas. An amount of Rs.288.02 crore was
sanctioned (July-March) to seven SCBs in Chhattisgarh,
Gujarat, Har yana, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra,

25
50
60
60
75
35
50

NPA (%)

Annual Cumulative
Ceiling
Ceiling

10
400
20
300
- 0.5-0.75
400
75

Note: For FSS, uniform cumulative ceiling was Rs.3 lakh.

Rajasthan and Tamil Nadu towards the conversion of ST
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2
3
2-2.5
-

outstanding against PACS is less than 35, 35 to 40,

d. For RRBs, the rate of interest on refinance for ST

and 40 and above, the p.a. interest rates fixed on

(SAO), financing pisciculture and MT (non-schematic)

refinance are 5.25, 5.5 and 5.75 per cent, respectively.

credit limits for financing approved agricultural

The interest rate on refinance to SCBs for financing

purposes: 5.75 per cent; ST (OSAO): 6.25 per cent

SAO in NER and Sikkim, however, is fixed at 5.25

and for marketing of crops: 6 per cent.

per cent p.a. and for banks under motivational
refinance norms it is 5.50 per cent p.a.

e. The rate of interest on ST refinance for commercial
banks for financing the working capital requirements

b. The p.a. interest rate on refinance to SCBs for

of PHWCS, SHDCs and SHnDCs: 6.25 per cent.

financing various purposes other than SAO are:
i.

Pisciculture, procurement/marketing of cloth, trading

E.

in yarn by apex/regional co-operative weavers'

3.31 Fi fteen moni tor i ng studi es unde r C re di t

societies and production and marketing activities of

Moni tor i ng

primary weavers' co-operative societies in NER,

Credit Monitoring Arrangement
Ar r ang ement

were

taken

up

by

NABARD during 2003-04. The major obser vations

Jammu & Kashmir, Sikkim and Himachal Pradesh:
5.75 per cent.

and

defi ci enci es

and

moni tor i ng

rev eal ed
sy stems

of

in

the

the

a ppr ai s al

ban ks

w e re

ii. Crop marketing, collection/marketing of minor forest

communicated to the concerned SCBs/DCCBs

produce by primary societies, production/marketing

to enable them to improve the quality of appraisal

activities of primary weavers' co-operative societies

of large advances and their monitoring mechanism.

and working capital requirements of primary industrial
co-operative societies (other than weavers) and rural
artisans: 6 per cent.
iii. Procurement/marketing of cloth and trading in yarn
by apex/regional co-operative weavers' societies,

F.

Other Policy Initiatives

a.

Cash Credit (Pledge/Hypothecation)
Limits

3.32 During 2003-04 the policy guidelines for providing

collection/ marketing of minor forest produce by apex

working capital assistance to co-operative sugar factories

societies, procurement, storage and distribution of

by way of cash credit limits broadly remained the same

chemical fertilisers for retailing and working capital

for SCBs and DCCBs. The credit limits towards

requirements of Apex Industrial Co-operative

pre-seasonal expenses of sugar mills were curtailed by

Societies (other than weavers), SHDCs and SHnDCs:

33.33 per cent by the SCB and the DCCBs in Maharashtra

6.25 per cent.

during the year as per the arrangement finalised by GoI,
RBI and NABARD to bring down the high level of

iv. Procurement, storage and distribution of chemical

exposure of these banks to the sugar sector. Under the

fertilisers for wholesale: 6.50 per cent.

policy announced by NABARD for the year 2003-04, the
c.

The rate of interest for financing approved ST

advances sanctioned by co-operative banks to the

agricultural/allied and marketing activities to

'downstream divisions' of co-operative sugar factories for

co-operative banks, MT (non-schematic) credit limits

production of ethanol and co-generation are exempted

for financing approved agricultural purposes and MT

from being reckoned towards the sectoral exposure norms.

credit limits for financing the purchase of shares in

However, such advances continued to be reckoned

co-operative processing societies: 5.75 per cent.

towards individual unit exposure norms stipulated for the
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SCBs/DCCBs. During the year credit limits of Rs.45 crore

NABARD not to maintain any margin on the buffer

were sanctioned towards working capital requirements of

stocks. NABARD also advised them to sanction

co-operative sugar factories which was fully utilised.

additional credit limits to sugar mills against the release

b.

of margin on such stocks and ensure that 100 per cent

Holding of Buffer Stock

drawing against buffer stocks, i.e., the amount in lieu of

3.33 In terms of GoI's announcement regarding the

margin money is not utilised for any purpose other than

creation of buffer stock of 20 lakh tonnes of sugar out of

the payment of price for sugarcane purchased by the

existing stocks, SCBs/DCCBs were instructed by

sugar factories.

Investment Credit
A
a.

Eligibility Criteria for Drawal of
Refinance

c.

SCBs, SCARDBs and RRBs

cent to total loans and advances outstanding as on 31

Commercial Banks

3.36 Commercial banks with gross NPAs upto 15 per
March 2003, shall have unrestricted eligibility. In the

3.34 The eligibility criteria for drawal of refinance by

case of banks with NPA percentage to the total loans

SCBs, SCARDBs and RRBs from NABARD under

and advances outstanding between 15 and 20

schematic lending for 2003-04 was switched over to NPA
linked nor ms against the earlier recover y nor ms.

(inclusive), eligibility for drawal of refinance was

Accordingly, these agencies with gross NPAs of 15 per

restricted to 30 per cent and for banks with NPA

cent or less can draw unrestricted refinance while those

percentage more than 20 it was upto 20 per cent of the

with gross NPAs of more than 15 per cent were eligible to

bank's priority sector advances (term loans) during

draw refinance to the extent of the amount recovered in

2001-02.

the year ending 30 June of the previous year or lendings
during the year ending 31 March of the previous year or

3.37

NPAs will be reckoned for the bank as a whole.

the average amount recovered/lent in the preceding 3

Total drawals were subjected to state-wise refinance

years, whichever was higher. Further, in case there was

programme allotted. If there was any improvement in

improvement in NPAs/lending position as on 31 March

NPA position as on 31 March 2003 or in disbursement

2003, the same was considered for higher eligibility.

in priority sector lending during 2002-03, the same
was considered for higher eligibility.

b.

Scheduled Primary Urban
Co-operative Banks

B.

Refinance Support

3.35 Only those scheduled PUCBs with 'A' audit

3.38 The total refinance disbursed by NABARD during

classification as on 31 March 2002, having posted net

the year for investment purposes increased by 3 per cent,

profits during the preceding 3 consecutive years ending

ag g reg ati ng R s.7,605.29 cr ore, as com pare d t o

31 March 2002 with no accumulated losses were eligible

Rs.7,418.77 crore disbursed during the previous year. The

for refinance facility. As regards NPA norms, banks having

marginal growth in refinance disbursement was mainly

gross NPAs not exceeding 10 per cent of the total loans

due to adequate l i qui di ty posi ti on of RRB s and

and advances outstanding as on 31 March 2002 would

commercial banks. This was compounded by poor credit

have unrestricted refinance eligibility.

purveying capacity of SCARDBs.
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from 39 per cent, while that of commercial banks

Table 3.5: Agency-wise Refinance Disbursements
(Rs. crore)

increased from 17 to 23 per cent during the year as

Agency

2001-02

2002-03

2003-04

compared to the previous year.

SCARDBs
SCBs
RRBs
Commercial Banks
ADFCs/PUCBs

2,731.84
1,089.06
1,178.21
1,608.05
75.75

2,853.50
1,783.73
1,538.63
1,241.54
1.37

2,544.14
1,736.50
1,589.35
1,713.60
21.70

3.41

6,682.91

7,418.77

7,605.29

Total

Of the total refinance disbursed to them, RRBs in

Andhra Pradesh, Karnataka, Orissa, Uttar Pradesh and
West Bengal claimed 68 per cent, SCBs in Himachal
Pradesh, Maharashtra, Punjab, Tamil Nadu and West
Bengal claimed 60 per cent and SCARDBs in Haryana,

a.

Agency-wise Disbursements

3.39

Kerala, Madhya Pradesh, Punjab and Uttar Pradesh
accounted for 72 per cent.

Of the total refinance assistance provided by

NABARD during 2003-04, SCARDBs accounted for
t h e la r g e s t s h are (33% ), fo llo we d b y SCBs and

b.

Spatial Distribution of Refinance

c o m m e rc i a l b a n k s ( 2 3 % e a c h ) a n d R R B s ( 2 1 % )

3.42 The flow of refinance varied widely across the

(Table 3.5/Chart 3.1).

states with Uttar Pradesh having the largest amount
(Rs.1,221.79 crore) followed by Tamil Nadu (Rs.733.10

3.40 NABARD continued to encourage schematic

crore) and Punjab (Rs.676.18 crore). These states

lending by DCCBs/SCBs, especially in states where

together accounted for 35 per cent of the refinance

SCARDBs were financially weak, so that the investment

d i s b u r s e d d u r i n g t h e y e a r. T h e s o u t h e r n re g i o n

credit needs of the members of co-operatives are met.

accounted for 28.5 per cent of the total refinance

During the year refinance disbursed to SCARDBs

disbursed followed by the northern region (23.4%), the

declined and showed marginal increase in the case of

central region (22%), the eastern region (14.1%) and

RRBs while it increased significantly for commercial

the western region (10.4%). The aggregate disbursement

banks as compared to the previous year (Table 3.5).

to the states in the NER, including Sikkim, stood at

Consequently, the share of SCARDBs declined to 33

Rs.122.62 crore (1.6% of total disbursement).

Chart 3.1

Agency-wise Refinance Disbursements

Commercial Banks
24.1%

ADFCs/PUCBs
1.1%

Commercial Banks
22.5%
SCARDBs
40.9%
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0.3%
SCARDBs
33.5%

RRBs
20.9%

SCBs
22.8%

SCBs
16.3%
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c.

Sector-wise Disbursements

3.43

Table 3.6: Purpose-wise Disbursement of Refinance
(Rs. crore)

During the year non-farm sector (including rural

Purpose

housing) accounted for the major share (31.1%), animal
husbandry (11.1%), farm mechanization (10.9%), minor
irrigation and land development (11%) and SHGs (9.3%),

2001-02

2002-03

2003-04

Minor Irrigation

691.06

854.97

651.45

Land Development

134.62

250.69

185.56

1,358.89

992.60

827.51

Farm Mechanisation

activites like plantation and horticulture, storage and

Plantation & Horticulture

280.34

292.03

250.75

market yards, SGSY, SC-ST action plan, etc., (8.1%) and

Dairy Development

821.18

909.19

669.15

others (18.5%) (Table 3.6/Chart 3.2).

Poultry

69.81

76.21

87.51
90.95

Sheep/Goat/Piggery

3.44 The refinance disbursed for rural housing, which
was included under the thrust areas, increased by 34 per

105.85

109.60

Fisheries

36.35

34.73

23.24

Forestry

16.09

12.40

10.94

Storage & Market Yard

227.14

48.47

25.38

cent and by 13 per cent for SHGs during 2003-04 over

SGSY

558.98

401.29

229.45

the previous year. Under the Bank's initiatives for

Non-Farm Sector

1,115.65

1,237.87

1,332.98

Rural Housing

500.25

769.53

1,030.24

SC/ST-Action Plan

130.54

112.08

73.61

Self-Help Groups

395.26

622.47

705.44

Others*

240.90

694.64

1,411.13

6,682.91

7,418.77

7,605.29

extending refinance support in AEZs, the refinance
disbursement increased from Rs.45 crore (2002-03) to
Rs.343 crore (2003-04).

Total

i.

Minor Irrigation

3.45

Promotion of minor irrigation has been one of the

* Include rural godowns and cold storages, two wheelers,
home -stead farming, contract farming, animal husbandry, etc.

thrust areas of NABARD since its formation. A number of
initiatives such as raising the quantum of refinance and

sector. However, further augmentation of credit flow to

reducing the interest rates thereon, creating awareness

this sector impinges on the removal of various constraints

and motivating bankers and farmers through the conduct

faced by rural credit institutions.

of workshops at the disrict level, bringing small lift
irrigation schemes under ARF, etc., have been taken earlier

3.46 T h e re f i n a n c e d i s b u r s e m e n t s u n d e r m i n o r

to ensure higher flow of GLC for the development of this

irrigation (excluding SGSY) stood at Rs.651.45 crore

Chart 3.2

Purpose-wise Refinance Disbursements
NFS/Rural Housing
24.2%

Others
9.8%
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Others
20.3%

Farm Mechanisation
10.9%
Plantation & Horticulture
3.3%

d u r i n g t h e y e a r. T h e d i s b u r s e m e n t w a s l a r g e l y

discounts, reduction in the margin from 15 to 10 per cent,

concentrated in the states of Maharashtra, Rajasthan,

extended period of warranty and stipulation of time frame

Punjab and Uttar Pradesh accounting for 61 per cent of

for disposal of loan applications by bank branches.

the disbursement under the sector. SCARDBs continued
to make the largest drawal (60%) followed by SCBs

3.50 T he

refi nance

di sbur sements

f or

f ar m

(26%) under this sector.

mechanization during the year stood at Rs.827.51 crore.
There was a decline in disbursement to this sector as

3.47 Large areas have fallen under semi-critical, critical

compared to the last two years. SCARDBs claimed the

and overexploited categories of groundwater assessment.

major share (Rs.492.38 crore). Five states, viz., Haryana,
Madhya Pradesh, Punjab, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh

Focus in such areas would be on preparation and

accounted for the major share (66%) in disbursements

implementation of community based water harvesting/

under this sector.

artificial recharge projects and enhancing credit support
to micro irrigation systems. Creating awareness and

iii.

propagating the use of water conservation measures and
p r o m o t i n g p a r ticip a to ry ir riga tio n m a n ag ement,

Animal Husbandry

3.51 The refinance disbursement under the animal

promoting and supporting conjunctive use of surface and

husbandr y sector was Rs.949.52 crore (including

ground water in canal command areas, improving water

Rs.101.91 crore for other AH purposes) during 2003-04.

use efficiency to optimize returns per unit, energy

The largest share of disbursement in this sector was that

conservation through use of efficient systems and

of SCARDBs (80%). Concentration of disbursements

promotion of non-conventional energy sources through

under this sector was observed in the states of Gujarat,

credit support are the areas in which efforts would be

Haryana, Punjab and Uttar Pradesh.

intensified to increase the GLC flow.

ii.

Farm Mechanisation

iv.

Non-Farm Sector

3.52

All activities under NFS providing employment

3.48 During the year, the policy for providing refinance

opportunities (direct or indirect), generating income and

for farm mechanisation to banks was changed in two

improving the living conditions of the rural people are

respects, viz., (i) in addition to Gujarat, Haryana,

eligible for NABARD refinance support under investment

Karnataka, Orissa and Punjab, refinance facility for
financing purchase of second hand tractors was extended
to the states of Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra and Uttar
Pradesh, and (ii) financing of trailers as an independent
unit was extended to Rajasthan in addition to Punjab,
Orissa and Madhya Pradesh.
3.49 Based on GoIs initiative, some of the commercial
banks, viz., State Bank of India, Canara Bank and Punjab
National Bank had entered into MoUs with few tractor
manufacturers for extending certain concessions to tractor
l o a n e e s , w h i c h a re no r m a lly exte nd e d t o ur ban
Rice transplanter in the field.

consumers. The concessions extended were cash
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credit within Automatic Refinance Facility (ARF), subject to

Box 3.2

usual norms. Refinance was made available to banks for

Rural Housing - NGO's Participation

loans extended by them towards purchase of two, three and
four wheelers by entrepreneurs, educational loans to

NGOs involved in rural housing projects avail of grant

individuals, all activties related to establishment of private

assistance/donation or loan or both from banks for lending

schools and colleges and health care centres in rural areas,

to weaker sections. They thus provide valuable services as

marketing outlets for rural products, promotion of tourism

motivators and facilitators in transferring appropriate building

and information technology, rural industrial clusters,

technology and providing low cost building materials.
Orientation to financial services being a new area for the

growth centres, communication networks, etc. Refinance

NGOs, many of them look for assistance from financing

was made available to banks not only for financing of new

agencies.

units, but also for modernization, expansion, renovation
and diversification of existing units.

Role of NGOs:
•

3.53 The refinance disbursement under NFS (including

Identification of borrowers, arranging for applications
documents, assessing repayment capacity, etc.

rural housing) amounted to Rs.2,363.22 crore, of which

•

Transfer of appropriate low cost technology to the

SCBs accounted for 35 per cent. Rural housing, included

borrower, providing low cost housing materials and

under the thrust area, accounted for a significant share

supervising the construction work.

(44%) in the total refinance disbursement under NFS.

•

Training the borrowers in micro credit activities.

Disbursement for rural housing also doubled during

•

Lending and recovery of loan amount.

2003-04 over 2001-02. Some of the policy initiatives
taken by NABARD to promote this sector were, (i) the
enhancement of individual loan limit to Rs.10 lakh (for

3.55 NABARD has taken several initiatives to make

new construction) and Rs.3 lakh (for repairs/renovation)

the food and agro-processing sector vibrant by

for commercial banks/RRBs, (ii) inclusion of the cost of

encouraging investments in innovative activities such

constructing 'rain water har vesting structures' and

as organic farming, contract far ming, green house

'sanitary latrines' in project costs for new houses, (iii)

technology, processing of agricultural products, milk

renovations within the overall ceiling and (iv) flexible

processing, milk chilling centres, modernisation of

repayment schedules for non-salaried borrowers. NGOs

slaughter houses, cold storages and rural godowns, etc.

have been involved in supporting financing for rural

Projects with outlay upto Rs.50 crore are considered

housing (Box 3.2). The financing under this activity has

for financing under food and agro-processing while the

been accepted by banks as a business proposition and

projects with higher outlays are supported on a selective

they have shown active involvement (Box 3.3).

basis in thrust areas like plantation, horticulture, dairy,
poultry, meat processing, etc. A working group has been

3.54 As NGOs are actively involved in various social,

constituted to undertake identification of potential food

environmental and economic issues relating to the

processing activities, preparation of project reports,

weaker sections, NABARD envisaging partnership with

identification of credit worthy borrowers, creation of

them, has developed a new loan product on an

a w a re n e s s

experimental basis, with the objective of providing well-

entrepreneurs, preparation of area specific investment

planned habitat to the rural poor by integrating the

plan, etc. A few techno-economic feasibility reports

concept of dwelling with sanitation, waste water disposal

have already been forwarded to the Ministry of Food

and rain water harvesting (Box 3.4).

Processing Industries, GoI.
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about

potential

activities

among

Box 3.3
Studies on Rural Housing
Important observations of studies undertaken by NABARD on rural housing schemes (RHS) being implemented by banks are as under:
• Recognising purveying for housing loans as a business proposition, banks have developed their own housing loan products to cater to
the needs of different strata of customers and have evolved well-defined systems and procedures for financing the housing sector.
• Both technical and financial appraisals were carried out to understand the quality of the proposals and assess the repayment capacity
of the borrowers.
• Monitoring system was rigorous at the construction stage and during recovery of loans. Banks lay substantial emphasis on security.
Apart from the land and building constructed, additional security in the form of mortgage of other property, viz., agricultural land, fixed
deposit receipts as collateral, Indira Vikas Patra, National Savings Certificates and also third party guarantee were insisted upon.
• Salaried class was the most preferred customer because of tie-up arrangement for recovery of loans.
• Overall recovery position of banks improved after the introduction of RHS.
• Though some banks have fixed equated monthly installments for agriculturists, quarterly/half-yearly/annual repayment schedules were
also practiced in certain banks.

3.56 N A B A R D h a s i d e n t i f i e d t h e p r o m o t i o n ,

pursuits like participatory approach, (ii) enlarging the

development and financing of rural non-farm sector

scope of Swarojgar Credit Card scheme, (iii) training

(RNFS) as one of its thrust areas in view of its potential

the officials of PLIs, (iv) enhancing the appraisal,

for income and employment generation and has

monitoring and supervision skills of officers of co-

accordingly evolved several refinance products over the

operative banks and RRBs through training, (v) making

years. In order to further increase refinance flow under

Soft Loan Assistance for Margin Money scheme more

NFS the strategies proposed are, (i) intensifying current

attractive, (vi) developing credit linked promotional

Box 3.4
Rural Habitat Scheme
•

The scheme will be implemented in rural areas as defined in the NABARD Act.

•

SHG members and other individuals with repaying capacity will be eligible for the loan.

•

The loan will be provided for construction of new houses, repairs, extension of existing accommodation and creation of
workspace including the provision of rainwater harvesting structures and sanitation.

•

The unit cost will be upto Rs.1.11 lakh.

•

Loan amount per person may vary between Rs.5,000 (minimum) to Rs.1 lakh (maximum), with margin money being 10%
of the project cost.

•

Financial assistance will be in the form of grant from NABARD to NGO and loan from NGO to the borrower. NGO to charge
interest of 9% p.a. to the borrower, of which interest amount collected at 5.5% to be deposited in NABARD Rural Habitat Fund
account to be maintained by the NGO in a commercial bank and the remaining 3.5% to be retained by the NGO as a service
charge.

•

Repayment period will be upto 10 years including moratorium upto 12 months from the date of sanction.
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schemes for micro-entrpreneurs of SHGs and (vii)

Table 3.7: SHG-Bank Linkage Programme: Cumulative Progress
(As on 31 March)

exploring fur ther collaboration with inter national

Year

agencies such as KfW and SDC for development of

SHGs
Financed

Bank Loans
Disbursed

SHGs
Refinanced

Refinance
Disbursed

(No.)

(Rs. crore)

(No.)

(Rs. crore)

2002

4,61,478

1,026.34

3,40,131

796.47

2003

7,17,360

2,048.67

4,93,634

1,418.80

2004

10,79,091

3,904.20

6,11,043

2,124.24

RNFS.

v.

microFinance

3.57 During the year 3,61,731 SHGs were credit linked
with banks as against 2,55,882 SHGs during 2002-03.
Bank loans disbursed to these SHGs aggregated

d.

Rs.1,855.53 crore (including repeat loans of Rs.697.79
crore provided to 1,71,669 existing SHGs financed in

Sanction of Projects under
Co-financing

3.59 In all, 7 projects have been sanctioned under

earlier years) as compared to Rs.1,022.34 crore disbursed

co-financing involving total outlay of Rs.118.90 crore and

during the previous year. NABARD provided refinance

term loans of Rs.75.58 crore with NABARD's share being

aggregating Rs.705.44 crore during 2003-04 accounting

Rs.35.97 crore (Table 3.8/Box 3.5). An amount of Rs.0.64

for 9 per cent of total refinance disbursement for

crore was disbursed during the year.

supporting 1,17,409 SHGs, as against the refinance of
Rs.622.47 crore covering 1,53,503 SHGs during the
previous year.

e.

Capital Investment Subsidy Schemes

i.

Cold Storages, Onion Godowns and Rural
Godowns

3.58 The cumulative number of SHGs credit linked with
banks increased to 10,79,091, with loan disbursement and

3.60 The quantum of subsidy under the capital

refinance support aggregating Rs.3,904.20 crore and

investment subsidy scheme for cold storages was revised

Rs.2,124.24 crore, respectively, (Table 3.7).

by the GoI, as a result of which subsidy has been

Box 3.5
NABARD's Co-financing Initiatives
NABARD has sanctioned for the first time two forestry projects

Rs.80,000 per ha. per harvest. It will prevent displacement of local

(Eucalyptus and Bamboo plantations) under co-financing to

population while generating an annual employment of nearly 100

Andhra Pradesh Forest Development Corporation (APFDC) in

mandays per ha. Also the non-timber forest produce will benefit

collaboration with Bank of Maharashtra. Both the activities will

villages around the plantation area.

be undertaken in the wastelands of the arid areas in Rangareddy,
Medak, West Godavari, Krishna and Khammam districts, using

For the bamboo project, superior quality of planting material of

clonal propagation and special soil moisture conservation

the species Dendrocalamus strictus will be used for plantation to

technology to boost productivity. Two species of Eucalyptus, viz.,

ensure fulfillment of the needs of local population and the paper

Eucalyptus camaldulensis and E. tereticornis will be used for the

industry. The plantation spread over 5,300 ha. will cost Rs.35,000

plantation on an area of 5,530 ha. The total cost estimated at

per ha. The first harvest will be in the 5th year and subsequently

Rs.35,000 per ha. will be spread over 7 years. Harvests in the

every alternate year, each of which is expected to yield 8,000

7th, 13th and 19th year are expected to yield approximately

culms/ha., generating an income of Rs.40,000.
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storage units having internal height less than 4.5 metres.
Further, payment of subsidy was linked to the cost of
construction of godown structure only. The details
regarding the progress under various CIS schemes are
given in Table 3.9.
3.62 The investment subsidy scheme for rural godowns,
which was initially launched for a period of two years
(2001-03) was extended upto August 2003. The scheme
has made steady progress and so far, 4,440 units with an
aggregate capacity of 86.62 lakh tonnes were sanctioned

Rural Godowns under CISS  ensuring longer shelf-life/
enhanced quality of agricultural products.

in 19 states. During the year subsidy amount of Rs.88.40
crore and refinance of Rs.32.89 crore was released to

restricted to the maximum extent payable for cold

various financing banks taking the cumulative amount of

storages of 5,000 MT capacity. Thus, for cold storages

subsidy released to Rs.149.16 crore and refinance

having capacities exceeding 5,000 MT, the subsidy

disbursed to Rs.210.21 crore under the scheme. Apart

payable would be restricted to 25 per cent of pro rata

from Andhra Pradesh, Haryana and Punjab, there was

cost for 5,000 MT capacity or Rs.50 lakh, whichever is

considerable demand for construction of rural godowns

less. Further, the National Horticulture Board, GoI has

in the states of Maharashtra, Madhya Pradesh and West

decided to charge processing fee of 0.25 per cent and

Bengal.

0.5 per cent for cold storage projects with financial outlay
between Rs.10 lakh and Rs.20 lakh and exceeding Rs.20

ii.

lakh, respectively. To assess the impact of the scheme

On-Farm Water Management Scheme in
Eastern States

at the field level, a study was conducted by NABARD

3.63 The scheme for on-farm water management

during the year (Box 3.6).

(OFWAMS) launched by the GoI during 2001-02 with
3.61 During 2003-04 the operational guidelines for

provision for subsidy for construction of shallow tubewells,

financing rural godowns were modified to include

dugwells, low lift points and pumpsets in ten states of

Table 3.8: Projects covered under Co-financing
(Rs. crore)
Project/Firm

Financing
Bank

Total Financial
Outlay

Margin

Subsidy

Term Loan

NABARD's
Share

Interest Rate
(%) p.a.
9.5

Eucalyptus Plantation

BoM

26.49

7.47

Nil

19.02

9.50

Bamboo Plantation

BoM

26.28

7.30

Nil

18.99

9.51

9.5

Tanflora Infrastructure Park

BoB

18.43

13.11

4.24

5.33

2.66

11.5

S.S. Farms & Holdings Inc.

ING Vyasa Bank

2.77

1.00

Nil

1.77

0.89

14.5

Gurukrupa Floritech

CBI

1.77

0.57

Nil

1.20

0.60

13.5

Hiranakeshi Milk Processing

BoI

18.69

4.67

Nil

14.02

7.01

11.0

Power and Yeast (I) Ltd

SBI & PNB

24.47

9.22

Nil

15.25

5.80

12.75

BoM-Bank of Maharashtra
SBI-State Bank of India

BoB- Bank of Baroda
BoI-Bank of India

Harneshwar Agro Products,

CBI- Central Bank of India
PNB-Punjab National Bank
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Box 3.6
Capital Investment Subsidy Scheme: Cold Storages
The Capital Investment Subsidy (CIS) scheme launched by GoI

farmers (52%). As a result, not only have distress sales been

for construction/expansion/modernization of cold storages and

avoided, but profitability has also improved because of better

storages for horticulture produce is being implemented by

price realization for the produce, easy accessibility and affordability

NABARD along with National Horticulture Board. An impact

of the storage facilities. The FRR for the sample units worked out

assessment study to evaluate the overall performance of the CIS

to 14 and 19% without and with subsidy, respectively. However,

scheme was conducted covering 38 cold storage units spread over

in the case of small sized units, the FRR values worked out to 9

18 districts of five states (Andhra Pradesh, Gujarat, Madhya

and 13%, respectively. The study revealed that as the unit size

Pradesh, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh).

increased, financial viability of the investment improved. The lower
capacity utilization (69%) adversely affected the viability of the

The study revealed that nearly 85% of the cold storage units

investments as the FRR worked out to 6 and 10% with and without

sanctioned were for construction of new units and were

subsidy, respectively. The repayment performance was satisfactory

concentrated in major cities. Nearly 95% of the units were created

at 91%.

by the private sector and remaining by the co-operative sector,
commercial banks being the major financing agency. Except

The study indicated the need for considering demand and

Gujarat, the overall capacity created was marginally higher (7%)

availability of the existing capacity and facilities for cold storages,

than sanctioned. Potatoes accounted for 85% of the capacity

the scope for further expansion and provision of proper market

utilized except in Andhra Pradesh where the major produce stored

linkages to ensure value addition and assure a high accruable

were chillies and turmeric. Bank loans accounted for 48% of the

income. Construction of medium and large storages with multi-

investment cost, subsidy accounted for 20% and the margin money

purpose storage facilities and reduced investments in civil

was at 32%.

structures would increase profitability and improve the viability
of the investments. It would also help to bring down the per

The benefits accrued to the farmers through this scheme were

tonne operational and maintenance costs of the units. There is

assessed on the basis of information collected from 100 farmers.

need to ensure pledge finance as is operational in Andhra Pradesh.

The main beneficiaries of the scheme were the small and marginal

eastern India continued during the Tenth Plan period.

wise plans in consultation with banks and respective state

NABARD has been associated with the implementation

governments. The banking plans envisage financing of

of the scheme and has prepared block-wise and district-

1.65 lakh beneficiaries with a subsidy of Rs.115 crore.

Table 3.9: Progress under the CIS Schemes
(Rs. crore)
Par ticulars

Projects sanctioned (No.)
Financial outlay
Bank loan sanctioned
Subsidy involved/eligible
Refinance sanctioned

Cold Storages/ Onion
Godowns

Rural Godowns

On Farm Water
Management Scheme

Million Shallow
Tubewell Programme

During
the year

Cumulative

During
the year

Cumulative

During
the year

Cumulative

During
the year

Cumulative

308
272.68
136.24
56.09
8.69

807
946.86
498.89
207.13
276.38

1,811
474.55
281.94
97.65
61.81

2,806
1,188.38
764.53
221.31
284.65

29,546
61.46
30.73
18.44
NA

56,861
115.06
57.53
34.52
NA

81,874
111.38
NA

1,29,588
339.78
152.87
NA

NA: Not Applicable
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Table 3.10: Interest Rates on Refinance for Farm/ Non-Farm Sectors
(Per cent p.a.)
Loan Size

NER including
Sikkim &
A&N Islands

Upto Rs.50,000
Rs.50,000- Rs.2 lakh
Above Rs.2 lakh
MI: Minor Irrigation
FM: Farm Mechanisation
AEZ: Agri-Export Zone

iii.

Other Regions
MI, DLF, LD, WLD, SGSY, SHG, SC-ST
Action Plan, OF, Contract Farming under
AEZ,AMC,RH,FM

NFS

Agri-clinics, Cold Storages,
Rural Godowns &
other activities

5.50
6.25
6.25

5.50
6.25
6.50

5.50
6.25
6.75

5.50
5.50
5.50
DLF: Dry Land Farming
WLD: Waste Land Development
AMC: Aromatic and Medicinal Crops

LD: Land Development
OF: Organic Farming
SGSY: Swarnajayanti Gram Swarozgar Yojana

Million Shallow Tubewell Programme

3.66

The rate of interest on interim finance being provided

to SCARDBs by NABARD was reduced from 9.5 to 7.5 per

3.64 Million Shallow Tubewell Programme (MSTP)

cent p.a. with effect from 15 November 2003.

launched during 2001-02 for implementation in 38
districts of Bihar envisages bringing in 20 lakh ha. of

3.67 During 2003-04, as much as 56 per cent of the

additional agricultural land under assured irrigation

refinance (excluding refinance in respect of loans for farm

through 2,17,111 units over a period of 5 years. The

mechanization, institutions, etc.) was against loans

programme is being implemented by the Government of

disbursed to small farmers (Table 3.11).

Bihar. As against the target of supporting the establishment
of 1.60 lakh units for 2003-04, 81,874 were sanctioned

D.

by the implementing agencies (commercial banks and
RRBs). So far 1,29,588 units

RH: Rural Housing
SHG: Self-Help Group

have been financed

involving an amount of Rs.242.70 crore as bank loan.

Monitoring/Investment Specific
Studies

3.68 With a view to understand the bottlenecks that
hamper the smooth implementation of schemes and

C.

Revision in Interest Rates

initiate mid-term remedial action, NABARD undertakes
monitoring studies of various investment.

3.65 Keeping in view the importance attached to
agriculture and SSIs by GoI, the reduction in bank rate

3.69 During the year 31 district-oriented monitoring

and the general reduction in interest rates, NABARD

studi es, 27 i nv estment-speci fi c studi es and 1 1

revised its interest rates on refinance four times during

scheme-specific studies covering major investment

the year. The present interest rate structure on refinance

activities in MI, AH, P&H and FM were conducted by the

for all agencies effective from 13 February 2004 is

Bank. The studies revealed that investment in agriculture

indicated in Table 3.10.

Table 3.11: Refinance disbursed against Loans to Small Farmers (2003-04)
(Rs. crore)
Purpose

Total
Disbursement

Disbursement
to SF@

Minor Irrigation (excluding REC ) &
Land Development
Diversified Purposes*

837
5,905

496
3,285

4
38

59
56

Total

6,742

3,781

42

56

@ covers borrowers under SGSY.

No. of SF
Assistance to SFs
Accounts(lakh) (% to total disbursement)

* Excludes refinance for farm mechanization, storage, market yards, forestry, etc.
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and allied activities under various programmes including

incremental income (NII) from the investment was fairly

SGSY, generated additional income and brought a large

high and the average annual yield was 13.6 tonnes per

number of poor families above the poverty line.

ha. With FRR at 29 per cent, the investment turned out
to be financially viable. The annual recurring employment
generation was 61 persondays per ha.

3.70 The studies also identified procedural deficiencies
and operational constraints in scheme implementation
such as non-adherence to technical nor ms, under

3.74 The evaluation study on sericulture in Karnataka

financing, fixing of inadequate repayment period, delay

(Kolar and Tumkur districts) indicated that the capacity

in release of subsidy, poor post-disbursement supervision/

utilisation of rearing house was just above 40 per cent,

follow-up, lack of awareness, technical know-how and skill

and the average annual yield of cocoons was 1,090 kg./ha.

upgradation among beneficiaries, etc. Lack of adequate

In spite of low cocoon prices during the year, sample

extension services, improper identification of beneficiaries,

borrowers realised better net income because of higher

absence of co-ordination among the implementing

productivity levels, thus making investment in sericulture

agencies, inadequate technical inputs, non-availability of

financially viable with FRR at 28 per cent. However,

quality animals, high cost of feed, low egg price, etc., also

the repayment performance was relatively low at 46 per

adversely affected profitability of the units. These

cent. Being a labour intensive activity, it generated

inadequacies were communicated to banks and line

annual employment of 735 persondays per ha. of

departments for remedial measures.

cultivation.

E.

3.75 The study on cold storages in Tamil Nadu

Economic Impact

(Coimbatore, Madurai, Virudhunagar and Thiruvallur

3.71 During the year NABARD conducted nine ex-post

districts) revealed that at the farmers level the investment

evaluation studies, viz., two each on minor irrigation and

led to crop diversification, increase in cropping intensity

rural non-farm sector and one each on sericulture, cold

and use of improved technology resulting in increase in

storages, market yard, marine fisheries and apple

productivity levels. It also succeeded in hedging price risk

cultivation. The details relating to the economic impact

of the farmers by stabilising commodity prices. The

of these investments are given in Table 3.12.

products stored were mainly tamarind, dry chillies,
potatoes and fruits. At the investor level, both the average

3.72 Th e s t u d ie s o n m ino r ir riga tio n in K er al a

annual net income and FRR (19%) were only at the

(Kasaragod and Kannur districts) and Punjab (Bathinda,

threshold level because of relatively low capacity

Hoshiarpur and Ropar districts) revealed that improved

utilisation (70%). Despite this, the repayment performance

access to irrigation brought about optimum use of the

was satisfactory (93%).

available land resources through intensive crop cultivation
and enhanced crop diversification towards commercial

3.76 The study on market yards in Gujarat (Rajkot

and high value crops, contributing substantially to the yield

district) revealed successful creation of marketing

and income. As a result, the FRR of these investments

infrastructure for 33 agricultural commodities and

remained high (> 50%) ensuring bankability of the

providing marketing services to 43 surrounding

investments in irrigation.

villages. It helped farmers to hedge price risk and
increase their share in the price spread. With a high

3.73 The study on apple cultivation in Himachal Pradesh

volume of commodity handling, the primary

(Shimla and Kinnaur districts) revealed that the net

investment in market yards resulted in better net
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Table 3.12: Benefits Accrued from Investments
(Per unit)
Sr. Type of
No. Investment

State/
Reference
Year

1.

Dugwells with
Pumpsets

Kerala /
2000-01

36

0.89

32.3

25.7

67

>50

76

2.

Tubewells

Punjab/
2001-02

141

2.50

136.6

95.2

324

>50

76

91

3.87

66.4

36.4

237

29

N.A.

3.

Capital
Cost
(Rs.'000)

Net
Benefited
Area(ha.)

Gross Value of
Net
Additional
Incremental
Production
Income
(Rs.'000)
(Rs '000)

Additional FRR
Employment (%)
Generation
(Persondays)

Recovery
(%)

Apple
Cultivation

Himachal Pradesh/
2002-03

4.

Sericulture

Karnataka/
2001-02

241

0.93

130.4

76.6

684

28

46

5.

Cold Storages

Tamil Nadu/
2001-02

16,872

-

4,559.0

3,167.5

3,625

19

93

Gujarat/
2000-01

47,644

-

-

9,500.0

12,720

17

100

1,000
100
480

-

1,216
481
685

172
84
164

1,800
900
864

24
21
24

49
61
73

41
41
118
111
330
342

-

43.2
41.5
49.5
84.6
218.5
192.4

23. 5
25.2
40.2
52.3
73.2
177.4

370
815
390
440
2,400
590

36
>50
39
48
28
>50

52
54
41
37
33
40

1,452
200
3,200
150
250

-

591.4
239.0
954.5
86.7
89.5

386.8
164.7
525.3
64.5
58.6

2,890
2,160
8,500
925
1,250

32
>50
21
>50
21

65
62
61
55
59

6.
7.

Market Yard
Marine Fisheries

Gujarat/
2000-01

i. Mechanised boats
ii. Fishing nets
iii. Diesel engines
8.

9.

RNFS Activities
Kerala/ 2002-03
i. Fish processing
ii. Concrete works
iii. Mat making
iv. Furniture making
v. Brick-kiln
vi. Multi- catering
RNFS Activities

Madhya Pradesh/
2002-03

i. Stone crushing
ii. Steel fabrication
iii. Powerlooms
iv. Handicrafts
v. Service activities
N.A.: Not Available

income. The recurring employment generated (regular

and recurring employment increased considerably in the

and adhoc) from the investment was estimated at

post-investment period.

12,720 persondays per annum.
3.78 The study in respect of investments financed under
3.77 The study on marine fisheries in Gujarat (Junagarh

RNFS in Kerala (Kollam and Alapuzha districts) covered

district) revealed that the investments realised a fairly

various activities. Though capacity utilisation of these units

adequate NII and satisfactory FRR ranging from 21 to 24

ranged between 25 and 55 per cent, the FRR values

per cent. It was also observed that the total fishing days

ranged between 28 to more than 50 per cent. Inspite of
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adequate income generation, repayment performance

incidence of under- financing, high rate of wilful default,

was not satisfactory. Similarly, the evaluation study of

etc., were brought to the notice of the participating banks

various RNFS activities in Madhya Pradesh (Ujjain district)

for review of policies. NABARD used the data obtained

indicated that these activities generated considerable net

from these studies as ex-ante information for project

income with FRR ranging between 20 and 50 per cent

appraisal of respective investment activities.

and repayment performance of 60 per cent. The nature
of default was mostly wilful, as despite adequate NII,

Physical Achievements

repayment was not being effected.

3.80 With the refinance of Rs.7,605.29 crore disbursed
under investment credit during the year, the cumulative

3.79 The findings of evaluation studies provided

refinance support extended by NABARD for investment

valuable feedback on policy and operational issues to the

purposes aggregated Rs.72,589 crore as on 31 March

Bank as well as implementing agencies. Operational

2004. Sector-wise details on the estimates of physical units

deficiencies such as non-adherence to technical norms,

created through refinance support from the Bank under

inadequate post-disbursement follow-up by banks,

various activities have been presented in Table 3.13.

Table 3.13: Units Financed and Completed
Sr.
No.
1.

2.
3.

4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.

13.
14.
*

Investments
Minor Irrigation *
i. Tubewells with pumpsets
ii. Dugwells with pumpsets
iii. Dugwells with conventional lifts
iv. Pumpsets on existing wells
Land Development
Farm Mechanisation
i. Tractors
ii. Power tillers
iii. Other farm equipments
Plantation & Horticulure
Forestry #
Storage
Market Yards
Dairy Development
Sheep/Goat rearing
Piggery
Poultry
Fishery
i. Mechanised boats
ii. Other boats
iii. Brackish water aquaculture
iv. Fresh water aquaculture
Non-Farm Sector
Miscellaneous $

Covers only major items of investments.

Units

Units Financed upto 31 March Units Completed upto 31 March
2003

2004

2003

2004

'000.
'000.
'000.
'000.
'000 ha.

1,448
2,041
1,526
2,223
3,048

1,487
2,045
1,664
2,271
3,079

1,445
2,039
1,521
2,220
3,042

1,484
2,043
1,658
2,268
3,073

'000
'000
'000
'000 ha.
lakh ETPs
'000 tonnes
No.
'000 animals
'000 animals
'000 animals
lakh birds

1,194
149
472
1,899
2,315
16,375
1,999
13,702
36,310
1,620
1,693

1,216
151
512
1,983
2,319
16,379
2,011
14,240
36,338
1,624
1,702

1,193
148
470
1,895
2,314
16,369
1,997
13,697
36,309
1,618
1,677

1,215
150
510
1,979
2,318
16,373
2,007
14,235
36,337
1,622
1,686

No.
No.
ha.
'000 ha.
'000
'000

21,565
72,543
5,055
351
4,735
11,551

21,601
72,586
5,156
354
5,212
12,200

21,563
72,541
5,055
350
4,730
11,547

21,583
72,584
5,156
353
5,194
12,164

$ Includes investments such as bullocks, bullock carts, etc.

# All the trees are assumed to be planted by the end of the period under reference.
ETP - Entire Tree Plantations.
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Externally Aided Projects
A.

through Maharashtra Institute of Technology Transfer for
Rural Areas (MITTRA), an associate society of BAIF, Pune.

On-going Projects

Launched in September 2000, the project has covered an

3.81 In all, nine externally aided projects were at various

area of 2,076 ha. under wadis belonging to 5,676 families

stages of implementation during the year. The progress

from 160 villages and has been instrumental in bringing

under these projects is highlighted below.

about an overall improvement in the quality of life of the
families in the project area (Box 3.7). Wadi model has been

3.82 KfW-NABARD V Adivasi Development Programme

found to be very effective in creating sustainable livelihoods

in Gujarat, has been under implementation since 1994-95

for tribal families. In order to support deserving tribal families

through BAIF, Pune and DHRUVA and envisages the

in other parts of the country, NABARD has created a Tribal

rehabilitation of 8,000 tribal families and 2,000 landless

Development Fund by making contribution of Rs.50 crore

women living in the Dungar region of Dharampur taluka

to be used as loan/grant to support wadi and other

of Valsad district and 706 families in 17 villages of the

sustainable micro-enterprises undertaken by such families.

adjoining Dang district through the development of 'Wadi'
(orchard) for sustainable horticulture production on the

3.85 Indo-German Watershed Development Programme

waste/marginal lands of tribal families. In Valsad, 13,663

(IGWDP), Maharashtra - Phase II, is an integrated

families including 767 during the year were already

programme for the regeneration of natural resources

covered and an area of 5,140 ha. spread over 162 villages

thr oug h the rehabi l i tati on of water sheds t o b e

has been brought under 'wadis' of cashew and mango

implemented by Village Watershed Committees (VWCs)

along with boundary plantation of fuel wood and fodder

in association with NGOs. In all, 118 watershed projects

species. With the harvest of 182 tonnes of cashew and

are being implemented in 24 districts with the involvement

350 tonnes of mango, 10 village level processing units

of 65 NGOs, of which 64 have been completed. As a

have been set up providing year round employment to

post-watershed development initiative, two Krishi Vigyan

180 landless women. Ten tribal co-operative societies were

Kendras (KVKs) were sanctioned grant assistance of Rs.8.8

also registered to facilitate the continuation of the

lakh for conducting training and demonstration programmes

programme once the external support is withdrawn.

in watershed villages. As an innovative credit delivery
system, VWCs who have successfully implemented

3.83 E n c o u r a g e d b y th e re sp o n se / re su lts of the

watershed projects along with NGOs under IGDWP -

on-going programme in Gujarat, KfW Germany provided

Maharashtra were sanctioned loan of Rs.5 lakh each.

additional grant assistance for its expansion. The activities
eligible for funding under the KfW-NABARD V Adivasi

3.86 Under the KfW-NABARD- Indo-German Watershed

Special Programme include establishment of 700 wadis,

Development Programme in Andhra Pradesh, KfW

soil conservation measures, water resources development

committed to provide grant assistance for the first phase

to improve access to irrigation for 4,800 ha. and providing

of rehabilitation of watersheds in four selected districts of

irrigation infrastructure for 1,000 wadis.

Andhra Pradesh, viz., Adilabad, Karimnagar, Medak and
Warangal. The project envisages the treatment of 30

3.84

KfW-NABARD IX Adivasi Development Programme

watersheds in order to stabilize and increase the

in Maharashtra aims at improving the socio-economic

agricultural and forestry production in a sustainable and

condition of 14,000 tribal families and 1,000 landless

equitable manner, resulting in improved living conditions

women through various economic and social welfare

of the rural population. A Programme Support Unit has

activities in three hilly blocks of Thane and Nasik districts

been set up at the Banks Andhra Pradesh RO for the
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Box 3.7
'Wadi'- An Effective Model for Tribal Development
The weakest sections of tribal society have found hope through

•

the 'wadi' project (sustainable horticultural production in

Significant improvement in credit wor thiness and
repayment performance.

marginal and wastelands owned by tribals) being implemented

Ecological Sustainability

with financial assistance from KfW, Germany. The project,
highly lauded by the donors, not only increased opportunities
for employment, thereby reducing the need to migrate for a
livelihood but also resulted in increased entrepreneurial skills
and empowerment of the tribals, specially women.

•

Increased vegetation, forest cover and water conservation.

•

Reduced soil erosion.

•

Improvement of micro-climate including flora and fauna.

•

Improvement in soil microbial activity and productivity.

Human Development
Impact
Economic Development
•
•

•

Reduction in drudgery faced by women.

•

Increase in women entrepreneurship through microenterprises.

Conversion of wastelands into productive orchards.
•

C rea tio n of n ew bu sin ess op p or tu n ities t h r ou gh

Social empowerment of women - increased decision
making, formation of SHGs, etc.

processing of wadi produce.
•

Establishment of micro-enterprises.

•

Reduction in incidences of infectious diseases.

•

Increased income due to cultivation of commercial crops.

•

Increased attendance in schools.

Creation of local employment and reduced distress

•

Social engineering through development of Peoples'

•

•

migration.

Organizations, Village Ayojana Samitis, co-operatives for

Reduced dependence on money lenders.

management.

smooth implementation of the project and an MoU was

financial sector in Gujarat and contribute to the income

signed with the Department of Forest, Government of

generation of rural poor women, thereby improving their

Andhra Pradesh. Six NGOs have been selected to carry

living conditions. During the year, a progress review of the

out capacity building activities under the programme.

credit programme was conducted by the consultants of KfW.

3.87

was

3.89 EU-BAIF Project - Transfer of Technologies for

commissioned to conduct various types of training

Sustainable Development assisted by the European Union

programmes for the watershed community, involving an

aims at improving the quality of life of small/marginal

expenditure of Rs.10.7 lakh for 2003-04. A joint KfW/GTZ

farmers and landless families by promoting income

mission visited the project areas in August 2003 and

generating activities, viz., orchard development, cattle

appreciated the positive impact of the programme (Box 3.8).

development, sericulture and suitable off-farm activities

The

Watershed

Organisation

Trust

thr oug h the adopti on of si mpl e but appr opr i at e
3.88

Under the project KfW-NABARD-SEWA Bank -

technologies. The project is under implementation through

Capitalisation of Rural Financial Intermediaries, KfW has

BAIF, Pune in 216 villages of 11 districts spread over five

committed to provide grant assistance to improve the access

states, viz., Gujarat, Karnataka, Maharashtra, Rajasthan

of rural poor women to micro credit on a sustainable basis

and Uttar Pradesh, covering 33,000 BPL families

by extending loans and contributing to the equity of the

(including SCs/STs), against which, 34,600 family units

District Associations of Saving and Credit Groups. The overall

were assisted. Several People's Organisations have

objective is to improve the structural development of the rural

initiated steps towards sustainability of the programme
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Box 3.8
Bright-eyed Appa
Appaji Banaji Mutha, 35 years of age, a 3rd standard drop-

he sold at Rs.10/- per kilo. Last year he netted Rs.80,000/- from

out, owning 5 acres of land, used to eke out a living as a

his 0.5 acre coriander crop. His three children go to school and

casual labourer before the watershed project started, as the

in the last two years he has ploughed back all his profits into his

well on his land could be used to irrigate only a quarter acre.

land. He levelled his land, spent Rs.50,000/- on a new borewell
and has plans for a bright future.

Thanks to the watershed development programme - to which
he actively contributed through shramadan - he now grows

Farmers like Appa hold the beacon that draws other

onion, brinjal, coriander, chrysanthemum, wheat and jowar on

farmers and encourages them to choose remunerative crops

his five-acre plot. A single picking of brinjal yielded 50 kgs which

and build a better life for themselves.

by setting-up central procurement/distribution units,
p r o c e s s i n g / m a rk e tin g

ce n tre s,

the GTZ for technical co-operation.

SHG-p romoti ng

intermediaries and cattle breeding centres.

3.91 Under the NABARD-SDC collaboration - HID
Partnership in Rural Finance, the Swiss Agency for

3.90

Under the project for NABARD-GTZ Technical

Development and Cooperation (SDC) provided grant

Collaboration- Linking of SHGs to Banks, GTZ, provided

assistance to NABARD for supporting its own HID

technical support for up-scaling the SHG - bank linkage

efforts in improving the effectiveness of Rural Financial

programme. The main objective of this collaborative project

Institutions (RFIs). The objective of the project is to

was 'capacity building' at different levels, viz., SHGs, SHPIs,

raise the effectiveness of the formal and informal Rural

PLIs and NABARD for improving the access of rural poor

Financial Systems and improve the financial viability

to credit and other financial services and in the process,

and organizational efficiency of its inter mediaries

widening the outreach of the formal banking system and

through innovations, specifically in terms of providing

ensuring quality lending in rural areas. It aimed at promoting

rural poor (especially women) access to financial

greater participation of the people, SHGs and establishment

ser vices.

of grassroot level institutions. In the second phase of the

estimated at Rs.62.7 crore to be shared by NABARD

project, an amount of Euro 1.78 million was committed by

and SDC in the proportion of 57.6 and 42.4 per cent,

The total cost of the project has been

respectively. A provision of Rs.2.8 crore has been made
for innovations under the project.

B.

Projects in Pipeline

3.92 The following projects were at various stages of
negotiation and finalisation:
•

KfW, Germany has committed to provide grant
assistance of Euro 9.20 million (Rs.51.52 crore) to
selected project-executing NGOs, exclusively towards
investment financing and consultation costs for the
rehabilitation of watersheds in Gujarat. During the

Members of Durga Mahila Mandal SHG, Visakhapatnam at a monthly meeting.

year, a study for hydro-geological assessment was
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conducted by consultants from KfW. The Agreement

•

Programme in Maharashtra (Phase III) involving

for the programme is under finalisation.
•

The Agreement for the KfW-Watershed Development
Euro 19.94 million (Rs.11.17 crore) is under

KfW, Germany has, in principle, agreed to provide

finalisation.

grant assistance of Euro 7.16 million (Rs.40.10 crore)
•

for extension of phase II of the Adivasi Development

KfW, Germany has, in principle, agreed to extend grant
assistance of Euro 40 million (Rs.224 crore) under

Programme in Gujarat and Euro 15.83 million

financial component and Euro 1.20 million (Rs.6.72

(Rs.8.86 crore) for the Watershed Development

crore) under technical component for the project ' KfW -

Programme in Rajasthan. It also conducted a study

NABARD- X for Development of RNFS'.

for hydro-geological assessment during the year.

Loans under Rural Infrastructure Development Fund
3.93 Rural Infrastructure Development Fund (RIDF) set

harvesting structures. Priority has been given to projects

up in 1995-96 with a corpus of Rs.2,000 crore, received

under the following sectors:

an allocation of Rs.5,500 crore during 2003-04 towards

a.

RIDF IX. Out of this, 60 per cent of the corpus was
earmarked for flood protection, irrigation, agriculture

i.

and allied activities and power sector projects. Projects

Irrigation Sector
Incomplete projects, projects envisaging building of
delivery system where head works have been created,

relating to rural connectivity, social sector, etc., received

improvement and modernization of canals, etc.

lesser priority under RIDF IX. Hon'ble Union Finance
Minister has announced the setting-up of LNJPNF/AICF

ii. Minor irrigation projects involving construction of small

(Box 3.1) of Rs.50,000 crore with NABARD while

dams, weirs, barrages including distribution network,

presenting the interim budget 2004-05. Government of

installation of tubewells in safe zones, projects for drip

India has since approved the allocation of Rs.30,000

and sprinkler irrigation systems in low rainfall areas and

crore towards the infrastructure component of the

rainwater harvesting for ground water recharge.

LNJPNF for sanction of loans to state governments over

iii. Medium and major irrigation on-going projects

a period of 3 years, i.e., upto 31 March 2007 commencing

involving construction of distribution network, last

from the year 2004-05.

A.

mile support in the case of projects sanctioned under
Accelerated Irrigation Benefit Programme (AIBP) and

Prioritization of Projects

new medium irrigation projects.

3.94 The scope of RIDF has been progressively

iv.

widened to allow lending to Gram Panchayats, SHGs

Projects for flood control involving re-sectioning and
deepening of canals, strengthening of embankments, etc.

and other eligible organisations for implementing village
level infrastructure projects. Furthermore, the purposes
eligible for RIDF loans were also enlarged by including

b.

innovative projects such as information technology

i.

Watershed/Joint Forest Management programmes.

ii.

Reclamation of waterlogged areas, drainage projects, etc.

enabled services and new activities (system
improvement), mini-hydel generation under the power
sector, construction of primar y/secondar y school

Agriculture and Allied Activities

iii. Establishment of network of nurseries, seed farms,

b u i l d i n g s , p r i m a r y h e a l t h c e n t re s a n d r a i n w a t e r

etc., on selective basis.
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fixed at 2 per cent above the bank rate (8.5% at the

iv. Po s t - h a r v e s t te chno lo gy, viz ., m a rk et y ar ds/

prevailing bank rate) under tranches VIII and IX.

complexes, food processing parks, cold chains,
development of roads and bridges in AEZs, etc.
v.

3.97 Considering the declining trend in interest rates,

Development of facilities for testing and certifying

the lending rates in respect of undisbursed amounts of

organically produced food.

RIDF tranches IV to IX were restructured with effect from

vi. Supplementing state government's efforts in setting-

1 November 2003 with the approval of the RBI.

up modern soil testing facilities and veterinary health

Accordingly, the lending rates for loans disbursed under

centres.

tranches IV to VII were fixed at 7 per cent and at 6.5 per
cent for RIDF VIII and IX, respectively.

vii. Projects based on electronic media and IT for capacity
building of rural people.
viii. Development of infrastructure for fisheries.

c.

C.

Operations

a.

Sanctions and Disbursements

3.98 During the year, 20,178 projects involving a loan

Power Sector

amount of Rs.5,437.51 crore were sanctioned under RIDF

3.95 System improvement in power sector particularly

IX taking the cumulative number of projects to 1,73,014

rural electrification, generation and distribution of power

and amount sanctioned to Rs.34,678.07 crore. Of the total

in remote villages using renewable sources of energy like

amount sanctioned, rural roads and bridges accounted

water (mini-hydels), bio-mass, solar and wind power, etc.

for 46.8 per cent, irrigation projects 35.4 per cent and
others 17.8 per cent (Table 3.14). The ambit of RIDF

B.

Terms and Conditions

Table 3.14: Purpose-wise Projects Sanctioned
(As on 31 March 2004)

3.96 The terms and conditions applicable for sanction

Rs. crore

of loans for rural infrastructure projects remained the same

Purpose

as in the previous year for RIDF VIII. The interest rates

RIDF IX

Irrigation
No.
12,538
Amount
2,314.88
Rural Bridges
No.
523
Amount
468.87
Rural Roads
No.
2,124
Amount
1,180.90
Others*
No.
4,993
Amount
1,472.86
Total
No.
20,178
Amount
5,437.51

on RIDF loans to state governments were gradually
reduced from 13 per cent under RIDF I to 11.5 per cent
under RIDF IV, 10.5 per cent under RIDF VII and was

Share (%)

RIDF I to IX (Total) Share (%)

62.1
42.6

91,359
12,288.79

52.8
35.4

2.6
8.6

8,877
4,192.81

5.1
12.1

10.5
21.7

39,121
12,034.92

22.6
34.7

24.7
27.1

33,657
6,161.55

19.5
17.8

100.0
100.0

1,73,014
34,678.07

100.0
100.0

* Others include: Watershed Development, Flood Protection, CADA, Drainage,
Inland Waterways, Rural Drinking Water, Soil Conservation, Forest
Development, Rubber Plantations, Fisheries, Animal Husbandry, Seed/
Agriculture/Horticulture Farms, Market Yard/Godown, Cold Storage, Primary/
Secondary Schools, Primary Health Centres, Citizen Information Centres, Food
Parks, System Improvement, Mini Hydel Projects, etc.

Slow sand filters of comprehensive protected water scheme
Kurnool district  RIDF VII
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Chart 3.3

Sanctions and Disbursements under various types of Projects
(As on 31 March 2004)

Irrigation

Rural Roads
& Bridges

Watershed
Development

Rural Water
Supply

Power
Projects

Flood
Protection

Sanctions

(Rs. crore)

Primary
School Buildings

Drainage

Others

Disbursements

assistance has diversified considerably and loans are given

March 2003. However, in specific cases drawals were

for various types of investments in rural infrastructure such

allowed upto 31 March 2004 to enable state governments

as irrigation projects, watershed management, soil

to complete projects nearing completion. For projects

conservation, forest management, construction of rural

sanctioned under RIDF IV to VII, the implementation

roads and bridges, etc.(Chart 3.3). The tranche-wise status

period has been extended upto 31 March 2005.

of sanctions and disbursements under RIDF is furnished
in Table 3.15. Under RIDF IX, projects relating to

3.100 The disbursements under RIDF I to IX till 31 March

ir rigation, agriculture and allied activities, system

2004, aggregated Rs.21,067.17 crore (Table 3.15). Taking

improvement and power sector projects (mini-hydel) were

all the RIDF tranches together, nine states accounted for

given more focus.

72 per cent of total disbursements (Chart 3.4) and 69 per
cent of total sanctions. The state-wise analysis of the ratio

3.99

Th e p e r i o d o f im p le m e nta tio n o f pr ojects

of disbursements to sanctions reveals that Mizoram topped

sanctioned under RIDF I, II and III was over as at end

the list with 94 per cent followed by Sikkim (85%),

Table 3.15: Cumulative Sanctions and Disbursements under different Tranches
(As on 31 March 2004)

RIDF
Tranche
I
II
III
IV
V
VI
VII
VIII
IX
Total

Corpus
2,000
2,500
2,500
3,000
3,500
4,500
5,000
5,500
5,500
34,000

No. of
Projects
4,167
8,166
14,350
6,203
13,190*
43,457
40,855
22,448
20,178
1,73,014

(Rs. crore)
% of Disbursement

Amount
Sanctioned

Phased

Disbursed

Sanctioned

Phased

1,910.54
2,658.88
2,718.45
2,912.83
3,513.92
4,549.50
4,893.10
6,083.34
5,437.51

1,910.54
2,658.88
2,718.45
2,912.83
3,513.92
4,549.50
4,893.10
4,653.93
1,682.75

1,760.87
2,397.75
2,444.30
2,266.39
2,711.79
3,273.87
2,768.81
2,449.88
993.51

92.2
90.2
89.9
77.8
77.2
72.0
56.6
40.3
18.3

92.2
90.2
89.9
77.8
77.2
72.0
56.6
52.6
59.0

34,678.07

29,493.90

21,067.17

60.8

71.4

* One lakh STWs sanctioned to Government of Assam treated as a single project.
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Chart 3.4

by Zilla Parishads. A sum of Rs.1.16 crore was sanctioned

Disbursements under RIDF

to the Government of West Bengal for construction of 29

(As on 31 March 2004)

new rural libraries and extension/renovation to existing
rural library buildings covering 91 Gram Panchayats.

Andhra Pradesh
13%(13)
Madhya Pradesh
7%(7)
Maharashtra
8%(8)
Rajasthan
6%(5)

Other States
28%(31)

Karnataka
6%(6)

c.

Deposits

3.102 With the receipt of Rs.2,158.69 crore as deposits
from commercial banks during the year, the cumulative

Gujarat
7%(7)

West Bengal
7%(7)

deposits received under RIDF upto 31 March 2004 stood

Tamil Nadu
8%(7)
Uttar Pradesh
10%(9)

at Rs.18,304.06 crore (Table 3.16). Deposits amounting
to Rs.2,229.34 crore were redeemed during the year.

Figures in parentheses indicate percentage share in sanctions.

d.
Rajasthan (73%), Uttar Pradesh (70%), Tamil Nadu (69%)

Repayments

3.103 An amount of Rs.2,980.41 crore was received from

and Karnataka (68%). The utilization of loans under RIDF

state governments by way of repayment of RIDF loans

was low as compared to amounts sanctioned due to

during 2003-04.

several factors, viz., land acquisition problems, delays in
tendering and drawal of funds, inadequate budgetary

D.

suppor t at state level, lack of coordination among

Employment Generation

3.104 The assistance provided under RIDF for rural

implementing departments, etc.

infrastructure projects facilitated the expansion of the

b.
3.101

Sanctions of Projects to Panchayati
Raj Institutions

production base in rural areas and the creation of
additional employment opportunities (Box 3.9).

N A B A R D sa n ctio ne d lo a ns a gg reg ati ng

E.

Rs.43.20 crore during 2003-04 to state governments
under RIDF IX for projects to be implemented/being

Assistance to North- Eastern
Region and Sikkim

implemented by PRIs/SHGs, etc. These included minor

3.105

An amount of Rs.500 crore was earmarked for

irrigation projects in Kerala by Block Panchayats and rural

2000-01 and Rs.600 crore earmarked each year for the

road and joint forest management projects in West Bengal

subsequent three years for the states in the NER and

Table 3.16: Year/Tranch-wise Disbursements and Deposits Received under RIDF
(As on 31 March)
(Rs. crore)
A. Year-wise
Particulars

1995-96

1996-97

1997-98

1998-99

1999-00

2000-01

2001-02

2002-03

2003-04

Disbursements
Deposits

387.34
350.00

1,087.08
1,042.30

1,009.03
1,007.04

1,313.12
1,337.95

2,277.87
2,306.63

3,176.85
2,653.64

3,790.37
3,590.72

4,103.42
3,857.09

3,922.09
2,158.69

Disbursements
Deposits

RIDF I
1,760.87
1,586.56

RIDF II
2,397.75
2,225.00

RIDF III
2,444.30
2,308.02

B. Tranch-wise
RIDF IV
RIDF V
2,266.39
2,711.79
1,412.53
2,641.66

RIDF VI
3,273.86
3,097.36

RIDF VII
2,768.81
2,482.61

RIDF VIII
2,449.88
2,093.38

RIDF IX
993.51
456.94
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b.

Box 3.9
Accretion to Rural Infrastructure and Employment

3.108 During 2003-04 monitoring studies on minor

(lakh)

irrigation in Himachal Pradesh, watershed development

Rural Infrastructure
Additional irrigation potential
Rural road network
Rural bridges

in Kerala, anganwadi centres in West Bengal, rubber

85.52 ha

plantation scheme in Nagaland and market yard in Tripura

1.52 km

were taken up in-house.

2.96 m

i.

Generation of Employment
Due to increased irrigation
-

Recurring (jobs)

-

Non-recurring (persondays)
Non-recurring (persondays)

A study in Himachal Pradesh revealed that though
the schemes executed by Water Users' Associations

44.59

(WUAs) were completed in the shortest period, quality

12,095

was not compromised. The potential created was

From non-irrigation projects
-

Monitoring Studies - Feedback

optimally used. It was, however, observed that there

14,354

is a need to provide organizational and managerial
skills to WUAs for realizing optimal benefits.

Sikkim. As against this, amounts sanctioned and disbursed

ii. A study on watershed projects in Kerala traced their

aggregated Rs.1,380.69 crore and Rs.733.15 crore,

successful implementation in creating solid, durable

respectively, as on 31 March 2004.

structures to arrest soil erosion and impound water

F.

in the highland tracks with the active involvement of

Monitoring of Projects

the beneficiaries' committee.

3.106 With the portfolio of projects assisted under RIDF

iii. A study on anganwadi centres in West Bengal revealed

being widened at a rapid pace, the systematic and

that they had a far-reaching impact on the nutritional

focused sector-wise monitoring of rural infrastructure

levels of children from poor families. A few individuals

projects to engender productivity and competitiveness

donated land for the construction of such centres,

has assumed paramount importance. NABARD

highlighting the involvement of the local populace in

therefore, continues to lay considerable emphasis on

social ventures.

systematic and sustained monitoring of projects

iv. According to a study on rubber plantations in

supported through the Fund.

Nagaland, the jhum-degraded wastelands were put

a.

to judicious use by cultivating rubber and creating

In-house Monitoring

gainful employment in the process.

3.107 In order to ensure the smooth implementation of

v.

projects, monitoring was car ried out through desk

The study on market yards in Tripura revealed that
the projects generated sizeable recur ring and

reviews of periodic returns and field visits undertaken

non-recurring employment and that the market sheds

by officers from ROs, DDMs and consultants appointed

provided protection to farmers and their produce

for the purpose. During the year 8,285 projects were

enabling them to fetch better prices.

monitored through field visits. Based on the observations
of 24 reports on sectoral monitoring received from seven

3.109 With a view to supplement its own efforts,

ROs during the year, line departments of the state

NABARD engaged the services of the Agricultural Finance

governments were advised to initiate necessary action

Corporation (AFC) for monitoring and evaluating 205

on the issues of concern.
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projects sanctioned in six states covering irrigation,

cent increase in school attendance even during the summer

watershed development, flood protection, rural roads and

and monsoon seasons and improvement in connectivity,

primary schools. Watershed projects were reported to have

thereby facilitating the easy movement of commuters as also

had a positive impact on the availability of drinking and

business activities in the villages.

irrigation water, soil erosion and carrying capacity of
community lands leading to increased availability of fodder

3.110 NABARD has been conducting evaluation studies

for dairy animals and arresting migration of rural labour

of selected RIDF projects on a continuous basis to assess

as also a change in the cropping pattern resulting in

the economic and other impacts of investments supported

increased income to small and marginal farmers. Primary

under the Fund. Evaluation studies on rural roads in four

school buildings constructed under RIDF were found to be

states, i.e., Gujarat, Punjab, Rajasthan and Tamil Nadu were

well maintained, though in some cases project work was

conducted during the year. The studies revealed an overall

held up due to fund constraints but without significant cost

improvement in the quality of life as a result of improved

escalations. Similarly, the social audit of Gokul Gram Yojana

credit absorption capacity, access to health care, education

in Gujarat covering six rural roads and eight primary schools

facilities, financial institutions and other public utilities in

assigned to ORG- MARG, Baroda, revealed a 20 to 25 per

the villages covered under the projects (Box 3.10).

Box 3.10
Evaluation Studies of RIDF Projects - Feedback
The studies observed time lags ranging between 2.3 and 18

assets, improvement in job availability and access to

months in the completion of projects (with an average of

education and health facilities, improved quality of life,

8.1 months). The average delay was minimum in Punjab

increased credit absorption, etc. Significant improvement in

(5.4 months and maximum in Tamil Nadu (11.7 months).

enrollment in primary schools was observed in Andhra

These delays were effected by several factors like delayed

Pradesh (19%) and Tamil Nadu (8%). Health facilities

acquisition of land, disputes in respect of payment of

improved in the benefited villages and improved rural

compensation, objection from revenue authorities on

connectivity led to regular visits by primary health workers.

account of unauthorized quarrying, collection of sand/soil,

Improvements in transport and communication systems

restriction on cutting of trees from the Forest Department,

resulted in reduction in travel time and travel cost. Improved

objection/delay from State Electricity Boards for removing/

road networks also brought about reduction in road accidents

relocating electric poles, shifting of transformers, non

and increase in the frequency of travel, police patrolling and

availability of timely labour, etc.

improvement in the services offered by bank officials,
revenue officials, teachers, extension officers, etc.

The net benefit per km. accrued from investments in rural
roads was in the range of Rs.2.08 lakh (Gujarat) and Rs.2.87

There was an increase in the demand for credit on account

lakh (Tamil Nadu) per annum. Economic Rate of Return

of enhanced farm activities. Farmers in the interiors had

(ERR) of the investments ranged between 21.4 per cent

greater exposure to improved and modern agro-economic

(Punjab) and 36.8 per cent (Gujarat). Overall ERR worked

practices. Improved accessibility to input markets, reduction

out to 26.1 per cent.

in cost of transportation, increased frequency of visits by
extension staff of agriculture and horticulture departments

The studies also reported various tangible and intangible

to the benefitted villages, etc., also contributed towards the

benefits as a result of development of rural roads. There were

transformation of the agricultural economy resulting in

changes in asset holding pattern-both farm and household

substantial improvement in farm productivity.
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Tranche Completion Reports - RIDF II

management by addressing critical organisational issues
by the respective state government departments.

3.111 A consolidated tranche completion report (TCR)
w a s p re p a re d with the o b je ctive o f ex ami ni ng

Special Package for NER

implementation aspects and assessing the likely benefits
from projects sanctioned under tranche II of RIDF.

3.115 NABARD continued its policy of facilitating larger

Launched during 1996-97, the loans sanctioned under

flow of credit to the NER and Sikkim by granting

RIDF II aggregated Rs.2,658.88 crore with a disbursement

relaxations to co-operative banks and RRBs operating in

of Rs.2,397.75 crore for 8,166 projects. PCRs received in

these areas. The salient features of this policy are:

respect of 7,441 projects (91% of completed projects) were

A.

consolidated to prepare state-wise TCRs. The report
revealed that the projects completed under the tranche

i.

addressed larger issues of moisture stress and connectivity

Production Credit
Compliance with the prescribed eligibility norms
relating to overdues/NPAs for sanction of ST credit

in rural areas, thus resulting in significant increase in farm

limits for SAO to co-operative banks and RRBs was

income due to ir rigation, adoption of improved

not insisted upon.

technology and multiple cropping, thereby increasing

ii. Concessional rate of interest (at the minimum level

employment opportunities during lean periods.

of 5.25 % p.a.) to SCBs on ST (SAO) credit limits as
against interest rates ranging between 5.25 and 5.75

3.112 Improved rural connectivity helped in realization

per cent p.a. in other states (excluding Sikkim).

of better prices for produce from rural areas. Easy access
to farm roads connected to marketing centres further

iii. Fixation of lower Minimum Involvement (MI) norms

reduced fuel consumption and transport costs.

for SCBs depending on the position of Internal
Lendable Resources (ILR).

3.113 The projects executed under the tranche were
labour

absorbing.

N o n- re c u r r i n g

iv. Concessional rate of interest (5.75% p.a.) for ST

employment

weavers' finance to co-operative banks as against

(2,330 lakh persondays) was generated during the

interest rate of 6 per cent p.a. charged to the banks

construction phase for operation and maintenance, as also

in other states (excluding Himachal Pradesh Jammu

secondar y employment from increased economic

& Kashmir and Sikkim).

activities in the project areas and recurring employment
(479 lakh persondays) following the introduction of
irrigation. The assured employment created during the
implementation period arrested migration to urban areas
for a livelihood.
3.114 The monitoring studies and TCRs, however,
revealed delays in the completion of projects, resulting in
time overrun of considerable magnitude in a few cases.
The delays were mainly on account of lack of budgetary
support, revision of designs or specifications, disputes,
delays in decision-making, frequent personnel changes,
etc., and would be controlled requiring changes in project

Vallikkavu bridge supported under RIDF  Kollam district
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Boards (VDB)/Village Development Councils (VDC)
was introduced in Nagaland. In all 25 VDBs were
identified in Nagaland for implementation of the
scheme and an MoU among NABARD, Government of
Nagaland and the State Bank of India (SBI) was signed.
A corpus of Rs.25 lakh (Rs.1 lakh per VDB) to be shared
in the proportion of 40, 20, 20 and 20 per cent by the
VDB, State Government, NABARD and the Central
Government, respectively, was created. The corpus
would be maintained with SBI against which loan in
multiples of the corpus sanctioned by SBI would be
available to the VDB for loaning operations. NABARD
besides sanctioning Rs.5 lakh towards its share of the
Bamboo basket  versatile and eco-friendly.

B.
i.

corpus would also provide operational guidelines and
training to stakeholders. The scheme would be

Investment Credit

replicated in the other north-eastern states of the region,

For drawal of unrestricted refinance, the percentage

if found successful.

of gross NPAs to total loans outstanding of cooperative banks and RRBs by March 2002 was fixed

E.

at 25 for NER as against 15 for the rest of the country.
Banks with NPAs exceeding 25 per cent were allowed
to draw refinance to the extent of amount recovered

3.118 In order to facilitate capacity building of staff of

in the previous year ending 30 June or lendings during

RFIs in the NER, the following relaxations were granted

the previous year ending 31 March or the average

under the scheme of financial assistance for training of

amount recovered/lent in the preceding three years,

co-operative bank personnel.

whichever was higher.

i.

ii. For thrust areas, 100 per cent refinance was provided

against 60 per cent in other parts of the country.

iii. Although the p.a. rate of interest on refinance ranged

ii.

between 5.50 and 6.75 per cent for the rest of the

Expenditure incurred for training of personnel of PACS,

country, it was fixed at the lowest slab of 5.50 per

PUCBs and community heads are also included for

cent for all agencies in the NER.

reimbursement in addition to personnel of SCBs and
SCARDBs as specified for other parts of the country.

Rural Infrastructure Development
Fund

iii. Fifty

per

cent

reimbursement

of

traveling

expenses for personnel of co-operative banks for

3.116 An amount of Rs.600 crore was allocated to the

attending NABARD sponsored programmes at

states in the NER for encouraging investments in

NCMDARDB, Bangalore.

infrastructure projects during 2003-04.

D.

Reimbursement of recurring expenses of training
institutions of SCBs and SCARDBs at 90 per cent as

to all financial institutions in the north east.

C.

Capacity Building of Staff of Financial
Institutions

iv. Reimbursement of 15 per cent of the annual budgeted

Pilot Scheme

recurring expenditure of the Indian Institute of Bank

3.117 A pilot scheme for accelerating the flow of credit

Management, Guwahati for training the personnel of

to the NER by routing it through Village Development

all banks functioning in the NER.
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NABARD Consultancy Services
3.119 The Board of Directors of NABARD in June 2003,

Table 3.17: Client Profile of Nabcons

approved the creation of a wholly owned subsidiary of

(Rs.lakh)

NABARD for continuing the business of providing

Client Institutions

consultancy in the areas of agriculture and rural
development. Accordingly, NABARD Consultancy

Govt of India
State Governments
International Bodies
Banks
Corporates
Individuals

Services (P) Ltd. (Nabcons) was registered with the
Registrar of Companies on 17 November 2003, with an
authorized share capital of Rs.25 crore, of which Rs.5
crore has been fully subscribed by NABARD. Nabcons

Total

is designed to be a small outfit which leverages on the
expertise and experience of the Bank in the areas of

74.00

67

1,026.78

assignments reveals that it complemented the optimal

development, creation of infrastructure, training, etc. The

utilization of the human resources available with the

Company is professionally run with a flexible, informal

organization and also helped in sharpening the skills of

and quick response work culture which offers specialized

the officers by exposing them to the latest developments

and quality services to its clientele.

in the field.

Management

C.

3.120 The affairs of the Company are guided by a

Clientele and Impact

3.123 Acknowledging the quality of the services rendered

nominated Board comprising three directors, viz.,

by the Company and NABARD's brand equity, several

S/Shri R. Balakrishnan, Executive Director, A. K. Garg

established firms in the global consultancy and banking

and S. M. Sheokand, Chief General Managers, NABARD,

business like RABO Bank and Ernst and Young, India,

Head Office. Shri S. M. Sheokand has been appointed

have shown interest in collaboration with Nabcons. A wide

by the Board as the Chief Executive Officer of the

range of clients, viz., various departments of the GoI, State

Company and is assisted by a team of eight officers

Governments, Financial Institutions, Corporates, NGOs,

including a full time Company Secretary drawn from

international bodies like UNIDO, FAO and individuals

NABARD.

B.

19

3.122 The experience of Nabcons in executing various

a g r i c u l t u re a n d r u r a l d e v e l o p m e n t , i n s t i t u t i o n a l

A.

No.
2
1
4
4
4
4

Assignments
2002-03
2003-04
Amount
No.
Amount
25.60
4
879.75
1.50
19
55.88
21.38
12
37.44
7.93
5
10.65
13.50
17
27.51
4.09
10
15.55

have sought the services of Nabcons. Among banks, those
requiring technical expertise in appraisal of agricultural

Progress

and rural development projects have approached

3.121 Nabcons has created a niche for itself in the

Nabcons for professional guidance. The GoI and various

market which is evident from the fact that it has

state governments have sought Nabcons' expertise mainly

contracted as many as 67 assignments (19 during

in the preparation of new/innovative projects and in the

2002-03) involving consultancy fees of Rs.1,026.78

evaluation of on-going schemes. The studies conducted

lakh, of which 32 assignments involving consultancy

by Nabcons are expected to facilitate the formulation of

fees of Rs.63.53 lakh were completed during 2003-04

new policies and the refinement of existing ones as also

(Table 3.17).

in identifying new areas for investment.
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Management of Resources
3.124 The total financial resources of NABARD excluding

deposits from the GoI and state governments outstanding

the borrowings from RBI under General Line of Credit

under the Special Loan Account for financing ineligible

(GLC), increased by Rs.7,416 crore during 2003-04 as

far mers under the Command Area Development

against an increase of Rs.6,495 crore during 2002-03. The

Programme were Rs.2.13 crore and Rs.1.56 crore,

increase in resources was mainly contributed by operating

respectively, as on 31 March 2004. An amount of Rs.0.4

surplus for the year at Rs.1,121.83 crore, Priority Sector

crore and Rs.1 crore was withdrawn by the Governments

Bonds of Rs.1,498 crore, Non-Priority Sector Bonds of

of Karnataka and Maharashtra, respectively, during the

Rs.1,750 crore, Tax Free Bonds of Rs.135.15 crore and

year from the Special Loan Account.

borrowings from banks of Rs.2,500 crore. Borrowings of
Rs.26.10 crore from the GoI were repaid as per the schedule

3.127 NABARD received deposits from commercial

during 2003-04 and withdrawals of Rs.25.51 crore were

banks aggregating to Rs.2,158.69 crore under RIDF V to

made by tea companies under Tea Deposit Schemes.
Borrowings from RBI under GLC for short-term operations

Chart 3.5

(production and marketing) decreased by Rs.1,598 crore

Sources of Funds

during 2003-04. The funds deployed for supporting

(Rs.crore)

investment operations (including development of rural

31 March 2003

infrastructure) and loans to state governments for share

31 March 2004

capital contribution to co-operatives together recorded
an increase of Rs.3,625 crore during 2003-04, as
against an increase of Rs.5,141 crore in the previous
year. Production and marketing credit recorded a net
decrease of Rs.455 crore during 2003-04, as against a
decrease of Rs.719 crore in the previous year. The

Capital, Reserves & Surplus

details on sources and uses of funds are presented in
NRC (LTO) and (Stab.) Funds

Charts 3.5 and 3.6, respectively.

Deposits, Bonds & Debentures

Sources of Funds
A.

Borrowings from RBI-GLC

Capital

3.125 The authorised share capital of NABARD

Borrowings from GoI

continued to be Rs.5,000 crore as on 31 March 2004.
Corporate Deposits

The paid up share capital of the Bank as on 31 March
2004 also remained the same as in the last year and stood

RIDF Deposits

at Rs.2,000 crore (Rs.550 crore subscribed by the GoI
and Rs.1,450 crore by the RBI).

Foreign Currency Loan

B.

Other Liabilities / Funds

Deposits

3.126 The deposits from tea companies outstanding as

Figures in parentheses indicate percentages to total

on 31 March 2004 aggregated Rs.58.74 crore. The
82

ii.

Table 3.18: Market Borrowings of NABARD
(As on 31 March)

Priority/Non-Priority Sector Bonds

3.130 During the year Priority Sector Bonds (PSBs)

Year

Total
Working Funds

Outstanding
Market Borrowings *

1999

28,986

3,254 (11.23)

2000

33,367

3,901 (11.69)

Bonds (NPSBs) of Rs.1,750 crore were issued during the

2001

38,816

5,115 (13.17)

year. The outstandings under PSBs and NPSBs stood at

2002

45,098

7,270 (16.12)

2003

50,071

9,683 (19.33)

Rs.3,696.80 crore and Rs.1,803.50 crore, respectively,

2004

55,889

15,306 (27.38)

amounting to Rs.1,978 crore were issued while PSBs
worth Rs.480 crore were redeemed. Non-Priority Sector

as on 31 March 2004.

* Includes deposits (excluding RIDF deposits), borrowings (excluding
borrowings from the RBI under GLC), bonds and foreign currency
borrowings.

iii.

Figures in parentheses indicate percentages of outstanding market
borrowing to total working funds.

3.131 An amount of Rs.285.15 crore was mobilised

Tax Free Bonds

thr oug h Tax Free Bonds dur i ng 2003-0 4 . The
outstandings under Tax Free Bonds stood at Rs.1,150

IX and repayments amounting to Rs.2,229.33 crore were

crore as on 31 March 2004, as against Rs.1,014.85 crore

made to commercial banks under RIDF I to VII upto 31

as on 31 March 2003.

March 2004. The outstandings under RIDF deposits as
on 31 March 2004 were Rs.12,088.58 crore, as against

iv.

Rs.12,159.23 crore as on 31 March 2003.

C.

Statutory Liquidity Ratio (SLR) Bonds

3.132 While no SLR Bonds were issued during 2003-04,
bonds worth Rs.78 crore were redeemed during the year.

Borrowings

T h e o u t s t a n d i n g s u n d e r S L R B o n d s a g g re g a t e d
Rs.882.30 crore as on 31 March 2004.

3.128 The borrowings of NABARD as a percentage to
total working funds registered a significant increase from
11.23 as on 31 March 1999 to 27.38 as on 31 March

b.

2004 (Table 3.18).

3.133 Dur i ng the y ear an ag g reg ate amount of

a.

Bonds

i.

Capital Gains Bonds

Funds from GoI

Rs.100 crore was received from the GoI under the scheme
for revitalization of co-operative credit structure. An
amount of Rs.26.09 crore was repaid on maturity to the
GoI against the loans drawn earlier under various

3.129 During the year Capital Gains Bonds (CGBs)

externally aided projects.

mobilised under section 54 EC of the Income Tax Act,
1961 aggregated Rs.1,348.68 crore as compared to

c.

Rs.1,226.85 crore in the previous year. The cumulative

Corporate Borrowings

3.134 During the year borrowings to the extent of

amount mobilised under CGBs as on 31 March 2004,

Rs.2,500 crore were made from State Bank of India and

since its inception on 28 September 2000, stood at

Punjab National Bank.

Rs.5,823.45 crore at an average cost of 7.53 per cent
covering 80,824 investors. During the year CGBs to the

d.

extent of Rs.1,472.69 crore were redeemed and the

Borrowings in Foreign Currency

outstanding CGBs stood at Rs.4,350.72 crore at an

3.135 The borrowings in foreign currency from KfW,

average cost of 6.87 per cent.

Germany aggregating Rs.297.01 crore (EURO 58.80 million)
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as on 31 March 2004 were as per contract rate under

and RRBs (Rs.588.03 crore) together with other ST loans to

hedging agreement entered into with counter parties.

SCBs (Rs.278.73 crore) and RRBs (Rs.25.02 crore) decreased

The foreign exchange risk on this loan has been

by 8 per cent to Rs.5,597.96 crore as on 31 March 2004

hedged at a hedge cost of 1.02 per cent for 10 years.

from Rs.6,053.21 crore as on 31 March 2003.

e.

3.139 The outstanding amount under medium-term

Borrowing under the General Line of
Credit from RBI

(MT) investment non-project loans as on 31 March 2004
stood at Rs.5.22 crore, as against Rs.9.41 crore as on 31

3.136 NABARD has been providing short-term refinance

March 2003. The repayments received aggregated Rs.4.19

to SCBs/RRBs for various purposes as per provisions of

crore. The outstandings under MT-conversion loans as on

Section 21 of the NABARD Act, 1981, out of the GLC

31 March 2004 stood at Rs.633.43 crore, compared to

sanctioned to it every year by the RBI. The activities

Rs.370.18 crore as on 31 March 2003. The repayments

covered under such refinance included ST (SAOs), other

received during the year were Rs.312.57 crore.

non-agricultural purposes and financing to weavers'
co-operatives. For the year 2003-04 (July-June), the RBI
had sanctioned aggregate GLC limit of Rs.6,500 crore, which

Chart 3.6

is the same as in the previous year. As on 31 March 2004

Uses of Funds
(Rs.crore)

the outstandings against the limits sanctioned by the RBI
stood at Rs.4,193.60 crore.

31 March 2003

31 March 2004

Uses of Funds
A.

Loans and Advances

a.

Schematic Lending

3.137 The outstandings under schematic lending including
subscriptions to Special Development Debentures and

Cash and Bank Balance

interim finance to SCARDBs increased from Rs.25,416 crore
Govt. Securities and other Investments

as on 31 March 2003 to Rs.28,079 crore as on 31 March
2004. The repayments received from the banks during

Production and Marketing Credit

2003-04 amounted to Rs.4,950.29 crore.

b.

Conversion of Production Credit into MT Loans

ST, MT and MT (Conversion) Loan
Assistance

Other Investment Credit

3.138 In addition to the exisiting line of credit to

Loans out of RIDF

co-operative banks out of borrowings from the RBI, a new
line of credit, viz., NABARD General Line of Credit for

Fixed and Other Assets

financing short-term agricultural/allied and marketing
Other Loans (including MT
investment credit)

activities to co-operative banks has been introduced during
2003-04 (April-March). An amount of Rs.165.73 crore was
released upto 31 March 2004. The total short-term loans

Figures in parentheses indicate percentages to total

advanced for financing SAO to the SCBs (Rs.4,706.18 crore)
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c.

Loans to State Governments

i.

Non-Project Loans

Income and Expenditure
3.145 The total income of NABARD during the year

3.140 The disbursements during the year under the

amounted to Rs.4,267.27 crore as against Rs.4,046.40

non-project long-term loans to state governments for

crore during the previous year. Out of this, a sum of

contribution to the share capital of co-operative credit

Rs.338.60 crore has been provisionally earmarked

institutions amounted to Rs.85.12 crore and the

towards payment of Income Tax (net of deferred tax asset)

repayments received during the year amounted to

and Rs.600 crore has been contributed to special Reserve

Rs.66.92 crore. The outstandings under these loans were

in terms of Section 36(1) (viii) of Income Tax Act, 1961.

Rs.459.65 crore as on 31 March 2004, compared to

Out of the balance income, Rs.124 crore has been

Rs.441.45 crore as on 31 March 2003.

transferred to the NRC(LTO) Fund and Rs.25 crore to the

ii.

NRC (Stabilisation) Fund under Sections 42 and 43,

Project Loans under RIDF

respectively, of the NABARD Act, 1981.

3.141 The project loans to the state governments under
RIDF stood at Rs.14,003.59 crore as on 31 March 2004,

3.146 Out of the bal ance i ncome amount i ng t o

compared to Rs.13,061.89 crore as on 31 March 2003.

iii.

Rs.3,179.67 crore (Rs.2,657 crore in the previous year),
after meeting the total expenditure of Rs.2,806.8 crore

Other Loans

(Rs.2,522 crore in the previous year), the surplus

3.142 Other loans stood at Rs.10.62 crore as on 31

amounted to Rs.389.97 crore including withdrawals of

March 2004 which included outstandings under various

Rs.17.14 crore from funds against expenditure debited to

funds, viz, CDF,CFSF, RPCF and Agricultural and Rural

P & L Account (Rs.16.84 crore in the previous year). The

Enterprises Incubation Fund (AREIF).

B.

surplus has been transferred to CDF- Rs.4.76 crore
(Rs.12.68 in the previous year); R & D Fund- Rs.6.70 crore

Investment of Short-Term Surplus
Funds

( R s.12.57 cr ore i n the prev i ous y ear ); m FDFRs.7.05 crore (Rs.1.94 crore in the previous year); Reserve

3.143 NABARD deployed its short-term surplus funds in

Fund- Rs.297.96 crore (Rs.111.28 crore in the previous

call money market and shor t-ter m deposits with

year); Foreign Currency Risk Fund- Rs.13.62 crore

commercial banks. NABARD also continued to invest its

(Rs.13.62 crore in the previous year); Investment

temporary surplus in Government Securities through its

Fluctuation Reser ve- Rs.9.88 crore and Tribal

treasury operations. As on 31 March 2004, the total

Development Fund - Rs.50 crore.

investment of the short-term surplus funds of NABARD
in shor t-term deposits, Mutual funds, Government

External Assistance for Projects

Securities, etc., aggregated Rs.4,076 crore.

3.147 N A B A R D h a s b e e n i m p l e m e n t i n g

C.

Co-finance

nine

externally aided projects. The actual amount received

Th e B a n k ha s e nte re d into co -financi ng

from external agencies was Rs.32.41 crore as against

arrangements with eleven banks. During the year Rs.64

the amount disbursed at Rs.40.96 crore during the year

lakh was disbursed under co-financing projects.

(Table 3.19).

3.144
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Table 3.19: Externally Aided On-going Projects
(As on 31 March 2004)
(Rs.) (Amt. million)
Sr. Name of Project
No.

Effective
From

Closing
Date

External
Assistance

Disbursements made
by NABARD

Amounts received
by NABARD

During
Cum.upto
During
Cum.upto
2003-04 31 March 04 2003-04 31 March 04
1. KfW-NABARD
i. V-Adivasi Development
Programme in Gujarat*
ii. Adivasi Special
Programme in Gujarat*

23 Dec 1994

30 Dec 2007

Euro 13.29 38.22@
(DM 26)

364.59

29.98

371.99*

19 Dec 2002

30 Dec 2007

Euro 1.5

38.83

74.56#

-

73.83

iii. IX-Adivasi Development
Programme in Maharashtra

2 June 2000

30 Dec 2010

Euro 14.32
(DM 28)

38.37

81.70

56.85

104.34

iv. IV -Watershed Development
Programme in Maharashtra (Phase II)

7 April 2000

30 Dec 2005

Euro 12.78
(DM 25)

62.79

470.71

59.53

493.54

v. Indo-German Watershed Development
Programme in Andhra Pradesh

15 July 2002

30 Dec 2011

Euro 8.69
(DM 17)

1.59

2.67

5.76

5.76

vi. SEWA Bank Capitalisation of Rural
Financial Intermediaries

28 June 2002

31 Dec 2009

Euro 4.09

-

-

-

-

2. CEC - BAIF Project-Transfer of
16 Nov 1995
Technologies for Sustainable Development

31 Dec 2004

ECU 19.50

127.68

723.32

127.65

727.73

3. NABARD-GTZ-Technical CollaborationLinkage of SHGs to banks

11 Jan 2000

31 Dec 2003

Euro 1.16
(DM 2.27)

4.64

50.17

10.87

51.96

4. NB-SDC Collaboration -HID
Partnership in Rural Finance

1 April 2000

31 Mar 2005

SW Fr. 9.50

116.01

385.30

52.00

172.05

* Funds of Rs.35.73 million and Rs.18.53 million during 2002-03 and 2003-04, respectively, from Adivasi Special Prograame, Gujarat have
been used to fund the activities of this programme, as per the provisions in the agreement.
@ The amount of Rs.38.22 million is inclusive of disbursement of Rs.7.5 million under loan component.
# By adding Rs.35.73 million transferred from ADP, Gujarat.
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IV

Capacity Building of Client Institutions
Institutional Development

NABARD continued to provide focused attention to
facilitate the growth and development of rural credit
institutions keeping in view the on-going financial and

a.

Performance

4.4

Primary Agricultural Credit Societies (PACS), which

are the short-term co-operative credit institutions at the

banking sector reforms. In this context, the performance

grassroots level deal directly with individual borrowers

of co-operative banks and Regional Rural Banks (RRBs)

and grant short-term and medium-term loans. Though

and various development initiatives taken by NABARD

their borrowing membership increased, its percentage to

to improve the health of these institutions are highlighted

total membership remained low at 54. Deposits and

below.

borrowings of PACS increased by 10 and 14 per cent,

A.

Co-operative Banks

respectively, as on 31 March 2002 over the previous year.

4.2

Co-operative credit institutions, both in the short-

against only 10 per cent increase during 2000-01 over

The loans issued, however, increased by 20 per cent as

term (ST) and long-term (LT) structures, continue to play

the previous year (Table 4.1).

a crucial role in dispensation of credit for agriculture and
r u r a l d e ve lo p m e nt. The se institu tio ns, the S tate

4.5

Co - o p e r a t i ve B a n k s (SCB s) a n d D istrict Centr al

outstanding, of both SCBs and DCCBs increased by 8

Co-operative Banks (DCCBs) in particular, however, have

and 9 per cent, respectively, whereas loans issued by these

come under increasing pressure from competitors and low

banks increased by 11 and 16 per cent, respectively,

interest rates.

during 2002-03 over the previous year (Table 4.2).

4.3

4.6

Out of the three new states, viz., Chhattisgarh,

As on 31 March 2003 the deposits and the loans

In the case of LT co-operative credit structure,

Jharkhand and Uttaranchal, which had come into

borrowings and loans issued by State Co-operative

existence during the year 2000, apex level co-operative

and Agriculture Rural Development Banks (SCARDBs)

banks have started functioning separately in the ST and

increased by 7 and 8 per cent, respectively, and in

LT structures in Chhattisgarh with effect from May 2001.

the case of Primary Co-operative Agriculture and Rural

In Uttaranchal, DCCBs and branches of Uttar Pradesh

Table 4.1: Growth of PACS
(As on 31 March)

Sahakari Gram Vikas Bank have been affiliated to the
newly formed Uttaranchal State Co-operative Bank,

Particulars

combining both ST and LT structures. In Jharkhand,

Number (lakh)
Membership (lakh)
Borrowing Members (lakh)
Owned Funds (Rs.crore)
Deposits (Rs.crore)
Borrowings (Rs.crore)
Loans Issued* (Rs.crore)

eight DCCBs continued to function and remained
affiliated with the Bihar State Co-operative Bank.
Jharkhand State Government has proposed to set up a
new Apex Bank as an integrated structure (two tier) to

* April- March

cater to ST and LT credit needs of the farmers.
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2000

2001

2002

1.01
1,085
425
5,199
12,284
22,343
23,298

0.99
999
465
5,594
13,481
25,890
25,698

0.98
1,021
555
6,855
14,846
29,475
30,770

per cent during 2002-03 over the previous year. Two

Table 4.2: Growth of Short-Term Co-operative Credit Structure
(As on 31 March)
Particulars
Number
Share Capital
Reserves
Deposits
Loans Issued*
Loans Outstanding

SCBs
2002
2003**
30
30
846
897
(85)
(90)
4,362
6,774
36,321
39,336
34,663
38,642
31,816
34,753

hundred and thirtyseven DCCBs were in profit during

(Rs.crore)
DCCBs
2002
2003**
368
367
3,432
3,657
(497)
(518)
7,856
12,916
68,586
73,879
55,915
64,665
59,283
64,346

2002-03 and their overall profit was Rs.743 crore. At the
aggregate level, however, DCCBs incurred net losses of
Rs.158 crore. In respect of loss-making DCCBs, losses
increased by 10 per cent during 2002-03 over the previous
year. In the case of profit-making SCARDBs, profits
declined by 29 per cent, while losses declined by 15 per
cent in the case of loss-making SCARDBs during 2002-03,
as compared to 2001-02. Profits of profit making

* April- March
** Data provisional
Figures in parentheses indicate amount contributed by the state governments

PCARDBs increased by 14 per cent and losses of loss
making PCARDBs increased by 10 per cent during 2002-03

Development Banks (PCARDBs) the same increased

over the previous year (Table 4.4).

by 9 and 5 per cent, respectively, over the previous
year (Table 4.3).

4.8

As on 31 March 2003 the aggregate amount of

accumulated losses of SCBs decreased by 40 per cent

b.

Working Results

i.

Profitability

4.7

Out of 30 SCBs, 25 were in profit during 2002-03

over the previous year, whereas that of the DCCBs
increased by 18 per cent. Accumulated losses of SCARDBs
and PCARDBs increased by 31 and 19 per cent,
respectively, as on 31 March 2003 compared to the
previous year. (Table 4.5)

with their overall profit being Rs.496 crore. At the aggregate
level SCBs profit was Rs.481 crore during 2002-03. The

Table 4.4: Working Results

profit earned by profit-making SCBs and DCCBs increased

(Rs.crore)

by 92 and 8 per cent, respectively, during 2002-03 over the

Agency/ Total In Profit
Year
(No.)
(No.)
SCBs
2000-01
29
24
2001-02
30
24
2002-03
30
25
DCCBs
2000-01# 367
247
2001-02*
368
243
2002-03*
367
237
SCARDBs
2000-01
20
10
2001-02
20
9
2002-03
20
8
PCARDBs
2000-01
732
273
2001-02
768
191
2002-03$
768
217

previous year. The improvement in the profitability of
SCBs was facilitated by the turnaround of Chhattisgarh,
Madhya Pradesh and Mizoram SCBs and substantial
increase in the profits of Maharashtra and West Bengal
SCBs. The losses of loss-making SCBs declined by 83
Table 4.3: Growth of Long-Term Co-operative Credit Structure
(As on 31 March)
(Rs.crore)
Particulars
SCARDBs
PCARDBs
2002
2003**
2002
2003**
Number
20
20
768
768
Share Capital
676
732
856
891
(89)
(90)
(122)
(128)
Reserves
1,808
2,159
1,637
1,868
Deposits
571
545
330
302
Borrowings
14,845
15,906
10,321
11,198
Loans Issued*
2,746
2,958
2,045
2,146
Loans Outstanding
14,147
15,384
9,982
10,819

Amount

In Loss
(No.)

Amount

240
258
496

5
6
5

12
87
15

598
692
743

117
100
102

483
819
901

90
86
61

9
11
10

129
180
153

49
47
54

459
577
469

165
294
324

# Kheda DCCB in Gujarat reported no profit no loss position. Since the
Sibsagar DCCB in Assam and Daulatganj DCCB in Bihar delicenced, data
of these DCCBs not included.

* Data of Sibsagar (Assam) and Gonda (U.P.) DCCBs not included on account

* April  March
** Data provisional
Data for SCARDBs in Orissa and Manipur repeated from the previous year.
Figures in parentheses indicate amount contributed by the state governments.

$
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of their delicencing. Breakup of 25 DCCBs in Bihar in Profit/Loss not
available.
Data for the year 2002-03 in respect of Orissa , Manipur SCARDBs and
53 PCARDBs in Orissa not available. Breakup of Profit/Loss making
PCARDBs in Maharashtra not available.

4.9

Table 4.5: Accumulated Losses
(As on 31 March)
Year
2001
2002
2003

SCBs
492
568
343

DCCBs
3,217
3,749
4,442

SC ARDBs
907
492 *
645 #

The profits of co-operative banks during 2002-03

varied widely across the states. While the profits of SCBs in

(Rs.crore)
PC ARDBs
1,157
1,944 *
2,304 #

Chandigarh, Kerala, Maharashtra, Orissa, Uttar Pradesh and
West Bengal showed considerable improvement, those in
Andhra Pradesh, Gujarat, Haryana, Jammu & Kashmir
showed marginal increase as on 31 March 2003 as

* Accumulated losses of 29 DCARMDBs in Maharashtra, which were branches
of Maharashtra SCARDB under the unitary structure in 2000-01, now
included under PCARDBs for March 2002 on conversion into federal
structure from 1 October 2001.
# Amount of accumulated losses during 2002-03 of Manipur and Orissa

compared to the previous year. Profits of Himachal Pradesh,
Karnataka and Tamil Nadu SCBs declined considerably.
Assam SCB, which was in profit during 2001-02, incurred

SCARDBs and PCARDBs in Orissa repeated from 2001-02.

losses during 2002-03 (Table 4.6).

Table 4.6: State-wise Working Results of SCBs
(As on 31 March)
(Rs. crore)
State

Andaman & Nicobar
Andhra Pradesh
Arunachal Pradesh
Assam
Bihar
Chandigarh
Chhattisgarh
Delhi
Goa
Gujarat
Haryana
Himachal Pradesh
Jammu & Kashmir
Karnataka
Kerala
Madhya Pradesh
Maharashtra
Manipur
Meghalaya
Mizoram
Nagaland
Orissa
Pondicherry
Punjab
Rajasthan
Sikkim
Tamil Nadu
Tripura
Uttar Pradesh
West Bengal
All India
Data for 2003 are provisional.

Profit/Loss (+)/()

Total NPAs

NPAs to Loans
Outstanding (%)

Recovery (%)
As at end June

2001-02

2002-03

2002

2003

2002

2003

2002

2003

1.24
2.35
0.86
10.57
1.14
1.49
-4.95
14.30
1.04
3.76
36.03
31.57
1.06
20.20
0.71
-72.57
10.68
-3.05
2.95
-1.45
-2.25
7.50
1.46
19.24
13.07
1.09
50.74
-2.85
17.07
8.17

1.39
3.00
-0.66
-7.52
1.26
2.34
0.90
16.16
0.21
4.19
38.69
17.64
1.46
10.55
6.12
1.59
271.91
-0.70
2.99
0.22
-3.85
10.37
1.77
21.01
15.04
0.24
15.75
-1.84
23.70
26.74

10.15
1,140.71
40.84
150.17
221.88
2.85
14.03
29.34
82.99
83.91
13.54
53.84
14.10
99.58
78.18
150.80
1,404.28
14.84
19.63
9.85
14.82
148.15
8.42
59.79
83.25
0.06
13.29
37.85
355.57
64.36

11.72
1,668.52
40.84
178.92
365.37
3.79
13.96
28.44
91.13
127.29
13.53
57.76
13.68
173.15
92.61
159.89
2,371.87
13.62
20.02
11.86
21.65
167.60
8.17
61.16
37.85
0.13
14.46
40.42
391.70
71.30

23.84
24.67
73.73
61.35
41.85
31.91
14.51
25.09
25.22
4.59
0.83
14.41
25.16
6.60
6.38
9.53
16.09
94.50
22.01
29.06
43.20
16.20
11.32
3.41
8.40
3.45
0.69
37.14
12.95
7.52

22.70
36.81
73.73
67.49
67.65
37.10
8.64
19.14
28.26
5.89
0.74
14.10
21.76
10.28
7.49
9.43
26.63
65.66
22.36
25.12
57.37
16.51
8.55
2.81
1.92
6.18
0.75
35.70
14.63
5.27

77.95
65.40
20.17
19.88
12.00
62.32
95.98
35.52
59.58
90.52
99.60
70.68
33.62
90.03
92.70
93.40
69.60
4.25
35.90
39.17
18.60
84.41
69.46
96.22
88.01
43.30
99.47
28.95
74.87
83.22

66.62
45.96
19.32
24.69
20.20
61.95
87.32
74.70
65.73
91.29
99.50
68.89
43.04
85.60
94.50
93.76
68.66
8.91
38.97
47.59
27.27
76.16
78.21
93.93
95.46
76.06
97.36
31.33
70.55
84.79

480.67 * 4,421.07

6,272.41

13.52

17.62

82.24

79.42

171.17

NPA data for Arunachal Pradesh repeated from previous year.
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* Net Profit

Table 4.7: State-wise Working Results of DCCBs
(As on 31 March)
(Rs. crore)
State

2001-02
DCCBs

Profit

2002-03
Loss

DCCBs

(No.)

2002

Profit

Loss

(No.)

2003

Total

NPA Recovery

NPAs to

(%) % (June

loans

2002)

Total

loans

o/s
Andhra
Pradesh
Assam
Bihar
Chhattisgarh
Gujarat
Haryana
Himachal
Pradesh
Jammu &
Kashmir
Jharkhand
Karnataka
Kerala
Madhya
Pradesh
Maharashtra
Orissa
Punjab
Rajasthan
Tamil Nadu
Uttar
Pradesh
Uttaranchal
West Bengal

No.

Amt

No

Amt

22
1
24
7
18
19

13
1
NA
3
14
19

34.38
1.04
5.24
1.92
59.00
32.68

9
NA
4
4
-

63.52
21.62
35.74
13.60
-

2

2

45.62

-

3
8
20
14

1
2
18
12

0.03
3.97
40.07
17.39

38
30
17
19
26
23

21
21
10
19
22
14

51
9
17

28
8
15

2003)

o/s

No.

Amt

No

Amt

22
*
24
7
18
19

10
*
NA
15
17

28.25
*
8.81
46.30
29.12

12
*
NA
7
3
2

98.52
*
32.76
48.41
17.14
3.42

1324.79
750.38
265.76
191.76
881.89
115.19

21.72
81.99
63.26
32.18
18.30
3.68

65.99
12.00
29.51
57.12
62.02
79.26

1580.21
*
NA
288.07
948.53
167.44

25.28
*
NA
37.74
13.20
4.71

33.00
*
24.45
65.52
62.70
78.91

-

2

2

67.26

-

-

31.42

6.30

74.54

36.40

5.30

79.36

2
6
2
2

6.51
75.42
21.27
17.59

3
8
21
14

NA
4
11
12

NA
2.36
23.89
19.38

NA
4
10
2

NA
30.25
62.64
11.60

64.23
119.44
622.16
717.00

32.10
71.38
17.79
19.95

44.18
21.21
65.26
75.65

65.77
100.72
876.50
757.16

29.21
70.35
23.80
20.10

36.13
19.40
60.35
74.30

17.74
151.68
11.12
68.88
35.14
81.58

17
9
7
4
9

72.03
331.92
9.13
1.75
65.70

38
30
17
19
26
23

24
22
13
19
23
11

25.45
178.59
10.12
84.90
33.33
71.06

14 92.80
8 309.67
4
6.36
3
3.21
11 119.00

810.52
3217.08
415.22
202.08
246.51
1195.03

28.15
20.58
26.79
6.00
14.28
18.67

60.81
53.93
57.50
87.46
77.16
79.57

897.44
4019.58
436.43
234.36
378.04
1418.41

27.56
25.02
22.85
5.96
11.58
20.21

62.15
51.57
53.02
88.88
73.18
63.68

45.62
17.78
21.35

22
1
2

79.09
0.72
3.13

50
9
17

29
9
16

60.80
24.06
28.95

987.41
40.24
183.52

31.18
9.95
17.75

48.69
82.48
75.37

NA
43.27
216.75

NA
9.56
17.53

NA
80.85
78.04

237

742.63

102 901.22 12,381.63

22.18

66.42 12465.08

19.67

61.49

All India 368 243 692.23 100 818.74 367
* No DCCBs in the state;

NPA Recovery

NPAs (%) to % (June

NA : Not Available.

21
1

64.26
1.18

Bagalkot DCCB in Karnataka was formed during the year 2002-03.

Sibsagar DCCB in Assam and Gonda DCCB in Uttar Pradesh were delicensed during 2002-03.
Profit/loss position for Nilgiri DCCB in the state of Tamil Nadu not available for 2002-03.
Data for 2002-03 are provisional.

4.10 The profits of DCCBs (where all were in profit)

(except in Gujarat and Tamil Nadu), losses increased

increased significantly in Himachal Pradesh, Punjab and

further (Table 4.8). Profit-making PCARDBs except in

Uttaranchal (Table 4.7). In other states, viz., Madhya

Karnataka

Pradesh, Maharashtra, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal,

performance during 2002-03 over the previous year,

the number of DCCBs in profit and the amount of profit

while losses declined in the case of PCARDBs in Kerala,

increased during 2002-03 as compared to 2001-02. In

Madhya Pradesh, Punjab, Tamil Nadu and West Bengal

the case of Andhra Pradesh, Chhattisgarh, Gujarat,

(Table 4.9).

Karnataka, Madhya Pradesh and Tamil Nadu, losses of

and

Maharashtra

improved

their

DCCBs increased substantially during 2002-03 as

ii.

Costs and Margins

compared to the previous year.

4.12

The gross margins as a percentage to working funds

of SCBs and DCCBs during 2002-03 indicate that the SCBs
4.11 T h e p r o f i t s o f m o s t o f t h e p r o f i t - e a r n i n g

as a group earned an overall return of 8.67 per cent while

SCARDBs (except in Punjab and Uttar Pradesh) showed

the cost of funds worked out to 6.26 per cent. Thus, the gross

increase, while in the case of loss making SCARDBs

margin available to SCBs was 2.41 (excluding miscellaneous
90

Table 4.8: State-wise Working Results of SCARDBs
(As on 31 March)
(Rs.crore)
State

No. of
Branches

Assam *
Bihar *
Chhattisgarh @
Gujarat *
Haryana @
Himachal Pradesh #
Jammu & Kashmir *
Karnataka @
Kerala @
Madhya Pradesh @
Maharashtra @
Manipur *
Orissa @
Pondicherry *
Punjab @
Rajasthan @
Tamil Nadu @
Tripura *
Uttar Pradesh *
West Bengal #
All India

Profit/ Loss
(+) / (-)

2003

2001-02

33
151
2
176
33
38
26
14
7

-0.94
-16.73
0.38
-8.63
7.74
-1.61
-2.22
-24.79
9.79
1.08
-70.02
-0.31
-10.61
0.08
25.57
18.71
-43.81
-0.82
19.49
3.34
-94.31

1
5
2
7
20
5
334
4
858

Total NPAs

2002-03

NPAs to loans
outstanding (%)

Recovery (%)
As on 30 June

2002

2003

2002

2003

2002

2003

-2.12
17.20
-21.08
108.71
2.98
5.35
-1.84
304.42
9.11
0.92
43.47
-2.65
12.97
-31.96
490.10
10.42
31.41
1.38
80.53
-92.08
NA
NA
0.67
NA
95.92
-0.22
1.79
20.75
8.91
23.58
-0.42
505.85
-0.91
7.32
6.66
612.16
-0.03
72.72
-92.18 2,414.17

16.86
98.68
10.73
326.00
51.24
12.91
579.54
74.92
97.91
455.44
NA
101.24
3.00
87.17
556.27
7.75
653.16
NA
3,132.82

100.00
80.32
3.92
42.80
25.39
44.46
39.31
2.24
9.53
NA
100.00
94.10
22.98
2.09
42.55
60.26
23.24
16.51
18.45

100.00
77.39
6.50
47.45
26.9
46.92
44.47
5.10
9.10
44.68
NA
89.91
33.17
7.28
43.94
63.84
21.79
NA
20.36

7.97
13.14
53.30
41.72
88.30
56.30
36.91
26.30
84.54
46.11
13.36
2.08
7.93
64.00
90.43
63.89
45.67
51.08
85.99
60.86
55.13

8.99
6.40
31.13
33.35
88.08
56.23
42.96
22.44
79.77
43.57
24.70
2.08
6.68
60.43
88.32
63.89
33.45
40.39
70.73
60.86
49.19

* Unitary Structure @ Federal Structure # Mixed Structure
NA - Not Available
Recovery data for 2002 repeated for 2003 in respect of Chhattisgarh, Rajasthan & West Bengal SCARDBs.

income of 0.56 per cent). The average transaction cost of

net margin of 0.04 per cent during 2002-03 compared to a

SCBs during 2002-03 worked out to 1.46 per cent and risk

negative net margin of 0.52 per cent during the previous

cost 1.47 per cent. The SCBs as a group earned a positive

year. There were, however, wide variations in margins among

Table 4.9: State-wise Working Results of PCARDBs
(As on 31 March)
(Rs.crore )
State

2001-02
Profit

Chhattisgarh
Haryana
Himachal Pradesh
Karnataka
Kerala
Madhya Pradesh
Maharashtra
Orissa
Punjab
Rajasthan
Tamil Nadu
West Bengal
Total
* Data provisional.

2002-03*
Loss

No. Amount

NPAs

Profit

Loss

No. Amount

No. Amount

No. Amount
11
80
1
155
25
29
NA
NA
18
13
120
17

5
29
1
17
15
9
3
3
50
17
32
10

0.28
3.84
0.40
2.58
2.25
0.66
8.00
0.02
14.60
8.83
2.92
2.54

7
57
160
29
29
26
50
37
19
149
14

2.04
26.07
78.54
22.40
18.20
54.73
5.09
36.69
17.20
26.79
6.28

1
6
22
19
9
NA
NA
69
23
61
7

0.49
6.06
1.87
4.65
0.84
1.17
NA
18.48
9.67
7.48
3.77

191

46.92

577

294.03

217

54.48

NPAs to (%)
to loans
outstanding

Recovery (%)
As on 30 June

2002

2003*

2002

2003*

2002

2003*

17.23
390.78
11.04
432.69
339.33
143.53
484.77
59.32
290.66
293.90
449.74
84.22

30.46
472.99
20.94
481.57
391.23
168.14
NA
53.48
391.83
361.08
531.49
105.60

14.08
28.47
19.65
37.00
23.99
18.57
64.59
84.47
18.03
25.79
39.00
24.15

18.45
29.27
35.59
40.54
26.37
17.03
NA
74.22
23.33
29.55
42.03
25.72

70.20
62.16
66.70
28.61
56.03
61.02
30.49
21.40
66.26
44.27
43.48
60.42

63.53
63.21
63.25
26.11
51.28
56.37
21.56
35.77
66.26
25.37
36.29
52.64

469 323.61 2,997.21 3,008.81

30.03

29.65 48.08

43.93

NA - Not Available.
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3.46
56.36
0.54
70.39
13.67
17.05
111.20
NA
12.50
14.18
19.51
4.75

SCBs in different states. In the case of DCCBs, the overall

from 1997-98. At the aggregate level, for the SCBs the

return to working funds was 9.70 per cent and the cost of

percentage of NPAs to total loans and advances

funds was 6.70 per cent. The average transaction cost and

outstanding increased substantially to 17.62 while that of

risk cost as percentage to working funds was 1.85 and 1.36

DCCBs declined to 19.67 as on 31 March 2003 compared

per cent, respectively during 2002-03. The DCCBs as a group

to the previous year (Table 4.10).

earned gross and net margins of 3.0 and 2.34 per cent,
respectively, during 2002-03.

4.16

The total NPAs were estimated at Rs.6,272.42 crore

for SCBs and Rs.12,465.08 crore for DCCBs as on 31
4.13 For SCBs the risk cost as a percentage to working

March 2003 as compared to Rs.4,458.56 crore for SCBs

funds was nil in Haryana and as high as 6.43 in Nagaland,

and Rs.12,381.63 crore for DCCBs as on 31 March 2002.

while the average worked out to 1.47.

Similarly, for

The NPAs were estimated at Rs.3,132.82 crore for

DCCBs average risk cost worked out to 1.36 per cent,

SCARDBs (Rs.2,414.17 crore in the previous year) and

while it ranged between nil in Punjab and 4.37 per cent

Rs.3,008.81 crore for PCARDBs (Rs.3,045.85 in the

in Chhattisgarh during 2002-03.

previous year). (Table 4.11). Thus, NPAs of SCBs, DCCBs
and SCARDBs showed an increase of 41, 22 and 30 per

4.14 The overall average returns on working funds of

cent, respectively, while there was marginal decline in

SCARDBs and PCARDBs worked out to 8.24 and 9.66

NPAs of PCARDBs as on 31 March 2003 compared to

per cent, respectively, during 2002-03. The average cost

the previous year. Co-operative banks had made the

of funds was 6.47 and 7.83 per cent for SCARDBs and

required provisions against their impaired assets.

PCARDBs, respectively. The net margin earned by the
SCARDBs and PCARDBs, therefore, continued to be

4.17 Non Performing Assets as a percentage of loans

negative at 1.54 and 1.80 per cent, respectively. Half of

outstanding which were already high in the previous year,

the 20 SCARDBs had positive net margins and the

increased further in the case of Andhra Pradesh, Assam,

remaining had negative net margins. PCARDBs had

Bihar, Chandigarh, Maharashtra and Nagaland SCBs, and

negative net margins in nine states and positive net

declined in the case of Chhattisgarh, Jammu & Kashmir

margins only in three states.

and Pondicherry SCBs as on 31 March 2003 as compared
to the previous year (Table 4.6).

iii.

Non- Performing Assets and
Recovery Performance

4.18

Himachal Pradesh, Punjab and Uttaranchal had low levels

4.15 In order to bring about transparency in the working
of banks, prudential norms on asset classification, income

Table 4.11: Composition of NPAs of Co-operative Banks
(As on March 2003)*
(Rs. crore)
Assets
SCBs
DCCBs SCARDBs PCARDBs
Classification
Sub-standard 3,535.69
7,100.02
2,073.41
1,772.06
Doubtful
2,434.11
4,345.95
1,037.56
1,206.23
Loss Assets
302.62
1,019.11
21.83
30.52
Total NPAs
6,272.42 12,465.08
3,132.82
3,008.81
Provisions
4,870.08
6,762.90
484.68
613.78
required
Provisions made 5,690.70
7,310.65
497.20
621.62

recognition and provisioning were made applicable to
SCBs/DCCBs from 1996-97 and to SCARDBs/PCARDBs
Table 4.10: Percentage of NPAs to Loans Outstanding
(As on 31 March)
Agency

2001

2002

2003

SCBs
DCCBs
SCARDBs
PCARDBs

12.73
18.26
20.47
24.30

13.52
22.18
18.45
30.03

17.62
19.67
20.36
29.65 *

District Central Co-operative Banks in Haryana,

* Data provisional

* Data in respect to PCARDBs in Maharashtra not available.
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(38%), Jharkhand (70%), Madhya Pradesh (28%) and

Table 4.13: Frequency Distribution of Co-operative Banks
according to Range of Recovery
(As on 30 June)
Recovery SCBs
DCCB
SCARDBs PCARDBs
(%)
(No.)
(No.)
(No.)
(No.)
2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003
Below 40
9
7
69
69
7
9
276 359
40 to 60
2
3
83
62
6
4
210 186
60 to 80
8
10
139
115
3
5
169 138
80 & above 11
10
77
67
4
2
86
64
Total
30
30 368 313*
20
20 741* 747*

Uttar Pradesh (31% as on 31 March 2002) as on 31 March

* Data not available in respect of remaining DCCBs and PCARDBs

of NPA percentage to loans outstanding as on 31 March
2003. NPAs as a percentage to loans outstanding which
were above 18 in Andhra Pradesh, Chhattisgarh,
Karnataka, Kerala, Maharashtra and Tamil Nadu, as on
31 March 2002 further increased as on 31 March 2003.
The level of NPAs remained very high in the case of
DCCBs in Bihar (63% as on 31 March 2002), Chhattisgarh

2003 (Table 4.7).
recovery level of less than 60 per cent of the demand.
The recovery of SCBs which was constant at 82

Out of the total number of 22 DCCBs in Andhra Pradesh,

per cent during the previous two years, declined to 79

16 and 5 had recovery of less than 40 and 40 to 60 per

per cent as at end-June 2003. At the DCCB level also,

cent; of 24 DCCBs in Bihar, 18 and 3 had recovery of

the recovery showed a declining trend over the last

less than 40 and 40 to 60 per cent; of 8 DCCBs in

3 years, reaching 61 per cent as at end-June 2003

Jharkhand 5 and 1 had recovery less than 40 and 40 to

(Table 4.12). In absolute terms, the recover y of

60 per cent and of 30 DCCBs in Maharashtra, 10 and 9

SCBs declined from Rs.17,520 crore (June 2002) to

had recovery less than 40 and 40 to 60 per cent,

Rs.17,135 crore (June 2003). Similarly, it declined from

respectively (Table 4.14).

4.19

Rs.25,758 crore (June 2002) to Rs.25,527 crore (June
2003) in the case of DCCBs. A few SCBs improved their

4.21 Recovery performance of DCCBs improved in

recovery performance marginally (Gujarat, Kerala,

Chhattisgarh, Himachal Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh,

Madhya Pradesh and West Bengal). However, in the case

Punjab and West Bengal, while it declined in Andhra

of SCBs in Jammu & Kashmir, Meghalaya, Mizoram and

Pradesh, Karnataka, Tamil Nadu and Uttaranchal, as on

Nagaland, though there was substantial improvement in

30 June 2003. Recoveries were above 75 per cent only

recovery performance, the recovery percentage still

in a few states (Haryana, Himachal Pradesh, Kerala,

remained low (Table 4.6).

Punjab, Uttaranchal and West Bengal)

while poor

recoveries were observed in of Andhra Pradesh, Bihar,
Jammu & Kashmir and Jharkhand (Table 4.7).

4.20 Out of 30 SCBs, 11 had a recovery of more than
80 per cent as at end-June 2002 and 10 SCBs as at endJune 2003 (Table 4.13). The number of SCBs with

4.22 Most of the profit earning SCARDBs had, as on 31

recovery of less than 40 per cent decreased from 9

March 2003, low level of NPAs as a percentage of loans

(June 2002) to 7 (June 2003). As at end-June 2003, 131

outstanding, except Himachal Pradesh (27%) and Uttar

out of 313 DCCBs (for which data were available) had a

Pradesh (22%). The recovery performance of SCARDBs
was satisfactory in Punjab and Haryana (88 %), Kerala
(80%) and Rajasthan (64%) as on 31 June 2003. In the

Table 4.12: Percentage of Recovery to Demand
(As on 30 June)
Agency
SCBs
DCCBs
SCARDBs
PCARDBs

2001

2002

2003

82
67
58
53

82
66
55
48

79
61
49
44

case of loss-making SCARDBs, NPAs were very high and
recovery performance was very poor (except West Bengal
SCARDB) (Table 4.8). NPA levels were very high in the
case of PCARDBs in Haryana (29%), Himachal Pradesh
(36%), Karnataka (41%), Kerala (26%), Maharashtra
93

Table 4.14: Frequency Distribution of States/UTs according to level of Recovery of SCBs and DCCBs
(As on 30 June 2003)
Recovery (%)

SCBs

DCCBs

<40

Arunachal Pradesh, Assam, Manipur,
Tripura, Nagaland, Bihar, Meghalaya.

Jammu & Kashmir (2), Rajasthan (2), Bihar (18), Jharkhand (5), Orissa (3), Madhya
Pradesh (3), Chhattisgarh (1), Gujarat (2), Maharashtra (10), Andhra Pradesh (16),
Karnataka (3), Kerala (2), Tamil Nadu (2).

>40 and
<60

Andhra Pradesh, Jammu and
Kashmir, Mizoram.

Haryana (1), Rajasthan (5), Bihar (3), Jharkhand (1), Orissa (6), West Bengal (1),
Madhya Pradesh (10), Chhattisgarh (2), Gujarat (5),Maharashtra (9), Andhra Pradesh
(5), Karnataka (4), Tamil Nadu (7), Uttaranchal (3).

>60 and

Himachal Pradesh, Andaman &

Haryana (10), Himachal Pradesh (1), Jammu & Kashmir (1), Punjab (2), Rajasthan

<80

Nicobar, Orissa, Delhi, Uttar Pradesh,
Maharashtra, Pondicherry, Sikkim,
Chandigarh, Goa.

(15), Bihar (1), Orissa (8), West Bengal (10), Madhya Pradesh (24), Chhattisgarh (3),
Uttaranchal (2), Gujarat (5), Maharashtra (6), Andhra Pradesh (1), Karnataka (9),
Kerala (7), Tamil Nadu (10).

>80

Haryana, Punjab, Rajasthan, West Bengal,
Chhattisgarh, Madhya Pradesh, Gujarat,
Karnataka, Kerala, Tamil Nadu.

Haryana (8), Himachal Pradesh (1), Punjab (17), Rajasthan (4), West Bengal (6),
Madhya Pradesh (1), Chhattisgarh (1), Uttaranchal (4), Gujarat (6), Maharashtra (5),
Karnataka (5), Kerala (5), Tamil Nadu (4).

Total

30

313* (out of 367)

*Data in respect of 2 DCCBs each in Bihar and Jharkhand and 50 DCCBs in Uttar Pradesh not available.

(65% as on 31 March 2002), Orissa (74%), Rajasthan

and 62 had recovery of less than 40 and 40 to 60 per

(30%), Tamil Nadu (42%) and West Bengal (26%) as on

cent; and of 36 in Rajasthan, 29 and 5 had recovery less

31 March 2003.

than 40 and 40 to 60 per cent, respectively (Table 4.15).

4.23

4.24

Low recovery performance and its declining trend

The recovery performance of SCARDBs and

was a matter of concern. Only 2 SCARDBs (out of 20)

PCARDBs deteriorated further as on 30 June 2003 over

and 64 PCARDBs (out of 747) had a recovery of above

the previous year and declined by 9 and 8 percentage

80 per cent, while the recovery performance of 9 SCARDBs

points during the period of two years (2001-2003). The

and 359 PCARDBs was very poor, i.e., below 40 per cent

recovery of SCARDBs as on 30 June 2003 was above 60

(June 2003). Another 186 PCARDBs had recovery

per cent only in the states of Haryana, Kerala, Punjab,

between 40 and 60 per cent. Out of 177 PCARDBs in

Rajasthan, Uttar Pradesh, West Bengal and Pondicherry.

Karnataka, 129 and 36 had recovery of less than 40 and

The average recovery of PCARDBs was more than 60

40 to 60 per cent; of 181 PCARDBs in Tamil Nadu, 103

per cent in Haryana, Himachal Pradesh and Punjab.

Table 4.15: Frequency Distribution of States/UTs according to levels of Recovery of SCARDBs and PCARDBs
(As on 30 June 2003)
Recovery (%)

SCARDBs

PCARDBs

< 40

Chhattisgarh, Assam, Bihar, Gujarat,
Karnataka, Maharashtra, Manipur,
Orissa, Tamil Nadu.

Haryana (8), Punjab (3), Rajasthan (29), Orissa (43), Chhattisgarh (6), Madhya
Pradesh (5), Maharashtra (28), Karnataka (129), Kerala (5), Tamil Nadu (103).

> 40 and < 60 Himachal Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh,
Jammu and Kashmir, Tripura.

Haryana (11), Punjab (20), Rajasthan (5), Orissa (11), Chhattisgarh (6), Madhya
Pradesh (12), Maharashtra (1), Karnataka (36), Kerala (22), Tamil Nadu (62).

> 60 and < 80 Kerala, Rajasthan, Uttar Pradesh,
Pondicherry, West Bengal.

Haryana (51), Himachal Pradesh (1), Punjab (20), Rajasthan (1), Orissa (2), Madhya
Pradesh (21), Karnataka (11), Kerala (15), Tamil Nadu (16).

> 80

Haryana, Punjab.

Haryana (16), Punjab (44), Rajasthan (1), Karnataka (1), Kerala (2).

Total

20

747 (out of 768)
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c.

Areas of Concern

viz., Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Jammu & Kashmir, Madhya
Pradesh, Orissa and Rajasthan have initiated steps to

4.25 The century old co-operatives in the country

adopt features of the Model Act, implementation of co-

play a crucial role in dispensation of credit as also

operative reforms or amendment of existing State Co-

marketing of agricultural and non-agricultural produce.

operative Acts on lines of the Model Act has yet to gain

Co-operative credit institutions suffer from low resource

momentum. NABARD has prepared a scheme for the

base, high dependence on financing agencies, multiple

revitalisation of co-operatives in pursuance to the

control, imbalances, poor business diversification

recommendations of the Capoor Committee and the Vikhe

and recoveries, huge accumulated losses, lack of

Patil Committee which was announced by the Honble

professionalism and skilled staff, weak MIS, poor internal

Union Finance Minister in the Interim Budget for the year

check and control systems and frequent political and

2004-05. To be eligible to avail assistance under this

bureaucratic interference. As on 31 March 2003, as many

scheme state gover nments would be required to

as 5 out of 30 SCBs, 102 out of 367 DCCBs, 43,511 out

implement co-operative refor ms to improve their

of 98,247 PACS, 10 out of 20 SCARDBs and 469 out of

functioning, performance and governance.

768 PCARDBs (details available for 686 PCARDBs only)
incurred losses. Total accumulated losses of the co-

e.

operative credit structure (excluding PACS) amounted to

Management

Rs.7,734 crore as on the same date. Further, as many as

4.27 As a matter of policy, NABARD continues to profess

143 out of 367 DCCBs and 7 out of 30 SCBs were not

the need for co-operative banks to be managed by duly

complying with the provisions of Section 11(1) of B.R.

elected Boards. The phenomenon of supersession of

Act, 1949 (AACS), as on 31 March 2004. Apart from this,

elected Boards of Management in some of the co-operative

low level of recovery and high level of NPAs are also areas

banks continued and as on 31 March 2003, in 9 SCBs

of major concern. Most of the ground level co-operative

(out of 30) and 132 DCCB (out of 367-details available

credit institutions (PACS and PCARDBs) did inspire

only from 358 DCCBs) Boards were under supersession.

confidence in their existing and potential members,

Similarly, in the case of LT structure, in 8 SCARDBs (out

depositors and borrowers. The LT credit structure which

of 20) and in 378 PCARDBS (out of 768), Boards were

makes a major contribution to the capital formation in

under supersession (Table 4.16).

agriculture through investment credit, does not have a

f.

sound appraisal system, effective monitoring mechanism
and proper loan policies and procedures.

d.

Co-operative Development Fund

4.28 N ABAR D had consti tuted a Co-o pe r at i v e
Develoment Fund (CDF) during 1992-93 with the

The Model Co-operative Societies Act

objective of supporting various developmental initiatives

4.26 The Model Co-operative Societies Act was

of co-operative credit institutions to improve their

suggested (by Choudhary Brahm Perkash Committee)

Table 4.16: Elected Boards under Supersession
(As on 31 March 2003)

with the objective of reforming and revitalizing the
co-operative credit structure and reducing government

Particulars

control over these institutions. According to the Act, the

SCBs

supersession of Boards, amend bye-laws, veto/rescind/

Total (No.)
Boards under
Supersession (No.)
Boards under
Supersession (%)

annual resolutions or issue directives. Though a few states,

* In respect of reporting banks only.

state government would neither have any rule making
powers nor can it, or the Registrar issue orders for
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DCCBs SCARDBs PCARDBs

30

367

20

768

9

132

8

378

30

37*

40

49

functioning by way of grants or loans or grant-cum-loans,

outcome of the proposed amendments to the Banking

depending upon the purpose. The Fund is augmented

Regulation Act, 1949, the validity of the second phase

every year through contributions from NABARDs profits.

DAPs/MoUs which ended by March 2003 was further

An amount of Rs.4.86 crore was sanctioned during the

extended upto 31 March 2004.

year for training the personnel of co-operative banks
(Rs.3.23 crore), computerization (Rs.0.75 crore),

4.31 Memoranda of Understanding were executed

es t a b li s h m e n t

cel l s

among NABARD, state governments and co-operative

(Rs.0.37 crore), cost towards publicity of KCC scheme

banks for obtaining proper commitments and taking

(Rs.0.25 crore) and other activities (Rs.0.26 crore). The

necessary action to achieve the business targets set out

total disbursements (grants and loans) during the year,

in DAPs.

including disbursements against previous sanctions,

SCARDBs had executed the base level MoUs with

amounted to Rs.4.38 crore. The cumulative sanctions and

NABARD and the respective state governments. In all,

disbursements so far under the CDF aggregated Rs.62.18

21 SCBs and 10 SCARDBs executed annual MoUs for

crore and Rs.50.87 crore, respectively.

2003-04. The implementation of DAPs and compliance

of

b u sine ss

d e ve lo pm e nt

As at end-March 2003, all the SCBs and

t o M o U c o v e n a n t s w e re m o n i t o re d b y N A B A R D
4.29 The infrastructure assistance to selected PACS had

alongwith representatives from state governments and

a positive impact on their deposit mobilization, number

the RBI through Monitoring and Review Committees set

of deposit accounts and confidence levels of the general

up at state and district levels.

public, in several states. Assistance provided to the field

4.32 An evaluation study conducted by NABARD on

staff (LT structure only) for purchase of motorcycles
improved their mobility

t h e i m p a c t o f D A Ps / M o U s h a s re v e a l e d t h a t ; ( i )

resulting in better bank-

achievement of targets set out in DAPs with respect to

borrower relationships, field monitoring and supervision,

owned funds, deposits, loans issued/outstanding and

etc., as exhibited by the enhanced recovery of SCARDBs

working funds were in the range of 85 to 100 per cent,

in Madhya Pradesh and Tamil Nadu and SCBs in Jammu

(ii) number of profit making DCCBs in Rajasthan and

& Kashmir and Nagaland. Assistance provided for

Tamil Nadu increased, (iii) there was an improvement

computerization helped in improving MIS, generating

in all key financial parameters in the case of ST structure

statutory and other returns, better maintenance of

in Haryana, Punjab and Rajasthan and in the case of LT

re c o r d s , f a s t e r d i s p o s a l o f c a s e s , ex c h a n g e o f

structure in Haryana and Punjab, (iv) banks became

information, etc.

g.

conscious about cost of management, resulting in its
decline as a percentage to working funds.

Development Action Plan/
Memorandum of Understanding

4.33 DAPs have helped banks in diversification of loan

4.30 The mechanism of preparing institution-specific

business. The study also revealed the slackness in

Development Action Plans (DAP) by co-operative banks

monitoring mechanism and non-adherance to some of

and execution of Memorandum of Understanding (MoU)

the covenants of the MoUs by state gover nments,

introduced in 1994-95 as a measure for institutional

especially those relating to posting of professionals as

strengthening continued during 2003-04. In anticipation

CEOs, refraining from announcement of interest waiver

of the formulation of a scheme for the revitalisation of

and coercive action against wilful defaulters, etc., had

the co-operative credit structure on the basis of

adversely affected the recover y, profitability and

recommendations of the Capoor Committee and pending

performance of banks. The study has underlined the
96

need for continuing DAP/MoU exercise with better

directors of Kerala State Co-operative Bank, Kerala State

monitoring efforts.

Co-operative Agriculture and Rural Development Bank
and DCCBs in Kerala were conducted.

h.

Organisation Development
Intervention

i.

4.34 Th e p r o ce ss o f Orga n iza tio n D e vel opment

Revitalisation of Co-operative
Credit Structure

Intervention (ODI) in co-operative banks was initiated in

4.36 The Task Force (Capoor Committee) set up by the

1998-99 with financial assistance from CDF to cover all

GoI in May 1999 to study the co-operative credit

SCBs, SCARDBs and DCCBs in a phased manner. So

structure had suggested various measures for its

far, 134 co-operative banks have been covered under the

strengthening in its repor t submitted in July 2000.

initial phase of ODI. This intervention programme has

During 2001, an Inter-Ministerial Joint Committee under

been instrumental in bringing about a perceptible

the Chairmanship of Shri Balasaheb Vikhe Patil, the then

paradigm shift and change in the mindset and attitude of

Union Minister of State for Finance, reviewed the

both the staff and management towards business issues

recommendations, par ticularly relating to funding

as well as their concern for the banks development.

mechanism and sharing patter n of revitalisation
assistance. The GoI is yet to formally accept the
recommendations of these two Committees.

4.35 Impressed by the positive results of the ODI
programme undertaken by NABARD in RRBs and cooperative banks, Swiss Agency for Development and

4.37

Based on the recommendations of the Joint

Cooperation (SDC) agreed to support ODI programmes

Committee, a scheme was prepared by NABARD on the

in 120 RRBs and 20 co-operative banks (on a pilot basis)

revitalisation of the co-operative credit structure in July

under Human and Institutional Development

2002. The scheme, subsequently revised on the basis of

Partnership in Rural Finance with NABARD. Upto 31

discussions with the GoI and the RBI, is currently under

March 2004, all the RRBs and 50 DCCBs/SCBs were

consideration of the GoI. The scheme envisages the linking

covered under these programmes conducted at NBSC

of proposed revitalisation assistance to certain conditions

and BIRD, Lucknow, RTCs at Bolpur and Mangalore and

such as (i) states commitment to contribute/meet 40 per

by a few selected Sponsor Banks for RRBs. Besides

cent share of the assistance (10% in respect of states in the

conduct of ODI, follow-up and exposure visits by 119

NER and Jammu & Kashmir) and (ii) co-operative reforms

staff members of RRBs and 10 staff members of

to be carried out by the state governments.

co-operative banks were made to RRBs/DCCBs having
outstanding performances to gain insights into their

4.38 Pending approval of the scheme, the GoI had

working and replicate the best practices adopted by such

released, in April 2003, a token amount of Rs.100 crore

banks. During the year, four regional experience sharing

to NABARD towards their share of assistance. The amount

workshops on ODI programmes for CEOs/Branch

will be utilized on approval of the funding mechanism of

Managers of RRBs and co-operative banks were held at

the scheme by the GoI. The Honble Union Finance

Bangalore, Chennai, Dehradun and Kolkata. These

Minister, during his Interim Budget Speech on 3 February

workshops have been very successful in sharing valuable

2004 had indicated that the scheme would be initiated as

experiences of the participating banks. Moreover, two

soon as the revised regulatory framework for co-operative

sensitization/training programmes on ODI for the

banks is put in place.
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B.

Regional Rural Banks

a.

Financial Performance

Table 4.18: Viability Status of RRBs
(As on 31 March 2003)
(Rs. crore)
Category

4.39 Banking sector reforms have brought about
quantative as well as qualitative improvements in the

Number

Profit/
Loss

Accumulated
Loss

NPAs
1,518.91

Sustainably viable

97

623.95

-

Currently viable

59

110.01

1,183.50

955.96

in respect of RRBs, viz., the permission to relocate loss-

Loss making

40

-214.67

1,541.66

724.88

making branches to better business centres and conversion

Total

196

519.29

performance of RRBs. The policy measures undertaken

2,752.16 3,199.75

of loss-making branches into satellite/mobile offices
without impairing their performance in service areas has

than the previous year. In all, 103 RRBs showed

had a salutary effect on their financial performance,

improvement in their performance either by way of

especially in relation to profits and recovery and decline

increase in profits or reduction in losses or by shifting

in their NPAs. Significant improvements in the

from loss to profit as at end-March 2003, as compared

performance of RRBs are reflected in their improved

to 121 as at end-March 2002. The number of RRBs which

bottom line. Over a period of three years (2001-03),

had wiped off accumulated losses and attained

aggregate reserves of RRBs increased significantly (85 per

sustainable viability increased to 97 as at end-March

cent), while the deposits, borrowings and investments

2003 (from 86 during the previous year) and these RRBs

increased by 31, 18 and 20 per cent, respectively. During

together built up reserves to the extent of Rs.2,334.72

the same period, loans and advances outstanding

crore as at end-March 2003. Another 59 RRBs attained

increased by 40 per cent while loans issued increased by

current viability and reduced their accumulated losses

43 per cent (Table 4.17).

to Rs.1,202.59 crore as at end March 2003 from
Rs.1,640.75 crore as at the end of the previous year

4.40 T h e n e t p r o f i t o f 1 9 6 R R B s d e c re a s e d t o

(Table 4.18). The accumulated losses of RRBs as a group

Rs.519.29 crore as on 31 March 2003, 15 per cent less

however, increased marginally (2%) as on 31 March
2 0 0 3 o v e r t h e p re v i o u s y e a r ( Ta b l e 4 . 1 7 ) . T h e

Table 4.17: Performance Indicators of RRBs
(As on 31 March)

performance of RRBs, however, varied widely across the

(Rs. crore)

states (Table 4.22). The problems being faced by these

2001

2002

2003

banks include limited area of operation, preference to

Branch Network (No.)
14,311
Share Capital
195.66
Share Capital deposit
2,054.33
Reserves
1,270.86
Deposits
38,271.87
Borrowings
4,064.46
Investments
27,636.14
Loans & Advances
15,816.30
outstanding
Loans Issued*
8,823.22
RRBs earning Profit (No.)
170
Amount of Profit
676.48
RRBs incurring Losses (No.)
26
Amount of Losses
75.86

14,390
195.81
2,080.62
1,782.40
44,539.15
4,524.37
30,531.73
18,629.22

14,433
195.85
2,112.74
2,357.41
50,098.34
4,798.69
33,063.42
22,157.85

narrow banking, low level of recovery in certain regions,

10,570.67
167
699.93
29
92.05

12,641.00
156
733.97
40
214.68

Year
2001

9,617.93

6,789.53

2,828.40

70.59

2,694.06

2,752.25

2002

11,569.82

8,274.34

3,295.48

71.52

2003

13,246.95

9,738.80

3,508.15

73.53

Particulars

Accumulated Losses

2,792.59

difficulty in effecting recoveries under government
sponsored

programmes,

n o n- re l e a s e

of

state

g o v e r n m e n t  s s h a re ( R s . 4 5 . 8 9 c r o re ) t o w a r d s
recapitalisation, HRD related issues, etc.
Table 4.19: Recovery Performance of RRBs
(As on 30 June)
(Rs. crore)

* April-March

98

Demand

Collection

Balance

Recovery (%)

RRBs registered a decline in their NPA percentages, 88

Table 4.20: Frequency Distribution of
RRBs according to Range of Recovery
(As on 30 June)
Year
2001
2002
2003

< 40 %
14
12
6

40-60 %
41
38
35

60-80 %
112
113
106

RRBs (45%) exceeded the all-India average of 14.44 per
cent and 52 RRBs had NPA levels of more than 20 per

(Rs.crore)
> 80 %
29
33
49

cent of their loans and advances outstanding. However
in absolute terms, the NPAs of RRBs increased from
Rs.2,578.33 crore as at end-March 2001 to Rs.3,199.75
crore as at end-March 2003.

b.

Recovery Performance
4.44 Some of the development initiatives introduced

4.41 During the year ending June 2003, recovery

earlier by the RBI/NABARD and the GoI for improving

performance of RRBs at the aggregate level improved

the operational and financial efficiency of RRBs were: (i)

further as compared to the previous year. In absolute

grant of exemption from the practice of mark to market

t e r m s , t h e a m o u n t o f re c o v e r y i n c re a s e d f r o m

norms in respect of Statutory Liquidity Ratio (SLR)

Rs.6,789.53 crore (June 2001) to Rs.9,738.80 crore

approved securities upto 31 March 2004 and (ii) policy

(June 2003), ie., by 40 per cent (Table 4.19). The

of exemption from service area approach for weak RRBs

state-wise recovery performance revealed that as on 30

was reviewed and 54 RRBs were granted relaxation from

June 2003, Punjab registered the maximum recovery

the service area obligation upto 31 March 2004.

rate of 92.71 per cent, followed by Tamil Nadu (89.28%),
Kerala (84.99%) and Haryana (84.73%) (Table 4.22).

4.45 As a part of the restructuring exercise, a system of

The number of RRBs having recovery above 80 per cent

preparation of DAPs on an annual basis by RRBs,

increased from 29 as at end-June 2001 to 49 as at end-

introduced during 1994-95 for attainment of viability in

June 2003. RRBs with recovery levels of below 40 per

a fixed timeframe continued. Subsequent to the

cent and 40 to 60 per cent declined from 14 to 6 and 41

Table 4.21: Frequency Distribution of States/
UTs according to Levels of Recovery of RRBs
(As on June 2003)

to 35, respectively, during the same period (Table 4.20).
4.42 All RRBs in Haryana and Tamil Nadu had recovery

Recovery (%)

performances of above 80 per cent and all RRBs in

<40

Punjab and Rajasthan, 15 RRBs (out of 16) in Andhra

> 40 and
< 60

Pradesh, 12 RRBs (out of 13) in Karnataka had recovery
levels above 60 per cent (Table 4.21).

c.

Non-Performing Assets

> 60 and
< 80

4.43 Constant follow-up by RBI, NABARD, Sponsor
Banks and other supervisory authorities created positive
awareness among the RRBs about the quality of lending.
This was reflected by the declining trend in the NPAs of
these banks. RRBs showed steady improvement on this

>80

front as witnessed by the gradual decline in their gross
NPAs as a percentage to loans and advances outstanding
from 18.84 as at end-March 2001 to 14.44 per cent as at
end-March 2003. Even though as on 31 March 2003, 151
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States

Arunachal Pradesh (1), Assam (1), Bihar(3),
Jharkhand(1).
Assam (1), Manipur (1), Meghalaya (1), Tripura(1),
Bihar(4), Jharkhand(4), Orissa(3), West Bengal(2),
Chhattisgarh(1), Madhya Pradesh(2), Uttar Pradesh(8),
Uttaranchal(1), Gujarat(1), Maharashtra(3), Andhra
Pradesh(1), Karnataka(1).
Himachal Pradesh (1), Jammu & Kashmir (3),
Punjab(1), Rajasthan(7), Assam(2), Gujarat(4),
Maharashtra(6), Andhra Pradesh(13), Karnataka(6),
Kerala(1), Mizoram(1), Nagaland(1), Bihar(8),
Jharkhand(1), Orissa(5), West Bengal(6), Madhya
Pradesh(14),Chhattisgarh(3), Uttar Pradesh(22),
Uttaranchal(1).
Haryana (4), Himachal Pradesh(1), Punjab(4),
Rajasthan(7), Assam(1), Bihar(1), Orissa(1), West
Bengal(1), Chhattisgarh(1), Madhya Pradesh(3),
Uttar Pradesh(6) Uttaranchal(2), Gujarat(4),
Maharashtra(1), Andhra Pradesh(2), Karnataka(6),
Kerala(1), Tamil Nadu(3).

Table 4.22: State-wise Working Results of RRBs
(As on 31 March 2003)
(Rs. crore)
State

No. of

Profit Earning

Loss Incurring

RRBs

Net Accumulated

Loans &

Profits

Losses
40.17

NPAs

Recovery (%)

Advances o/s

No.

Amount

No.

Amount

16

15

90.65

1

-2.31

88.34

Arunachal Pradesh 1

0

0.00

1

-11.19

-11.19

22.35

32.69

25.83

79.02

18.27

22.61

Assam

5

4

4.74

1

-3.25

1.48

103.82

468.18

83.91

17.92

50.73

58.86

Bihar

Andhra Pradesh

2,953.54

Amount

%

272.55

9.23

June-02

June-03

70.19

70.96

16

8

48.04

8

-60.66

-12.62

526.38

1,143.86

232.09

20.29

56.35

60.17

Chhattisgarh

5

3

5.46

2

-5.60

-0.14

150.07

331.34

57.65

17.40

63.82

69.02

Gujarat

9

9

24.01

0

0.00

24.00

25.79

631.19

86.88

13.76

73.53

76.53

Haryana

4

4

46.89

0

0.00

46.89

17.09

676.22

48.98

7.24

83.17

84.73

Himachal Pradesh

2

2

4.11

0

0.00

4.11

0

196.32

12.79

6.51

78.07

80.79

Jammu & Kashmir 3

1

9.92

2

-15.82

-5.90

99.68

161.13

20.79

12.90

59.75

63.85

Jharkhand

6

2

3.90

4

-23.60

-19.70

121.67

337.09

97.17

28.83

39.33

44.94

Karnataka

13

12

76.98

1

-0.96

76.02

0

2,548.37

270.04

10.60

75.99

75.53
84.99

Kerala

2

2

29.84

0

0.00

29.84

0

1,204.28

116.92

9.71

83.93

Madhya Pradesh

19

16

16.99

3

-5.49

11.50

256.59

1,323.44

187.68

14.18

70.06

72.49

Maharashtra

10

6

4.17

4

-18.52

-14.35

130.32

685.18

154.04

22.48

67.24

64.44

Manipur

1

0

0.00

1

-2.15

- 2.15

14.23

13.87

4.86

35.03

49.93

51.80

Meghalaya

1

1

3.10

0

0.00

3.10

0

40.62

13.63

33.56

51.16

54.30

Mizoram

1

1

0.29

0

0.00

0.29

5.58

33.73

10.33

30.64

50.00

61.23

Nagaland

1

0

0.00

1

-0.16

-0.16

1.58

4.33

0.62

14.41

50.72

61.17

Orissa

9

4

13.15

5

-43.97

-30.82

459.83

1,407.97

223.13

15.85

66.34

67.38
92.71

Punjab
Rajasthan
Tamil Nadu
Tripura

5

5

35.44

0

0.00

35.44

0

350.71

18.39

5.24

91.35

14

12

38.99

2

-7.29

31.70

196.72

1,376.98

115.88

8.42

77.19

80.05

3

3

18.33

0

0.00

18.33

0

529.24

23.05

4.36

88.11

89.28

1

1

2.05

0

0.00

2.05

139.02

178.09

65.30

36.67

34.97

44.56

36

34

240.75

2

-5.21

235.53

157.39

3,985.91

813.96

20.42

66.99

70.04

Uttaranchal

4

4

7.56

0

0.00

7.56

1.97

179.56

15.81

8.81

81.74

79.30

West Bengal

9

7

8.60

2

-8.48

0.12

281.97

1,364.00

227.44

16.67

65.15

69.33

196

156

733.96

40

-214.66 519.29

2,752.16

22,157.84 3,199.75 14.44

71.52

73.53

Uttar Pradesh

All India

preparation of DAPs, RRBs, entered into MoUs with

IBA to work out strategies for restructuring RRBs. The

sponsor banks assuring performance according to the

work is in progress.

DAPs finalised by them.

d.

e.

Amendments to the RRBs Act, 1976

Estimates Committee of Parliament
2002-03

4.47 The Estimates Committee of Parliament of the

4.46 A Working Group under the Chairmanship of Shri

Ministry of Finance, GoI in its 16th Report submitted to

M.V.S. Chalapathi Rao, the then Managing Director,

the Lok Sabha in April 2003 made the following main

NABARD, to review and suggest amendments to the

observations/recommendations on which NABARD

Regional Rural Banks Act, 1976 was set up in July 2001

advised RRBs to initiate suitable corrective/follow-up

by the GoI. The Working Group submitted its report in

action and review the actions in their Board meetings.

August 2002. Based on its recommendations the GoI

•

constituted a small group associating RBI, NABARD and

Interest on agricultural advances should not
be compounded.
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•

•

CD ratio should be stepped up by concentrating

4.49 The RRBs promoted maximum clubs (4,897)

more on lending than on investments.

followed by commercial banks (2,467) and co-operative
banks (2,124). So far, VAs, NGOs, KVKs and Agriculture

Proper and separate record of lendings to small

Universities have promoted 527 clubs. The southern

and marginal farmers to be maintained.
•

•

region accounted for the major share (34%) followed by

C o n c re t e s t e p s t o i m p r o v e t h e i r re c o v e r y

the eastern region (18%), western and central regions

performance to be initiated.

(16% each) and the northern region (14%), while the
north-eastern region accounted for only 2 per cent.

Internal systems and procedures and control
measures to enhance effectiveness in sanctioning

4.50 In order to provide training and cross country

loans and advances and post disbursement

exposure to club volunteers on the working of successful

supervision to be evolved.
•

•

clubs, as also with a view to acquainting them with the

Non-adherence to guidelines or irregularities to be

changing trends in agriculture, 448 volunteers along with

seriously dealt with.

bankers and representatives of NGOs from 24 states were
taken for exposure visits during the year.

Sponsor banks to intervene with state governments
on behalf of RRBs which are yet to receive balance

4.51

amount of recapitalisation support from them.
•

Transfer-oriented Clubs (TTCs) have been launched on a

RRBs in consultation with their sponsor banks

pilot basis to disseminate technological innovations with

to draw time bound perspective training plans

the support of KVKs, Agriculture Universities and Indian

to cover all their staff.

Council of Agricultural Research in three states, viz., Andhra

•

Reconciliation of inter-branch accounts not up-to-date.

•

There are a number of cases related to frauds/

Pradesh, Rajasthan and Maharashtra.

a.

misappropriation of funds.

C.

With the changing agricultural scenario, Technology

Socio-Economic Development Clubs

4.52 With a view to motivating the rural masses, socioeconomic development oriented VVV clubs with the

Vikas Volunteer Vahini

support of reputed NGOs/VAs are proposed to be set up
to provide a platform for interaction between the NGOs/

4.48 The essence of the Vikas Volunteer Vahini (VVV)

VAs and villagers. Each club would cover a cluster of 2-3

p r o g r a m m e i s m a nife st in the five princi pl es of

nearby villages and an average number of 1,000 families.

Development through Credit that envisage utilizing credit
in an appropriate manner to enhance productivity and

b.

production leading to increase in income and repayment

Farmers Clubs  Impact

of loans for recycling of funds. NABARD provides financial

4.53 Three farmers clubs in different districts of West

assistance to banks, Agriculture Universities, Krishi Vigyan

Bengal have epitomized the essence of the five principles

Kendras, VAs, etc., for setting-up of VVV clubs and also

of Development through Credit. These clubs, in general,

supporting other activities under the programme. The

helped the banks/PACS in mobilization of deposits,

programme has spread to 495 districts covering more than

disbursement of loans and its proper utilization, loan

30,000 villages through 10,015 clubs in the last two

recovery, introduction of new crops/varieties, training in

decades. The clubs also act as SHPIs and 1,423 VVV clubs

low cost technology and dissemination of technology like

have promoted 12,234 SHGs so far.

use of bio-fertilisers and organic manures, formulation
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and implementation of Village Development Plans (VDPs),

saving the rest of the land from further decay and damage

formation of SHGs, arranging health/vaccination camps

by floods. The club helped the bank mobilize deposits of

for club members and livestock, organization of literacy/

Rs.7.18 crore and disburse loans amounting to Rs.2.63

post-literacy programmes, awareness creation, etc. In

crore. The club brought about the formation of 60 SHGs,

addition, they brought about various changes in their area

involving 515 women members whos collective savings

of operation.

provided the members with instant access to credit.

4.54 Krishi Bikas Krishak Sangha, Gaur Gramin Bank,

4.56

Malda district, established in 1997, helped in the

Ltd., Hooghly, established in 2000, set up a soil testing

formation of 109 SHGs in seven villages covered by the

laboratory and a Krishi Paramarsh Kendra to enable

branch through its volunteers, out of which 70 were

farmers get first hand information on advanced agricultural

women SHGs. As at end-March 2003, 78 SHGs were

practices. Club volunteers helped in the formation of 106

granted loans of Rs.9.13 lakh for internal lending and

SHGs in the area of operation of PACS and in the

KCCs were issued to 180 eligible farmers. Deposits of

mobilization of deposits of Rs.3.28 crore. They also took

Swami Vivekananda Farmers Club, Hoogly DCCB

special efforts to increase the membership of the society.

Rs.120 lakh were mobilized and recoveries of Rs.98.61
lakh were effected. The club encouraged SHG members
mobilize deposits of Rs.200 lakh and issue fresh advances

Publications on Institutional
Development

of Rs.261 lakh. Club members helped government

4.57 NABARD has been collecting and publishing data

functionaries in the proper implementation of Command

on co-operative banks, RRBs and other institutions

Area Development Programme in the club area.

related with agriculture and rural development in various

to get themselves insured. It also helped the branch

forms for the use of concerned institutes/ agencies. These
4.55 Kavi Joydeb Krishak Sangha, Mayurakshi Gramin

publications relate to: (i) key statistics on co-operative

Bank, Birbhum district, established in 1999, arranged

banks/ RRBs, (ii) dossier/overview on co-operative banks

programmes on vaccination of livestock, tree plantation

indicating per for mance parameters, (iii) financial

in flood affected areas, popularisation of kitchen

statements on co-operative banks/RRBs, (iv) ratio

gardening, training in low cost technology for brass metal

analysis of co-operative banks and RRBs with reference

workers and other handicrafts, etc. An area of 120 ha. of

to their profitability position, (v) review of performance

sandy land was brought back for tree plantation, thus

of RRBs (RRB-wise, sponsor bank-wise), etc.

Supervision over Banks
4.58 A s p e r t h e p o w e r s v e s t e d b y t h e B a n k i n g

4.59

Regulation Act, 1949 (As Applicable to Co-operative

the financial and operational soundness and managerial

Societies), NABARD inspects SCBs and DCCBs.

efficiency of co-operative banks (other than urban

Besides, NABARD conducts voluntary inspection of

co-operative banks) and RRBs as also their compliance with

SCARDBs, Apex Weavers Co-operative Societies,

banking regulations, so as to protect the interests of their

State Co-operative Marketing Federations, etc. It also

depositors. While regular inspections are conducted

inspects RRBs as per the powers vested by the

biennially, quick inspections have been introduced for selected

B.R. Act, 1949.

banks that are financially weak starting from 2003-04.
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The objective of NABARDs supervision is to assess

4.60 The financial margins of co-operative banks are

4.62 The important developments in the areas of

squeezed by intense competition and falling interest

operations and policy decisions taken during the year were

rates. The banks have to manage their credit market,

as under:

interest rate and operational risks well. With the
application of prudential norms to banks, supervisors
have to set disclosure standards and practices and pursue
policies that ensure comparability, relevance, reliability

A.

Operational Matters

a.

Inspection of Banks

and timeliness of the information flow. In order to keep

4.63 During the year, inspections of 298 banks (17

pace with the internationally accepted sound banking

SCBs, 191 DCCBs and 90 RRBs) and 10 apex level

s t a n d a r d s / p r a c t i c e s , N A B A R D re - e n g i n e e re d i t s

institutions were completed. Quick inspections of 98

supervision strategy in 1998 with emphasis on core areas

banks (10 SCBs and 88 DCCBs) were also completed.

such as Capital Adequacy, Asset Quality, Management,

The supervisory concerns relating to these banks as
brought out by the inspections were: (i) improper

Earnings, Liquidity, Systems and Compliance, i.e., by
adopting CAMELSC approach.

application/implementation of income recognition and

Some of the co-

asset classification norms, (ii) inadequate provisioning for

operative banks and most of the RRBs had adopted the
investment route to increase their revenues.

impaired assets resulting in inflated profits or reduced

With

losses, (iii) absence of comprehensive investment policy,

considerable increase in the investments of these banks

(iv) non-compliance with important provisions of B.R.Act,

in government securities and the attendant risks of

1949/ RBI Act, 1934, (v) delay in submission of satisfactory

trading in securities, the scrutiny of these transactions

compliance to inspection observations, (vi) deficiencies

was given added importance. The banks were advised

in sanction and disbursement of loans and advances,

to frame and adopt appropriate investment policies,

(vii) inadequate risk management strategy, (viii) deficient

strengthen their internal control systems and adopt sound

internal checks and control systems, particularly non-

accounting standards. The banks were also advised to

reconciliation of books of accounts, notably inter-branch

ensure quarterly reviews of their investment portfolio at

adjustment accounts, (ix) poor credit monitoring

the Board level and submit half-yearly reports to RBI/

arrangements resulting in over exposure to certain

NABARD. The officers of the Department of Supervision

sensitive sectors/industr y, (x) lack of corporate

(DoS) were deputed for various domestic/overseas

governance, (xi) inadequate supervision of end-use of

training programmes, particularly in Investment Portfolio

credit, (xii) inadequate computerisation, etc.

and Treasury Management to equip them with the latest
developments in this regard so as to improve the

b.

effectiveness of supervision.

Board of Supervision

4.64 The Board of Supervision (for SCBs, DCCBs and
4.61 T h e O f f - S i t e S u r v e i l l a n c e S y s t e m ( O S S )

RRBs) (BoS) constituted in 1999 as a Committee by the

introduced in 1998-99 as a supplement to On-Site

Board of Directors of NABARD to provide guidance and

inspection has gained importance, enabling continuous

direction to the Bank on matters relating to supervision,

supervision with improved submission of the prescribed

met six times during the year. The issues deliberated by

returns by co-operative banks and RRBs in southern and

the BoS included, (i) review of insolvent SCBs and

western parts of the country while the position continued

DCCBs, (ii) prescription of trigger points for taking

to be unsatisfactory in the eastern and northern parts of

supervisory/regulatory action against certain SCBs and

the country.

DCCBs, (iii) sponsor bank-wise review of RRBs
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performance, (iv) review of follow-up action taken in

aggregated Rs.8,841.71 crore, which had not only

respect of banks recommended for regulatory action, (v)

eroded their

review of audit rating scales vis-a-vis the supervisory

deposits to the extent of Rs.3,228.22 crore. The deposits

rating norms, (vi) lack of involvement of term lending

and a part of the borrowings of 9 DCCBs had been

institutions and commercial banks in providing finance

fully eroded. Of the 150 non-compliant co-operative

for sugar factories, spinning mills and construction of

banks, 36 banks (1 SCB and 35 DCCBs) were granted

godowns and over exposure of co-operative banks to these

exemption from the provisions of Section 11 (1) of the

sectors and (viii) review of the functioning of apex

Act, ibid., by the GoI and applications for grant of

institutions on the basis of inspection reports. The Board

exemption in respect of 21 banks (4 SCBs and 17

was also concerned about the deterioration in the financial

DCCBs) were under consideration of the RBI/GoI.

position of many co-operative banks not complying with

However, recommendations for exemption in the case of

the provisions of Section 11(1) of B.R. Act, 1949 (AACS),

21 banks (1 SCB and 20 DCCBs) were not made taking

and the low CD Ratio of most of the RRBs.

into account the precarious and continued deterioration

entire owned funds but also affected

of their financial position. While applications of 15 banks

4.65 The BoS recommended the introduction of a

(1 SCB and 14 DCCBs) for exemption from Section 11(1)

Common Accounting System for SCBs and DCCBs in

of the Act, ibid., were under consideration, 57 DCCBs

order to bring about symmetr y in their financial

were yet to submit applications for exemption.

s t a t e m e n t s a n d t r a n s p a re n c y t h r o u g h a d d i t i o n a l
disclosures. The recommendation was examined by a

b.

Committee, headed by CGM, DoS, NABARD and

Grant of Licence

comprising members from the RBI, Audit Departments

4.67 As

no new licences were granted to SCBs/

of a few state governments, representatives from SCBs

DCCBs during the year, the number of licensed co-

and DCCBs and a Chartered Accountant.

operative banks remained unchanged at 86 (13 SCBs
and 73 DCCBs) as on 31 March 2004. During the year

B.

Other Developments

four DCCBs ceased

a.

Compliance to Minimum Share Capital
Requirement

applications for licence to carry on banking business
were rejected.

to function as banks as their

Regulatory actions such as issuing

directions, supersession of Board, etc., were also taken

4.66 T h e r e w a s n o t m u c h i m p r o v e m e n t i n t h e

by the RBI in respect of certain recalcitrant banks.

co-operative banks compliance with the minimum

During the year no licences were granted to SCBs for

share capital norm prescribed under Section11(1) of

opening new places of business under Section 23 of

the B.R.Act 1949, (AACS). The number of SCBs and

the B.R.Act, 1949 (AACS).

DCCBs not complying with the Act, ibid., at 8 and 144,
respectively as on 31 March 2003 came down to 7 and

c.

143, respectively, as on 31 March 2004 with one SCB
and seven DCCBs recomplying and six other DCCBs

Scheduling of State Co-operative
Banks

failing to comply during the year. The recompliance was

4.68 As no SCB was included in the second schedule to

mainly due to enhanced recoveries and reduced

the RBI Act, 1934, during 2003-04 the number of

provisions requirement. The total erosion in the value

scheduled SCBs remained unchanged at 16 as on 31

o f a s s e t s o f t h e s e b a n k s a s o n 3 1 M a rc h 2 0 0 4

March 2004.
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d.

Compliance to Various Sections of Acts

D.

4.69 As on 31 March 2004, 10 SCBs and 155 DCCBs

Compliance on Inspection
Observations

did not comply with Section 22 (3)(a) of the B.R.Act,

4.74 The system of obtaining compliance on core

1949, (AACS), in regard to their capacity to pay their

areas within 45 days from

depositors in full and 27 SCBs and 328 DCCBs did not

inspection reports and holding discussions with the

comply with Section 22(3)(b) of the Act, ibid, as the affairs

CEOs of banks on the compliance continued during

of these banks were not conducted in a manner not

the year. However, the quality of compliance by banks

detrimental to the interests of the depositors.

continued to be unsatisfactory apart from inordinate

4.70

the date of issue of

delays in their submission in some cases.

Similarly, of the 16 scheduled SCBs, one SCB did

not comply with Section 42(6)(a)(i) in regard to the

E.

minimum capital requirements of Rs.5 lakh and 13 SCBs

Revival of Weak Banks

did not comply with Section 42(6)(a)(ii) of RBI Act, 1934,

4.75 Follow-up action on the measures advised by

as the affairs of these banks were not conducted in a manner

NABARD to state governments and banks for

not detrimental to the interests of the depositors.

s t re n g t h e n i n g t h e c o - o p e r a t i v e c re d i t s t r u c t u re ,
including the preventive and revival measures to be

4.71 The number of RRBs not complying with Section

taken by the different agencies continued to be

42(6)(a)(i) of RBI Act, 1934, declined from 64 as on 31

unsatisfactory. Absence of rehabilitation package and

March 2003 to 57 as on 31 March 2004. The number of

lack of attention by the state governments to the

RRBs not complying with Section 42(6)(a)(ii) of the Act,

problems faced by banks also contributed to their

ibid, however, increased from 146 as on 31 March 2003

deteriorated financial positions. As on 31 March 2004,

to 152 as on 31 March 2004.

12 DCCBs

did not comply with minimum capital

requirements for over ten years, 2 SCBs and 90 DCCBs
4.72 During the year no new co-operative bank or RRB

for a period of 5 to 10 years and 19 DCCBs and 5

was authorised to open and maintain NR(E)/NR(O)

SCBs for 3 to 5 years. Unless the concerned DCCBs,

Accounts by RBI.

the Apex Banks, the Registrar of Co-operative Societies

C.

Policy Decisions

4.73

The Registrars of Co-operative Societies/Directorates

and the state governments take necessary steps for
implementation of the Action Plans, these banks will
not be able to serve the objectives for which they have

of Audit of all states were advised on the need for

b e e n c re a t e d a n d t h e i r c o n t i n u e d ex i s t e n c e w i l l

certification by auditors with regard to implementation of

endanger the interests of depositors.

prudential norms of income recognition, assets classification
and provisioning by co-operative banks and introduction

4.76 During the year NABARD updated the Manual

of pre-audit. Guidelines on setting-up of Audit Committees

on Internal Checks and Branch Control for co-operative

were issued to all SCBs and DCCBs. With a view to bringing

banks and supplied copies to all SCBs and DCCBs

about Audit Rating Scales in consonance with the

and

Supervisory Rating Norms, the scales were fine-tuned to

Directorate of Audit of all states with a request to bring

ensure correct financial assessment of co-operative banks

out state-specific manuals for the benefit of co-operative

by statutory auditors and supervisors.

banks in each state, if necessary, in the local language.
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the Registrars of Co-operative Societies/

V

Organisation and Management

Given the rapidly changing environment in the spheres

5.4

of rural economy and business organizations, continuous

Insurance), GoI, MoF and Company Affairs, Department

upgradation of skills and technical expertise and a high

of Economic Affairs (Banking Division) was renominated

degree of professionalism among employees assume

as a Director with effect from 10 July 2003. She also

greater significance. Keeping this in view, NABARD lays

continued as a member of the Executive Committee,

emphasis on capacity building of its employees by

Sanctioning Committee for loans under RIDF and Audit

refining its existing training modules, introducing new

Committee of the Board of the Bank. Shri N.S. Sisodia,

programmes and enhancing their exposure through visits

IAS, Secretary (Financial Sector), MoF, GoI, Department

to various institutions within the country and overseas.

of Economic Affairs, was nominated as a Director with

The Bank has tried to attract the best talent in various

effect from 26 December 2003 vice Smt. Vineeta Rai.

fields and areas of its interest through improved strategies

He was also appointed as a member of the Executive

in recruitment, placement, career development and

Committee and the Sanctioning Committee of the Bank

performance management in an effort to enable the

for loans under RIDF. Smt. Radha Singh, IAS, Secretary,

organization fulfill its mission by reinforcing its corporate

Ministry of Agriculture, Department of Agriculture and

vision and building a culture that fosters learning,

Co-operation, GoI was appointed as Director vice Shri

creativity and adaptability.

R.C.A. Jain, IAS with effect from 29 February 2004.

Smt. Vineeta Rai, IAS, Secretary (Banking and

She was also appointed as a member of the Sanctioning

General
A.

Board of Directors

5.2

The Board of Directors met seven times during

Committee for loans to State Governments for rural
infrastructure projects under AICF.
5.5

Shri Shankarrao Narayanrao Joshi, Trustee, Krishi

the year. Besides, the Executive Committee and

Vigyan Kendra, Pravara Institute of Research and Education

Sanctioning Committee for loans under RIDF met six

in Natural and Social Sciences and a member of the Board

times each and the Audit Committee five times. The

of Directors passed away on 16 November 2003.

Sanctioning Committee for loans under RIDF was
renamed as the Sanctioning Committee for loans to

5.6

Dr. P. Raghavan, IAS, Principal Secretary and

State Governments for rural infrastructure projects under

Agricultural Production Commissioner (APC), Government

the Agriculture Infrastructure Credit Fund (AICF) which

of Chhattisgarh, was nominated as a Director with effect

met once in March 2004.

from 26 December 2003 vice Shri R. P. Bagai, IAS. Dr. R.
Kannan, IAS, APC and Secretary, Government of Tamil

Shri Y.C.Nanda, Chairman, relinquished the charge

Nadu was nominated as a Director with effect from 1

of office on expiry of his term on 30 June 2003. Shri Vepa

January 2004 vice Shri T.S. Sridhar, IAS. Shri C. Babu

Kamesam, the then Deputy Governor, RBI and Member of

Rajeev, IAS, Additional Chief Secretar y and APC,

the Board, was appointed by Ministry of Finance (MoF),

Government of Assam was nominated as a Director vice

GoI, to coordinate the affairs of the Bank till the

Shri S.C. Das, IAS with effect from 1 January 2004.

5.3

appointment of a regular Chairman/Managing Director.
Smt. Ranjana Kumar was appointed as Chairperson with

5.7

effect from 21 November 2003. Shri Y.S.P. Thorat took charge

appointed as a Director of the Board on 27 December

as Managing Director with effect from 17 March 2004.

2003 vice Shri Vepa Kamesam, who demitted office on
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Smt. K.J. Udeshi, Deputy Governor, RBI was

23 December 2003. She was also appointed as a

5.13 In all, 653 officers of the Bank were deputed for

member of the Executive Committee, Project Sanctioning

216 tailor made and off-the-shelf training programmes,

Committee for loans under RIDF and Audit Committee

exposure visits, workshops, seminars and conferences

of the Board of the Bank.

organised by outside agencies. Some of the subjects
covered in these programme were Stress Management,

5.8

As on 31 March 2004, two vacancies under

Management of Commodity and Derivative Exchange,

Section 6(1)(b) of the NABARD Act, 1981 existed on

Gender Issues (for trainers), Ecological Perspectives in

the Board of Directors.

Watershed Development, Role of Nominee Directors of
RRBs and Outdoor Management Programme. Two

B.

Executives

5.9

S/Shri S. Subramanian, M. G. Marwaha and G. K.

exposure visits were organized on watershed and wadi
projects in Ahmednagar (Maharashtra) and Valsad
(Gujarat) districts. Officers were also deputed to

Agrawal, Executive Directors retired from the Banks service

Seminars and Conferences, organized among others, by

on 31 May, 31 July and 30 September 2003, respectively.

CII, Mumbai and Chennai, Business Asia, Mumbai,

Consequently, S/Shri S. S. Acharya, R. Balakrishnan and

NICM, Gandhinagar, Orissa University of Agriculture and

Amaresh Kumar, Chief General Managers, were promoted

Technology, Bhubaneswar and Jawaharlal Institute for

as Executive Directors. Also, Shri J. M. Mathew, Executive

Development Banking, Hyderabad. Thus, during the

Director, NABARD, appointed as Director, BIRD, Lucknow,

year, 2,290 officers were deputed for various training

retired on 31 October 2003.

C.

programmes conducted by NBSC and other institutions.

Inspection of NABARD

a.

5.10 The Reserve Bank of India conducted the sixth

Overseas Training

5.14 NABARD deputed 129 officers including 15

round of financial inspection of NABARD from October

officials from partner institutions to attend various

to December 2003 with reference to the financial position

overseas training programmes, exposure visits, seminars,

as on 31 March 2003. The findings were discussed with

conference, etc., to Asian Institute of Management,

the RBI and also by the Audit Committee and the Board.

APRACA CENTRAB; IIRR, Philippines; APRACA,
Thailand; Went, Germany; London Business School,

D.

Regional/DDM Offices

5.11

Eight new DDM offices were opened during the year.

(SARB), South Africa; KULT programmes of World Bank

Consequently, the number of such offices stood at 338 as

Institute; WASME; National Institute of Co-operative

on 31 March 2004. Besides the corporate office at Mumbai,

Development, Sri Lanka; Bank Rakyat Indonesia (BRI),

NABARD has 28 Regional Offices located at State Capitals,

Indonesia and other institutes located at Manila, Tel

a sub-office at Port Blair and a cell at Srinagar.

Aviv, Beijing, Bali, Bangkok, Geneva and Khartoum.

UK; Cornell University, USA; South African Reserve Bank

Human Resources Development

5.15 A team of 21 officers attended a programme on
Bank Supervision at SARB, South Africa, to equip

A.

Training and Skill Enhancement

5.12

The National Bank Staff College (NBSC), Lucknow

principles, approaches and methods underlying

conducted 88 training programmes related to functional,

regulation and supervision, responsibilities of key

behavioural and technical subjects wherein 1,637 NABARD

players in the regulation, supervision and risk

officers participated. New programmes on Agri-business and

management of banks. A team of 12 officers visited

Agro-processing, Rural Housing and Computer-based

BRI, Indonesia to familiarize themselves with various

Project Appraisal and Risk Analysis were introduced.

credit innovations, resource mobilization mechanisms

themselves with latest developments in regard to
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and best practices being followed by the BRI in
dispensation of rural credit.

5.20

A team of 13 participants from nine countries

Development at the NIBM, Pune, visited NABARD, HO in

officers attended the Round Table Discussion at

February 2004 and were briefed about the functions and

APRACA, Thailand, on establishment of a Regional

activities of the Bank. A high level delegation from

Rural Micro Finance Bank. The Chairperson along with

Development Research Centre of the State Council of China

nine officials from NABARD, NGOs and other banks

led by Dr. Sun Xiaoyu, Vice-President (Vice Minister), had

participated in the Asia Pacific Regional Micro Credit

discussions with the top management of NABARD in March

Summit held at Dhaka in February 2004.

5.17

Overseas Visitors

attending an international programme on Banking and

5.16 The former Chairman, NABARD along with senior

b.

B.

2004 as part of its mission to establish institutional contacts
for policy dialogue and co-operation in India.

Training in Computer Technology
Training programmes on basic computer usage,

C.

Recruitment, Promotion and Staff
Strength

a.

Direct Recruitment

Auto-CAD and Visual Basic for 40 staff members were
conducted. Two training programmes on the Banks revised
software package for financial accounting were also

5.21 During the year a total of 121 persons were

conducted for 38 officers from ROs at NBSC. With a view

recruited in the officers cadre, of which three each were

to accelerate the usage of PCs effectively by officers/staff,

for Legal Services, Rajbhasha and Protocol and Security

services of two external mentors were provided to HO

Services, and 112 from various disciplines under Rural

departments. A training programme on document

Development and Banking Services (RDBS). There were

preparation, sharing resources under LAN system and mail
messaging was also conducted at HO for 251 staff members.

74 persons specialized in Agricultural Engineering,

c.

Sciences, Electrical/Civil Engineering, Finance, Economics

Biotechnology, Food Processing, Irrigation, Computer

Training of Other Employees

and HRD. Of the officers appointed, 28, 11 and 32

5.18 Training is imparted to employees (Group B and

belonged to SC, ST and OBC, respectively and 11 were

C staff) at National Bank Training Centre (NBTC),

physically handicapped. Two persons (one from SC) and

Lucknow and Zonal Training Centre (ZTC), Hyderabad,

17 persons (3 from SC, 4 from ST and 3 from OBC)

w h i c h , d u r i n g th e ye a r, co n d u cte d 76 tr ai ni ng

were recruited in Groups B and C, respectively.

programmes wherein 1,348 staff members, representing
58 per cent of their total staff strength participated.

b.

5.19 Four new programmes were introduced at these

5.22 The details of promotions effected during the year

Promotions

are given in Table 5.1. Further, eight (2 SC) employees

centres, viz., a Programme on the Operational and

were promoted within the sub-staff cadre and 29, 19

Supervisory Functions of NABARD, Basic Accounting

and 5 officers were promoted from Grade C to D,

and General Banking, Thrust Area Familiarization and

D to E and E to F, respectively.

Self Awareness. Further, three one-day workshops on
Stress and Health Management covering 60
participants were also conducted with the help of

Table 5.1: Promotions Effected during the Year

outside agencies. In order to equip women employees

Particulars

Total

to manage their roles at home and the work place
effectively, workshops in soft skills and behavourial
areas were conducted wherein 66 women employees
from HO participated.
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Of which
SC

ST

Officers in Grade A to B

83

10

8

Officers in Grade B to C

65

9

4

Clerical to Officer Cadre

55

16

6

c.

B.

Staff Strength

5.23 The total staff strength of the Bank stood at

Welfare Measures for SC/ST
Employees

5,298 as on 31 March 2004 of which 1,309 belonged to

5.27. The Parliamentary Committee on Welfare of SCs/

SCs/ STs (Table 5.2).

STs visited Tamil Nadu RO and discussed matters
relating to reservations and other welfare measures for
SCs/STs with senior executives of the Bank and

Table 5.2: Total Staff Strength
Cadre

Total Strength

representatives of AINPEWA.

Category-wise Strength
SC

ST

Group A

2,963

409 (13.80)

190 (6.41)

Group B

1,350

152 (11.26)

118 (8.74)

Group C

985

325 (32.99)

115 (11.68)

5,298

886 (16.72)

423 (7.98)

Total

5.28 The various benefits extended to these employees
are as under:
•

Strict observance of reservation in favour of SCs/
STs in vacancies filled by direct recruitment as also
in vacancies filled by promotions in all grades to

Figures in parentheses indicate percentages to total.

whi ch the Bank has accepted to pr o v i de f or
reservation in consonance with instructions from
the GoI.

5.24 The staff strength of ex-servicemen and physically
handicapped employees in the Bank stood at 128 and

•

Conduct of thr ee pr e- pr omoti onal t r ai ni ng

82, constituting 2.4 and 1.6 per cent of the total staff

programmes each for the benefit of 105 and 62 SC/

strength, respectively.

ST officers and clerical staff, respectively.

Administrative and Other Matters
A.

•

A workshop on the implementation of the reservation
pol i cy and pr acti ces for S Cs/S Ts/OB C s w as

Industrial Relations

conducted at NBSC for officers dealing with matters
relating to reservation policy, Liaison Officers and

5.25 Industrial relations in the Bank continued to be

representatives of the Welfare Association.

cordial. Periodical discussions were held with the All
India NABARD Officers Association, the All India

•

During the year, an amount of Rs.2.26 lakh was

NABARD Employees Association and the All India

disbursed to the wards of SC/ST employees under

NABARD Progressive Employees Welfare Association

the scholarship/book grant scheme. Book grants were

(AINPEWA). Quarterly meetings of the senior executives

also extended to seven units of the B.R. Ambedkar

and chief liason officer at HO were held regularly with

Library along with newspapers, telephones and PCs.

AINPEWA.

C.

5.26 As directed by the Supreme Court, a Central

Other Staff Benefits

5.29 Housing loans aggregating Rs.11.93 crore were

Complaints Committee in HO and 18 Regional

sanctioned to 302 employees. The disbursements made

Complaints Committees (RCCs) have been set up for

against the sanctions, including loans sanctioned during

prevention of sexual harassment of women at the work

the previous years amounted to Rs.12.45 crore.

place. During the year, one more RCC at Uttaranchal
RO was constituted, taking the total number of RCCs

5.30 T he Al l Indi a N ati onal Bank S por t s M e e t

to 19. Further, a new rule was incorporated in the

(NABOTSAV-X) was held at Kolkata in December 2003

NABARD (Staff) Rules, 1982, expressly providing for

to encourage sports activities and foster brotherhood

prevention of sexual harassment of women at the

among the staff.

work place.
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D.

Information Technology

Inspection of 15 HO departments, including partial
inspection of one department was undertaken during

5.31 A software project for developing an on-line

the year. Off-site surveillance of Concurrent Audit Cells

financial accounting system was completed and all

(CACs) working in ROs was also undertaken through

Accounting Units were imparted training in its usage at

monthly audit returns. Quarterly reviews of intermediary

NBSC. Presently, computers are used in Business

accounts (Sundry Advances and Sundry Creditors) were

Processes in varying degrees and in isolation. With a

completed during the year.

view to integrate them, the process of developing
software for the business departments has been

5.36 The prescribed quarterly reports covering the

activated. This is expected to improve monitoring and

Banks investment portfolio transactions were regularly

customer services besides making available exhaustive

sent to the RBI. The Concurrent Audit of five ROs, viz.,

database for both policy planning and decision-making.

E.

Andhra Pradesh, Gujarat, Orissa, Rajasthan and West
Bengal and three departments of HO, was outsourced

Vigilance

to M/s Haribhakti & Co.

5.32 NABARD continued to lay considerable emphasis

H.

on vigilance surveillance and conducted Preventive
Vigilance Inspection of 15 ROs/TEs. To sensitize

5.37 NABARD participated in various agricultural and

employees a Vigilance Awareness Week was observed

trade exhibitions in different parts of the country. The

by the Bank from 3 to 8 November 2003.

F.

Public Relations

Indian Express Group devoted a fortnightly page on
agriculture in two of their publications, viz., Indian

Office Premises/Residential
Quarters

Express and Loksatta. In order to initiate a debate on
the role of media in rural development, a seminar on

5.33 The Head Office at Mumbai, 14 Regional Offices

Thought to Action was organized by the Bank in

and three training establishments, viz., NBSC, BIRD

associ ati on wi th the T i mes of Indi a G r oup of

and NBTC at Lucknow are located at premises owned

Publications, wherein eminent journalists, bankers and

by the Bank. During the year, construction of office

agricultural scientists shared their experiences and

building for the RO at Thiruvananthapuram was

expertise.

completed. Construction of office buildings for ROs at
Guwahati and Lucknow is in progress. Plots have been

5.38 The Banks in-house publication NABARD

acquired for office premises at Jammu, Itanagar, Port

Parivar won the Magazine of the Year award instituted

Blair and Srinagar and construction proposals are on

by the Association of Business Communicators of India

the drawing board.

(ABCI). On 12 July 2003, NABARD released a corporate
film on its role as a development partner. Also, one

5.34 NABARD has constructed/acquired its own

million Meghdoot post cards bearing the KCC message

residential quarters for officers at 17 centres. So far,

were introduced by the Bank.

residential quarters have been constructed/acquired at
15 centres for Group B staff and at 13 centres for
Group C staff. Construction of staff quarters at
Guwahati is in progress.

G.

I.

Corporate Relations Cell

5.39

Public Sector Enterprises (PSEs) work on a number

of projects in health, education and other social sectors
besides the agriculture sector under their Corporate Social

Inspection

Responsibility (CSR) portfolio in rural areas. Since the core

5.35 Inspection of 14 ROs was undertaken by HO and

competencies of these organisations are not agriculture and

3 ROs in the NER by the Zonal Audit Cell at Kolkata.

rural development, NABARD has set up a Corporate
110

Relations Cell to collaborate with these PSEs in order to

5.42 For all round performance in progressive use of

improve and fine-tune their activities, with emphasis on

Hindi in the ROs, Rashtriya Bank Rajbhasha Shield

watershed development, SHG promotion, income

2002-03 was awarded to Madhya Pradesh (Region A),

generating activities for the rural populace and promotion

Gujarat (Region B) and Andhra Pradesh (Region C).

of micro enterprises apart from traditional activities. The

Merit certificates for second and third places were

Cell, which has been in operation since February 2004, has

awarded to Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh (Region A),

been given the mandate of networking with PSEs, gaining

Maharashtra, Punjab and Haryana (Region B) and

relevant experiences from their CSR portfolios and exploring

Karnataka and Tamil Nadu (Region C).

business opportunities for NABARD in an effort to extend
5.43 The Banks in-house journal in Hindi Rashtriya

the Banks proactive influence in the agriculture and rural

Bank Srijana bagged six prizes awarded by various

development sector. The Cell is in the final stage of entering

organizations this year, among which were the RBI,

into MoUs with two PSEs, viz., Bharat Petroleum

Mayaram Surjan Foundation, Raipur and Association

Corporation Ltd. and Hindustan Petroleum Corporation

of Business Communicators of India.

Ltd. Besides this, the Cell has also entered into negotiations
with ONGC, IOC, NTPC, RCFL, GAIL and NHAI.

K.

5.44 A scheme for writing original books in Hindi on
Agriculture and Rural Development was launched for

Promotion of Hindi

the existing and retired staff of the Bank. Competitions

5.40 NABARD continued its efforts to promote the use

were also organized for staff members and their families

of Hindi in its day-to-day working. The Official Language

to encourage the use of Hindi.

Implementation Committees continuously reviewed the
progress vis-a-vis Government policy regarding progressive

5.45 T h e Pa r l i a m e n t a r y C o m m i t t e e o n O f f i c i a l

use of Hindi and effective steps taken to implement the

Language visited/inspected Gujarat RO. The Deputy

same.

Director, Regional Implementation Office of the Official
Language Department (Ministry of Home Affairs), GoI,

5.41 Thirteen staff members were imparted necessary

also visited HO. The Committee and the Deputy Director

training under the Hindi Teaching Scheme of the GoI.

appreciated the efforts being made by the Bank to

Nine stenographers were deputed for Hindi stenography

augment the use of Hindi. Further, HO reviewed the use

training on an ongoing basis and 845 staff members

of Hindi in six ROs.

were imparted training to work in Hindi on personal
computers. Fifty-seven staff members passed the

5.46 The Banks website was designed in Hindi and

e xa m i n a t i o n h e ld und e r the D ista nce Educati on

its English version carries the Annual Report and a profile

Scheme of the Bank.

of the Bank in bilingual format.
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GUPTA SHARMA & ASSOCIATES
Chartered Accountants

IInd Floor, 142, Sector 3 Trikuta Nagar, Jammu - 180012
Tel.: 0191-2472212, 2472121

REPORT OF THE AUDITORS
We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of the National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development as at 31st March 2004
and also the Profit and Loss Account for the year ended on that date annexed thereto in which are incorporated the returns of 10
Regional Offices and NBSC Lucknow audited by us. These offices have been selected by us in consultation with the Bank in terms
of notification No. 1/4/2003-BOA dated 27 January 2004 issued by Ministry of Finance, Department of Economic Affairs (Banking
Division). Also incorporated in the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account are the returns from 19 Regional Offices and 2
Training Centres which have not been subjected to audit. These unaudited offices account for 20.55 per cent of advances and
18.88 per cent of interest income. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's Management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statements presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Subject to the limitation mentioned at para 1 above we report that:
a.

We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary
for the purpose of our audit and have found them to be satisfactory;

b.

The Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account have been drawn up in accordance with Schedule 'A' and Schedule 'B'
of Chapter IV of the National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development (Additional) General Regulations, 1984;

c.

The returns received from the Head Office, Regional Offices, Sub-Office and Training Centres have been found adequate
for the purpose of our audit;

d.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:
(i)

the Balance Sheet read with the Significant Accounting Policies and the Notes thereon is a full and fair Balance
Sheet containing all necessary particulars and is properly drawn up in conformity with the generally accepted
accounting principles in India so as to exhibit a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Bank as at 31 March
2004; and

(ii)

the Profit and Loss Account read with the Significant Accounting Policies and the Notes thereon shows a true
balance of the profit for the year ended 31 March 2004 in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles in India.

New Delhi, 12 June 2004
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants

Ashok Gupta
(Partner)
Membership No. 17244
Branch Office: Opposite DMC (old) Civil Lines, Ludhiana- 141 001.
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NATIONAL BANK FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT
BALANCE SHEET AS ON 31 MARCH 2004
Sr.No.

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

1.

Capital

SCHEDULE

(Rupees)

AS ON 31.03.2004

AS ON 31.3.2003

2000,00,00,000

2000,00,00,000

Under Section 4 of the NABARD Act, 1981
2.

Reserve Fund and other Reserves

1

5290,89,85,487

4319,43,95,813

3.

National Rural Credit (Long Term Operations) Fund

2

13070,00,00,000

12945,00,00,000

4.

National Rural Credit (Stabilisation) Fund

2

1500,00,00,000

1474,00,00,000

5.

Funds out of grants received from International Agencies

3

184,59,22,256

189,44,58,346

6.

Gifts, Grants, Donations and Benefactions

4

103,54,80,564

127,24,27,948

7.

Other Funds

5

510,56,67,247

414,18,20,565

8.

Deposits

6

12151,00,42,530

12248,55,98,599

9.

Bonds and Debentures

7

11883,32,21,000

8702,18,61,000

10.

Borrowings

8

7553,66,11,462

6682,76,00,305

11.

Current Liabilities and Provisions

9

1641,01,22,536

968,07,57,495

55888,60,53,082

50070,89,20,071

335,37,18,410

0

SCHEDULE

AS ON 31.03.2004

AS ON 31.03.2003

10

2899,86,40,761

1784,99,67,373

Total
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts (Hedging) as per contra
Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

17

Notes forming part of the Accounts

18

Sr.No.

PROPERTY AND ASSETS

1.

Cash and Bank Balances

2.

Investments (at cost)

11

2411,87,47,561

1354,99,11,020

3.

Advances

12

48790,26,44,248

45361,40,90,216

4.

Fixed Assets

13

244,81,50,358

243,78,15,518

5.

Other Assets

14

1541,78,70,154

1325,71,35,944

55888,60,53,082

50070,89,20,071

335,37,18,410

0

Total
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts (Hedging) as per contra

As per our report of even date attached
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants

P.S.S.R. Sarma

Ashok Gupta

Chief General Manager

Partner

Finance & Accounts Department

Membership No. 17244

New Delhi, 12 June 2004

New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Ranjana Kumar
Chairperson
New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Y.S.P. Thorat
Managing Director

N.S. Sisodia
Director
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K.J. Udeshi
Director

NATIONAL BANK FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2004
Sr.No.

INCOME

1.

Interest received on Loans and Advances

SCHEDULE

2.

Income from Investment Operations

3.

Discount Received

4.

Other Receipts

(Rupees)

AS ON 31.03.2004

AS ON 31.3.2003

3937,97,40,230

3717,41,23,081

309,39,91,020

311,00,78,076

0

2,54,98,287

19,90,35,313

15,43,01,829

4267,27,66,563

4046,40,01,273

SCHEDULE

AS ON 31.03.2004

AS ON 31.3.2003

15
16

2369,59,90,720
354,81,32,615
30,15,16,049

2170,88,58,846
276,74,55,642
28,55,70,695

51,63,45,574
65,00,000

45,95,59,318
0

(Refer Note B-13 Schedule 18)
Total A

Sr.No.

EXPENDITURE

1.
2.
3.

Interest and Financial Charges
Establishment and Other Expenses
Depreciation
(Refer Note B-13 Schedule 18)
Provisions for
a) Bad and Doubtful Debts
b) Depreciation in Investment Value
(Refer Note B-13-II (9) Schedule 18)

4.

Total B

2806,84,84,958

2522,14,44,501

5.

Profit before Income Tax (A - B)

1460,42,81,605

1524,25,56,772

6.

a) Add Deferred Tax - Asset (Adjustment)

7.

b) Less Provision for Incom Tax
Profit after Income Tax for the year carried down

36,40,00,000

13,00,00,000

375,00,00,000
1121,82,81,605

390,00,00,000
1147,25,56,772

PROFIT AND LOSS APPROPRIATION ACCOUNT
Sr.No.

APPROPRIATIONS/WITHDRAWALS

1.

Profit for the year brought down
Add: Withdrawals from funds against expenditure debited to Profit & Loss A/c
Co-operative Development Fund (Refer Schedule 1)
Research and Development Fund (Refer Schedule 1)
Watershed Development Fund (Refer Schedule 5)
Micro Finance Development Fund (Refer Schedule 5)
Profit available for Appropriation
Less: Transferred to:
Special Reserves u/s 36(i) (viii)
NRC (LTO) Fund
NRC (Stab) Fund
Co-operative Development Fund
Research and Development Fund
Micro Finance Development Fund
Foreign Currency Risk Fund
Tribal Development Fund
Investment Fluctuation Reserve
Reserve Fund

2.
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.
x.

(Rupees)

AS ON 31.03.2004

AS ON 31.3.2003

1121,82,81,605

1147,25,56,772

4,75,95,441
6,70,45,830
2,55,04,226
3,13,15,379
1138,97,42,481

6,01,73,998
6,94,52,019
2,28,16,952
1,58,79,663
1164,08,79,404

600,00,00,000
124,00,00,000
25,00,00,000
4,75,95,442
6,70,45,830
7,05,11,537
13,62,29,603
50,00,00,000
9,87,71,000
297,95,89,069

570,00,00,000
221,00,00,000
221,00,00,000
12,67,81,129
12,56,61,588
1,93,64,478
13,62,29,603
0
0
111,28,42,606

1138,97,42,481

1164,08,79,404

Total

As per our report of even date attached
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants
P.S.S.R. Sarma
Chief General Manager
Finance & Accounts Department
New Delhi, 12 June 2004
Ranjana Kumar
Chairperson
New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Ashok Gupta
Partner
Membership No. 17244
New Delhi, 12 June 2004
Y.S.P. Thorat
Managing Director

N.S. Sisodia
Director
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SCHEDULES TO BALANCE SHEET
Schedule 1
( Rupees)
Sr.
No.

Reserve Fund and other Reserves

1.

Reserve Fund

2.

Research and Development Fund

3.

Capital Reserve

4.

Investment Fluctuation Reserve

5.

Co-operative Development Fund

6.

Soft Loan Assistance Fund for

7.

Agriculture & Rural Enterprise

8.

Foreign Currency Risk Fund

9.

Special Reserves Created &

Opening
Balance
as on 01.04.2003

Additions/
adjustments
during the year

Transferred
from P&L
Appropriation

2868,39,28,081

2

50,00,00,000

0

74,80,53,208

Margin Money
Incubation Fund

Transferred
to P&L
Appropriation

Balance as on
31.03.2004

297,95,89,069

0

3166,35,17,152

6,70,45,830

6,70,45,830

50,00,00,000

0

0

0

74,80,53,208

103,67,29,000

0

9,87,71,000

0

113,55,00,000

75,00,00,000

0

4,75,95,442

4,75,95,442

75,00,00,000

10,00,00,000

0

0

0

10,00,00,000

5,00,00,000

0

0

0

5,00,00,000

92,56,85,524

0

13,62,29,603

0

106,19,15,127

1040,00,00,000

0

600,00,00,000

0

1640,00,00,000

0

0

50,00,00,000

0

50,00,00,000

Total

4319,43,95,813

2

982,92,30,944

11,46,41,272

5290,89,85,487

Previous year

3626,20,05,996

-13,94,99,092

720,15,14,926

12,96,26,017

4319,43,95,813

Maintained u/s 36(i),(viii)of
Income Tax Act 1961
10.

Tribal Development Fund

Schedule 2
Sr.
No.

National Rural Credit Funds

Opening Balance
as on 01.04.2003

1.

NRC (Long Term Operations) Fund

2.

NRC (Stabilisation) Fund

( Rupees)
Contribution by
RBI

Transferred from
P&L
Appropriation

Balance as on
31.03.2004

12945,00,00,000

1,00,00,000

124,00,00,000

13070,00,00,000

1474,00,00,000

1,00,00,000

25,00,00,000

1500,00,00,000

Total

14419,00,00,000

2,00,00,000

149,00,00,000

14570,00,00,000

Previous year

13975,00,00,000

2,00,00,000

442,00,00,000

14419,00,00,000

Schedule 3
Sr.
No.

Funds out of Grants received from
International Agencies

1.

National Bank - Swiss Development
Coop. Project

34,09,48,974

2.

Rural Promotion Corpus Fund

61,80,70,668

3.

Interest on RPCF (Refer Note B-2 Schedule 18)

23,46,36,508

4.

Credit and Financial Services Fund

5.

KfW Fund for Watershed Development

6.
7.

CEC-BAIF Project Fund (Refer Note B-2 Schedule 18)

(Rupees)

Opening Grants received
Balance
during the
as on 01.04.2003
year

Interest
credited
to the fund

Expr./Disb./adj.
during the
year

Balance
as on
31.03.2004

0

0

0

34,09,48,974

0

0

0

61,80,70,668

0

3,73,41,764

10,20,45,475

16,99,32,797

64,80,05,727

0

3,87,82,342

16,33,367

68,51,54,702

(Refer Note B-2 Schedule 18)

2,62,02,337

5,95,34,070

9,77,969

6,27,94,103

2,39,20,273

KfW - NABARD V Fund for Adivasi Programme*

2,64,94,353

2,99,81,212

0

4,87,16,780

77,58,785

99,779

12,76,52,905

69,112

12,76,85,739

1,36,057

Total

189,44,58,346

21,71,68,187

7,71,71,187

34,28,75,464

184,59,22,256

Previous year

177,08,25,421

31,81,49,619

7,43,16,226

26,88,32,920

189,44,58,346

(Refer Note B-2 Schedule 18)

* Grants received include Rs. 1,85,34,547 transfered to NABARD V Adivasi Special Programme - Gujarat
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Schedule 4
(Rupees)
Sr. Gifts, Grants, Donations and
No. Benefactions

Opening
Balance as on
01.04.2003

Grant received
during
the year

Interest
credited

Adjusted
against the
expenditure

Closing
Balance as on
31.03.2004

0

1,08,72,170

0

67,75,649

40,96,521

59,45,04,810

11,00,00,000

0

49,02,42,600

21,42,62,210

52,83,890

5,68,50,392

5,03,662

3,83,77,150

2,42,60,794

76,67,624

5,14,12,526

0

4,86,01,924

1,04,78,226

0

3,00,00,000

0

0

3,00,00,000

A.
1.

GTZ Banking Linkage Project

2.

Capital Investment Subsidy for
Cold Storage Projects

3.. KfW - NABARD - IX Adivasi Development Programme
(Refer Note B-2 Schedule 18)
4.

NABARD - SDC: HID Partnership in
Rural Finance Project

5.

Credit Linked Cap Subsidy for
Tech Upgradation of SSIs

6.

Capital Investment Subsidy for
Rural Godowns

7,73,44,800

80,86,00,000

0

86,76,22,549

1,83,22,251

50,42,21,600

0

0

35,84,75,940

14,57,45,660

4,00,55,265

154,57,00,000

0 111,35,64,180

47,21,91,085

3,81,00,737

0

17,63,188

3,88,34,547

10,29,378

0

5,44,40,000

0

0

5,44,40,000

11. Cattle Development Programme- Bihar

0

5,44,40,000

0

0

5,44,40,000

12. IGWDP - Andhra Pradesh

0

57,55,993

97,360

26,69,292

31,84,061

126,71,78,726

272,80,71,081

52,49,222

5,87,475

127,24,27,948

272,86,58,556

23,64,210 296,79,70,150 103,54,80,564

84,89,87,781

264,41,97,709

3,04,405 222,10,61,947 127,24,27,948

7.

Onfarm Water Management for Crop Production

8.

Million Shallow Tubewell Programme

9.

NABARD V Adivasi Special Dev. Prog.* Gujarat
(Refer Note B-2 Schedule18)

10. Cattle Development Programme- U.P.

Sub-Total
B.

23,64,210 296,51,63,831 103,24,50,186

Grant for Fixed Asset under
NABARD SDC HID Project

Total

(A+B)

Previous year

0

28,06,319

As on 31.03.2004
C.

30,30,378

As on 31.03.2003

Grants to RRBs/SCBs/SLDBs under ARDR Scheme, 1990

2695,94,72,596

2696,22,05,549

Less: Grants Released to RRBs/SCBs/ SLDBs under ARDR Scheme, 1990

2695,94,72,596

2696,22,05,549

0

0

* Adjusted against the expenditure which includes a sum of Rs. 1,85,34,547/- being the amount transferred to KfW - NABARD-V Fund for
Adivasi Development (Schedule 3) and 'Interest credited' includes a sum of Rs. 7,33,810 being amount of interest for the year2002-03
transferred from Sundry Creditors - Sundry Deposits.
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Schedule 5
( Rupees)
Sr. Other Funds
No.
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6

Watershed
Development Fund
Micro Finance
Development Fund
Interest Differential
Fund - (Forex Risk)
Interest Differential
Fund - (TAWA)
(Refer Note B-1
Schedule 18)
Medical Assistance
Fund
Adivasi Development
Fund

Opening
Additions /
Balance as on
Adjustments
01.04.2003 during the year

Expenditure/
Disb. during
the year

Interest
credited

Deposits

1.
2.

Central Government
State Governments

Balance as on
31.03.2004

2,55,04,225 343,09,83,816

7,05,11,537

3,91,96,158

0

3,13,15,379 100,00,00,000

17,13,92,224

0

0

0

0

60,68,53,612

5,21,01,501

2,38,56,405

0

2,38,62,385

0

0

5,20,95,521

78,00,665

39,16,362

0

82,03,530

6,41,469

0

41,54,966

0

1,15,79,332

0

0

0

0

1,15,79,332

414,18,20,565

89,05,52,278

7,05,11,537

9,67,66,299 15,63,68,770

5,68,19,604

510,56,67,247

402,15,72,696

19,03,05,230

1,93,64,478

67,98,07,955

0

100,00,00,000

0

43,54,61,388

5,07,25,224

0

Schedule 6
Sr.
No.

Transferred
to P&L
Appropriation

2,55,04,226 15,57,27,301

264,64,57,011

Total
Previous year

Transferred
from P & L
Appropriation

3,86,96,615 414,18,20,565
(Rupees)

Balance as on
31.03.2004

Balance as on
31.03.2003

2,13,17,000
1,55,65,900

2,13,17,000
2,95,65,900

3.

Tea Companies

58,73,59,630

84,24,65,699

4.

Commercial Banks (Deposits under RIDF)

12088,58,00,000

12159,22,50,000

Total

12151,00,42,530

12248,55,98,599

Schedule 7
Sr.

Bonds and Debentures

No.

(Rupees)
Balance as on

Balance as on

31.03.2004

31.03.2003

1.

SLR Bonds

882,30,11,000

960,30,11,000

2.

Tax Free Bonds

1150,00,00,000

1014,85,00,000

3.

Priority Sector Taxable Bonds

3696,80,00,000

2198,80,00,000

4.

Non Priority Sector Bonds

1803,50,00,000

53,50,00,000

5.

Capital Gains Bonds

4350,72,10,000

4474,73,50,000

11883,32,21,000

8702,18,61,000

Total

Schedule 8
(Rupees)
Sr.

Borrowings

Balance as on

No.

Balance as on

31.03.2004

31.03.2003

563,05,52,547

589,14,72,067
5792,07,79,000

1.

From Central Government

2.

From RBI under General Line of Credit

4193,59,54,000

3.

Corporate Borrowing

2500,00,00,000

0

4.

From International Agencies - Outside India (Refer Note B-6 (a) Schedule 18)

297,01,04,915

301,53,49,238

7553,66,11,462

6682,76,00,305

Total
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Schedule 9
(Rupees)
Sr.

Current Liabilities and Provisions

Balance as on

Balance as on

31.03.2004

31.03.2003

20,97,37,761

21,34,66,673

428,01,49,564

269,43,96,281

4,18,63,220

8,77,77,189

6,43,682

8,78,253

58,54,132

56,53,780

290,13,60,554

264,15,64,095

36,28,767

0

Sub-Total

744,32,37,680

564,37,36,271

2.

Sundry Creditors (Refer Note B-7 Schedule 18)

127,08,41,835

29,71,93,646

3.

Provision for Gratuity

120,10,37,000

100,97,43,109

4.

Provision for Pension (Refer Note B-4 Schedule 18)

178,98,28,821

91,72,65,283

5.

Provision for Encashment of Ordinary Leave

45,13,66,000

38,26,09,000

6.

Application Money - Capital Gain Bonds

0

40,00,000

7.

Unclaimed Interest on Bonds with RBI (Refer Note B-5 Schedule 18)

14,95,839

2,68,08,942

8.

Unclaimed Interest on Bonds - Others

3,76,72,210

97,13,984

9.

Bonds matured but not claimed (Refer Note B-5 Schedule 18)

185,87,76,000

26,33,30,000

10.

Provisions and Contingencies
200,00,00,000

148,63,57,260

No.
1.

Interest Accrued but not due on
a) Loans from Central Government
b) Bonds
c) Tea Deposits
d) Deposits from Central and State Governments (SLA)
e) Borrowings from International Agencies
f) Deposits under RIDF
g) Commercial Bank Borrowings

(a) For Bad and Doubtful Debts
(b) Against Depreciation in Value of Investments
11.

Provision for Income Tax (Net of Taxes paid)
Total

65,00,000

0

34,93,67,151

-36,00,00,000

1641,01,22,536

968,07,57,495

Schedule 10
Sr.

Cash and Bank Balances

Balance as on

Balance as on

31.03.2004

31.03.2003

54,845

64,862

602,35,64,053

215,08,48,016

a) On Current Account

317,23,52,026

107,25,15,095

b) On Deposit Account

1720,00,00,000

1416,00,00,000

260,26,69,837

46,65,39,400

2899,86,40,761

1784,99,67,373

No.
1.

Cash on hand

2.

Balance with Reserve Bank of India

3.

Balances with other Banks in India

4.

(Rupees)

Remittances in transit
Total
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Schedule 11
(Rupees)
Sr.
No.

INVESTMENTS (at cost)

1.

Securities of Central Government *
Face Value

Rs.20,47,32,60,000

(Previous year -

Rs.12,26,00,10,000)

Market Value

Rs.25,97,67,02,734

(Previous year -

Rs.14,27,55,19,406)

Balance as on
31.03.2004

Balance as
on 31.03.2003

2270,86,60,565

1248,39,11,020

15,60,00,000

15,60,00,000

1,00,00,000

1,00,00,000

30,00,00,000

30,00,00,000

60,00,00,000

60,00,00,000

5,00,00,000

0

4,38,90,000

0

25,01,96,996

0

2411,87,47,561

1354,99,11,020

(Refer Note B-7 (b) Schedule 18)
2.

ADFC - Equity
Face Value

Rs.15,60,00,000

(Previous year -

Rs.15,60,00,000)

(Refer Note B-7 (a) Schedule 18)
3.

4.

5.

6.

AFC - Equity
Face Value

Rs.1,00,00,000

(Previous year -

Rs.1,00,00,000)

SIDBI-Equity
Face Value

Rs.10,00,00,000

(Previous year -

Rs.10,00,00,000)

AICI LTD.
Face Value

Rs.60,00,00,000

(Previous year -

Rs.60,00,00,000)

Nabcons Pvt. Ltd.
Face Value

7.

NCDEX Ltd.
Face Value

8.

Rs.5,00,00,000
Rs.4,38,90,000

Mutual Funds
Face Value

Rs.23,74,03,330

Total

* Balance as on 31-03-2004 includes securities for Rs.10 crore (Book Value Rs. 13,02,52,050/-) pledged with CCIL

Schedule 12
(Rupees)
Sr.

Advances

No.
1.

Balance as on

Balance as

31.03.2004

on 31.03.2003

5597,96,03,835

6053,20,48,440

633,42,87,054

370,17,83,187

5,21,63,760

9,40,90,320

28075,69,04,921

25400,85,84,282

459,65,31,994

441,44,55,702

3,46,98,400

14,54,90,600

14003,59,38,359

13061,89,29,063

10,61,62,181

9,87,08,622

63,53,744

0

48790,26,44,248

45361,40,90,216

Refinance Loans:
i. Production & Marketing Credit
ii. Conversion Loans for Production Credit
iii. Medium Term Investment Credit- Non-Project loans
iv. Other Investment Credit:
a) Medium Term and Long Term Project Loans
(Refer Note B-9 Schedule 18)
b) Long Term Non-Project Loans
c) Interim Finance

2.

Direct Loans:
i. Loans under Rural Infrastructure Development Fund
ii. Other Loans
iii. Co-Finance Loan
Total
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Schedule 13
(Rupees)
Sr.

Fixed Assets

No.
1.

Balance as on

Balance as on

31.03.2004

31.03.2003

117,98,98,101

108,13,82,238

-29,64,961

9,85,15,863

117,69,33,140

117,98,98,101

19,72,81,744

16,75,19,999

97,96,51,396

101,23,78,102

192,76,13,953

190,40,88,189

22,71,41,432

2,35,25,764

215,47,55,385

192,76,13,953

86,90,94,489

75,12,40,799

128,56,60,896

117,63,73,154

47,79,92,423

46,75,89,329

LAND : Freehold & Leasehold (at cost)
(Refer Note B-10 & 10(a) Schedule 18)
As per Last Account
Additions/adjustments during the year
Less: Amortisation of lease premia

2.

PREMISES : (at cost)
(Refer Note B-10 & 10(a) Schedule 18)
As per Last Account
Additions/adjustments during the year
Less: Depreciation to date

3.

FURNITURE & FIXTURES (at cost)
As per Last Account
Additions/adjustments during the year
Less: Cost of asset sold/written off
Less: Depreciation to date

4.

1,49,44,002
48,25,33,331

50,78,113

45,40,908

50,35,89,969

47,79,92,423

41,58,40,234

34,84,18,395

8,77,49,735

12,95,74,028

50,05,38,046

44,69,61,030

COMPUTER INSTALLATIONS & OFFICE EQUIPMENTS (at cost)
As per Last Account
Additions/adjustments during the year
Less: Cost of asset sold/written off
Less: Depreciation to date

5.

3,06,75,659
50,86,68,082

5,45,70,956

6,24,80,393

55,51,09,002

50,94,41,423

2,31,65,961

89,03,377

53,19,43,041

50,05,38,046

44,43,61,151

38,75,62,800

8,75,81,890

11,29,75,246

2,34,60,085

2,29,65,420

VEHICLES (at cost)
As per Last Account
Additions/adjustments during the year
Less: Cost of asset sold/written off
Less: Depreciation to date

Total
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62,58,474

10,65,740

2,97,18,559

2,40,31,160

34,86,880

5,71,075

2,62,31,679

2,34,60,085

1,87,25,238

1,69,45,097

75,06,441

65,14,988

244,81,50,358

243,78,15,518

Schedule 14
Sr.

Other Assets

No.

(Rupees)
Balance as on

Balance as on

31.03.2004

31.03.2003

1141,35,01,335

1016,78,27,201

1.

Accrued Interest

2.

Deposit with Landlords

1,03,16,776

95,06,950

3.

Deposit with Government Departments and other Institutions

2,02,28,909

1,98,47,457

4.

Housing loan and other loans to staff

135,76,07,276

130,80,40,153

5.

Advances to Landlords

6.

Advances for Construction/Purchase of Staff Quarters & Office Premises

7.

Sundry Advances

8.

Deferred Tax Assets (Refer Note B-8 Schedule 18)

9.

Cheque in transit (I T Refund)

10.

Expenditure recoverable from Government of India/ International Agencies
Total

15,63,374

0

15,86,08,497

27,43,23,897

25,48,45,489

28,68,90,919

153,40,00,000

117,00,00,000

1475,06,71,656

1323,64,36,577

64,97,36,338

0

1,74,62,160

2,06,99,367

1541,78,70,154

1325,71,35,944

Schedule 15
Sr.

Interest and Financial Charges Paid

No
1.

(Rupees)
Balance as on

Balance as

31.03.2004

on 31.03.2003

41,43,69,894

58,48,82,805

Interest Paid on
i.

Loans from Central Government

ii.

Borrowings from Reserve Bank of India

148,30,61,664

317,85,56,198

iii.

Bonds

802,84,71,234

644,47,47,491

iv.

Special Loan Deposits from Central and State Governments

33,75,945

35,61,802

4,35,41,792

8,84,07,205

v.

Tea Deposits

vi.

Deposits under Priority Sector Shortfall

vii.

Gratuity & Medical Fund

viii.

Borrowings from International Agencies

ix.

Deposits under RIDF

x.

0

0

8,88,22,753

8,66,85,005

18,27,93,792

18,27,93,788

1278,91,78,324

1088,59,71,039

Rural Promotion Corpus Fund

3,73,41,764

3,86,29,417

xi.

Credit and Financial Services Fund

3,87,82,342

3,49,30,154

xii.

Failed Well Scheme

xiii.

KfW - NABARD - IX Adivasi Development Programme

xiv.

Watershed Development Fund

0

21,950

5,03,662

3,04,405

15,57,27,301

13,85,77,781

xv.

CEC-BAIF Project Fund

69,112

41,783

xvi.

Indo-German Watershed Development Programme (A.P.)

97,360

7,14,872

xvii.

KfW - NABARD - V Adivasi Development Programme

0

7,33,810

xviii.

NABARD - V Adivasi Special Development Prog. - Gujarat

xix.

KfW fund for Watershed Development

xx.

Corporate Borrowings from Banks and FIs in India

10,29,378

0

9,77,969

0

36,71,89,042

0

2.

Swap Charges

2,07,79,170

0

3.

Discount, Brokerage, Commission & issue exp. on Bonds

3,98,78,222

3,92,99,341

2369,59,90,720

2170,88,58,846

Total
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Schedule 16
(Rupees)
Sr.

Establishment and other Expenses

No.

Balance as on

Balance as on

31.03.2004

31.03.2003

1.

Salaries and Allowances

148,70,86,060

139,76,27,900

2.

Contribution to Staff Superannuation Funds

113,62,36,966

44,60,01,968

20,29,021

11,68,781

23,500

30,000

(Refer Note B-4 Schedule 18)
3.

Travelling & other allowances in connection with
Directors' & Committee members' Meetings

4.

Directors' & Committee Member's Fees

5.

Rent, Rates, Insurance, Lighting, etc.

16,20,65,559

15,84,08,005

6.

Travelling Expenses

14,68,47,326

13,54,89,151

7.

Printing & Stationery

2,32,41,261

2,28,16,745

8.

Postage, Telegrams & Telephones

3,98,50,063

4,30,60,004

9.

Repairs

3,09,10,233

3,66,93,575

10.

Audit Fees

6,19,580

3,02,400

11.

Legal Charges

30,72,165

12,21,927

12.

Miscellaneous Expenses

24,45,95,427

25,39,09,875

13.

Expenditure on Study & Training

16,61,52,300

17,07,79,029

4,75,95,442

6,01,73,999

(Refer Note B-11 Schedule 18)
14.

Expenditure on promotional activities under
(i) Co-operative Development Fund

15.

(ii)

Micro Finance Development Fund

3,13,15,379

1,58,79,663

(iii)

Watershed Development Fund

2,55,04,226

2,28,16,952

9,88,107

10,75,668

354,81,32,615

276,74,55,642

Wealth Tax

Total

Schedule 17
(Rupeees)
Sr.

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

No.
1.

Commitments on account of contracts remaining to be executed

2.

Contingent Liabilities
Disputed claims for additional payment towards construction of premises
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As on

As on

31.03.2004

31.03.2003

12,44,18,800

11,98,52,216

65,48,45,000

65,87,61,697

Schedule 18
A.

Significant Accounting Policies

1.

General

3.5. Depreciation on computers, motor vehicles, office
equipments, furniture, electrical fittings, etc., is charged
on straight line basis. In respect of assets added on or
before 31 March 1999, the written down values as on
31 March 1999 are considered as their original cost for
application of the rates under straight line method.

1.1 The accounts are prepared on the historical cost
convention.

2.

Income and Expenditure

3.6. Depreciation on premises situated on freehold land
is charged on written down value basis.

2.1. Income and expenditure are accounted on accrual
basis except the following, which are accounted on cash
basis:
(i)

Interest on non-performing assets is
identified as per RBI guidelines and interest
in the case of Government guaranteed
advances that are in arrears for more than
180 days.

(ii)

Income by way of penal interest charged
due to delayed receipt of loan dues or noncompliance with terms of loan.

3.7. Amortisation of lease premium paid on leasehold
land and depreciation on premises situated on leasehold
land is computed and charged at higher of 5 per cent on
written down value basis or the amount derived by
amortising the premium / cost over the remaining lease
period of the land on straight line basis.

4.

4.1. The investment portfolio categories, specified under
RBI guidelines are further classified under three categories,
viz., 'Held to Maturity', 'Available for Sale' and 'Held for
Trading'. The investments under Held to Maturity do
not exceed 25 per cent of the total investments. The
investments under this category are carried at acquisition
cost unless it is more than the face value, in which case
the premium over the face value, if any, is amortised
over the period remaining to maturity. The investments
under 'Available for Sale' and 'Held for Trading' are marked
to market at prescribed intervals. While only net
depreciation, if any, is provided for investments in each
category classified as Available for Sale, depreciation
or appreciation is recognised in each category for
investments classified as Held for Trading.

(iii) Service charges on loans given out of Rural
Promotion Corpus Fund (RPCF), Credit and
Financial Services Fund (CFSF), Agriculture
and Rural Enterprises Incubation Fund
(AREIF) and KfW-NABARD V Fund for
Adivasi Programme.
(iv) Expenses not exceeding Rs.10,000/- at each
location under a single head of expenditure.
2.2. Issue expenses relating to floatation of bonds are
recognised as expenditure of the year in which the bonds
are issued.
2.3. Interest on income tax refund is recognized, based
on the date of the issue of refund order.

3.

4.2. Investments are reported at cost and provision
for depreciation/ diminution, if any, in value of
investments is included under Current Liabilities and
Provisions.

Fixed Assets and Depreciation

3. 1. Fixed assets are stated at cost.
3.2.

Investments

5.

Land includes free hold and lease hold land.

Provisions for Loans and Advances

5.1. Advances are classified as Standard, Sub-Standard,
Doubtful and Loss Assets and the required provisions are
made as per the guidelines issued by the RBI from time to
time. For this purpose, Goverment Guaranteed Advances
and Advances to state goverments are treated as Standard
Assets. Additional provisions over and above those
prescribed under RBI guidelines are made on certain
categories of Standard Assets on a prudent basis.

3.3. Premises include value of land where segregated
values are not readily available.
3.4. Depreciation is charged for the entire financial
year on all fixed assets held on the Balance Sheet date
irrespective of the date of purchase and period for which
put to use.
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6.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Assets and Liabilities are reckoned for all timing
differences that have arisen upto the end of the
accounting year and that are expected to reverse in the
subsequent accounting periods. These are computed
based on the tax r ates and tax l aws en act e d or
substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date.

6.1 Foreign currency borrowings are reported at
closing exchange rate prevailing on the Balance Sheet
date whereas foreign currency borrowings supported by
hedging agreements are taken at the contract price.
6.2. Foreign Currency Risk Fund has been created out
of appropriation of the Bank's profits to meet any
exchange loss in excess of balance available in Interest
Differential Fund-Forex Risk.

7.

B.

1.
In terms of TAWA Command Area Development
Project Agreement, interest chargeable by the GoI on
loans to NABARD at 6.5 per cent per annum has been
accounted to the extent of 4.5 per cent by credit to the
Interest Differential Fund to be utilised for certain
specified purposes and the balance of 2 per cent has
been paid to GoI.

Payments and Provisions to Employees

7.1. The Bank has a Provident Fund Scheme managed
by RBI. Contributions under the scheme are provided
and paid to RBI.
7.2. Gratuity Fund is an integral part of the operations
of the Bank and interest is provided on the annual
balance outstanding to the credit of the Fund. The Fund
balance is reflected under Current Liabilities and
Provisions.

2.
Interest at 6.00 per cent per annum for the year
2003-04 on unutilised balances of CFSF, RPCF, KfW
fund for Watershed Development, Funds under CEBAIF project, KfW NABARD IGWDP - Andhra
Pradesh, NABARD V Adivasi Special Development
Programme (Gujarat) and KfW NABARD IX Adivasi
Development Programme have been credited to the
respective funds.

7.3. Provision for gratuity is made on the basis of
liability as determined by actuarial valuation after
considering the interest provision on gratuity fund
referred to in para 7.2 above and without deducting
the amount to be borne by the RBI in respect of
employees who are transferred from the RBI. The
amount of gratuity due from the RBI is accounted for
as and when received.

3.
As per the Agricultural and Rural Debt Relief
Scheme 1990, the Bank was acting as a channelising
agent for disbursing the funds received from RBI
towards grants to RRBs and loans/grants to SCBs and
SLDBs.

7.4. The Bank has a pension scheme for its employees.
The amounts representing employer's contribution to
Provident Fund relating to the pension optees (which is
now part of Pension Fund) are maintained with RBI.
The provision for pension is made based on actuarial
valuation after considering the aforesaid balance with
RBI.

4.
In the absence of details of the balance of Pension
Fund lying with RBI (Refer significant accounting policy
para 7.4) as on 31 March 2004, the amount has been
estimated and provision for pension is made after
considering such estimated amount.
5.

7.5. Provision for Encashment of Ordinary Leave is
made on the basis of actuarial valuation.

8.

Notes forming part of the
Accounts

Recognition of Tax Expense, Deferred
Tax Assets and Deferred Tax Liabilities

(a) In respect of Bonds issued by the Bank,
which were managed by RBI, the accounting of
the collections and redemption of the bonds are
based on advices received from RBI up to 30
September 2003.
(b) Fr o m 1 O c t o b e r 2 0 0 3 , R B I f r o z e t h e
current account, meant for redemption and
interest payment of above bonds. The servicing
of these bonds thereafter is taken over by
NABARD. The outstanding balance payable on
account of 'bonds matured but not claimed' and
u n c l a i m e d i n t e r e s t h a s b e e n s ho w n n e t o f
payments made by NABARD from 1 October
2003 onwards.

8.1 Income tax expense is arrived at after considering
all deductions and allowances available under the tax
laws including the deduction under Sec. 36 (1) (vii)
regarding provision for doubtful debts and section
36(1)(viii) towards the profit from the business of long
term finance. Provision for current tax is made on the
taxable income at the applicable tax rates. Deferred Tax
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6.

(a) During the year, bor rowing from KfW,
Germany, to the extent of 58.80 million Euro and
interest thereon has been hedged by entering into
currency SWAP agreement, at the rates ranging
between Rs 50.505 and Rs 50.55, per Euro, for a
period of 10 years, with four different counter
parties. Consequently, the liability towards KfW
borrowings has been shown at contract price only.
The difference between forward SWAP rate and
exchange rate at which borrowing was valued in
the books, amounted to Rs 15.33 crore was
credited to Interest Differential Fund (Forex risk) as
exchange loss in the earlier years on account of
revaluation of the aforesaid loan has been debited
to the said account.

9.
The Bank has made payments towards
subscription of debentures issued by various State Land
Development Banks/Land Mortgage Banks and these are
included under Advances - Other Investment Credit Medium Term and Long Term Project Loans. The value
of Allotment Letters/ Debenture Scrips yet to be received
as on date aggregates Rs. 219.85 crore (Rs. 711.40
crore).
10.

(b) The hedging contract is disclosed as an Off
the Balance Sheet' item and the amount represents
the contracted value of the SWAP agreement. The
amount of principal outstanding liability at the
year-end exchange rate is Rs. 312.51 crore.

(b) In respect of 'Land' and 'Premises', whose
cost is Rs.24.99 crore
(Rs.18.37 crore)
conveyancing is yet to be done, pending
settlement of legal disputes with the vendors.

7.
Sundry creditors include an amount of Rs. 100
crore received from GoI on account of scheme for revitalization of co-operative credit structure. The amount
has been kept under Sundry Creditors - Remittance from
GoI pending receipt of necessary details / operational
mechanism of the scheme from GoI.

11. Expenditure on Study and Training includes
Rs.2.59 crore (Rs.3.165 crore) relating to establishment
expenses and operating expenses of Regional Training
Colleges at Bolpur and Mangalore, which provide training
to employees of commercial banks, co-operative banks
and RRBs.

(a) Investments in shares of ADFCs have been
classified under 'Held To Maturity' categor y,
keeping in view Accounting Standard 13 of ICAI
and principle of prudence, the depreciation of Rs.
65 lakh has been provided on the basis of
investee's break-up value of shares.
(b) The valuation of AFS investments have been
marked to market at the close of the year to
recognize depreciation in value category-wise. On
the other hand, the depreciation or appreciation
in investments held for trading have been booked
on a monthly basis.

8.

(a) 'Land' and 'Premises' include an aggregate
amount of Rs. 46.96 crore (Rs. 40.13 crore)
paid towards Office Premises and Staff
Quarters at various locations in respect of
which conveyance deeds/other Legal
Documents have not yet been executed in
favour of the Bank because of certain
procedural delays being faced in connection
therewith.

12.
During the year an amount of Rs. 1.686 crore,
being the recoveries made from the employees against
advance for furnishing residence of officers (FRSO)
(consisting of Rs.1.426 crore effected upto 31 March
2003 and Rs 0.26 crore during the year 2003-04) was
recognized as income and credited to Profit & Loss
Account, which were hitherto credited to Sundry
Creditors account and shown as liability in the Balance
Sheet.

Provisions for Income Tax

Major components of Deferred Tax Assets and
Liabilities are as under:

(Rs.crore)
Sr.
No.

Deferred Tax Assets
on account of

1.

Provision for Retirement Benefits made in the books

2.

As on
01.04.2003

Debit/Credit
During the year

As on
31.03.2004

but allowable for tax purposes on payment basis

85.00

38.46

123.46

Depreciation on Fixed Assets

32.00

-2.06

29.94

117.00

36.40

153.40

Total
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13. Prior period items included in the Profit & Loss
Account are as follows:

(b)
(Rs. crore)

(Rs. crore)

Sr.

Particulars

2003-04

2002-03

Particulars

No.
1

Depreciation

1.87

2.95

2

Other Receipts

1.43

0.11

3

Other Expenses

-

0.72

31 March
2004

Amount of subordinated debt

Nil

31 March
2003
Nil

raised and outstanding

(c)

Risk weighted Assets
(Rs. crore)

Particulars

14. Capital adequacy ratio of the Bank as on 31
March 2004 is 39.41 per cent as against a minimum of
9 per cent as stipulated by RBI.
15. Figures in the Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss
Account are rounded off to the nearest rupee.

19087.02

16,521.72

Off - Balance Sheet Items

77.92

77.86

Pattern of Capital contribution as on the
date of the Balance Sheet

Contributor
Reserve Bank of India

Capital

(a)

Capital to Risk-weighted Assets Ratio
(CRAR)

II.

(Per cent)

31 March
2004
39.41

39.05

Core CRAR

37.77

37.80

1.64

31 March

2004

2003

1,450

1,450

550

550

2,000

2,000

Asset quality and Credit concentration
(Excluding Staff Advances)

(e)

31 March
2003

CRAR

31 March

Government of India
Total

I.

(f)

On - Balance Sheet Items

(Rs. crore)

17. The following additional information is disclosed
in terms of RBI circular (Ref.No.DBS.FID.C-2/01.02.00/
2003-04 dated July 10, 2003):

Supplementary CRAR

31 March
2003

(d)

16. The figures in parentheses are in respect of the
previous year.

Particulars

31 March
2004

Particulars
Percentage of Net NPAs to Net

31 March
2004

31 March
2003

0.0014 %

0.0017%

Loans and Advances

1.25

Asset Classification
2003-04

2002-03

Classification

Rs. crore

Per cent

Rs. crore

Per cent

Standard

48,789.46

99.99836

45,359.80

99.99645

Sub-standard

0.78

0.00160

0.85

0.00188

Doubtful

0.02

0.00004

0.11

0.00024

Loss

0.00

0.00000

0.65

0.00143

48,790.26

100.00

45,361.41

100.00

Total

(g)

Provisions made during the Year
(Rs. crore)

Provisions against
Standard Assets
Non Performing Advances
Investments
Income Tax
Total

* includes NPA provision of Rs 0.26 crore against advances to staff
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2003-04

2002-03

51.36
0.27*
0.65
375.00

45.98
-0.02
0.00
390.00

427.28

435.96

(h)

Movement in NPAs
(Rs.crore)

Particulars

2003-04

2002-03

NPAs as at beginning of the year

1.61

0.93

Add: Additions during the year

0.01

0.84

Sub-Total

1.62

1.77

Less: Reductions during the year

0.82

0.16

NPAs as at the end of the year

0.80

1.61

(i)

Credit exposure as percentage to Capital Funds and as percentage to Total Assets
2003-04

2002-03

Credit Exposure as % to

Credit Exposure as % to

Sr.
No.

Category

Capital
Funds

Total
Assets

Capital
Funds

Total
Assets

I
II
III

Largest Single Borrower
Largest Borrower Group
Ten Largest Single Borrowers

41.60
Not Applicable

5.43
Not Applicable

52.48
Not Applicable

6.59
Not Applicable

1.

U. P. State Land Development Bank

41.60

5.43

49.22

6.18

2.

Andhra Pradesh Co-operative Bank

39.43

5.14

52.48

6.59

3.

ICICI Bank

26.86

3.50

8.87

1.11

4.

Punjab State Co-operative Bank

25.03

3.26

14.33

1.80

5.

Haryana State Land Development Bank

22.33

2.91

25.28

3.18

6.

Punjab State Land Development Bank

21.58

2.81

24.30

3.05

7.

Andhra Pradesh State Govt.

20.16

2.63

30.04

3.77

8.

Madhya Pradesh State Govt.

18.88

2.46

17.41

2.19

9.

U. P. State Govt.

18.73

2.44

24.20

3.04

10.

Tamil Nadu State Govt.

17.93

2.34

19.69

2.47

IV

Ten Largest Borrower Groups

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

Not
Applicable

(j)

Credit exposure to the Five largest Industrial Sectors as percentage to Total Loan Assets -Not Applicable

III.

Liquidity

(i)
(ii)

Maturity pattern of rupee Assets and Liabilities
Maturity pattern of Foreign Currency Assets and Liabilities
(Rs. crore)

Item

Rupee Assets
Foreign Currency Assets
Total Assets
Rupee Liabilities
Foreign Currency Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Less than
or equal to
1 year

More than
1 year upto
3 years

More than
3 years upto
5 years

More than
5 years upto
7 years

More than
7 years

Total #

17,259.75

15,642.84

11,200.86

6,394.96

5,189.55

55,687.96

0

0

0

0

0

0

17,259.75

15,642.84

11,200.86

6,394.96

5,189.55

55,687.96

9,818.80

9,044.94

9,328.91

3,147.39

24,050.91

55,390.95

0

2.58

11.62

19.70

263.11

297.01

9,818.80

9,047.52

9,340.53

3,167.09

24,314.02

55,687.96

# In terms of RBI instructions, provisions towards Standard Assets and also the provision against depreciation in the value of investment,
that are reflected as Liabilities in the Balance Sheet, have been reduced in the aforesaid table from the Assets.

127

IV.

Operating Results

Sr.
No.

Particulars

For the year ended
31 March 2004

For the year ended
31 March 2003

1.
2.

Interest income as a percentage to working funds

8.02

8.45

Non interest income as a percentage to working funds

0.11

0.10

3.

Operating profit as a percentage to working funds

3.61

3.96

4.

Return on Assets (per cent)

2.78

3.22

5.

Profit per Employee (Rs. crore)

0.28

0.29

V

Movement in the Provisions

(a)

Provision for Non-Performing Assets
(Rs. crore)

Sr. No.

Particulars

i)

Opening balance as at the beginning of the financial year

0.86

0.89

Provision made during the year

0.01

0.11

Less

Write off, write back of excess provision

0.77

0.14

Closing balance as at the close of the financial year

0.10

0.86

Provision for Depreciation in Investments

Sr. No.

Opening balance as at the beginning of the financial year

2.

Add
i)
ii)

3.

5.

VI.

(Rs.crore)

Particulars

1.

4.

2002-03

Add

ii)

(b)

2003-04

2003-04
Nil

Provisions made during the year
Appropriation, if any, from Investment Fluctuation Reserve Account during the year

0.65
Nil

Sub-Total (1+2.i+2.ii)

0.65

Less
i)

Write off during the year

Nil

ii)

Transfer, if any, to Investment Fluctuation Reserve Account

Nil

Closing balance as at the close of the financial year (3-4.i-4.ii)

Restructured Accounts

0.65

1999 - 2000 dated 07 July 1999 has been entered into
during the year.

No loan has been subjected to restructuring during the
year.

VIII. Interest Rate Derivatives

VII. Forward Rate Agreements and Interest
Rate Swaps

No Interest Rate Derivative transaction has been entered
into during the year.

No Forward Rate Agreement / Interest Rate Swaps as
permitted by RBI circular No. MPD. BC. 187/ 07.01.279/
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IX.

Related Party Transactiaons
(Rs. crore)

Name of the Party

Nature of
Relationship

Nature of
Transaction

Reserve Bank of India

Holding 72.50% of
NABARD Capital

Borrowings
(net of repayments)

Amt. of Transaction
during the year

Outstanding

(1598.48)

4193.60

Interest on
Borrowings

Government of India

Holding - 27.50% of
NABARD Capital

148.31

Contribution Recd.
in NRC Funds
maintained by NABARD

2.00

Maintenance fee
for Bonds

0.06

Borrowings
(net of repayments)
Interest on Borrowings

565.19

41.58

21.01

Guarantee fee

5.41

Control - 52.10% of
Share Capital

Lending
(net of repayments)

0.00

0.00

held by NABARD

Interest on Lending

0.00

0.00

ABFL, Hyderabad

Control 47.82% of Share
Capital held by NABARD

Lending (net of repayments)
Interest on Lending

(0.89)
0.17

1.36
0.02

KADFC, Bangalore

Control - 82.41% of
Share Capital
held by NABARD

No Transaction

0.00

0.00

NABARD Consultancy
Services Pvt. Ltd

Wholly Owned
Subsidiary

Expenses incurred
by NABARD

0.57

0.38

Shri. Y.C.Nanda

Key Management Personnel Chairman up to
30 June 2003

Remuneration
including perquisites

Key Management Personnel Chairperson from
21 November 2003

Remuneration
including perquisites

Key Management Personnel Managing Director from
17 March 2004

Remuneration
including perquisites

ADFT, Chennai

Smt. Ranjana Kumar

Shri Y.S.P. Thorat

X.
a)

Information on Business Segments

Direct Finance: Loans given to state governments
for rural infrastructure development and loans
given to VAs /NGOs for developmental activities
are included in this segment.
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0.012

0.023

0.002

ii)

Refinance: Loans and Advances given to state
governments, commercial banks, LDBs, SCBs,
RRBs etc., as refinance against the loans
disbursed by them to the ultimate borrowers.

iii)

Treasury: The investment of funds under call
money, treasury bills, short term deposits, Govt.
securities, etc.

iv)

Unallocated: This segment includes income from
staff loans and other miscellaneous receipts and

Brief Background

The primary business segments recognised by the Bank
are as under:
i)

(26.06)

B e n g a l , R TC B o l p u r, N a g a l a n d , S i k k i m ,
A s s a m , M a n i p u r, A r u n a c h a l P r a d e s h a n d
Meghalaya.

the expenditure incurred for the developmental
role of the Bank and common administrative
expenses.
Secondary business segments identified by
geography cover the business at the following
states:
i)

South Zone: Karnataka, Kerala, Tamil Nadu,
Andhra Pradesh and RTC, Mangalore.

ii)

East Zone: Tripura, Mizoram, Orissa, West

b)

Information on Primary Business Segment

Sr.
No.

Segment

1

iii)

N or th Zone: Madhy a Pr adesh, H ar y ana &
Punjab, Bi har, N ew Del hi , J har kand,
Chhattisgarh, Himachal Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh,
NBSC Lucknow, Jammu & Kashmir, Rajasthan
and Uttaranchal.

iv)

West Zone: Gujarat, Goa, Maharashtra and Head
Office, Mumbai.

(Rs. crore)

Segment Revenue from
External Customers

Segment
Results

Segment
Assets

Segment
Liabilities

Direct Finance

1,510.93

201.95

14,147.46

12,828.18

2

Refinance

2,427.75

1,232.90

35,660.19

#20,492.95

3

Treasury

309.40

306.58

2,487.74

0.00

4

Unallocated

19.19

-281.00

3,593.21

505.92

4,267.27

1,460.43

55,888.60

33,827.05

Total

# Includes balances in NRC (LTO) and NRC (Stab.) Funds where there is no external obligation.

c)

Information on Secondary Business Segment

(Rs. crore)

Sr.
No.

Geographical Segments

Segment Revenue from
External Customers

1

East Zone

440.35

5,606.69

2

North Zone

1,739.75

23,031.99

3

South Zone

1,241.08

15,552.60

4

West Zone

846.09

11,697.32

4,267.27

55,888.60

Total

18

Segment Assets

Previous year's figures have been regrouped and recast wherever necessary.

For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants

P. S. S. R. Sarma
Chief General Manager
Finance and Accounts Department
New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Ranjana Kumar
Chairperson
New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Ashok Gupta
Partner
Membership No.17244
New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Y. S. P. Thorat
Managing Director

N. S. Sisodia
Director
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOW OF
NATIONAL BANK FOR AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
A. Auditors' Certificate
We have audited the attached Cash Flow Statement of National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development, which has been compiled
from and is based on the audited statements for the year ended March 31, 2004. To the best of our knowledge and belief and according
to the information and explanations given to us, it has been prepared pursuant to Clause 31 of the Listing Agreement with the Stock
Exchange.
New Delhi, 12 June 2004
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Ashok Gupta
(Partner)
Membership No. 17244

B. Auditors' Certificate
We report that the Consolidated Financial Statements, prepared by National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development, (NABARD) are
in accordance with the requirements of Accounting Standard (AS 21), Consolidated Financial Statement, issued by Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India and on the basis of the separate audited financial statements of NABARD, NABARD Consultancy Services Private
Ltd, Agri. Business Finance (A.P.) Ltd, Karnataka Agri. Development Finance Company Ltd. and unaudited financial statements of Agri.
Development Finance (Tamil Nadu) Ltd. included in the consolidated financial statements.
On the basis of the information and explanation given to us and on the consideration of separate audited financial statements of NABARD
and three of its subsidiaries as also unaudited financial statements in respect of one of its subsidiaries, we are of the opinion that:
a. the consolidated Balance Sheet gives a true and fair view of the consolidated state of affairs of NABARD and its subsidiaries as
at 31 March 2004.
b. the consolidated Profit and Loss Account gives a true and fair view of consolidated results of operations of NABARD and
its four subsidiaries for the year ended on 31 March 2004.
New Delhi, 12 June 2004
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Ashok Gupta
(Partner)
Membership No. 17244

C. Auditors' Certificate
We have audited the attached Consolidated Cash Flow Statements of National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development, which has
been compiled from and is based on the audited statements of National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development, NABARD Consultancy
services Private Ltd, Agri Business finance (A.P.) Ltd, Karnataka Agri Development Finance Company Ltd, and unaudited financial
statements of Agri development Finance (Tamil Nadu) Ltd. for the year ended 31 March, 2004. To the best of our knowledge and belief
and according to the information and explanation given to us, it gives a true and fair view.
New Delhi, 12 June 2004
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Ashok Gupta
(Partner)
Membership No. 17244
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National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development
Consolidated Balance Sheet as on 31 March 2004
LIABILITIES

Rupees

Capital

2000,00,00,000

Reserve Fund and Other Reserves

5292,51,52,370

National Rural Credit (Long Term Operation) Fund

13070,00,00,000

National Rural Credit (Stabilisation) Fund

1500,00,00,000

Funds Out of Grants received from International Agencies

184,59,22,255

Gifts Grants and Donations

103,54,80,565

Other Funds

510,56,67,247

Minority Interest

11,90,26,649

Deposits

12151,00,42,530

Bonds and Debentures

11883,32,21,000

Borrowings

7553,66,11,462

Current Liabilities and Provisions

1646,32,50,354

TOTAL LIABILITIES

55907,43,74,432

ASSETS

Rupees

Cash and Bank Balances

2918,91,10,319

Investments (at Cost)

2391,27,47,561

Advances

48807,87,43,285

Fixed Assets

244,91,17,668

Other Assets

1544,20,51,846

Miscellaneous Expenses not Written off

26,03,753

TOTAL ASSETS

55907,43,74,432

As per our report of even date attached
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants
P.S.S.R. Sarma
Chief General Manager
Finance & Accounts Department

Ashok Gupta
Partner
Membership No. 17244

New Delhi, 12 June 2004

New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Ranjana Kumar
Chairperson

Y.S.P. Thorat
Managing Director

N.S. Sisodia
Director

New Delhi, 12 June 2004
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National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development
Consolidated Profit and Loss Account for the Year ended 31 March 2004
Appropriations:

( Rupees)
31 March 2004

( Rupees)

PARTICULARS
Income:
Interest Received on Loans and Advances
Income from Investment Operations
Other Receipts

3939,22,56,149
309,84,22,450
20,29,80,127

TOTAL INCOME

4269,36,58,726

Expenditure:
Interest and Financial Charges
Establishment and other expenses
Depreciation
Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts
Depreciation in Investment
Preliminary expenses written off

2369,98,23,841
355,74,58,952
30,17,50,099
53,29,16,129
65,00,000
3,56,418

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

2809,88,05,439

Profit before Income Tax
Provision for Taxation
Deferred Tax Asset Adjustment

1459,48,53,286
375,16,21,328
36,70,15,116

Co-operative Development Fund

4,75,95,441

Research and Development Fund

6,70,45,830

Profit after Tax

1121,02,47,074

Foreign Currency Risk Fund

13,62,29,603

Tribal Development Fund

50,00,00,000

Share of Loss in Subsidiaries attributable to
Minority Interest

Profit available for Appropriation as above
against expenditure debited to P&L A/c.

17,14,60,876

Total Profit available for
Appropriation

1138,66,59,068

Transferred to:
Special Reserve u/s 36 (1) (viii) of the
Income Tax Act, 1961

600,00,00,000

NRC (LTO) Fund

124,00,00,000

NRC (Stabilisation) Fund

Micro Finance Development Fund

(49,51,117)

Investment Fluctuation Reserve
Reserve Fund

Profit available for Appropriation

1121,51,98,191

Add: Withdrawals from various funds

25,00,00,000

7,05,11,537

9,87,71,000
297,65,05,656

1121,51,98,191

1138,66,59,068

Additional Notes to Consolidated Accounts
1. Consolidation has been done pursuant to the listing agreement with stock exchange.
2. Financial statement in respect of subsidiary Agri Development Finance (Tamil Nadu) Ltd is unaudited.
3. Details of the subsidiaries:
Name of the Subsidiary

Country of Incorporation

Proportion of Ownership

India
India
India
India

52.10
47.82
82.40
100.00

Agri Development Finance (Tamil Nadu) Ltd.
Agri Business Finance (A.P.) Ltd.
Karnataka Agri Development Finance Company Ltd.
NABARD Consultancy Pvt. Ltd.

4. Depreciation on fixed asset is provided on Written Down Value (WDV) method, at the rates specified in schedule xiv to the Companies Act
1956 by Agri. Development Finance (Tamil Nadu) Ltd. and Agri. Business Finance (A.P.) Ltd. whereas Karnataka Agri. Development Finance
Company Ltd. has provided depreciation on fixed assets by adopting straight line method at the rates specified in schedule xiv to the
Companies Act 1956 on prorata basis.Thus, the accounting policy followed by subsidiaries for depreciation are different from the accounting
policy for depreciation followed by NABARD in the preparation of consolidated financial statements. Thus out of the total depreciation of
Rs.30.17 crore included in the consolidated financial statement, 0.08% of that amount is determined based on depreciation provided by
following WDV / straight line method at the rates as specified in schedule xiv to the Companies Act 1956.
As per our report of even date attached
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants
P.S.S.R. Sarma
Chief General Manager
Finance & Accounts Department
New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Ranjana Kumar
Chairperson

Ashok Gupta
Partner
Membership No. 17244
New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Y.S.P. Thorat
Managing Director

N.S. Sisodia
Director

New Delhi, 12 June 2004
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National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development
Cash Flow Statement for the Year ended 31 March 2004
( Rupees)
Particulars

31-03-2004

31-03-2003

1460,42,81,605

1524,25,56,772

Depreciation

30,15,16,049

28,55,70,695

Interest Credited to various Funds

23,51,70,357

21,44,18,660

Other Expenses

17,14,60,876

16,83,22,633

Income from Investment

-215,55,57,388

-157,32,72,071

Expenditure from various Funds

-357,90,72,789

-284,84,41,815

957,77,98,710

1148,91,54,874

-478,71,67,087

-1003,22,82,410

601,99,97,890

54,26,13,369

(a) Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Net profit as per P & L A/c before Tax
Adjustment for:

Operating Profit before Working Capital changes
Adjustment for Net change in:
Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Cash generated from Operating Activities
Payment of Income Tax
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities

(A)

1081,06,29,513

199,94,85,833

-304,06,32,849

-448,00,00,000

776,99,96,664

-248,05,14,167

215,55,57,388

157,32,72,071

-31,18,50,887

-19,69,69,451

(b) Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Income from Investments
Purchase of Fixed Asset
Investments in Government Securities

-1047,49,46,541

3,12,71,630

-9,38,90,000

-60,00,00,000

-872,51,30,040

80,75,74,250

Purchase of Shares
Net Cash used / generated from investing Activities

(B)

(c) Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Grants / contributions received
Proceeds of Bonds
Increase / Decrease in Borrowings

385,71,12,830

303,28,54,528

3181,13,60,000

2623,79,70,000

870,90,11,157

-899,51,44,654

Increase / Decrease in Deposits

-97,55,56,068

2413,72,39,526

Increase in Loans and Advances

-3433,81,21,155

-4310,56,04,526

906,38,06,764

130,73,14,874

Net Cash raised from Financing Activities

(C)

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalent (A)+(B)+(C)

810,86,73,388

-36,56,25,043

Cash and Cash Equivalent at the beginning of the period

368,99,67,373

405,55,92,416

1179,86,40,761

368,99,67,373

Cash and Cash Equivalent at the end of the period

As per our report of even date attached
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants
P.S.S.R. Sarma
Chief General Manager
Finance & Accounts Department

Ashok Gupta
Partner
Membership No. 17244

New Delhi, 12 June 2004

New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Ranjana Kumar
Chairperson

Y.S.P. Thorat
Managing Director

N.S. Sisodia
Director

New Delhi, 12 June 2004
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National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the Year ended March 31, 2004
Particulars

(Rupees)
31 March 2004

(a) Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Net Profit as per P & L A/c before Tax
Depreciation

1459,48,53,286
30,17,50,099

Interest Credited to various Funds

23,51,70,357

Other Expenses

17,22,00,926

Expenditure from various Funds

-357,90,72,789

Income from Investment

-215,55,57,388

Operating Profit before Working Capital changes

956,93,44,491

Adjustment for Net change in:
Current Assets

-483,69,73,099

Current Liabilities

601,54,87,438

Cash generated from Operating Activities

1074,78,58,830

Payment towards Income Tax

-304,19,48,564

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities

(A)

770,59,10,266

(b) Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Income from Investments

215,55,57,388

Purchase of Fixed Asset

-31,18,53,307

Investments in Government Securities

-1047,49,46,541

Purchase of Shares

-4,38,89,000

Preliminary Expenses

-19,18,162

Net Cash used in Investing Activities

(B)

-867,70,49,622

(c) Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Grants / contributions received

385,71,12,830

Proceeds of Bonds

3181,13,60,000

Increase in Borrowings

870,00,25,635

Decrease in Deposits

-98,02,73,648

Increase in Loans and Advances

-3430,77,95,736

Net Cash raised from Financing Activities

(C)

908,04,29,081

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalent

(A)+(B)+(C)

810,92,89,725

Cash and Cash Equivalent at the beginning of the period

369,02,00,593

Cash and Cash Equivalent at the end of the period

1179,94,90,318

As per our report of even date attached
For Gupta Sharma & Associates
Chartered Accountants
P.S.S.R. Sarma
Chief General Manager
Finance & Accounts Department

Ashok Gupta
Partner
Membership No. 17244

New Delhi, 12 June 2004

New Delhi, 12 June 2004

Ranjana Kumar
Chairperson

Y.S.P. Thorat
Managing Director

N.S. Sisodia
Director

New Delhi, 12 June 2004
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PRINCIPAL OFFICERS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(As on 31 March 2004)

Dr. Karmakar K.G.

Mitra S. K.
Balakrishnan R.

Acharya S. S.
Amaresh Kumar

PRINCIPAL TECHNICAL ADVISOR
Dr. Sharma M.R.

CHIEF GENERAL MANAGERS
(Rural Development Banking Service)

Behera P. L.

Sarma P. S. S. R.

Dr Bakshi P.

Madan Mohan

Sapra Y. L. (Uttar Pradesh)

Puri Bhawar (Gujarat)

Sheokand S. M.*

Garg A. K.

Krishnamurthy R. (NBSC, Lucknow)

Prabhakara S.

Gore D. B.

Sarangal J. R. (Andhra Pradesh)

Abdul Kareem S. (Orissa)

Saha N. C. (Himachal Pradesh)

Raghavulu K. V.

Srinivasan N.

Mehta S. M.

Mohanty B. B. (Karnataka)

Dr. Rao Krishnakumar T. R. (West Bengal)

Bhaskaran R.

Rao Ramakrishna V. (Rajasthan)

Mathur A. K. (Madhya Pradesh)

Ramanathan A. (Punjab & Haryana)

Patnaik C. R. (Tamil Nadu)

Gupta Y. N.

Narayana Murthy H.

Singh Sukhbir

Shekhawat B. S. (Kerala)

Mohanan M. P.

Menon G. S.

Bhadauria V. S. (Maharashtra)

Kumar Pratap (Jammu & Kashmir)

Vasishta S. C. (Bihar)

Aluru S. R.

* Chief Executive Officer, Nabcons
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CHIEF GENERAL MANAGERS
(Technical / Economic Service)
Kane P. V. (Economic)
Dr. Bandyopadhaya A. K. (Economic) (Assam)
Dr. Chelam G. V. (Technical) @
Dr. Hazra S. K. (Technical)
@ on deputation with ADF (Tamil Nadu), Ltd., Chennai

GENERAL MANAGERS IN-CHARGE OF
REGIONAL OFFICES/ TRAINING ESTABLISHMENTS
Rathod S. G. (RTC, Mangalore)
Das P. (RTC, Bolpur)
Moharana T. (New Delhi)
Panda D. P. (Chhattisgarh)
Akbar S. (Uttaranchal)
Srivastava A. K. (Jharkhand)

DEPUTY GENERAL MANAGERS IN-CHARGE OF
REGIONAL OFFICES/SUB-OFFICE/SRINAGAR CELL
Hebbar G. V. (Mizoram)
Mukhopadhyay A. K. (Goa)
Yambem S. S. (Manipur)
Nair Ramachandran K. (Sikkim)
Dr. Sangwan S. S. (Arunachal Pradesh)
Sandilya A. P. (Meghalaya)
Dere S. R. (Tripura)
Kali O. (Port Blair, Sub-Office)
Wadhwa Ramesh Chandra (Nagaland)
Shafiq Tariq (Srinagar Cell)
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Letter of Transmittal

NATIONAL BANK FOR AGRICULTURE
AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT
Plot: C-24/G, Bandra-Kurla Complex
Post Box: 8121, Bandra (East)
Mumbai - 400 051.
Chairperson
Ref.No.NB.Secy./480/C.7/2004-05
12 July 2004
21 Ashadha 1926 (Saka)
The Finance Secretary
Government of India
Ministry of Finance
Department of Economic Affairs
New Delhi- 110 001

The Governor
Reserve Bank of India
Central Office
Mumbai- 400 001

Dear Sir
In pursuance of Section 48(5) of the National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development Act, 1981, I transmit
herewith the following documents :
st

i.

A copy of the audited Annual Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2004 together with a copy of the
Auditors Report; and

ii.

Two copies of the Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the working of National Bank during the year
st
ended 31 March 2004.

Yours faithfully

Ranjana Kumar

Regional Offices/Sub-Office/Training Establishments
REGIONAL OFFICES
ANDHRA PRADESH
1-1-61, RTC Cross Road
Post Box No. 1863,
Musheerabad,
Hyderabad  500 020
Tel No. : (040) 27611088
Fax No. : (040) 27611829
E-mail : nabhyd@hd2.vsnl.net.in

GUJARAT
NABARD Tower,
Opp. Municipal Garden,
P. B. No.8, Usmanpura,
Ahmedabad  380 013
Tel No. : (079) 27552257
Fax No. : (079) 27551584
E-mail : nabahm@icenet.net

MADHYA PRADESH
E-5, Arera Colony, Bittan Market,
Ravishankar Nagar Post Office,
Post Box No.. 513,
Bhopal  462 016
Tel No. : (0755) 2466695
Fax No. : (0755) 2466188
E-mail : nabbpl@sancharnet.in

NEW DELHI
24, Rajendra Place
New Delhi  110 018
Tel No. : (011) 51539353
Fax No. : (011) 51539185
E-mail : nabndl@del3.vsnl.net.in
nabndl@now-india.net.in

ARUNACHAL PRADESH
Tali Complex, VIP Road,
Bank Tinali, P.B. No.133,
Itanagar  791 111
Arunachal Pradesh
Tel No. : (0360) 2212675
Fax No. : (0360) 2212675
E-mail : nabardita@sancharnet.in

HIMACHAL PRADESH
NABARD Bhavan,
Block No. 32,
S.D.A. Commercial Complex,
Dev Nagar, Kusumpti,
Shimla  171 009
Tel No. : (0177) 2624424
Fax No. : (0177) 2622271
E-mail : nabsim17@sancharnet.in

MAHARASHTRA
54, Wellesley Road,
Post Bag No.5, Shivaji Nagar,
Pune  411 005
Tel No. : (020) 25511083
Fax No. : (9520) 25512250
E-mail : nabpun@vsnl.com
nabpun@pn2.vsnl.net.in

ORISSA
Ankur, 2/1,
Nayapalli Civic Centre,
P. B. No. 179,
Bhubaneshwar  751 015
Tel No. : (0674) 2557132
Fax No. : (0674) 2552019
E-mail : nabbhu@sancharnet.in

ASSAM
Lakshmi Bhavan,
Dr. J.C. Das Road,
Panbazar, Post Box No.81,
Guwahati  781 001
Tel No. : (0361) 2513102
Fax No. : (0361) 2541131
E-mail : nabghy@sancharnet.in

JAMMU & KASHMIR
F-1794, Shastri Nagar Extension,
Post Box No.2,
Jammu  180 004
Tel No. : (0191) 2432524
Fax No. : (0191) 2435280
E-mail : nabjam@sancharnet.in

MANIPUR
89/686, Lalambung,
RIMS Road, Lamphelpat,
Imphal  795 004, Manipur
Tel No. : (0385) 2312191
Fax No. : (0385) 2312191
E-mail : nbimphal4@sancharnet.in

PUNJAB & HARYANA
Plot No.3, Sector 34-A,
P.B. No. 7,
Chandigarh  160 022
Tel No. : (0172) 2665591
Fax No. : (0172) 2665863
E-mail : nabard1@sancharnet.in

BIHAR
Maurya Lok Complex, Block B,
4th & 5th floor, Dak Bunglow Road,
Post Box No.178, Patna  800 001
Tel No. : (0612) 2210870
Fax No. : (0612) 2238424
E-mail : nabpat@sancharnet.in

JHARKHAND
Gautam House,
Kalibabu Street, Upper Bazar,
Ranchi  834 001
Tel No. : (0651) 2209634
Fax No. : (0651) 2209107
E-mail : rch_nabran@sancharnet.in

MEGHALAYA
Dipu Cottage,
Upper Lachaumiere,
Shillong  793 001
Tel No. : (0364) 2501518
Fax No. : (0364) 2227463
E-mail : nabsh@shillong.meg.nic.in

RAJASTHAN
3, Nehru Place,
Tonk Road,
Post Bag No.104,
Jaipur  302 015
Tel No. : (0141) 2743215
Fax No. : (0141) 2742161
E-mail : nabjpr@sancharnet.in

CHHATTISGARH
Pittalia Complex,
Opp. Trunk Exchange,
K.K. Road, Fafadih Chowk
Raipur  492 009
Tel No. : (0771) 2522558
Fax No. : (0771) 2692455
E-mail : nabrpr@hclinfinet.com

KARNATAKA
113/1, Jeevan Prakash Annexe,
J.C. Road, P. B. No..29,
Bangalore  560 002
Tel No. : (080) 2225241
Fax No. : (080) 2222148
E-mail : nabbng@bgl.vsnl.net.in

MIZORAM
Ramhlun Road (North),
Bawngkawan,
Aizawl  796 012, Mizoram
Tel No. : (0389) 2340815
Fax No. : (0389) 2340815
E-mail : nabaiz@sancharnet.in

SIKKIM
Om Niwas,
Church Road,
Post Box No.46,
Gangtok 737 101
Tel No. : (03592) 224173
Fax No. : (03592) 223015
E-mail : slg_nabgtk@sancharnet.in

GOA
302, Nizari Bhavan,
Menezes Braganza Road,
Panaji  403 001, Goa
Tel No. : (0832) 2420504
Fax No. : (0832) 2223429
E-mail : nabpnj@sancharnet.in

KERALA
Punnen Road, Statue,
P. P. No. 5613,
Thiruvananthapuram  695 039
Tel No. : (0471) 2323859
Fax No. : (0471) 2324859
E-mail : nabtvm@md3.vsnl.net.in

NAGALAND
Nagaland RO, 4th Floor, West
Wing, Administrative NSCB
Building, Khermahal, Circular Road
Dimapur  797 112
Tel No. : (03862) 227040,
235600, 235601
Fax No. : (03862) 227040
E-mail : nabdin@rediffmail.com

TAMIL NADU
48, Mahatma Gandhi Road,
Post Box No.6074,
Nungambakkam,
Chennai  600 034
Tel No. : (044) 28276986
Fax No. : (044) 28275732
E-mail : nabchn@md3.vsnl.net.in
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TRIPURA
Palace Compound (East),
Uzirbari Road , Post Box No.9,
Tripura - 799 001, Agartala
Tel No. : (0381) 2224125
Fax No. : (0381) 2224125
E-mail : nabagtro@sancharnet.in

UTTARANCHAL
Hotel Sunrise Building,
2nd Floor, 113/2, Rajpur Road,
Dehradun  248001
Tel No. : (0135) 2748612
Fax No. : (0135) 2748610
E-mail : nabarddn@sancharnet.in

UTTAR PRADESH
Commerce House, Habibullah Estate,
11, M.G. Road, Post Box No.364,
Hazratganj, Lucknow  226 001
Tel No. : (0522) 2211591
Fax No. : (0522) 2281599
E-mail : nablkn@sancharnet.in

WEST BENGAL
Abhilasha, 2nd floor,
6, Royd Street, Post Box No.9083,
Kolkata - 700 016
Tel No. : (033) 22294672
Fax No. : (033) 22494507
E-mail : nabcal@cal.vsnl.net.in

SUB-OFFICE/CELL
PORT BLAIR
Kannada Sangh Building,
Ground Floor, 18, Tagore Road,
Head Post Office, Port Blair  744 101
Tel No.: (03192) 233308
Fax No.: (03192) 233308
E-mail: nabpbl@sancharnet.in

SRINAGAR CELL
65, Gogji Bagh,
Srinagar  190 010
Tel No.: (0194) 2310280
Fax No.: (0194) 2310280

TRAINING ESTABLISHMENTS
BOLPUR
Bolpur Lodge,
Regional Training College,
Near LIC Office, School Bagan,
Bolpur  731 204, West Bengal
Tel No. : (03463) 252812
Fax No.: (03463) 252295
E-mail : ksh_nabbol@sancharnet.in
ksh_nabprbol@sancharnet.in

LUCKNOW
National Bank Staff College,
Sector H, LDA Colony,
Kanpur Road,
Lucknow  226 012
Tel No. : (0522) 2421072
Fax No.: (0522) 2421035
E-mail : nbsc@sancharnet.in

LUCKNOW
Bankers Institute of Rural Development*
Sector H, L.D.A. Colony,
Kanpur Road,
Lucknow  226 012
Tel No. : (0522) 2436548
Fax No.: (0522) 2436850
E-mail : bird@sancharnet.in

HYDERABAD
Zonal Training Centre
10-1-128, Masab Tank,
Hyderabad  500 028
Tel No. : (040) 23375006
E-mail : nabhyd@hd2.vsnl.net

LUCKNOW
National Bank Training Centre
Sector D/S, Sitapur Road,
Opp. Mandi Samiti, Aliganj,
Lucknow  226 020
Tel No. : (0522) 2329501
Fax No.: (0522) 2281599
E-mail : nbsc@sancharnet.in

MANGALORE
Regional Training College,
Manjushree Building, 2nd Floor,
Nav Bharat Circle,
P.B. No.762, Kodialbail,
Mangalore  575 003
Tel No. : (0824) 2495927
Fax No.: (0824) 2492049
E-mail : nabrtcm@sancharnet.in

* An Independent autonomous society promoted by NABARD
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LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
AACS

As Applicable to Co-operative Societies

GLC

General Line of Credit

ACSTI/s

Agricultural Co-operative Staff Training
Institute/s

GTZ

Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Technische
Zusammenarbeit

AICF

Agriculture Infrastructure and Credit
Fund

HID

Human and Institutional Development

ICAR

Indian Council of Agricultural Research

APEDA

Agricultural Food Products Export
Development Authority

IGWDP

Indo-German Watershed Development
Programme

APRACA

Asia Pacific Rural and Agricultural
Credit
Association

ILR

Internal Lendable Resources

B.R.Act

Banking Regulation Act

IOC

Indian Oil Corporation

BIRD

Bankers Institute of Rural Development

IRDP

Integrated Rural Development
Programme

CMIE

Centre for Monitoring Indian Economy

IT

Information Technology

CSIR

Council for Scientific and Industrial
Research

ITC

Indian Tobacco Company

CSO

Central Statistical Organisation

JFM

Joint Forestry Management

DAP/s

Development Action Plan/s

JLTC/s

Junior Level Training Centre/s

DCCBs

District Central Co-operative Banks

KCC

Kisan Credit Card

DM

Deutsche Mark

KfW

Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau (German
Development Bank)

DOM

District Oriented Monitoring

KVK/s

Krishi Vigyan Kendra/s

DRIP

District Rural Industries Project

LAN/s

Local Area Network/s

DTP

Development of Tribal Population

LBR/s

Lead Bank Return/s

DWCRA

Development of Women and Children in
Rural Areas

LNJPNF

Lok Nayak Jai Prakash Narayan Fund

ERR

Economic Rate of Return

LPA

Long Period Average

EU

European Union

LTO

Long Term Operations

EXIM Bank

Export Import Bank

MAC

Medicinal and Aromatic Crops

FAO

Food and Agriculture Organisation

mF

microFinance

FRR

Financial Rate of Return

MI

Minimum Involvement/Minor Irrigation

FSS

Farmers' Service Society

MIS

Management Information System

GAIL

Gas Authority of India Ltd.

MoU

Memorandum of Understanding

GATT

General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

NABARD

National Bank for Agriculture and Rural
Development

GCF

Gross Capital Formation

NAFSCOB

GDP

Gross Domestic Product

National Federation of State
Co-operative Banks
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NBSC

National Bank Staff College

RIDF

Rural Infrastructure Development Fund

NBTC

National Bank Training Centre

RNFS

Rural Non-Farm Sector

NCMDARDB

National Centre for Management
Development in Agriculture and Rural
Development Banking

RPCF

Rural Promotion Corpus Fund

RRB/s

Regional Rural Bank/s

RTC/s

Regional Training College/s

SAO

Seasonal Agricultural Operations

NEIBM

North Eastern Institute of Bank
Management

NER

North Eastern Region

SC/ST

Schedule Caste/Schedule Tribe

NGO/s

Non Governmental Organisation/s

SCARDB/s

NHAI

National Highways Authority of India

State Co-operative Agriculture and
Rural Development Bank/s

NPAs

Non-Performing Assets

SCB/s

State Co-operative Bank/s

NPK

Nitrogen Phosphate Potash

SDC

NRC (LTO)

National Rural Credit (Long Term
Operations)

Swiss Agency for Development and
Cooperation

SEWA

Self Employed Women's Association

NTPC

National Thermal Power Corporation

SF/MF

Small Farmers/ Marginal Farmers

ODI

Organisation Development Intervention

SGSY

Swarnjayanti Gram Swarozgar Yojana

ONGC

Oil and Natural Gas Corporation

SHG/s

Self Help Group/s

OSAO

Other than Seasonal Agricultural
Operations

SHPI/s

Self-Help Promoting Institution/s

SIDBI

Small Industries Development Bank of
India

PACS

Primary Agricultural Credit Society/ies

PCARDB/s

Primary Co-operative Agriculture and
Rural Development Bank/s

SLBC/s

State Level Bankers' Committee/s

SLR

Statutory Liquidity Ratio

PHWCS

Primary Handloom Weaver's Cooperative Society

SSI

Small Scale Industry

PKSF

Palli Karma Sahayak Foundation

ST (OSAO)

Short Term (Other than Seasonal
Agricultural Operations)

PLI/s

Primary Lending Institution/s

ST(SAO)

PLR

Prime Lending Rate

Short Term (Seasonal Agricultural
Operations)

PUCB

Primary Urban Co-operative Bank

STW

Shallow Tubewells

RBI

Reserve Bank of India

Sw.Fr.

Swiss Franc

RCFL

Rashtriya Chemicals and Fertilizers
Limited

TME

Technical Monitoring and Evaluation

UNIDO

Rural Entrepreneurship Development
Programme/s

United Nations Industrial Development
Organisation

VDC/s

Village Development Committee/s

RFA

Revolving Fund Assistance

WDC/s

Women Development Cell/s

RFI/s

Rural Financial Institution/s

WUA

Water User's Association

REDP/s
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NABARD AT A GLANCE
(Rs. crore)

Sources of Funds

Uses of Funds

As at end-March

As at end-March

Net
accretion

2003

2004

Capital

2,000

2,000



Reserves and Surplus

4,319

5,291

972

NRC ( LTO ) Fund

NRC (Stabilisation) Fund

Deposits

Bonds and Debentures

Borrowings from GoI

Borrowings from RBI (GLC)

12,945

1,474

90

13,070

1,500

62

125

26

-28

8,702

11,883

3,181

589

563

-26

5,792

4,194

-1,598

2003
Cash and Bank Balance

1,785

2,900

1,115

a) GoI Securities

1,248

2,271

1,023

b) ADFC Equity

16

16

0

c) AFC Equity

1

1

0

d) SIDBI Equity

30

30

0

e) AICI Ltd.

60

60

0

f) NCDEX Ltd.

0

4

4

g) Nabcons

0

5

5

h) Mutual Funds

0

25

25

6,053

5,598

-455

370

633

263

9

5

-4

25,416

28,079

2,663

441

460

19

10

11

1

13,062

14,004

942

Fixed Assets

244

245

1

Other Assets

1,326

1,542

216

50,071

55,889

5,818

Investments in :

Loans & Advances :
a) Production and
Marketing Credit
b) Conversion of Production
Credit into MT Loans

Corporate Borrowings



2,500

2,500

Net

2004 utilisation

c) MT Investment Credit
d) Other Investment Credit

Foreign Currency Loan

RIDF Deposits

302

12,159

297

12,089

-5

i) MT &LT
Project Loans
ii) LT Non-project Loans

-70

e) Other Loans
Other Liabilities

Other Funds

Total

968

1,641

673

731

799

68

50,071

55,889

5,818

f) Loans out of RIDF

Total

CMYK

